ISSN 2146-6505 • EISSN 2147-1894



# Jarem

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## **Original Investigations**

Urethra Stricture in Elderly Ali Ayyıldız. Adıyaman, Turkey

Red Cell Distribution Width in the IBD Activity Öğütmen Koç and Keğin. İstanbul, Turkey

Congenital Urinary System Anomalies Özalp et al. Trabzon, Turkey

Visual Evoked Potentials Hashimoto Şilek et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Rare Factor Deficiencies Eroğlu et al. Trabzon, Turkey

Frozen Section of Ovarian Lesions Kımıloğlu et al. İstanbul, Turkey

Coordinate Calculation in DBS İdris Sertbaş. İstanbul, Turkey

Comparison of COVID-19 Case-Fatality-Rates by Socio-Demographic Factors Keleş Peker et al. İstanbul, Turkey, Rennes, France

## VOLUME:10 ISSUE:3 DECEMBER 2020

UNIVERSITY OF HEALTH SCIENCES TURKEY GAZIOSMANPAŞA TRAINING AND RESEARCH HOSPITAL

Web of Science

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## Editor in Chief

## Ömer N. Develioğlu

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Editors

## Mine Adaş

Department of Endocrinology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ali Ayyıldız

Department of Urology, Adıyaman, Adıyaman University, Turkey

## Okcan Basat

Department of Family Medicine, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Hakan Başar

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ayşegül Batıoğlu Karaaltın

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Sibel Bektaş

Department of Medical Pathology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Çağatay Büyükuysal

Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Zonguldak, Turkey

## Okan Demiray

Clinic of General Surgery, Taksim Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Tiraje Celkan

Department of Pediatrics, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Erdinç Civelek

Department of Brain and Nerve Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Nevriye Gönüllü

Department of Medical Microbiology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Seda Geylani Güleç

Department of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Mustafa Hasbahçeci

General Surgery, Medical Park Fatih Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Mine Kucur

Department of Medical Biochemistry, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Veli Mihmanlı

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University of Health Sciences Okmeydani Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## İsmail Mihmanlı

Department of Radiology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ufuk Özkaya

Orthopedics and Traumatology, Memorial Bahçelievler Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ahmet İlker Tekkeşin

Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Dr. Siyami Ersek Health Practice Research Center, Istanbul, Turkey

## Ayşe Çiğdem Tütüncü

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

## Sema Uçak Basat

Department of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences Ümraniye Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Serdal Uğurlu

Department of Internal Diseases, Division of Rheumatology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Nurten Uzun Adatepe

Department of Neurology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Medine Yazıcı Güleç

University of Health Sciences Turkey, Erenköy Psychiatry and Neurological Diseases SUAM, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ulviye Yiğit

Department of Ophthalmology, University of Health Sciences Bakırköy Dr. Sadi Konuk Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Owned by on behalf of the University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital: Ömer N. Develioğlu • Editor in Chief: Ömer N. Develioğlu
 Publication Type: Periodical



Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Derya Mor Erkan Mor Publication Coordinator Burak Sever Web Coordinators Fuat Hocalar Turgay Akpınar Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak

Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Çiğdem Birinci Gülşah Özgül Research&Development Mert Can Köse Mevlüde Özlem Akgüney

Duygu Yıldırm Gamze Aksoy Gülay Akın Hatice Sever Melike Eren Özlem Çelik Küççük Pınar Akpınar Rabia Palazoğlu

**Project Coordinators** 

Digital Marketing Specialist Seher Altundemir Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521 Online Publishing Date: December 2020 ISSN: 2146-6505 E-ISSN: 2147-1894

International scientific journal published quarterly.

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## International Editorial Board

## Fisun Akdeniz

## Retired Assistant Professor of Ege University, İzmir, Turkey İbrahim Özkan Akıncı

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Esen K. Akpek

Wilmer Eve Institute, John Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA Ali Akvüz

### Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

A. Cemal Aygıt

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Kemerburgaz University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## M. Derva Balbav

Clinic of Urology, Koc University Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

M.B. Can Balcı Clinic of Urology, Taksim Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Gökhan Tolga Adaş

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Canan Aykut Bingöl

Department of Neurology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Günseli Bozdoğan

Department of Pediatrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Murat Bozkurt

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Kafkas University School of Medicine, Kars, Turkey

## Dursun Buğra

Department of General Surgery, Private American Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Berk Burgu

Department of Urology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

## Arif Atahan Çağatay

Department of Infectious Disease and Clinical Microbiology, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## İlyas Çapoğlu

Department of Internal Medicine, Erzincan University Faculty of Medicine, Erzincan, Turkey

## Fehmi Celebi

Department of General Surgery, Sakarya University School of Medicine, Sakarya, Turkey

## İsmail Çepni

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpaşa, Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ferda Çiftçi

Department of Ophthalmology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## M. Onur Demirkol

Clinic of Nuclear Medicine and Molecular Imaging, Koc University, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ali İhsan Dokucu

Clinic of Pediatric Surgery, University of Health Sciences Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

The previous Editor in Chief was Prof. Dr. Barış Nuhoğlu

(The editor-in-chief duty, which started in September 2011, was transferred to Ömer N Develioğlu in March 2016)

İstanbul Yeniyüzyıl University, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital Head of Department of Urology

### Hayati Durmaz

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Fla Frdem

Department of Pediatric Pulmonology, Marmara University Pendik Training and Research Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

## Vedat Erentuă

Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, University of Health Sciences Bağcılar Eğitim ve Araştırma Hastanesi, İstanbul, Turkey

## Oktay Ergene

Department of Cardiology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

## Ramon Franco

Department of Laryngology, Massachusetts Eye and Ear Hospital, Boston, USA

## Cankon Germiyanoğlu

Department of Urology, 19 Mayıs University School of Medicine, Samsun, Turkev

## Abdülaziz Gül

Department of Pediatrics, Elazığ Private Hospital, Elazığ, Turkey H. Canan Hasanoğlu

Clinic of Chest Diseases, University of Health Sciences Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

## Hakan İlaslan

Clinic of Radiology, Cleveland Clinic, OH, USA

## Ferruh Kemal İşman

Department of Biochemistry, Medeniyet University Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Serdar Kabataş

Clinic of Brain and Nerve Surgery, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Tunava Kalkan Retired Assistant Professor of İstanbul University, İstanbul, Turkey Tolga Kapusuz

Maimonides Medical Center, Department of Anesthesiology, SUNY Downstate Medical School, Brooklyn, NY, USA

## Avhan Kılıç

Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Okan University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Reyhan Diz Küçükkaya

Clinic of Hematology and Internal Diseases, Florence Nightingale Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Metin Kücükkava

Clinic of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Florence Nightingale Hospital , İstanbul, Turkey

## Mehmet Külekci

University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Asiye Nuhoğlu

Clinic of Neonatology, University of Health Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey Barış Nuhoğlu

Department Urology, İlstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Ayşe Emel Önal

Department of Public Health, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Perihan Ergin Özcan

Clinic of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Türker Özkan

Department of Hand Surgery, İstanbul University İstanbul School of Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

## Savas Öztürk

Department of Nephrology, University of Health Sciences Haseki Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Cengiz Pata

Clinic of Gastroenterology, Yeditepe University Hospital, İstanbul, Türkive

## H. Soner Tatlidede

Department of Plastic Surgery, University of Health Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Avlin Tekes

Clinic of Pediatric Radiology, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, USA Serdar Tekgül

Department of Urology, Pediatric Surgery Unit, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Ralph P. Tufano

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, USA

## Uğur Türe

Clinic of Neurosurgery, Yeditepe University School of Medicine Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Avgen Türkmen

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## Sinan Uslu

Clinic of Neonatology, University of Health Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Clinic of Pediatrics, Pediatric Gastroenterology, University of Health

Sciences Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul,

Clinic of Pediatrics, University of Health Sciences Sisli Hamidiye Etfal

Clinic of Pediatrics, Yeditepe University Medical School Hospital,

Clinic of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Kartal Koşuyolu

Clinic of General Surgery, Memorial Etiler Medical Centre, İstanbul,

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Tekirdağ Namık

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Karabuk University

Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

## Nafiye Urgancı

Yıldız Yıldırmak

Orhan Yılmaz

Ayşe Ayça Vitrinel

İstanbul, Turkey

Gürsel Soybir

Ayşe Çiğdem Tütüncü

Kemal University, Tekirdağ, Turkey

Turkey

Birol Özkan

Turkev

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## Aims and Scope

Journal of Academic Research in Medicine (JAREM) is an open access international journal published in both Turkish and English and complies with independent and unbiased double-blind reviewing procedures. The journal publishes research in the fields of experimental and clinical medicine, case reports, reviews on recent topics, letters to the editor, and other manuscripts on medical education. The journal is published three times per year; in April, August, and December. The journal is funded by University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital.

The aim of JAREM is to publish research on recent topics at an international level. Moreover, reviews, editor's note, case reports and images are also published in the journal. The target audience of readers and authors is composed of educators, academics, researchers, specialists and general practitioners, and all publication process and procedures comply with the standards of ICMJE, WAME and COPE. JAREM is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, EBSCO, CINAHL and ProQuest.

## Subscription / Permissions / Advertisement

Free full-text copies of the printed manuscripts are available online at jarem.org. For subscription to the printed copy, applications for copyright permissions and announcements should be made to Editorial office.

## **Editorial Office**

Editor: Ömer N. Develioğlu Address: Clinic of Otolaryngology, University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Gaziosmanpaşa-İstanbul Phone: +90 (212) 252 43 00 E-mail: omernd@yahoo.com

## Publisher

## Galenos Yayınevi

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, TürkiyePhone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.trWeb: www.galenos.com.tr

## Instructions for Authors

Instructions for Authors page is available in the printed version or can be accessed at www.jarem.org.

## **Material Disclaimer**

Published content of JAREM is in authors' own responsibility. University of Health Sciences Turkey Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, editors, employees and the publisher do not accept any financial, legal or any other liability for the published material. The journal is printed on acid-free paper.



## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## Instructions to Authors

Journal of Academic Research in Medicine (JAREM), as an open access journal with doubleblind reviewing process, publishes experimental, basic and original researches conducted in the field of medical sciences; post-graduate training reports, case reports, and articles on history of medicine, and publication and research ethics. Reviewers whom opinions are of priority in the decision of approval are selected by the editors among independent local and international individuals that have specialized on their respective fields. The journal is published three times per year; in April, August and December.

An approval of research protocols by an ethical committee in accordance with international agreements (Helsinki Declaration of 1975, revised 2008-http://www.wma.net/ en/30publications/10policies/b3/index.html, "Guide for the care and use of laboratory animals www.nap.edu/catalog/5140.html) is required for experimental, clinical and drug studies.

All submissions must be accompanied by a signed statement of scientific contributions and responsibilities of all authors and a statement declaring the absence of conflict of interests. Any institution, organization, pharmaceutical or medical company providing any financial or material support, in whole or in part, must be disclosed in a footnote (ICMJE Disclosure Form for Potential Conflict of Interest(s)).

Manuscript format must comply with the ICMJE-Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (updated in December 2018 - http://www.icmje.org/icmje-recommendations.pdf).

The presentation of Original Researches and Reviews must be designed in accordance with trial reporting guidelines: randomized study-CONSORT, observational study-STROBE, study on diagnostic accuracy-STARD, systematic reviews and meta-analysis PRISMA, animal experimental studies-ARRIVE, nonrandomized behavioural and public health intervention studies-TREND.

An approval of ethic committee or an equivalent acceptance letter prepared by the officials of the institution in accordance with general ethics is mandatory for Original Research and even for some of the Case Reports. The concept and suggestions presented in the manuscript are the sole responsibility of the authors and do not reflect the opinions of Editor and his/her associates.

Manuscripts sent for publication must not have been previously published elsewhere. Abstracts that have been previously presented in scientific congresses and not exceeding 200 words can be accepted providing the explanation of the condition.

Withdrawal requests without a reasonable cause for papers approaching decision process are "rejected". First author of the manuscripts accepted for publication agrees that corrections both in English and Turkish versions are to be made by the Editors on condition that this will not cause a major change in the document.

Citation potential, being original and having high scientific and academic value are prerequisite for the acceptance of manuscripts for publication.

## **General Terms**

Manuscripts can only be submitted through online manuscript submission system at www. jarem.org. Rejected manuscripts are not returned to authors except artistic pictures. All papers are reviewed by Editor being in the first place, Editor Consultant and associates, statistical consultants and by at least two reviewers. It is particularly important for the journal that first author suggests three individuals as reviewers who are reputable on the subject and who are not related to and unaware of the authors and their institutions.

Editor decides whether the paper conforms to the style stated below before sending the manuscript to the reviewers. Corrections must not be made on original text and must be restricted with the sections requested for revision. Any spelling or drawing errors must be corrected before sending the manuscript to the reviewers.

Articles not conforming to the instructions will not be taken into consideration.

## **Research Articles**

1. Original Research: Full text of the paper should not exceed 5000 words and should include tables and graphs in sufficient number and content to allow understanding. Number of

references being less than 50 is sufficient for plausibility. Number of authors should be limited to 5 with original articles. When there are more than 5 authors the editorial board should be informed about the justification of this situation by the corresponding author.

**1.1 Title page:** It is the first page of the manuscript and prepared separately as MS Word document. It must include full names of the authors; highest academic degrees and the title of the article not exceeding 50 characters. Affiliations of the authors, departments and city names must be stated in order. Studies conducted in more than one centre must be marked with symbols. Full name, postal and e-mail addresses, phone and fax numbers of the author responsible for correspondence and corrections must be stated at the bottom of this page. It must be also explained if the study was previously presented in a scientific congress in accordance with aforementioned terms or if the abstract was published.

**1.2 Structured abstract for original research article:** The abstracts should contain the objective of the study, its type, the results, in sum, conclusion of the study without exceeding 250 word limit.

Abstracts must be structured as to include subheadings of Objective, Methods, Results and Conclusion.

At least 3, at most 6 keywords compatible with NLM MESH terms should be included following abstract (http://www.nlm.nih.gov./mesh/MBrowser.html).

**1.3 Text:** The text must include; Title, Introduction, Methods (with subheadings), Results, Discussion, Limitations of the study, Conclusion, and References. It may be useful to divide methods, results and discussion sections into subheadings. The text must not exceed 5000 words and should be written in Times New Roman, 12 point font. If acknowledgements will be included at the end of the manuscript, those contributed to the conduction of the study or assisted in finalizing the document are mentioned apart from those having substantial scientific contribution. This information must be sent by e-mail or uploaded to the system in a separate MS Word document with the name of "Acknowledgements".

1.4 Statistical Analysis: Analysis must be performed in accordance with statistical data reporting rules in medical journals (Altman DG, Gore SM, Gardner MJ, Pocock SJ. Statistical guidelines for contributors to medical journals. Br Med J 1983: 7; 1489-93). Software used in statistical analysis must be stated. If parametric tests are used for the comparison of continuous variables, data must be presented as mean±standard deviation. For non-parametric tests, Median (Minimum-Maximum) or Median (25th and 75th percentile) values must be indicated. In advanced and complicated statistical analyses, relative risk (RR), odds ratio (OR) and hazard ratio (HR) must be supplemented with confidence intervals (CI) and p values.

**1.5 References:** References should be numbered consecutively in the order cited in the text and are typed in a separate page. Inaccessible references such as personal information, unpublished data, "in press" are not typed in the references section but cited in parenthesis within the text. Abstracts published two years ago are not included in references; if included, they must be written as (abstr.) in parenthesis. Authors are responsible for the accuracy of the references. While citing publications, preference should be given to the latest, most up-to-date publications. Authors should avoid using references that are older than ten years. The limit for the old reference usage is 15% in the journal.

## Journals

Journal names must be abbreviated according to the list of Index Medicus/Medline/PubMed (the list of MEDLINE journals and their abbreviations published annually by NLM can be accessed at http://www.nlm.nih.gov/tsd/serials/lji.html). All author names are listed for articles having less than 6 authors. If the article contains 7 or more authors, names of the first 6 authors are written and followed by "et al.". Names of the authors are followed by the title of the manuscript, year, volume and page numbers.

**Example:** Müller C, Büttner HJ, Petersen J, Roskomun H. A randomized comparison of clopidogrel and aspirin versus ticlopidine and aspirin after the placement of coronary-artery stents. Circulation 2000; 101: 590-3.

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## Instructions to Authors

## Books

Section in a book: Sherry S. Detection of thrombi. In: Strauss HE, Pitt B, James AE, editors. Cardiovascular Medicine. 2nd ed. St Louis: Mosby; 1974. p.273-85.

Book with single author: Cohn PF. Silent myocardial ischemia and infarction. 3rd ed. New York: Marcel Dekker; 1993.

Editor(s) as author: Norman IJ, Redfern SJ, editors. Mental health care for elderly people. New York: Churchill Livingstone; 1996.

Article presented at a meeting: Bengisson S. Sothemin BG. Enforcement of data protection, privacy and security in medical informatics. In: Lun KC, Degoulet P, Piemme TE, Rienhoff O, editors. MEDINFO 92. Proceedings of the 7th World Congress on Medical Informatics; 1992 Sept 6-10; Geneva, Switzerland. Amsterdam: North-Holland; 1992. P. 1561-5.

Scientific or technical report: Smith P. Golladay K. Payment for durable medical equipment billed during skilled nursing facility stays. Final report. Dallas (TX) Dept. of Health and Human Services (US). Office of Evaluation and Inspections: 1994 Oct. Report No: HHSIGOE 169200860.

Thesis: Kaplan SI. Post-hospital home health care: the elderly access and utilization (dissertation). St. Louis (MO): Washington Univ. 1995.

## Manuscript in electronic format

Morse SS. Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis (serial online) 1995 Jan-Mar (cited 1996 June 5): 1(1): (24 screens). Available from: URL: http://www.cdc.gov/ ncidodIEID/cid.htm.

1.6 Figures, Tables and Pictures: Figures and images must be prepared as not to include names of the patient, doctor and the institution. They must be provided separately from the document and numbered according to their sequence within the text. Legends and footnotes are typed in a separate page. The drawings in the graphs must be in sufficient thickness. Therefore, loss of detail will be minimal while zooming out. The width should be maximum 9 or 18 cm. It may be useful if the drawings are made by professionals. Grey colour should not be used. Abbreviations must be defined below in alphabetical order. Roman numbers should not be used in Tables and Figures must be given with a point. The tables should be prepared to make the text more explanatory and understandable and should not repeat the text.

## Video Images

In addition to images in the Case Reports and Original Images; video images/motion pictures, extra images/static images will be published at our website if they comply with the following technical requirements.

- 1. Presentations in image/static image format: JPG, GIF, TIFF, BMP
- 2. Video images/motion pictures: MPEG, VMF.
- 3. File size must be maximum 2 MB.
- Names of doctor, institution, city, and patient and descriptions in the images and particularly in video images must be deleted before sending.

Originality of the tables, figures and images in your manuscript must be stated. If a material is used from another source, either the original source or a source citing the original one, the source must be cited; hardcopy or electronic versions must be obtained from Copyright owner (publication house, journal or author) and presented to the Editor in Chief with the permissions. Terms relevant to the references, figures and tables are applicable to all types of articles

## **Specific Sections**

2. Reviews: Can be prepared by the invited authors upon decision of the Editorial Office. An information or a subject must explain, discuss, and evaluate the latest level that has been reached and must be at a particular degree directing the future studies in order to be used in clinic. The author must have a high reputation in his/her field and must have published manuscripts that have been cited.

Unstructured abstract: Word counts determined for research articles are also applicable herein but they will be unstructured. At least 3, at most 6 keywords compatible with NLM MESH terms (available at http://www.nlm.nih.gov./mesh/MBrowser.html) should be included following abstract. They are limited to 5000 words and 50 references.

**3. Editorial Note:** The purpose of editorial note is to make brief evaluation of the published research by reputable authors on that particular field or by reputable reviewers. Clinical significance and short summary is included at the end of the text.

4. Case Reports: Intriguing and informative case reports including very rare conditions even for other authors or those representing challenges in the diagnosis and treatment or overlooked conditions in practice or those offering new therapies, involving information that are not even present in the textbooks can be published in the journal. Such case reports are published in limited numbers. Those containing video images have higher chance of publication. Number of references is limited to 10 and the text is limited to 700 words. The abstract should be unstructured and should not exceed 250 words. The manuscript should include minimum 3 and maximum 6 keywords which conform to Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms prepared by National Library of Medicine (NLM). Case report contains the subheadings of Introduction, Case reports. When there are more than 3 authors the editorial board should be informed about the justification of this situation by the corresponding author.

5. Scientific Letter: Manuscripts that aim to announce scientific discoveries and data or preliminary reports that are of clinical significance are accepted for publication as scientific letter. Scientific letters do not contain subheadings and should not exceed 900 words. Number of references should be limited to 10 and the number of tables and figures should be limited to 2.

**6. Letters to the Editor:** Are one of the major aims of publication of the journal. The significance of a published manuscript or overlooked or missed aspects are discussed. Apart from letters commenting on the published manuscripts, authors can present their comments on subjects attracting the readers' interest or on educational cases in the form of Letters to the Editor. Number of references should not exceed 5 and the text should be limited to 500 words; the text does not contain subheadings.

7. Education: Scientific knowledge that has been proved with the results latest research, that set out in academic training, and that taken a place in clinical practice is presented in details.

Unstructured abstract: Word counts determined for research articles are also applicable for this section; but this will be unstructured. At least 3, at most 6 keywords compatible with NLM MESH terms (available at http://www.nlm.nih.gov./mesh/MBrowser.html) should be included following abstract. The text should be limited to 5000 words and number of references is limited to 50.

8. Original Images: Striking and rare images reflecting important findings in clinical sciences, shedding light on basic mechanisms of the diseases, emphasizing the abnormalities or revealing new treatment methods are accepted for publication. Those containing video images have higher chance of publication. Figure caption, legends, and footnotes (without reference) should not exceed 250 words.

**9. Historical Notes:** Historical notes are the articles that enlighten important events in the history of medicine and elucidate new information on the historical progress of the diagnosis and treatment of diseases. New historical discoveries must be the results of appropriate researches conducted on the subject. The content of historical notes should not contain subheadings and be limited to 900 words and 10 references.

**10. Publication Ethics:** Articles providing contemporary information and comments on publication ethics and cases of violation of ethics are published in this section of the journal. The text is limited to 900 words and the number of references is limited to 10.

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## Contents

## Review

208 Urethral Stenosis and Urethroplasty in Male Elderly Ali Ayyıldız; Adıyaman, Turkey

## **Original Investigations**

214	Role of Red Cell Distribution Width in Evaluation of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Activity Deniz Öğütmen Koç, Murat Keğin; İstanbul, Turkey
220	Congenital Urinary System Anomalies: Prenatal Diagnosis/Postnatal Outcome Miraç Özalp, Hatice Sonay Yalçın Cömert, Ömer Demir, Hidayet Şal, Turhan Aran, Mehmet Armağan Osmanağaoğlu; Trabzon, Turkey
227	Visual Evoked Potentials in Euthyroid Hashimoto's Thyroiditis Hakan Şilek, Rengin Bilgen, Bahar Erbaş; İstanbul, Turkey
232	Rare Factor Deficiencies: A Retrospective, Single-center Cohort Study Nilgün Eroğlu, Erol Erduran, Ayşenur Bahadır, Haluk Saruhan; Trabzon, Turkey
237	Comparison and Analyses of Intraoperative Consultation and Paraffin Section Responses of Ovarian Lesions Elife Kımıloğlu, İrem Yanık, Özgecan Gündoğar, Sibel Bektaş, Süleyman Salman; İstanbul, Turkey
241	Optimal Target in Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease: Comparison of Atlas and Magnetic Resonance Imaging-based Stereotactic Targeting İdris Sertbaş; İstanbul, Turkey
246	Comparison of COVID-19 Case-Fatality-Rates by Socio-Demographic Factors Esra Keleş Peker, Güven Bektemur, Kürşad Nuri Baydili, Melek Aktaş; İstanbul, Turkey, Rennes, France
252	Relationship Between Vitamin D, Calcium, and Phosphorus Levels Burcu Çaykara, Güler Öztürk, Hacer Hicran Mutlu, Ebru Arslan; İstanbul, Turkey
258	Association of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Symptoms of Parents with Parental Attitudes Mehmet Çolak, Özlem Şireli Bingöl, Zeynep Esenkaya Usta, Birim Günay Kılıç; İzmir, Muğla, Konya, Ankara, Turkey
264	Retrospective Evaluation of Patients Undergoing Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation in the Emergency Department Ertuğrul Altınbilek, Mustafa Çalık, Miray Tümer, Ahmet Burak Erdem, Derya Öztürk; İstanbul, Ankara, Turkey
269	Follow-up for Patients with Intestinal Metaplasia Restricted to the Antrum Deniz Öğütmen Koç, Sadettin Hülagü, Yeşim Saliha Gürbüz, Altay Çelebi, Ali Erkan Duman, Tanyeli Güneyligil Kazaz; İstanbul, İzmit, Gaziantep, Turkey
277	Reliability and Validity of the Turkish Version of the Questionnaire for the Assessment of Self-Reported Olfactory Functioning and Olfaction- Related Quality of Life Özlem Saatçi, Özge Arıcı Düz, Aytuğ Altundağ; İstanbul, Turkey
283	Relationship of Endometrial Polyp Prediction with Clinical and Demographic Findings

Dilşad Herkiloğlu, Şefik Gökçe, Pınar Göksedef, Canan Kabaca, Gülhan Sağıroğlu; İstanbul, Turkey

## JOURNAL OF ACADEMIC RESEARCH IN MEDICINE

## Contents

Comparative Evalaution of the Effects of Short-Wave Diathermy, Ultrasound, and TENS on Pain and Physical Functions in Knee 288 Osteoarthritis Betül Başar, Belgin Erhan; İstanbul, Turkey **Case Reports** T-Tube Breakage During Removal: Management by Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography 294 Mehlika Bilgi Kırmacı, Tamer Akay, Esra Özgül, Sezgin Yılmaz; Afyonkarahisar, Balıkesir, Turkey A Rare Presentation of Retinoblastoma as a Fungating Orbital Mass: A Case Report 298 Kenan Kıbıcı, Berrin Erok, Onat Akın; İstanbul, Konya, Turkey Giant Juvenile Fibroadenoma of the Breast: Clinical Manifestation in Two Cases 303 Mehmet Tolga Kafadar, Mehmet Ali Kırşan, Suat Çal, Mehmet Hanifi Okur, Sadullah Girgin; Diyarbakır, Turkey Anesthetic Approach for a Patient with 1g21.1 Microdeletion Syndrome: A Case Report 306 Gül Cansever, Cansu Uzuntürk, Nur Canbolat; İstanbul, Turkey Index 2020 Referee Index 2020 Author Index 2020 Subject Index

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3425 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):208-13

## Urethral Stenosis and Urethroplasty in Male Elderly

## Ali Ayyıldız

Adıyaman University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Urology, Adıyaman, Turkey

Cite this article as: Ayyıldız A. Urethral Stenosis and Urethroplasty in Male Elderly. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):208-13

## ABSTRACT

Old age is defined as age 65 and older according to the World Health Organization. Urethral stenosis is a group of diseases with high morbidity in male society. Patients undergo surgery many times. In the elderly population, urethral stenosis develops especially secondary to diseases caused by aging. Stenosis occurs due to reasons such as benign prostatic enlargement, endoscopic urological manuplations, pelvic radiation therapy for rectal or prostate cancer, insertion of a probe. It is believed that reactions that develop at the cellular level due to hypogonadism in the elderly and the disadvantages caused by comorbidity, nutritional problems affect the course of urethral stenosis and the results of urethroplasty. Wound-related problems occur more often in the elderly. Researchers who share their urethroplasty experience with us express that all urethroplasty methods applied in young people can also be applied in the elderly population. But all interventions that will be made in the elderly population must be decided and implemented in detail. In this review, urethral stenosis, etiology, wound, elderly urethra, hypogonadism and their treatment were reviewed in the elderly. The number of published articles associated with elderly urethroplasty is quite small. There is a need for well-designed specialized research involving this age group.

Keywords: Male elderly, urethral stenosis, urethroplasty, hypogonadism, wound healing

## INTRODUCTION

Unfortunately, there are several published articles when we look at the stenosis and treatments of the urethra involving the elderly population. Studies involving urethroplasty and its consequences in older people are almost non-existent. In most cases, the article on urethral stenosis and its treatments contains information about all age groups and the results of the study. In this review, an overview of old age, etiology, treatment methods and results, elderly wound and wound healing were reviewed in elderly patients with urethroplasty due to urethral stenosis. Isolated studies of urethral stenosis and urethroplasty are needed in the group of 65 years and older.

## Elderly

According to the World Health Organization, age 65 and older is considered chronologically elderly. Old age is a natural and

inevitable period of life, such as childhood, youth, adulthood, in which the interaction between genetic structure and the environment is observed at the highest level, physiological and spiritual changes occur, with complex aspects, seen in all living things (1). Even if each person is chronologically the same age, their physiology, biochemical and genetic structure are different, so they also react differently to diseases and treatments.

## Overview

Chronological, biological and physiological ages should be considered while evaluating urethral injury and treatment in old age. Note the difference between chronological and biological aging. Accordingly, it has been stated that different organs and tissues in a person's body may have different biological aging rates compared to that person's chronological age, as well as different

ORCID ID of the author: A.A. 0000-0003-3724-2516.



**Corresponding Author:** Ali Ayyıldız, E-mail: urology52@gmail.com Received Date: 23.05.2020 Accepted Date: 03.07.2020

individuals of the same chronological age may have very different biological aging rates. We act according to chronological age in our studies and statistical evaluations. Although they have the same chronological age, it should be assumed that the biological and physiological characters are different, which will have a positive or negative impact on wound healing.

Biological aging is the structural and functional change of the body during the development process. Our general way of life has an effect on the aging of our cells. With aging, continuous and inevitable decreases in productivity and physiological processes are observed. This is called physiological aging. Body composition, cardiovascular system, kidneys, digestive system, liver, brain, nervous system, lungs and functional deficiencies occur in the endocrine system (1).

Mortality in old age has decreased in some countries, and according to data from more than 30 developed countries, the probability of survival between the ages of 80-90 is about 37% on average. In some countries, the probability of survival exceeds 50% at the age of 80-90 (2).

Urethral stenosis disease is common and costly, observed in 0.6% of men and is stated to have created an economic cost of over \$200 million in the United States in 2000. Advances in technology have increased endoscopic surgeries, and the associated risk of developing urethral stenosis has also increased. The epidemiology of stenosis disease is well defined, but the underlying basic pathophysiological mechanisms are still not well understood (3). Liu et al. (4), in the urethral stenosis series of 262 patients, reported the proportion of older people over 65 years of age as 24.8%. One in every four patients appears to be elderly (4).

## Aged Urethra

Testosterone is important in the development of the urethra, for the integrity and function of the smooth muscles of the corpora cavernosa. Due to a decrease in testosterone levels in old age, there is a decrease in androgen receptors and periurethral vascularity in the urethra (5). A study identified a significant increase in urethral atrophy risk and artifical sphincter erosion due to a decrease in serum testosterone (6). For this reason, it has been suggested that there may be an increase in urethral stenosis and an inability to achieve treatment results due to a decrease in androgen, which develops secondary in the elderly (3).

Aging and wound healing play an important role in the microlevel structure of the urethra, and extracellular matrixes are necessary in the healing and proliferation process, as in all tissues (7). Matrix metalloprotein enzymes (MMP) increase with aging (8). It has been stated that even the urethral plaques of hypospadias in childhood show significant age-related structural changes, and these changes may play a role in urethral healing after hypospadias repair (9). The MMP enzyme family plays a key role in embryonic development, organ morphogenesis, ovulation, embryo implantation, wound healing, angiogenesis and apoptosis (8). Extracellular matrix and MMPs affect all tissues and reactions in old age. Experimental studies on this subject are continuing in urethral strictures (10).

## **Etiology and Stenosis Localization**

Some of the most common etiologies of stenoses are lichen sclerosis, trauma, iatrogenic and infections (11,12). Sexually transmitted diseases, which are common in past times, today cause less urethral stenosis after new medical treatments. For this reason, the etiology of urethral stenosis also changed in old age (13). Pelvic radiation therapy is also a factor due to cancer treatments in old age (3). Urethral stenosis of jatrogenic or idiopathic origin are most common in industrialized countries (14). Currently, the most common cause of panurethral stenosis is genital lichen sclerosis (15). When all stenosis are evaluated, iatrogenic causes constitute almost half of the cases (13). Stenoses are most often seen in elderly patients secondary to urological instrumentation (3). Because a large number of translansurethral resections are performed due to prostate diseases and bladder tumors (16-18). Santucci et al. (17) stated that etiological factors developed due to 43% iatrogenic, 14% trauma, 14% prolonged catheter duration, 9% radiation therapy, 7% infection, 7% previous urethroplasty, and 3% radical prostatectomy, respectively, in their series of 70 patients over the age of 65. Schwetner et al. (13) identified the cause of stenoses as 26% iatrogenic, 9.5 % trauma, 45% instrumentation, 12% catheter, and 7% infection in their study involving 32 patients in the same age group. As it is seen, stenoses that develop secondary to endoscopic prostate and bladder operations in old age take the first place. Although it was previously known that the success rates of endoscopic treatment with internal urethrotomia were poor, it was considered the first option in practice, as limited life expectancy was considered in elderly patients (19). Although life expectancy has increased, when we look at population-based studies, most clinicians still use internal urethrotomia as the first option in our country for various reasons, although it varies from country to country (2,17,20). However, open urethroplasty has the best results (13,15,17,21-25).

Looking at the location of the stenosis, bulbar region is observed in the first place in the elderly (13,18). Spencer et al. (3), in their study investigating the relationship between hypogonadism and urethral stenosis, defined the most common place of stenosis in the two different groups as 53% and 57% at the bulbomembranous level. However, these groups include not only the elderly but also those under 65 (3). Schwentner et al. (13) confirmed that the bulbar region took the first place in terms of stenosis localization, similar to other researchers, in their series of 42 patients, but unlike other authors, they explained a high rate of 64%.

## Comorbidity

As we know, comorbid diseases increase in old age (26). Therefore, considering the co-diseases associated with urethral stenosis, it is observed that diabetes, obesity and hypertension are most common, respectively, while in cases of comorbidity, the failure of urethroplasty increases. Age progression increases the likelihood of strictures. The occurrence of stenosis and risk of treatment failure are associated with obesity (27,28). It is not known exactly how co-observation of comorbid diseases with old age contributes to urethral stenosis, surgery and recovery or failure of treatment. Advanced studies are needed on this issue. In general, comorbid diseases leave damage at the level of tissues and cells. It is possible that the presence of cellular or tissue damage secondary to the urethra due to these comorbidities will affect the post-urethral surgery.

## Testosterone and Hypogonadism

Age, diabetes and obesity are associated with hypoandrogenism (HA) (3,28). Testosterone is important in urethral development and cavernosal smooth integrity and function (29). HA involves a decrease in urethral androgen-related receptors and periurethral vascularity (5). Also, low serum testosterone levels increase the risk of urethral atrophy and artificial sphincter erosion (6). It is not unreasonable to assume this link, but it is still difficult to establish a clear link between HA and urethral stricture and treatment failure.

Testosterone has multiple actions in the body, such as sexual differentiation and its effects on reproduction, muscle, bone, hematopoiesis, and behavior (30). Measurement of testosterone has been included in biochemical uncertainty assessments (31). As we know, testosterone is already declining in aging men, and it remains unclear at what point this decline is clinically significant. There are different attempts in relation to the topic to describe the status of low testosterone in aging men (3,30). It is not known exactly how testosterone or other androgenic receptors play a role in both urethra healing and other tissue and organ healing. Low testosterone due to secondary hypogonadism is due to insufficient gonadotropins, as most seniors have developed testicular failure. A study by Corona and Maggi (32) revealed concomitant metabolic diseases in about 90% of men with secondary hypogonadism. These diseases have been observed in more than 70% of men. All systems are affected in old age.

Androgen-dependent processes include not only the urethra, but also spongious tissue, and the vascular environment in spongious tissue. In case of androgen deficiency, the development of degeneration, atrophy and fibrosis in vascular and spongious tissue will contribute to the physiology of urethral stenosis. Moreover, in the case of hypogonadism, there is an increase in the level of systemically circulating proinflammatory cytokines (3). Suppression of systemic inflammatory responses was found when testosterone was administered externally to patients with hypogonadism (33,34).

## Treatments

Before planning treatment, the urethra must be fully evaluated. For this purpose, retrograde urethrography, combined cystouretrography, urethroscopy should be performed first. Alpha blockers, which are started a few days before combined cystouretrography or 5-6 hours in advance, will increase the opening of the bladder neck, so an optimal image can be achieved. Endoscopy should then be planned both antegrad and retrograde depending on the condition of the stenosis.

In general, non-invasive techniques such as urethral dilation were abused in the past, and then internal urethrotomyr was presented as a definitive solution to the problem and became common without dilation and dilation. It was the first choice of doctors and patients, especially in short strictures. However, the problems and failure increased (20). Endoscopic treatment methods, which were widely used in the treatment of stenosis in the past, should be reviewed in terms of optimum treatment, since their success rates are low and they are not effective in long stenoses. Follow-up results of internal urethrotomy are poor (17). Nowadays, internal urethrotomy is recommended twice, only in appropriate cases (16,20).

A decrease in mortality in the elderly population today and a long life span have emerged as an unprecedented and unexpected situation. Therefore, the concept of urethral stenosis treatment had to be reconsidered in this population. From this point of view, it was reported that open urethroplasty should be raised as a first and valuable option in advanced older people over the age of 75 (35,36). Nowadays, the effectiveness of urethroplasty with a low complication rate has been proven with good surgical practices (37,38). Internal urethrotomy or dilatation are unacceptable procedures with failure rates of 50% in the first application and 100% in the second (17,20). Despite the aging population, especially in western countries, very few articles have been published about which open procedures can be applied in stenosis treatments (13,17). Santucci et al. (17) first published a study in 2004 in which they showed open urethroplasty results, complication and failure rates in the elderly group. This was the first article we could find in PubMed's scan. After a long time, in 2010, Schwentner et al. (13) shared the results of onlay skin graft, in which they performed open urethroplasty in elderly patients. According to our information, no further studies have been published on PubMed until 2020.

A gold standard treatment method, which we can say that the following technique is suitable for strictures, has not been defined yet. However, a tension-free anastomosis, spongiofibrosis, and the length of the stenosis are effective in determining the open urethroplasty method (35-38). Although buccal mucosa graft applications are most popular in young patients, there are concerns that oral factors such as poor oral hygiene, leukoplakia and dental prosthesis will disrupt the quality of the graft in older patients (13,39,40). Submucosal fibrosis may occur in those with long-term tobacco use and grafts taken due to poor oral hygiene (41-43). In panuretroplasties, although complication rates are minimal even when oral mucosa grafts are used, this rate is 17.5%. In this study, Schwentner et al. (13) showed that dorsay onlay techniques are effective and reliable in older people. There are no very detailed studies on the results of graft intake in the elderly (14). The only treatment option for long stenoses or panurethral stenoses is the application of urethroplasty using alternative methods of operation. Considering etiological factors, the characteristics of stenosis, previous operations, the degree of fibrosis, the presence of tissues to be used as flaps or grafts, surgical experience and preference are effective factors in decision-making (16).

Many single or double-stage surgical techniques have been used in the treatment of long and other strictures. While Orandi penile skin, Quartey preputial skin flap, McAninch fasciocutaneous penile circular flap were used as flap; Techniques such as dorsal oral mucosa with Asopa ventral urethrotomy, Johanson procedure, oral mucosa grafts are used as graft. Recently, thanks to Kulkarni and other techniques, single-stage procedures using grafts and flaps have become popular, with comparable success rates, especially in the treatment of stenoses due to previous urethroplasties and radiotherapy (15,16,20,35,44-49). Bulbar urethral stenosis is treated using either direct (end-to-end anastomosis) or anastomosis techniques with free dorsal graft over the corporacaavernosa, or using epilated biaxial scrotal skin flap or free preputial skin or buccal mucosa, or with grafts placed ventrally or dorsally placed. Recently, the use of the buccal mucosa has increased in proximal urethral stenosis, which includes the membranous area. If the length of the stenosis is over 6 cm, two-stage urethroplasty is a good option (48-52). According to the preference and experience of the surgeon, applications other than the techniques described above can also be performed. However, although urethroplasty is considered the gold standard treatment, relapse rates still appear to be between 8.3 and 18.7% (53). Mundy (54). Published their results of patch urethroplasty for posterior urethral strictures over the age of 55. In their study, they stated that age factor did not play a role in failure, instead, retrograde spongiosal blood supply decreased in the elderly, ischemia occurred, and antegrade urethral blood supply was impaired especially in posterior urethral separation injuries (54).

In general, as the length of age and stenosis increases, the failure of urethroplasty increases. It is theoretically believed that when graft or flap is used in urethroplasty in the elderly, success rates will decrease, complications will increase, especially due to the presence of comorbidities (36,55). Although microvascular insufficiency in the elderly with diabetes, peripheral vascular disease and neuropraxia to be caused by potential ischemic extremity, which may develop due to excessive lithotomy position during the operation, and post-operative pulmonary edema that may develop due to cardiac and renal failure, studies have shown us the contrary (37,55,56). It is stated that problematic patients can be evaluated in coordination with anesthesiologists before the operation and operations can be performed (14). The use of oral mucosa may not be appropriate because of the increase in oral diseases as the age progresses, oral leukoplakia and head and neck tumors, and radiotherapy (39-43). However, since the side effects such as pain, swelling, and numbness are minimal, the success of urethroplasty will increase if the selection is still buccal mucosa in suitable cases (13,15,57). Because it has a higher capacity of elasticity and mechanical stability than skin grafts (14,58). Pedicle flap urethroplasties are not recommended in elderly patients due to their higher rate of unsuccessful results.

Barbagli et al. (49) found that both skin and buccal mucosa grafts were more successful than flap procedures (26). Posteriorly applied grafts can make urethroplasty suitable in elderly patients, with the advantage of being fed with the abundant blood inherent in the corpora cavernosa (14,26). In addition, mechanical support of cavernosal tissue and dorsal onlay graft urethroplasty have been shown to provide long-term durability (59,60). Persistent perineal urethrostomy may be an option in complex cases with severe strictures, where urethroplasty has failed several times. Santucci et al. (17) applied this method in 4 of 70 patients (20).

Ventral interventions in accordance with the omega structure of the external sphincter are an appropriate approach to reduce incontinence in posterior urethral strictures. Despite this, the patient should be informed about dorsal interventions. Tissue engineering has also been applied in some centers recently. Urethra tissue produced in laboratories is used in surgeries (61). However, the researchers state that the tissue-engineered urethral tissue is very thin and requires careful surgery because of the high risk of tearing during surgery.

The Turkish Society of Urology and the Turkish Academy of Urology have published guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and followup protocols in urethral strictures. In this guide, the diagnosis, pathophysiology, treatment methods and follow-up protocols of urethral stenosis are summarized under the guidance of the American Urological Association and the European Urological Association guidelines. It is possible to find methods that can also be applied to older patients in the same manual and apply them in surgery, especially with more pictures and protocols to give them the opportunity to quickly browse in daily practice (62).

## **Elderly Wound and Healing**

A wound can occur spontaneously, as well as iatrogenically, including operations. Surgeons accelerate the healing of surgical wounds thanks to the methods they have developed. However, factors such as patients' physical condition, tissue and immune systems, nutritional status and comorbidity due to their chronological, biological, physiological aging are effective in wound healing. In an epidemiological study that lasted 5 years with chronic wounds and examined 1158 wounds, it was reported that the wound closure time was significantly slower in older patients than in younger patients, and the wound closure time slowed after the age of 60 (63).

In wound healing; There are hemostasis, inflammation, proliferation and maturation phases. All of these phases are affected in the elderly. With increasing age, the number of platelets adhering to the injured endothelium and the release of growth factors increase (64). In elderly individuals, the components involved in inflammation reach the wound later, and therefore the inflammatory response is delayed. In addition, capillary permeability at the injury site decreases, so there is a slowdown in the transition of leukocytes to the wound site. In experiments with older animals, it was found that the number of phagocytic macrophages and the phagocytic skills of macrophages and the production of growth factors secreted by macrophages decreased with age (65). The response to hypoxia in the elderly is also impaired. With increased age, there is a decrease in proliferative responses of keratinocytes, fibroblasts and vascular endothelial cells. There are also regressions in collagen synthesis and angiogenesis process. All these negatives can lead to delays in healing the wound and failure to close the wound (66). With age, the strength of the tissue to resist tears decreases, and this is explained by the decreasing collagen fibers. In elderly individuals, the strength of the wound is gained in a longer time than the young people and the strength of the wound obtained is weaker than the young individuals. Common comorbid diseases facilitate wound formation and make wound healing difficult. Factors such as reduced levels of hormones, nutritional problems, stress, obesity and multiple drug use also negatively affect wound healing. Among the factors affecting wound healing in the elderly; nutritional problems that may accompany chronic diseases, dermis thickness of the skin, protection and immune response against microorganisms, serum albumin level, collagen production, pressure and feel sensations, loss of tissue elasticity, decrease in partial oxygen pressures due to respiratory problems and tissue oxygen deficiency (64-67).

## CONCLUSION

Although comorbid diseases increase in old age, mostly diabetes and cardiovascular diseases, nutritional disorders, decrease in androgen amount and hypogonadism, development of urethral atrophy, delays in wound healing, the results of urethral stricture treatment and urethroplasty application are satisfactory. Life expectancy has increased in most countries nowadays. For this reason, open urethroplasties should replace optical internal urethrotomy, which has been introduced as a treatment option with low success rates. There is no data except for a few published articles on this subject. There is a need for projects and scientific studies targeting the elderly group in order to develop clearer and scientific attitudes.

## Peer-review: Internally peer-reviewed.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- Yerli G. Yaşlılık dönemi özellikleri ve yaşlılara yönelik sosyal hizmetler. Uluslararası Sosyal Araştırmalar Derg 2017; 10: 1278-87.
- Christensen K, Doblhammer G, Rau R, Vaupel JW. Ageing populations: the challenges ahead. Lancet 2009; 374: 1196-208.
- Spencer J, Mahon J, Daugherty M, Chang-Kit L, Blakely S, McCullough A, et al. Hypoandrogenism is prevalent in males with urethral stricture disease and is associated with longer strictures. Urology 2018; 114: 218-23.
- Liu JS, Dong C, Gonzalez CM. Risk factors and timing of early stricture recurrence after urethroplasty. Urology 2016; 95: 205-7.
- Hofer MD, Kapur P, Cordon BH, Hamoun F, Russell D, Scott JM, et al. Low testosterone levels result in decreased periurethral vascularity via an androgen receptor-mediated process: pilot study in urethral stricture tissue. Urology 2017; 105: 175-80.
- Hofer MD, Morey AF, Sheth K, Tausch TJ, Siegel J, Cordon Bh, et al. Low Serum Testosterone Level Predisposes to Artificial Urinary Sphincter Cuff Erosion. Urology 2016; 97: 245-9.

- Üçgül İ, Aras S, Elibüyük U. Ekstraselüler matris yapısı ve görevleri. Uludağ Üniv Müh Fak Derg 2018; 23: 295-310.
- Uzun ML. Demirezer Ö. Cilt yaşlanması ve matriks metalloproteinaz enzimlerinin yaşlanma üzerine etkileri. J Lit Pharm Sci 2019; 8: 206-13.
- da Silva EA, de Marins RL, Rondon A, Damiao R. Age-related structural changes of the urethral plate in hypospadias. J Pediatr Urol 2013; 9: 1155-60.
- Guzman-Esquivel J, Delgado-Enciso I, Baltazar-Rodriguez LM, Rodriguez-Hernandez A, Juarez-Pineda U, Melnikov V. Metalloproteinase-1 usefulness in urethral stricture treatment. Int Urol Nephrol 2011; 43: 763-9.
- Stein DM, Thum DJ, Barbagli G, Kulkarni G, Sansalone S, Pardeshi A, et al. A geographic analysis of male urethral stricture aetiology and location. BJU Int 2013; 112: 830-4.
- Wood DN, Andrich DE Greenwell TJ, Mundy AR. Standing the test of time: the long-term results of urethroplasty. World J Urol 2006; 24: 250-4.
- Schwentner C, Seibold J, Colleselli D, Alloussi SH, Schilling D, Sievert KD, et al. Dorsal Onlay Skin Graft Urethroplasty in Patients Older Than 65 Years. Urology 2010; 76: 465-70.
- Lumen N, Hoebeke P, Willemsen P, De Troyer B, Pieters R, Oosterlinck W. Etiology of urethral stricture disease in the 21st century. J Urol 2009; 182: 983-7.
- Zumrutbas AE, Ozlulerden Y, Celen S, Kucuker K, Aybek Z. The outcomes of Kulkarni's one-stage oral mucosa graft urethroplasty in patients with panurethral stricture: a single centre experience. World J Urol 2020; 38: 175-81.
- Santucci RA, Joyce GF, Wise M. Male Urethral Stricture Disease. J Urol 2007; 177: 1667-74.
- Santucci RA, McAninch JW, Mario LA, Rajpurkar A, Chopra AK, Miller KS, et al. Urethroplasty in patients older than 65 years: indications, results, outcomes and suggested treatment modifications. J Urol 2004; 172: 201-3.
- 18. Mundy RA, Andrich DE. Urethral Strictures, BJU Int 2011; 107: 6-26.
- 19. Albers P, Fichtner J, Brühl P, Müller SC. Long-term results of internal urethrotomy. J Urol 1996; 156: 1611-4.
- 20. Al-Taweel W, Seyam R. Visual internal urethrotomy for adult male urethral stricture has poor long-term results. Adv Urol 2015; 2015: 656459.
- Barbagli G, Lazzeri M. Urethral reconstruction. Curr Opin Urol 2006; 16: 391-5.
- Andrich DE, Mundy AR. What is the best technique for urethroplasty? Eur Urol 2008; 54: 1031-41.
- Barbagli G, Palminteri E, Lazzeri M, Guazzoni G. Anterior urethral strictures. BJU Int 2003; 92: 497-505.
- Kulkarni S, Barbagli G, Sansalone S, Lazzeri M. One-sided anterior urethroplasty: a new dorsal onlay graft technique. BJU Int 2009; 104: 1150-5.
- Barbagli G, Morgia G, Lazzeri M. Retrospective outcome analysis of onestage penile urethroplasty using a flap or graft in a homogeneous series of patients. BJU Int 2008; 102: 853-60.
- 26. Şahin M, Kutlu M. Yaşlı kardiyovasküler hastalarda sık görülen komorbiteler. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars 2017; 45(Suppl 59): 13-6.
- Blaschko SD, Harris CR, Zaid UB, Gaither T, Chu C, Alwaal A, et al. Trends, utilization, and immediate perioperative complications of urethroplasty in the United States: data from the national inpatient sample 2000-2010. Urology 2015; 85: 1190-4.
- Chapman D, Kinnaird A, Rourke K. Independent predictors of stricture recurrence following urethroplasty for isolated bulbar urethral strictures. J Urol 2017; 198: 1107-12.
- Isidori AM, Buvat J, Corona G, Goldstein I, Jannini EA, Lenzi A, et al. A critical analysis of the role of testosterone in erectile function: from pathophysiology to treatment—a systematic review. Eur Urol 2014; 65: 99-112.
- Christe N, Meier CA. Hypotestosteronaemia in the aging male: should we treat it? Swiss Med Wkly 2015; 145: w14216.
- Ayyildiz SN. The importance of measuring the uncertainty of secondgeneration total testosterone analysis, Int J Med Biochem 2018; 1: 34-9.
- Corona G, Maggi M. Perspective: Regulatory agencies' changes to testosterone product labeling. J Sex Med 2015; 12: 1690-3.

- Ho CH, Fan CK, Yu HJ, Wu CC, Chen KC, Liu SP, et al. Testosterone suppresses uropathogenic Escherichia coli invasion and colonization within prostate cells and inhibits inflammatory responses through JAK/ STAT-1 signaling pathway. PLoS One 2007; 12: e0180244.
- Malkin C, Pugh P, Jones R, Kapoor D, Channer K, Jones H. The effect of testosterone replacement on endogenous inflammatory cytokines and lipid profiles in hypogonadal men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89: 3313-8.
- Andrich DE, Mundy A R. Urethral strictures and their surgical treatment. BJU Int 2000; 86: 571.
- Andrich DE, Mundy AR. What's new in urethroplasty? Curr Opin Urol 2011; 21: 455-60.
- Andrich DE, Mundy AR. What is the best technique for urethroplasty? Eur Urol 2008; 54: 1031-41.
- Andrich DE, Dunglison N, Greenwell TJ, Mundy AR. The long-term results of urethroplasty. J Urol 2003; 170: 90-2.
- Markiewicz MR, Lukose MA, Margarone JE 3rd, Barbagli G, Miller KS, Chuang SK. The oral mucosa graft: a systematic review. J Urol 2007; 178: 387-94.
- Splieth CH, Sumnig W, Bessel F, John U, Kocher T. Prevalence of oral mucosal lesions in a representative population. Quintessence Int 2007; 38: 23-96.
- Sinha RJ, Singh V, Sankhwar SN, Dalela D. Donor site morbidity in oral mucosa graft urethroplasty: implications of tobacco consumption. BMC Urol 2009; 9: 15.
- Manoj B, Sanjeev N, Pandurang PN, Jaideep M, Ravi M. Postauricular skin as an alternative to oral mucosa for anterior onlay graft urethroplasty: a preliminary experience in patients with oral mucosa changes. Urology 2009; 74: 345-8.
- Jayanthi V, Probert CS, Sher KS, Mayberry JF. Oral submucosal fibrosis: a preventable disease. Gut 1992; 33: 4-6.
- McAninch JW. Reconstruction of extensive urethral strictures: circular fasciocutaneous penile flap. J Urol 1993; 149: 488-91.
- Morey AF, Tran LK, Zinman LM. Q-flap reconstruction of panurethral strictures. BJU Int 2000; 86: 1039-42.
- Spencer J, Blakely S, Daugherty M, Angulo JC, Martins F, Venkatesan K, et al. Clinical and patient-reported outcomes of 1-sided anterior urethroplasty for long-segment or panurethral strictures. Urology 2018; 111: 208-13.
- Santucci RA, Mario LA, McAninch JW. Anastomotic urethroplasty for bulbar urethral sticture: analysis of 168 patients. J Urol 2002; 167: 1715-9.
- Barbagli G, Palmintieri E, Lazzeri M. Dorsal only techniques for urethroplasty. Urol Clin North Am 2002; 29: 389-95.
- Barbagli G, Montorsi F, Guazzoni G, Larcher A, Fossati N, Sansalone S, et al. Ventral oral mucosal onlay graft ureth-roplasty in nontraumatic bulbar urethral strictures: Surgical technique and multivariate analysis of results in 214 patients. Eur Urol 2013; 64: 440-7.
- Santucci RA, Mario LA, McAninch JW. Anastomotic urethroplasty for bulbar urethral sticture: analysis of 168 patients. J Urol 2002; 167: 1715-19.
- 51. Webster GD, Peterson AC. Simple perineal and elaborated perineal posterior urethroplasty. Arab J Urol 2015; 13: 17-23.

- 52. Soave A, Kluth L, Dahlem R, Rohwer A, Rink M, Reiss P, et al. Outcome of buccal mucosa graft urethroplasty: a detailed analysis of success, morbidity and quality of life in a contemporary patient cohort at a referral center. BMC Urol 2019; 19: 18.
- Meeks JJ, Erickson BA, Granieri MA, Gonzalez CM. Stricture recurrence after urethroplasty: a systematic review. J Urol 2009; 182: 1266-70.
- Mundy AR. Urethroplasty for posterior urethral strictures. Br J Urol 1996; 78: 243.
- Blair SL, Schwarz RE. Advanced age does not contribute to increased risks or poor outcome after major abdominal operations. Am Surg 2001; 67: 1123-7.
- Gumus E, Kendirci M, Horasanli, K, Tanriverdi O, Gidemez G, Miroglu C. Neurapraxic complications in operations performed in the lithotomy position. World J Urol 2002; 20: 68-71.
- Wood DN, Allen SE, Andrich DE, Greenwell TJ, Mundy AR. The morbidity of buccal mucosal graft harvest for urethroplasty and the effect of nonclosure of the graft harvest site on postoperative pain. J Urol 2004; 172: 580-3.
- Alsikafi NF, Eisenberg M, McAninch JW. Long-term outcomes of penile skin graft versus buccal mucosal graft for substitution urethroplasty of the anterior urethra. J Urol 2005; 173: 87.
- 59. Akgül M, Kaya C. Tekrarlayan bulbar üretra darlıkları: güncel yaklaşım. Kontinans Nöroürol Bült 2015; 2: 93-7.
- Mangera A, Patterson JM, Chapple CR. A systematic review of graft augmentation urethroplasty techniques for the treatment of anterior urethral strictures. Eur Urol 2011; 59: 797-814.
- Mangir N, Wilson KJ, Osman NI, Chapple CR. Current state of urethral tissue engineering. Curr Opin Urol 2019; 29: 385-93.
- 62. Şimşek A, Şeker KG, Kadıoğlu A. Üretra darlıklarında tanı, tedavi ve takip protokollari kılavuzu. 2016; pp: 1-22.
- Wicke C, Bachinger A, Coerper S, Beckert S, Witte MB, Königsrainer A. Aging influences wound healing in patients with chronic lower extremity wounds treated in aspecialized wound care center. Wound Repair Regen 2009; 17: 25-33.
- Acar K, Aygin D. Yaşlılarda yara gelişimi risk faktorleri, onleme ve bakım yaklaşımları. Yoğun Bakım Hemş Derg 2015; 19: 54-9.
- Gosain A, DiPietro LA. Aging and wound healing. World J Surg 2004; 28: 321-6.
- 66. Tandara AA, Mustoe TA. Oxygen in wound healing-more than a nutrient. World J Surg 2004; 28: 294-300.
- Kutluay Köklü AH, Uğar Çangal DA. Yara iyileşmesini etkileyen faktörler içerisinde beslenmenin yeri. Atatürk Üniv Diş Hek Fak Derg 2013; 7: 135-41.

## Role of Red Cell Distribution Width in Evaluation of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Activity

## Deniz Öğütmen Koç<sup>1</sup>, Durat Keğin<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Öğütmen Koç D, Keğin M. Role of Red Cell Distribution Width in Evaluation of Inflammatory Bowel Disease Activity. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):214-9

## ABSTRACT

**Objective:** We aimed to determine whether red cell distribution width (RDW) is useful in evaluating the activity and remission periods of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD).

**Methods:** One hundred thirty-two IBD patients, consisting of 98 ulcerative colitis (UC) patients and 34 Crohn's patients, were included in this retrospective study. Serum C-reactive protein (CRP) level, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), leukocyte and platelet counts and hemoglobin (Hb) concentrations were evaluated separately during disease activity and remission periods. Disease activity for UC and Crohn's disease was determined by Mayo score and Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI), respectively.

**Results:** The median age (interquartile range) was 37.5 (29-50) and the duration of the disease was 29.4±44.3 months in the patients included in the study. RDW, ESR, CRP values, leukocyte and thrombocyte counts were significantly active periods compared to remission periods (p<0.01), while Hb concentration was significantly lower (p<0.001). ESR, CRP, and platelet levels were significantly associated with Mayo score in UC patients and CDAI severity in Crohn's patients (p<0.05). No association was observed between RDW and disease severity according to IBD activity scores. RDW, ESR, CRP values and platelet counts were significantly higher during the active periods of patients with UC (36.7%) and Crohn's disease (41.2%) with anemia than those without anemia (p<0.01).

**Conclusion:** RDW can be used as an indicator of activity and remission in IBD patients. RDW can be a useful additional marker as an easy and inexpensive tool to monitor disease activity, predict relapse, and follow-up treatment.

Keywords: Red blood cell distribution width, inflammatory bowel disease, activity, remission

## INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the gastrointestinal system that occurs with periods of activity and remission throughout its clinical course (1). It contains 2 main phenotypes: Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis (UC). UC is characterized by inflammation limited to the colon mucosa, while in Crohn's disease, transmural inflammation is observed, which can affect any part of the gastrointestinal tract (2). In IBD patients, the value of hemoglobin (Hb) concentration and platelet count and inflammation markers such as erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP) were reported in disease activity assessment and treatment effectiveness monitoring (3,4). Recent studies have highlighted the possible role of red cell distribution width (RDW) as an additional inflammatory marker in IBD (5-7). RDW is a measure of the size variability and heterogeneity

ORCID IDs of the authors: D.Ö.K. 0000-0003-2738-625X; M.K. 0000-0002-0596-2386.



(anisocytosis) of erythrocytes in peripheral blood. RDW, which is part of a whole blood count, is a blood parameter that is routinely measured, automatically reported. It is obtained by dividing the standard deviation of the erythrocyte volume distribution by the mean corpuscular volume (MCV) and multiplying by 100 (8). RDW is being used as an auxiliary index in the diagnosis of anemias caused by iron deficiency, B12 or folic acid deficiencies; this has led to it being considered as a potential screening marker for colon cancer and celiac disease (9-11).

Recently, RDW has been shown to have clinical significance for evaluating the clinical consequences and severity of various pathological conditions such as cardiovascular and respiratory diseases, sepsis, malignancies, renal dysfunction, autoimmune diseases, and (11,12) has been found to be a strong predictor of mortality in cardiovascular diseases (13). It has also been observed to be important in assessing mortality rates and survival in hospitalized patients and to be a prognostic biomarker in adults 45 years and older (12,14). Systemic factors that alter erythrocyte homeostasis, such as inflammation and oxidative stress, are thought to play a role in the mechanisms underlying RDW's association with survival (14). High oxidative stress can reduce the survival of erythrocytes, so that a higher-grade anisocytosis can be observed due to the increased proportion of immature erythrocytes in circulation (15). In addition, the relationship between the increase in systemic inflammation and anisocytosis supports the role of RDW as an important inflammatory marker (11).

In this study, we compared RDW values measured during the activity and remission periods of IBD patients. We aimed to determine whether RDW can be used as a marker in activity monitoring and recurrence prediction of IBD patients.

## **METHODS**

A total of 132 patients IBD patients who were hospitalized or followed as outpatients were included in this study. Medical records of the patients were reviewed retrospectively. Malignancy, rheumatic diseases, acute infectious diseases, cardiovascular diseases and patients who did not continue the follow-up were excluded from the study. The study group consisted of 98 (74.2%) patients with UC and 34 (25.8%) patients with Crohn's disease. During periods of activity and remission, serum RDW, CRP, ESR values, leukocyte and platelet counts, Hb concentration, mean platelet volume (MPV), MCV, and iron (Fe) results were evaluated. Disease activity for UC and Crohn's disease was determined with Mayo score and Crohn's Disease Activity Index (CDAI), respectively. UC patients according to Mayo score: (1) remission <3; (2)  $3 \le$  mild activity <6; (3)  $\ge6$ , moderate-severe activity. Crohn's patients according to CDAI: (1) remission <150; (2) 150≤ mild activity <220; (3) ≥220, moderate-to-severe activity. The presence of normal disease activity scores, tests, and clinical findings in patients was accepted as remission. Anemia was defined as Hb levels below 12 g/dL and 13 g/dL for female and male patients, respectively.

The analysis of the data was approved by the Ethics Committee of Taksim Training and Research Hospital, which verified that the study complies with the ethical rules of the Declaration of Helsinki (approval number: 36, date: 10.04.2019).

## **Statistical Analysis**

The compatibility of numerical variables to normal distribution was tested with the Shaphiro-Wilk test. Student's t-test was used to compare normally distributed variables in two independent groups. The paired t-test was used to test the difference between two dependent measurements in normally distributed variables. Relationships between numerical variables were tested with Pearson correlation coefficient, and relationships between categorical variables were tested with chi-square test. SPSS Windows 22.0 package program was used in the analyzes. P<0.05 was considered significant.

## RESULTS

Median age (interquartile range) was 37.5 (29-50) and disease duration was 29.4±44.3 months in 132 patients included in this retrospective observational study. Twenty (58.8%) of the Crohn's patients were male and 57 (58.2%) of the UC patients were male. The general characteristics of the patients are given in Table 1. Distribution according to disease location in UC patients is as follows: 23 (23.5%) patients proctitis, 41 (41.8%) left sided colitis and 34 (34.7%) patients pancolitis. In Crohn's patients, 19 (55.9%) patients had terminal ileitis and 15 (44.1%) patients had ileocolitis. There were no significant differences in age, gender, and duration of disease between UC and Crohn's patients (p>0.05). When patients were evaluated for anemia, 14 (41.2%) of Crohn's patients and 36 (36.7%) of UC patients had anemia, there was no significant difference in the presence of anemia between the two groups (p>0.05). In addition, there was no difference in RDW, ESR, CRP values, platelet count and Hb concentration during activity and remission periods between UC and Crohn's patients (p>0.05).

RDW values were significantly higher in active periods of IBD patients compared to remission periods (p=0.007). In addition, while ESR, CRP values, leukocyte and thrombocyte counts were significantly higher in IBD patients during their active periods when compared with their remission periods (p<0.001); Hb concentrations, MPV and Fe values were significantly lower in the active period (p<0.001). There was no significant difference in MCV values between the activity and remission periods (p>0.05). When UC and Crohn patient groups were evaluated separately; RDW, CRP, ESR values, leukocyte and platelet counts were found to be significantly higher in the activity period of both groups (Table 2).

According to the disease localization, there was no significant difference in RDW values between patients with proctitis, left-sided colitis, and pancolitis for UC diseases; and between patients with terminal ileitis and ileocolitis for Crohn's disease (p>0.05). CRP, ESR and leukocyte values were found to be higher in the

pancolitis group compared to the left-sided colitis and proctitis groups in the active period of UC (p=0.004, p=0.014, p=0.029, respectively). There was no significant difference in inflammatory markers between ileitis and ileocolitis patients in the active period of Crohn's (p>0.05). In our study, in terms of Hb concentrations in UC patients, a significant difference was found between the

groups with mild, moderate and heavy activity in the Mayo score (p=0.003), but no difference was found between the mild and moderate-severe CDAI groups in Crohn's patients (p=0.105). ESR, CRP values and platelet counts increased significantly in parallel with Mayo score and CDAI severity, while no significant differences in RDW values were observed in both groups (p>0.05) (Table 3).

Table 1. General characteristics of patients with Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's disease					
	Ulcerative colitis (n=98)	Crohn (n=34)	р		
Gender (M/F) (n)	57/41	20/14	0.556		
Age, year	40.8±14.6	37.7±12.5	0.271		
Duration of the disease, month	29.7±45.9	28.3±39.9	0.869		
Localized disease, (n, %)					
- Proctitis	23(23.5)	-	-		
- Left side colitis	41(41.8)	-	-		
- Pancolitis	34(34.7)	-	-		
- Terminal ileitis	-	19 (55.9)	-		
- Ileocolitis	-	15 (44.1)	-		
Anemia, (n, %)	36 (36.7)	14 (41.2)	0.397		
n (%) was used for estagories weighted and maps + standard deviation was used for pumorial variables					

n (%) was used for categorical variables and mean ± standard deviation was used for numerical variables. M: male, F: Female

Table 2. Comparative analysis of innaminatory markers in IDD patients by act	activity and	d remissio
--	--------------	------------

	Ulcerative colitis (n=98)			Crohn (n=34)		
	Activity	Remission	р	Activity	Remission	р
Hb (g/dL)	12.9±1.9	13.6±1.7	<0.001*	12.9±2.2	13.6±1.8	0.009*
Htc (%)	39.3±5.1	40.7±4.5	0.003*	39.4±5.9	40.9±4.7	0.038*
WBC (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	8.3±2.7	7.0±1.9	<0.001*	8.4±2.1	7.3±1.7	0.002*
PLT (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	298.2±112.4	268.2±81.1	0.002*	336.0±115.7	278.0±67.4	0.002*
ESR (saat)	27.0±26.4	13.6±11.2	<0.001*	35.1±21.6	14.2±9.4	<0.001*
CRP (mg/dL)	19.1±37.8	4.2±8.3	<0.001*	37.4±50.0	5.1±4.2	0.001*
RDW (%)	15.3±3.0	14.6±2.1	0.050	16.0±3.5	14.9±2.0	0.047*

\*p<0.05, mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

IBD: inflammatory bowel disease, Hb: hemoglobin, Htc: hematocrit, PLT: platelet, WBC: white blood cell, ESR: erythrocyte sedimentation rate, CRP: C-reactive protein, RDW: red cell distribution width

Table 3. Comparative analysis of inflammatory markers according to disease activity in IBD patients

	Ulcerative colitis (n=98)				Crohn (n=34)		
	Mayo score				CDAI		
	Mild (n=12)	Moderate (n=24)	Severe (n=62)	р	Mild (n=12)	Moderate-severe (n=22)	р
Hb (g/dL)	13.7±1.8	13.8±1.4	12.4±2.0	0.003*	13.8±2.1	12.4±2.1	0.105
WBC (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	6.9±1.3	7.7±2.6	8.7±2.8	0.051	8.3±1.8	8.5±2.3	0.652
PLT (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	252.9±54.7	253.8±80.7	324.2±123.4	0.010*	269.8±109.1	372.1±104.6	0.001*
ESR (hours)	8.0±2.7	15.9±15.1	35.3±28.6	<0.001*	22.1±13.9	42.2±22.0	0.005*
CRP (mg/dL)	3.9±1.1	4.3±1.7	27.8±45.4	0.010*	11.7±15.1	51.4±56.8	0.001*
RDW (%)	14.8±1.5	14.5±2.7	15.7±3.2	0.230	14.8±2.5	16.7±3.8	0.200

\*p<0.05, mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

IBD: inflammatory bowel disease, CDAI: Crohn's Disease Activity Index, Hb: hemoglobin, WBC: white blood cells, PLT: platelet, ESR: erythrocyte sedimentation rate, CRP: C-reactive protein, RDW: red cell distribution width

While there was a positive correlation between the Mayo score and ESR, CRP values, platelet and leukocyte counts (r=0.59, r=0.57, r=0.37, all p<0.001; r=0.29, p=0.004, respectively), there was a negative correlation with Hb concentration (r=-0.42, p<0.001). Similarly, positive correlation between CDAI increase and ESR, CRP values and platelet numbers (r=0.67, r=0.72, both, p<0.001; r=0.56, p=0.001, respectively) and negative correlation with Hb concentration (r=-0.54, p=0.001) were found in Crohn's patients. The relationship between RDW and Mayo score and CDAI was not statistically significant. RDW values of those with anemia in the active period of UC and Crohn's patients were found to be significantly higher than those without anemia (p<0.001). In addition, those with anemia during the activity period had higher CRP, ESR values and thrombocyte counts compared to those without anemia (all, p<0.01) (Table 4).

During the active period of the patients, negative correlation between RDW and Hb, MCV and iron values (r=-0.45, r=-0.48, both p<0.001; r=-0.23, p<0.01, respectively); and positive correlation between platelet values (r=0.27, p<0.01) were present. Similarly, there was a negative correlation between RDW and Hb, MPV, iron values in the remission period (r= -0.36, p<0.001; r= -0.19,; r= -0.24, both p<0.01) and a positive correlation between platelet values (r=0.25, p<0.01).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we found that RDW, a simple morphological marker of erythrocyte size heterogeneity, was significantly higher during active periods of IBD patients than during periods of remission. As far as we know, this study is the first to compare RDW values in the active and remission periods of the same group of patients.

In IBD, there is still no single gold standard test for assessing the activity, severity and outcome of the disease. Instead, a combination of symptoms, clinical examination, laboratory examinations, radiology and endoscopy and histology are used to assess activity and predict the course of the disease (3). In recent studies, RDW has been investigated as a marker of inflammation in the evaluation of disease activity and treatment decisions in IBD (6,7,16).

RDW reflects the variability in the size of circulating erythrocytes and does not incur additional costs, as it is routinely measured by automated laboratory equipment used to perform complete blood counts (8). Recently, RDW value has been used in the diagnosis of anemias caused by iron deficiency, B12 or folic acid deficiencies (17,18). In addition, there is an increase in RDW in cases such as severe blood loss that causes immature cells to be released into the bloodstream, hemoglobinopathies that cause erythrocyte shape change, hemolytic anemia or hemolysis (12,13).

The mechanisms mediating the relationship between high RDW values and IBD activity are not exactly known. Chronic inflammatory condition, causing immature erythrocytes to enter the circulation, can contribute to ineffective erythropoiesis and lead to increased RDW (14,16).

In IBD, proinflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-1b (IL-1b), IL-6, IL-10, tumor necrosis factor alpha and interferon gamma are produced by peripheral blood monocytes and mononuclear cells of the intestinal lamina propria (19-21). These cytokines may contribute to the development of anemia by inducing erythropoietin resistance (22). Also during inflammatory processes, the biological half-life of erythrocytes is reduced as a result of oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation. This promotes erythrophagocytosis and reduces iron recirculation. These facts lead to the retention of iron in phagocytes and the development of functional iron deficiency, that is, although iron is present in the body, it is not present for erythropoiesis (23). At the same time, more inflammatory activity probably leads to greater blood loss, increased hepcidin release, and decreased iron absorption from the intestine (24). These factors cause immature red blood cells to be released into the peripheral circulation, leading to an increase in RDW and anisocytosis (13).

In our study, we showed that increased RDW levels are associated with disease activity in IBD. We found that RDW increased during the activity periods of IBD patients and returned to normal in the remission period. Cakal et al. (5) showed that a 14% cut value for RDW had a sensitivity of 0.86 and a specificity of 0.75 when detecting active UC, and a 14.1% RDW cut value for Crohn's disease had a sensitivity of 0.78 and a specificity of 0.63.

As expected in the results of our patients, inflammatory markers such as ESR, CRP values, leukocyte and platelet numbers were significantly higher during the IBD active period. ESR, CRP values and platelet counts were higher in the group with severe Mayo score in UC patients and in the group with moderate-severe CDAI in Crohn's patients. But no significant association was found between RDW and disease activity scores.

Table 4. Comparison of inflammatory markers in active IBD patients with anemia status					
	IBD (n=132)				
	Anemia (n=50)	No anemia (n=82)	р		
CRP (mg/dL)	41.9±59.6	12.8±18.9	0.001*		
RDW (%)	16.9±3.8	14.6±2.2	<0.001*		
ESR (hours)	42.7±31.3	21.0±16.1	<0.001*		
PLT (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm <sup>3</sup> )	371.0±135.2	269.5±77.6	<0.001*		

\*p<0.05, mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

IBD: inflammatory bowel disease, CRP: C-reactive protein, RDW: red cell distribution width, PLT: platelet, ESR: erythrocyte sedimentation rate

Clarke et al. (25) found that RDW levels were higher in Crohn's patients compared to UC patients (14.9% versus 14.3%) and they associated this result with malabsorption, which is an additional cause of anemia in Crohn's patients. According to the data of their study, they reported that RDW values may be a marker in the separation of UC and Crohn's (25). Another study determined the RDW cut value at 14.45 with 70% sensitivity and 56% specificity in the differentiation of Crohn's disease from UC (7). In our study, there were no significant differences in RDW and other inflammatory parameters between UC and Crohn's patients in the active period.

Among our active IBD patients, RDW, CRP, ESR values and platelet counts were significantly higher in patients with anemia (37.9%). The result of our data shows that anemia increases in parallel with the severity of the disease. Song et al. (6) showed that RDW correlates with disease activity in anemic and non-anemic IBD patients; They found that RDW was the best independent indicator for predicting disease activity in Crohn's patients without anemia (6). However, in other studies, RDW was an important determinant as an indicator of active UC, while it was stated that CRP was the most sensitive and specific parameter in the evaluation of active disease for Crohn's patients (5,26).

According to our data, ESR, CRP and RDW values were significantly higher during the activity period of UC and Crohn's disease than during the remission period; a strong correlation was found between the severity of disease activity and ESR and CRP in both groups, but no correlation was found between them and RDW values.

## CONCLUSION

We found that RDW values were high during activity periods of IBD patients, and declined to normal values during remission periods. According to our results, RDW as a cheap tool can be a useful marker for activity monitoring, recurrence prediction, and treatment monitoring of IBD patients when evaluated together with other inflammation parameters.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The analysis of the data has been approved by the Ethics Committee of Taksim Training and Research Hospital, which confirms that the study complies with the ethical rules of the Declaration of Helsinki (approval number: 36, date: 10.04.2019).

## Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Design - D.Ö.K., M.K.; Data Collection and/ or Processing - D.Ö.K., M.K.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - D.Ö.K.; Literature Search - D.Ö.K., M.K.; Writing Manuscript - D.Ö.K.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

1. Guan Q. A Comprehensive Review and update on the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. J Immunol Res 2019; 7247238.

- Kulnigg S, Gasche C. Systematic review: managing anaemia in Crohn's disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2006; 24: 1507-23.
- 3. Vermeire S, Van Assche G, Rutgeerts P. Laboratory markers in IBD: useful, magic, or unnecessary toys? Gut 2006; 55: 426-31.
- Cabrera-Abreu J, Davies P, Matek Z, Murphy MS. Performance of blood tests in diagnosis of inflammatory bowel disease in a specialist clinic. Arch Dis Child 2004; 89: 69-71.
- Cakal B, Akoz AG, Ustundag Y, Yalinkilic M, Ulker A, Ankarali H. Red cell distribution width for assessment of activity of inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis Sci 2009; 54: 842-7.
- Song CS, Park II D, Yoon MY, Seok HS, Park JH, Kim HJ, et al. Association between red cell distribution width and disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Digest Dis Sci 2011; 57: 1033-8.
- Arhan M, Önal KI, Taş A, Kurt M, Kalkan İH, Özin Y, et al. The role of red cell distribution width as a marker in inflammatory bowel disease. Turk J Med Sci 2011; 41: 227-34.
- Evans TC, Jehle D. The red blood cell distribution width. J Emerg Med. 1991; 9(Suppl 1): 71-4.
- Sategna GC, Scaglione N, Martini S. Red cell distribution width as a marker of coeliac disease: a prospective study. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 14: 177-81.
- Spell DW, Jones DV Jr, Harper WF, Bessman JD. The value of a complete blood count in predicting cancer of the colon. Cancer Detect Prev 2004; 28: 37-42.
- Goyal H, Lippi G, Gjymishka A, John B, Chhabra R, May E. Prognostic significance of red blood cell distribution width in gastrointestinal disorders. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 4879-91.
- 12. Lippi G, Mattiuzzi C, Cervellin G. Learning more and spending less with neglected laboratory parameters: the paradigmatic case of red blood cell distribution width. Acta Biomed 2017; 87: 323-8.
- Felker GM, Allen LA, Pocock SJ, Shaw LK, McMurray JJV, Pfeffer MA, et al. Red cell distribution width as a novel prognostic marker in heart failure data from the CHARM program and the Duke databank. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 50: 41-7.
- Patel KV, Ferrucci L, Ershler WB, Longo DL, Guralnik JM. Red cell distribution width and the risk of death in middle-aged and older adults. Arch Intern Med 2009; 169: 515-23.
- Agarwal S. Red cell distribution width, inflammatory markers and cardiorespiratory fitness: Results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Indian Heart J 2012; 64: 380-7.
- Oliveira AM, Cardoso FS, Rodrigues CG, Santos L, Martins A, de Deus JR, et al. Can red cell distribution width be used as a marker of crohn's disease activity? GE Port J Gastroenterol 2016; 23: 6-12.
- Lippi G, Targher G, Montagnana M, Salvagno GL, Zoppini G, Guidi GS, et al. Relation between red blood cell distribution width and inflammatory biomarkers in a large cohort of unselected outpatients. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2009; 133: 628-32.
- Ayan NN, Savaş Z, Bireroğlu N, Keleş A, Aksoy N, Serin NÖ. Demir Eksikliği Anemisi Olan Kadınlarda Tedavi Öncesi ve Sonrası Trombosit Değerlerinin Karşılaştırılması. Jarem 2015; 5: 94-6.
- Mahida YR, Wu K, Jewell DP. Enhanced production of interleukin 1-b by mononuclear cells isolated from mucosa with active ulcerative colitis of Crohn's disease. Gut 1989; 30: 835-8.
- MacDonald TT, Hutchings P, Choy MY, Murch S, Cooke A. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interferon-gamma production measured at the single cell level in normal and inflamed human intestine. Clin Exp Immunol 1990; 81: 301-5.
- Strong SA, Pizarro TT, Klein JS, Cominelli F, Fiocchi C. Proinflammatory cytokines differentially modulate their own expression in human intestinal mucosal mesenchymal cells. Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 1244-56.
- Schreiber S, Howaldt S, Schnoor M, Nikolaus S, Bauditz J, Gasché C, et al. Recombinant erythropoietin for the treatment of anemia in inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med 1996; 334: 619-24.

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):214-9

- 23. Weiss G, Gasche C. Pathogenesis and treatment of anemia in inflammatory bowel disease. Haematologica 2010; 95: 175-8.
- Antunes CV, Hallack Neto AE, Nascimento CR, Chebli LA, Moutinho ILD, do Valle Pinheiro B, et al. Anemia in inflammatory bowel disease outpatients: prevalence, risk factors, and etiology. Biomed Res Int 2015; 2015: 728925.
- 25. Clarke K, Sagunarthy R, Kansal S. RDW as an additional marker in inflammatory bowel disease/undifferentiated colitis. Dig Dis Sci 2008; 53: 2521-3.
- Ipek S, Cekic C, Alper E, Coban E, Eliacik E, Arabul M, et al. Can red cell distribution width be a marker of disease activity in ulcerative colitis? Int J Clin Exp Med 2015; 8: 13848-53.

## Congenital Urinary System Anomalies: Prenatal Diagnosis/ Postnatal Outcome

Miraç Özalp<sup>1</sup>, Hatice Sonay Yalçın Cömert<sup>2</sup>, ÖÖmer Demir<sup>3</sup>, Hidayet Şal<sup>3</sup>, Turhan Aran<sup>1</sup>,
 Mehmet Armağan Osmanağaoğlu<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Perinatology, Trabzon, Turkey
 <sup>2</sup>Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Trabzon, Turkey
 <sup>3</sup>Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Trabzon, Turkey

Cite this article as: Özalp M, Yalçın Cömert HS, Demir Ö, Şal H, Aran T, Osmanağaoğlu MA. Congenital Urinary System Anomalies: Prenatal Diagnosis/ Postnatal Outcome. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):220-6

## ABSTRACT

**Objective:** To evaluate the relationship of fetal urinary system anomalies with aneuploidy and additional structural malformations, to compare the preliminary diagnoses made in the prenatal period with the results of the postnatal period.

**Methods:** Two hundred eighty-two cases diagnosed as fetal urinary system anomaly in our clinic between 2016-2019 were evaluated within the scope of the study. Age, gestational week, gravida, parity, fetal gender, type of anomaly, presence of additional anomaly, prenatal diagnosis method, fetal karyotype result, termination status and postnatal results were recorded.

**Results:** Hydronephrosis (HN) was in the first place among fetal urinary system anomalies. When congenital malformations accompanying urinary system anomalies were examined, central nervous system anomalies were the most common group with 26.4%. Urinary system anomalies, which are most frequently associated with additional anomalies; bilateral renal agenesis (50%), bilateral multicystic dysplastic kidney (50%) and extrofia vesica (50%). Considering the karyotype results, trisomy was observed in 26% of the cases, PKHD1 in 4% and triploidy in 2%. According to the karyotype result, when the group with normal karyotype and trisomy group was compared, the difference between the presence of additional anomalies (p=0.004), bilateral HN (p=0.012) and termination results (p=0.002) was found statistically significant. The rate of cases followed in pediatric surgery clinic/outpatient clinic in the postnatal period is 26% and 38.2% of these cases have undergone surgical intervention.

**Conclusion:** Appropriate diagnosis, follow-up and treatment of urinary system anomalies that have a broad clinical spectrum, with a multidisciplinary approach, are of great importance in both the prenatal period and the postnatal period.

Keywords: Hydronephrosis, karyotype, polycystic kidney, prenatal diagnosis, trisomy

## **INTRODUCTION**

Congenital urinary system abnormalities include structural and functional malformations of the kidney, urethra, bladder and urethra. With the advanced technology ultrasonography devices used today, it has become possible to detect many of these anomalies in the prenatal period (1). Congenital abnormalities of the kidney and urinary system (CAKUT) account for about 20-30% of all abnormalities detected in the prenatal period (2). The total

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** M.Ö. 0000-0002-2255-1642; H.S.Y.C. 0000-0002-5281-4933; Ö.D. 0000-0003-4376-8733; H.Ş. 0000-0002-3586-6125; T.A. 0000-0001-9488-9776; M.A.O. 0000-0001-5115-5262.



**Corresponding Author:** Miraç Özalp, E-mail: ozalpmirac@gmail.com Received Date: 27.03.2020 Accepted Date: 09.09.2020

rate of CAKUT in live or stillborn infants is about 0.3 to 1.6 per 1,000 births (3).

The fetal kidney develops from the mesoderm layer, and the process that begins on the 26<sup>th</sup> day of embryogenesis goes through the stages of pronephrosis, mesonephrosis, and methanephrosis. Metanephrosis is the last stage of kidney development. It consists of methanephric mesenchyme and ureter bud, and begins to function between 6<sup>th</sup>-10<sup>th</sup> weeks. Fetal urine production starts in the 9<sup>th</sup> week of embryogenesis. Metanephrosis migrates from its initial caudal position and settles in the pelvis opposite the sacral somites, reaching its permanent location in the lumbar region in the 8<sup>th</sup> week of embryogenesis. The bladder and urethra develop from the urogenital sinus (4). Fetal urinary system abnormalities can be caused by defects in genes encoding signaling and transcription factors or monogenic abnormalities (5,6). Although some malformations are seen together with syndromes accompanied by multiorgan anomalies, most of the cases are non-syndromic. In addition, environmental factors such as exposure to teratogens during prenatal period may cause CAKUT by disrupting kidney morphogenesis (7,8).

Urinary system anomalies not only affect the existing system, but may also affect other fetal functions. Some of these abnormalities can cause oligohydramniosa and, as a result, fetal pulmonary hypoplasia, facial deformities, and limb contractures. Most urinary system abnormalities are progressive. Functional recycling is possible with intrauterine or postnatal treatment methods (9,10). For this reason, prenatal diagnosis of urinary system anomalies; it plays an important role in determining the timing, place and mode of birth.

In our study, our aim was to determine the frequency of fetal urinary system anomalies, to determine their relationship with aneuploidy and additional structural malformations, and to compare prenatal diagnoses with postnatal period results.

## **METHODS**

In this study, 282 cases of fetal urinary tract anomaly detected during fetal anomaly screening or routine obstetric ultrasound examination in Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Clinic of Perinatology between January 1, 2016 and June 31, 2019 were retrospectively evaluated. Age, week of pregnancy, gravida, parity, fetal sex, type of anomaly, presence of additional anomaly, prenatal diagnosis method, fetal karyotype result, termination status and postnatal results were recorded for all pregnant women with fetal urinary system anomaly. Urinary system anomalies were divided into subgroups such as renal agenesis, hydronephrosis (HN), multicystic dysplastic kidney (MCDK), polycystic kidney (PCK), ectopic kidney, duplication of collector system, megacistis and posterior urethral valve (PUV). The most widely accepted renal pelvic diameter (RPD) scoring system was used to define and grade fetal HN. Accordingly, the limit value for the anteroposterior diameter measurement of the renal pelvis in the transverse plane was determined as 4 mm until the 32<sup>nd</sup> gestational week, and 7 mm at 33 and more gestational weeks. Cases of HN that underwent spontaneous resolution were excluded from the study during their follow-up in the prenatal period. For the purpose of prenatal diagnosis, each family that will be karyotyped was given genetic counseling prior to the procedure. Chorionic villus sampling (CVS), amniocentesis (AC) or cordocentesis (CC) were applied to the cases for genetic diagnosis. Written and verbal information was given to the families about the method of karyotyping and possible complications, informed consents were obtained. Interventions were performed with ultrasonography. Fetuses with aneuploidy or structural malformation incompatible with life were evaluated in the council consisting of perinatology, pediatric surgery and medical genetics doctors, and families were offered the option of termination of pregnancy. Evaluation of the newborn in the postnatal period was performed by pediatric surgery doctors within the first 7 days after birth.

For the study, the necessary ethics committee permission was obtained with the decision of the Ethics Committee of Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine (decision number: 2019/28).

## **Statistical Analysis**

In the study, SPSS 24 Version was used for recording and calculating statistical data. (IBM Corp., SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, NY.) The suitability of numerical variables for normal distribution was tested by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Categorical variables were determined using frequency and percentage; numerical variables were determined using mean and standard deviation or median and minimum-maximum values. The relationship between two categorical variables was investigated by chi-square test. The arguments were compared with the Mann-Whitney U test. The study was conducted in a 95% confidence interval and p<0.05 value was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

The study group consisted of 282 pregnant women with fetal urinary system anomaly. The mean age of the pregnant women included in the study was 30, and the mean week of gestation diagnosed with fetal urinary system anomaly was 23 weeks. Fetal sex was found to be 158 male (56%), 117 female (41.4%) and 7 unspecified (2.5%). Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics of the cases.

Among the abnormalities of the fetal urinary system, HN was the first. In 198 pregnant women (70.2%), fetal HN was observed, of

Table 1. Demographic data	
Age	30±5.4
Gravida	3±0.6
Parity	1±0.3
Diagnosed pregnancy week	23.2±5.6
Fetal sex, F/M/U*, n (%)	117/158/7 (41.4%, 56%, 2.5%)
*F: female, M: male, U: undefined	

which 112 (39.7%) were unilateral and 86 (30.5%) were bilateral. In other pregnant women, unilateral MCDK in 15 (5.3%), bilateral MCDK in 2 (0.7%), unilateral renal agenesis in 8 (2.8%), bilateral renal agenesis in 4 (1.4%), PCK in 5 (1.8%), ectopic kidney in 16 (5.7%), collecting system duplication in 14 (5%), megacystis in 15 (5.3%), extrophia vesica in 2 (0.7%) and 3 of them (1.1%) had PUV (Table 2). An ultrasound image of the fetus diagnosed with a PUV was presented in Figure 1. Central nervous system abnormalities in 14 (26.4%) cases, fetal cardiovascular system abnormalities in 13 (24.5%) cases, and gastrointestinal system abnormalities in 7 (13.2%) were the most common groups in the study of other abnormalities accompanying urinary system abnormalities (Table 2). In addition, urinary system abnormalities that were most commonly associated with additional abnormalities were bilateral renal agenesis (50%), bilateral MCDK (50%), and extrophia vesica (50%) (Table 2). In addition to other organ abnormalities, anhydramnios developed in 7 cases (13.2%).

A total of 50 cases (45.9%) of karyotyping were performed, including AC for 37 cases, chorionic villi biopsy for 8 cases and CC for 5 cases. Fifty-nine patients (54.1%) refused to undergo karyotyping, although it was recommended. Karyotype results were observed to be normal in 34 (68%) patients. In one case, triploidy (69XXX) and in two cases, the *PKHD1* gene was positive, making all the remaining aneuploidy trisomies, and trisomy was

Table 2. Distribution of fetal urinary system anomalies and accompanying anomalies

present in 13 (26%) patients (Table 3). An ultrasound image of the fetus with PKHD1 was shown in Video 1.

When the normal and trisomy groups were compared according to karyotype results, a statistically significant difference was found between the groups in terms of termination and bilateral HN (p=0.002, p=0.012) (Table 4). As a result of the karyotype, additional anomalies were observed, mainly 46.2% CNS anomaly and 23.1% CVS anomaly in trisomy patients. Two (15.4%) of cases

13.08.2020

16:17:56

Figure 1. Ultrasound image of the fetus diagnosed with posterior urethral valve

Urinary system anomalies	n	%	Additional anomaly (n)	Additional anomaly (%)	
Unilateral hydronephrosis	112	39.7	23	20.5	
Bilateral hydronephrosis	86	30.5	17	19.8	
Unilateral MCDK	15	5.3	3	20	
Bilateral MCDK	2	0.7	1	50	
Unilateral renal agenesis	8	2.8	3	37.5	
Bilateral renal agenesis	4	1.4	2	50	
PKD	5	1.8	1	20	
Ectopic kidney	16	5.7	-	-	
Duplication of collector system	14	5	-	-	
Megasistis	15	5.3	2	13.3	
Extrophia vesica	2	0.7	1	50	
Posterior urethral valve	3	1.1	-	-	
	282	100	53	-	
Accompanying anomalies	n		%		
CNS	14		26.4		
CVS	13		24.5		
GIS	7		13.2		
Face	5		9.5		
Skeletal dysplasia	5		9.5		
Single umbilical artery	9		16.9		
	53		100		

MCDK: multicystic dysplastic kidney, PKD: polycystic kidney disease, CNS: central nervous system, CVS: cardiovascular system, GIS: gastrointestinal system

with trisomy karyotype had isolated urinary system abnormalities, while the other 11 (82.4%) patients had additional abnormalities. Considering the presence of additional anomalies in patients with normal or trisomy as a result of karyotype, the difference was statistically significant (p=0.004) (Table 4).

Of fetuses with urinary system anomalies; Due to the fact that the result of karyotyping procedure performed in 10 of them was aneuploidy, due to the fact that 4 had bilateral renal agenesis, and 5 had normal karyotype results but other system anomalies accompanying it, a total of 19 cases (6.7%) were terminated by the decision of the perinatology council (Table 5). In 4 cases with aneuploidy as a result of karyotype, pregnancies continued with the decision of families.

The number of patients who can be followed up in the pediatric

Table 3. Karyotyping technique and results			
Karyotyping technique	n	%	
AC	37	74	
CVS	8	16	
CS	5	10	
	50	100	
Karyotype result	n	%	
Normal	34	68	
Trisomy 21	8	16	
Trisomy 18	2	4	
Trisomy 13	2	4	
Trisomy 16	1	2	
Triploidy (69XXX)	1	2	
Other (PKHD1)	2	4	
	50	100	

AC: amniocentesis, CVS: chorionic villus sampling, CS: cordocentesis

surgery clinic/outpatient clinic in the postnatal period is 82, and when the cases that go to termination are excluded, the rate is 34.6%. During follow-up, 21 cases with HN regressed spontaneously, 19 cases were diagnosed with VUR, 9 of them operated, 14 cases underwent surgery due to ureteropelvic junction stenosis, 2 cases of PUV and 1 case of ureterovesical obstruction, and 11 cases are still being followed. Eight of the patients who were diagnosed with unilateral MCDK in the prenatal period came for follow-up in the postnatal period and the diagnosis was confirmed in these cases. Six of the cases with prenatal unilateral renal agenesis were controlled in the postnatal period and the diagnosis was confirmed in all of them. Ectopic kidney in 6 cases, duplication of the collecting system in 2 cases, and PUV diagnosis in 1 case were confirmed. The case with PUV diagnosis was operated.

Table 5. Karyotype analysis of termina	Table 5. Karyotype analysis of termination cases			
Karyotype technique	n	%		
AC	11	57.9		
CVS	4	21		
None	4	21		
	19	100		
Karyotype result	n	%		
Normal karyotype	5 (1*)	33.3		
Tr-21	5	33.3		
Tr-18	2	13.3		
Tr-13	1	6.7		
Tr-16	1	6.7		
Triploidy (69XXX)	1	6.7		
	15	100		

\*PKHD1 (+) case, AC: amniocentesis, CVS: cardiovascular system

Table 4. Comparison of normal and trisonly group according to karyotype result					
	Normal karyotype group (n=34)	Trisomy group	p*		
Age	(n=13)	p*	0.667		
Gestational week	19±3	21±6	0.165		
Termination	5	9	0.002		
Presence of additional anomaly	1	5	0.004		
Anomaly	-	-	-		
Unilateral hydronephrosis	10	4	0.109		
Bilateral hydronephrosis	13	3	0.012		
Megasistis	5	5	1		
Unilateral MCDK	2	-	-		
Bilateral MCDK	1	-	-		
Bilateral renal agenesis	1	-	-		
Ectopic kidney	1	-	-		
Duplication of collector system	1	-	-		
Extrophia vesica	-	1	-		
*P<0.05, MCDK: multicystic dysplastic kid	ney				

## DISCUSSION

Fetal HN is a common finding in antenatal ultrasonography observed in 0.6-4.5% of pregnancies and 20-40% of the cases are bilateral (11). The rate of cases with bilateral HN in our study was 43%, which is consistent with the literature. Most cases of fetal HN are clinically benign and temporary. Temporary HN occurs in 41-88% of cases, is associated with temporary stenosis in the ureteropelvic junction at an early stage and improves as the fetus matures (12). No criteria have been defined that can identify all newborns with significant pathology, and exclude infants with transient/physiological HN. Although a low threshold value (RPD >4 mm) in the second trimester has more sensitivity in detecting babies with CAKUT, it will include a large number of cases that are subjected to unnecessary tests and without kidney disease. In addition, RPD can be affected by gestational week, fetal bladder distension, and maternal hydration. In a study involving 74 cases with fetal HN in 2005 (13), spontaneous resolution was observed in the postnatal period in 74% of cases, which was found to be 56.5% for cases of unilateral HN and 46.2% for cases of bilateral HN in our study. In HN cases; the severity of HN, its being unilateral or bilateral, the presence of associated renal and extrarenal anomalies, gestational age and assessment of amniotic fluid status can give more insight into the postnatal process.

When the causes of chronic renal failure (CRF) in childhood are examined, it is seen that urinary system malformations have an important place. In order to reduce the incidence of CRF, it is very important to recognize these malformations in the early period, to make appropriate follow-up and treatment. The detection rate of bilateral renal agenesis in the prenatal period is 84-91%. In these cases, the fetal kidneys, ureters and bladder are not ultrasonographically monitored and the cases are accompanied by oligo-anhydramnios (14,15). In our study, 4 cases of bilateral renal agenesis diagnosed in the prenatal period were terminated by the decision of families and in 3 cases the diagnosis was confirmed after termination, and in 1 case, ventricular septal defects and micrognathy were additionally detected. In cases of bilateral renal agenesis, oligo-anhydramnios is the most difficult condition to detect additional anomalies in the prenatal period. The diagnosis of unilateral renal agenesis is more likely to be skipped during the prenatal period due to normal amnion fluid and bladder volume. The diagnosis depends on the correct exclusion of the presence of a second kidney in the renal fossa or ectopic region. Prenatal detection rate for unilateral renal agenesis is 59-80% (14). In our study, 6 of the 8 cases diagnosed with unilateral renal agenesis in the prenatal period were evaluated in the postnatal period and the diagnosis was confirmed. MCDK occurs with a frequency of 1/3,600-4,300. Although the disease can involve both kidneys, most cases are unilateral, and the left kidney is more frequently affected (16). In our study, 15 cases were diagnosed with unilateral MCDK in the prenatal period, and 8 cases were confirmed in the postnatal period. In 5 of these 8 patients who continued their follow-ups, involution occurred in the multicystic kidney, and a compensatory hypertrophy developed in the contralateral kidney.

In addition, VUR developed in the contralateral kidney in 1 case. VUR is the most common renal abnormality in the contralateral kidneys of patients with MCDK and this rate is 21% (17).

Studies that identified HN in the second trimester as RPD >4 mm showed that HN (18%) was higher in fetuses with Down syndrome compared to normal control group fetuses (0.5-3%) (18,19). For this reason, it is used as a marker in fetal aneuploidy screening, but there is no indication of chromosome analysis alone. However, it should be known that it increases the risk of age-related chromosome anomaly 1.5 times and prenatal counseling service to be given to pregnant women should be planned accordingly. In a study involving 375 cases with isolated HN, the incidence of Down syndrome was found to be 0.53% (20). Another study involving 682 fetuses with renal defects found that the incidence of chromosomal abnormalities was 13% (21). The incidence of aneuploidy in isolated bilateral renal agenesis was 5%, and the incidence of aneuploidy in the presence of additional abnormalities in patients with unilateral and bilateral renal agenesis was 33% and 40%, respectively. In addition, the most common chromosomal abnormalities in renal agenesis and MCDK cases are Tr-13 and Tr-18 (21). In our study, the proportion of fetuses with chromosomal abnormalities was 6.2% when cases where karyotyping was recommended but refused to perform were excluded. The most common group in which we recommend karyotyping is the group with a combination of unilateral HN and additional abnormalities, while the most common chromosomal anomaly in this group is Down syndrome. While being a reference center for prenatal diagnosis made it easier for us to catch fetuses with chromosomal abnormalities, anxiety about possible complications of karyotyping and, as a result, rejection of the procedure was our main limitation.

When urinary system anomalies are detected in the ultrasonography performed during prenatal period, other systems should also be carefully scanned. Because urinary system anomalies are mostly found together with other system anomalies. In addition, in cases with urinary system anomalies, in the presence of additional anomalies, the risk of chromosomal anomaly is increased. In the study of Hürcan et al. (22), the rate of fetuses with other congenital malformations accompanying urinary system anomalies was found to be 61.7%, and 23.6% in the study of Batukan et al. (23). In our study, the presence of other accompanying congenital anomalies was found to be 18.8%. Both in the study of Hürcan et al. (22) and in our study, the most common accompanying anomalies were central nervous system anomalies. The high proportion of accompanying anomalies in our study group was consistent with the literature.

In cases where severe uteroplacental insufficiency and early membrane rupture are excluded, if the bladder cannot be monitored with oligo-anhydramnios on ultrasound, it is considered that there is no functional kidney tissue. In this case, the first things that should come to mind for diagnosis are bilateral renal agenesis, bilateral MCDK disease or infantile PCK disease. Distinguishing these diseases from each other is possible only with detailed ultrasonographic examination. Long-term absence of amniotic fluid in these cases causes pulmonary hypoplasia, which leads to severe respiratory failure at birth. In the study of Balsak et al. (24), the termination rate in cases with urinary system anomalies was found to be 14%, and fetuses with PCD disease were the first. In our study, 6.7% of the cases were terminated and bilateral renal agenesis, aneuploidy and PCK disease were the main causes. The fact that the number of fetuses with urinary system abnormalities was higher in our study was evaluated as the main cause of the difference.

In fetuses with sonographic findings compatible with lower urinary tract obstruction, there is no clear evidence that prenatal vesicoamniotic shunt administration improves renal function and long-term patient survival in prospective and retrospective studies. In addition, it was observed that the complication rate associated with the procedure was 45% (10,25). For these reasons, vesicoamniotic shunt is not performed in our clinic during the prenatal period. In addition, since chromosomal abnormalities are detected in about 25% of cases with urethral obstruction, karvotype analysis is required before treating cases (21). Intrauterine treatment is not recommended as more complex urethral anomalies are seen in female fetuses and the chance of success is lower. If intervention is to be made during antenatal period; the parents should be informed in detail about the risks and benefits of the procedure, neonatal survival and kidney results, and the procedures should be performed by experts.

In postnatal evaluations, the proportion of cases with spontaneous resolution HN was 30.8%, the most common causes of transient HN are VUR and obstruction in the ureteropelvic junction. In a study of Barbosa et al. (26) involving 1,034 cases of fetal HN, the rate of spontaneous resolution in the postnatal period was reported as 25%. The proportion of our patients who underwent surgery in the Postnatal period is 38.2%. Surgical indications were determined as recurrent febrile urinary tract infections and decreased relative kidney function in serial kidney scans. A study published in 2016 found that fetuses diagnosed with HN had a surgical intervention rate of 47% in the postnatal period (27). Both spontaneous resolution and surgical intervention rates of fetuses with HN in the postnatal period were found to be consistent with the literature.

## CONCLUSION

Abnormalities of the urinary system can be detected mostly by ultrasonography in the prenatal period, and can be associated with chromosomal abnormalities and other structural malformations. Appropriate diagnosis, follow-up and treatment of these anomalies with a wide clinical spectrum, both in the prenatal period and in the postnatal period with a multidisciplinary approach, is of great importance.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics Committee of Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, (decision number: 2019/28).

**Informed Consent:** Written and verbal information was given to the families about the method of karyotyping and possible complications, informed consents were obtained.

## Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept: M.Ö., T.A., M.A.O., H.S.Y.C.; Design: M.Ö., H.S.Y.C., Ö.D., H.Ş.; Supervision: M.A.O., T.A.; Resources: M.Ö., Y.C., Ö.D.; Materials: H.Ş., Ö.D.; Data Collection and/or Processing: M.Ö., H.S.Y.C., H.Ş.; Analysis and/or Interpretation: T.A., M.A.O., M.Ö.; Literature Search: M.Ö., H.S.Y.C., H.Ş., Ö.D.; Writing Manuscript: M.Ö., H.S.Y.C.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- Policiano C, Djokovic D, Carvalho R, Monteiro C, Melo MA, Graça LM. Ultrasound antenatal detection of urinary tract anomalies in the last decade: outcome and prognosis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2015; 28: 959-63.
- Queisser-Luft A, Stolz G, Wiesel A, Schlaefer K, Spranger J. Malformations in newborn: results based on 30,940 infants and fetuses from the Mainz congenital birth defect monitoring system (1990-1998). Arch Gynecol Obstet 2002; 266: 163-7.
- Andrés-Jensen L, Jørgensen FS, Thorup J, Flachs J, Madsen JL, Maroun LL, et al. The outcome of antenatal ultrasound diagnosed anomalies of the kidney and urinary tract in a large Danish birth cohort. Arch Dis Child 2016; 101: 819-24.
- Glassberg KI. Normal and abnormal development of the kidney: a clinician's interpretation of current knowledge. J Urol 2002; 167: 2339-51.
- Boualia SK, Gaitan Y, Tremblay M, Sharma R, Cardin J, Kania A, et al. A core transcriptional network composed of Pax2/8, Gata3 and Lim1 regulates key players of pro/mesonephros morphogenesis. Dev Biol 2013; 382: 555-66.
- Sanna-Cherchi S, Sampogna RV, Papeta N, Burgess KE, Nees SN, Perry BJ, et al. Mutations in DSTYK and dominant urinary tract malformations. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 621-9.
- Saisawat P, Kohl S, Hilger AC, Hwang DY, Yung Gee H, Dworschak GC, et al. Whole-exome resequencing reveals recessive mutations in TRAP1 in individuals with CAKUT and VACTERL association. Kidney Int 2014; 85: 1310-7.
- Vivante A, Hwang DY, Kohl S, Chen J, Shril S, Schulz J, et al. Exome sequencing discerns syndromes in patients from consanguineous families with congenital anomalies of the kidneys and urinary tract. J Am Soc Nephrol 2017; 28: 69-75.
- Zanetta VC, Rosman BM, Bromley B, Shipp TD, Chow JS, Campbell JB, et al. Variations in management of mild prenatal hydronephrosis among maternal-fetal medicine obstetricians, and pediatric urologists and radiologists. J Urol 2012; 188: 1935-9.
- Ruano R, Sananes N, Wilson C, Au J, Koh CJ, Gargollo P, et al. Fetal lower urinary tract obstruction: proposal for standardized multidisciplinary prenatal management based on disease severity. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016; 48: 476-82.
- 11. González R, Schimke CM. Ureteropelvic junction obstruction in infants and children. Pediatr Clin North Am 2001; 48: 1505-18.
- Nguyen HT, Herndon CD, Cooper C, Gatti J, Kirsch A, Kokorowski P, et al. The Society for Fetal Urology consensus statement on the evaluation and management of antenatal hydronephrosis. J Pediatr Urol 2010; 6: 212-31.
- Ahmad G, Green P. Outcome of fetal pyelectasis diagnosed antenatally. J Obstet Gynaecol 2005; 25: 119-22.
- Wiesel A, Queisser-Luft A, Clementi M, Bianca S, Stoll C. Prenatal detection of congenital renal malformations by fetal ultrasonographic examination: an analysis of 709,030 births in European countries. Eur J Med Genet 2005; 48: 131-44.
- Stoll C, Tenconi R, Clementi M. Detection of congenital anomalies by fetal ultrasonographic examination across Europe. Community Genet 2001; 4: 225-32.
- 16. Schreuder MF. Unilateral anomalies of kidney development: why is left not right? Kidney Int 2011; 80: 740-5.
- 17. Kara A, Gurgoze MK, Aydin M, Koc ZP. Clinical features of children with multicystic dysplastic kidney. Pediatr Int 2018; 60: 750-4.
- Coco C, Jeanty P. Isolated fetal pyelectasis and chromosomal abnormalities. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2005; 193: 732-8.

- Corteville JE, Dicke JM, Crane JP. Fetal pyelectasis and Down syndrome: is genetic amniocentesis warranted? Obstet Gynecol 1992; 79: 770-2.
- Signorelli M, Cerri V, Taddei F, Groli C, Bianchi UA. Prenatal diagnosis and management of mild fetal pyelectasis: implications for neonatal outcome and follow-up. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2005; 118: 154-9.
- Nicolaides KH, Cheng HH, Abbas A, Snijders RJ, Gosden C. Fetal renal defects: associated malformations and chromosomal defects. Fetal Diagn Ther 1992; 7: 1-11.
- 22. Hürcan E, Biler A, Ekin A, Tosun G, Taner EC. Fetal üriner sistem anomalilerinin prenatal tanısı. Perinatoloji Derg 2018; 26: 1-6.
- Batukan C, Holzgreve W, Danzer E, Rudin C, Ermiş H, Tercanlı S. Fetal üriner sistem anomalilerinin prenatal tans ve doğum öncesi yaklaşm: 173 olgunun analizi. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc 2002; 3: 23-32.
- Balsak D, Başoğul N, Toğrul C, Başoğul Ö, Seçkin KD, Karaaltı MO, et al. Üriner sistem anomalisi saptanan fetuslara yaklaşım. Jinekoloji - Obstetrik Neonatol Tıp Derg 2015; 12: 135-9.
- Morris RK, Middleton LJ, Malin GL, Quinlan-Jones E, Daniels J, Khan KS, et al. Outcome in fetal lower urinary tract obstruction: a prospective registry study. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2015; 46: 424-31.
- Barbosa JA, Chow JS, Benson CB, Yorioka MA, Bull AS, Retik AB, et al. Postnatal longitudinal evaluation of children diagnosed with prenatal hydronephrosis: insights in natural history and referral pattern. Prenat Diagn 2012; 32: 1242-9.
- Scalabre A, Demède D, Gaillard S, Pracros JP, Mouriquand P, Mure PY. Prognostic value of ultrasound grading systems in prenatally diagnose unilateral urinary tract dilatation. J Urol 2017; 197: 1144-9.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3304 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):227-31

## Visual Evoked Potentials in Euthyroid Hashimoto's Thyroiditis

Hakan Şilek<sup>1</sup>, Rengin Bilgen<sup>1</sup>, Bahar Erbaş<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurology, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>2</sup>Demiroğlu Bilim University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pharmacology, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>3</sup>İstanbul Florence Nightingale Hospital, Clinic of Neurology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Şilek H, Bilgen R, Erbaş B. Visual Evoked Potentials in Euthyroid Hashimoto's Thyroiditis. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):227-31

## ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT) is an autoimmune disease in which neurological involvement is not uncommon. This study aimed to explore the presence of visual evoked potential (VEP) changes as an indicator of subclinical central nervous system involvement in euthyroid HT patients without obvious neurologic findings.

Methods: Thirty HT patients with normal neurological examination and thirty healthy controls were included. VEPs were recorded by using patternreversing black and white checkerboard with monocular testing. P100, N75 and N135 (ms) peak latencies, and P100 amplitudes of right (R) and left (L) eyes in each group were compared.

**Results:** There was no significant difference between the groups for age. The mean of the P100 (R:  $108.13\pm4.3$ , L:  $108.2\pm4.4$  ms), N75 (R:  $79.23\pm6.03$ , L:  $80.2\pm5.78$  ms) and N135 (R:  $141.8\pm11.2$ , L:  $142.4\pm10.2$  ms) latencies, and the P100 amplitude (R:  $6.71\pm4.16$ , L:  $6.6\pm3.9$  µV) in the HT group were not significantly different from P100 (R:  $107.2\pm3.8$ , L:  $107.7\pm4.36$  ms), N75 (R:  $79.9\pm5.5$ , L:  $78.9\pm6.17$  ms), N135 (R:  $140.3\pm8.4$ , L:  $141.9\pm9.7$  ms) latencies and P100 amplitude (R:  $8.20\pm3.32$ , L:  $6.9\pm2.9$  µV) in the control group. Also, there was no significant correlation between P100 latencies and thyroid specific antibody levels in the HT group.

**Conclusion:** This result may be due to the fact that HT does not significantly affect the optic nerve and visual pathways, or that VEP is an inadequate technique to demonstrate possible involvement.

Keywords: Hashimoto's thyroiditis, visual evoked potentials, P100, N75, N135

## INTRODUCTION

Hashimoto's thyroiditis (HT), also known as chronic lymphocytic thyroiditis or autoimmune thyroiditis may be associated with various neurological disorders, presenting as central and/or peripheral nervous system involvement (1-3). The detection of an increase in serum anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody (TPOAb) and anti-thyroglobulin antibody (TgAb) levels in this autoimmune disease is important for making the diagnosis. Hashimoto's encephalopathy (HE) is the most remarkable example of a central nervous system (CNS) involvement linked to HT (3). It has been shown that demyelinating lesions similar to multiple sclerosis (MS) and single-photon emission computed tomography abnormalities can be seen in HT (4,5). Furthermore, brain function abnormalities such as cognitive and affective disturbances have also been reported in euthyroid HT patients with subtle neurological symptoms (6).

ORCID IDs of the authors: H.Ş. 0000-0002-6550-6200; R.B. 0000-0002-5138-971X; B.E. 0000-0002-6125-7761



**Corresponding Author:** Hakan Şilek, E-mail: hakan.silek@yeditepe.edu.tr Received Date: 28.03.2020 Accepted Date: 27.09.2020

In many diseases of the CNS, particularly in demyelinating diseases, the visual system can be affected subclinically (7,8). Visual evoked potential (VEP), a gross electrical signal recorded from the visual cortex in response to a changing visual stimulus on the check-board pattern (pattern onset/reversal VEP), is one of the methods used to demonstrate the overt or subtle dysfunctions of the visual system (9).

This study aimed to explore the presence of VEP changes as an indicator of subclinical CNS involvement in euthyroid HT patients without obvious neurologic findings.

## METHODS

The participants of the patient group (HT group) were randomly selected (by simple randomization according to their protocol numbers) from the patients (over 18 years old) who were admitted to the neurology outpatient clinic from January to March 2019 with non-specific complaints and an HT diagnosis confirmed by an endocrinologist. All the patients had high TPOAb (>34 IU/ mL) and TgAb (>115 IU/mL) levels, reduced echogenicity of the thyroid parenchyma on thyroid ultrasonography, normal thyroid function tests, and no objective finding on the neurological examination. The control group consisted of healthy volunteers. The participants with ocular diseases that could affect the VEP test, such as glaucoma, were excluded from the study. None of the participants had visual complaints.

All participants underwent neurologic examination, and visual acuity was measured using a Snellen chart. Thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), free thyroxine (fT4), TPOAb, and TgAb levels in the last three months were obtained retrospectively from the patient records.

VEPs were performed by the same technician, in the neurophysiology laboratory, using the 10/20 system monocular reverse pattern VEP method, with Keypoint G4 (Natus Medical Incorporated Alpine Biomed Apps Skovlund, Denmark). The VEP study protocol was based on the recommendations of the International Society for Clinical Electrophysiology of Vision on performing VEPs (10). The active electrode (Oz) was placed in the midoccipital line, 5 cm superior to the inion. The reference VEP has been used in clinical neurology, for the electrode (Fz) was in the mid frontal line and the grounding electrode was at the vertex (Cz). Visual stimulation was provided by a pattern generator monitor with a mean luminance of 50 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, full field size 15°, and each check subtended 60' and 15'. The mean luminance in the test room was kept at 80 cd/m<sup>2</sup>, the contrast between the black and white squares was 85%. The sweep speed, sensitivity and sweep duration and bandpass filters were 30 ms/division, 5 microV/ division, 300 ms, and 2-100 Hz, respectively. The subjects were asked to sit on a chair at a distance of 100 cm from the monitor, close one eye at a time while looking at a fixed point in the middle of the monitor, and relax. The rate of pattern reversal was 2 Hz and an average of two sets of 200 responses was recorded. Both eyes were separately tested.

Latencies (ms) of the major positive component (P100) and negative peaks (N75 and N135) and P100 amplitudes ( $\mu$ V) were determined. Abnormal P100 latencies were normally considered when the latency exceeding 2.5 to 3 SD beyond the mean, or beyond the 95<sup>th</sup> to 99<sup>th</sup> percentile. The laboratory values for P100 latency, determined previously in 28 healthy, 21-to 63-year-old controls, is 101.3±6.2 ms (mean ± standard deviation), and therefore, the normal limit is <116 ms (unpublished data). The VEP tests of the participants were evaluated by the same investigator who was blinded to the groups.

This study was approved by Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2019-920, date: 02.01.2019) and written informed consents were obtained from all participants.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The sample size was determined by using the G\*Power software within the inputs of  $\alpha$  err prob: 0.05, Power (1- $\beta$  err prob): 0.80, and the effect size d=0.8 before the initiation of the study (11). SPSS 22.0 program was used for the analysis. The distribution of the variables was evaluated using the coefficient of variation, skewness-kurtosis, histogram and the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Independent Samples t-test was used to compare the VEP values (P100, N75 and N135 waves, and amplitude of P100) of two groups (the right eye values of the patients were compared with the right eye values of the control group and the left eye values were compared with the left eye of the other group). The correlation between the P100 latencies and thyroid antibody levels in the HT group was evaluated using the Pearson correlation test. A p-value less than 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

## RESULTS

Thirty HT patients and 30 control were included. Since all the patients were females, the control group was also composed of female volunteers. The reasons for and frequencies of the referral of the patients to the neurology clinic were as follows: Headache 18 (60%), mild cognitive complaints (forgetfulness, decreased attention, and difficulty in concentration) 6 (20%), sleep disturbances 3 (10%), fatigue 2 (6.7%) and dizziness 1 (3.3%). There was no significant difference in age between the HT and control groups (38.93±8.73 and 33.80±8.77 years, respectively). The mean duration of HT disease was 11.68±8.89 years.

Mean serum TSH, fT4, TPOAb, and TgAB levels of HT patients were  $2.7\pm1.88$  ulU/mL,  $1.16\pm0.21$  ng/dL,  $349.7\pm204.9$  lU/mL, and  $192.09\pm168.16$  lU/mL, respectively. The visual acuities of all participants were 20/20.

Table 1 shows the comparisons of the mean latencies of P100, N75, and N135 waves, and P100 amplitudes of R and L eyes in the HT and control groups. There was no statistical difference between the latencies of the abovementioned waves and amplitudes between the two groups. In the HT group, P100 wave latencies were not significantly correlated with the levels of TPOAb (r=0.08, p=0.71) and TgAb (r=-0.13, p=0.710).

Table 1. The comparison of VEP latencies (P100, N75, N135) and P100 amplitudes of the H1 and control grou	P100, N75, N135) and P100 amplitudes of the HT and control groups
---	---

VEP	SIDE	HT (mean ± SD)	Control (mean ± SD)	р
P100 latency (ms)	R	108.13±4.3	107.2±3.8	0.412
	L	108.2±4.4	107.7±4.36	0.662
N75 latency (ms)	R	79.23±6.03	79.91±5.50	0.620
	L	80.20±5.78	78.90±6.17	0.438
N135 latency (ms)	R	141.8±11.2	140.30±8.41	0.630
	L	142.4±10.2	141.91±9.72	0.869
P100 amplitude (µV)	R	6.71±4.16	8.20±3.32	0.579
	L	6.6±3.85	6.92±2.90	0.709

VEP: visual evoked potentials, R: right eye, L: left eye, SD: standard deviation, ms: miliseconds,  $\mu$ V: microvolt, Independent Samples t-test, HT: Hashimoto's thyroiditis

## DISCUSSION

Autoimmunity targeting the thyroid gland can also influence the CNS, and this association has been demonstrated by immunohistochemistry and imaging techniques (12-15). Animal models have shown that immune system activation can trigger inflammation in the CNS and influence animal behaviors (16). The effects of immune dysregulation on the CNS can be explained by the altered neural pathway functions and the blood-brain barrier damage as a result of the changes in various cytokines (17,18). Positive glucocorticoid response and histologic findings of perivascular lymphocytic infiltration in HE, the more overt CNS involvement of HT, may support the hypothesis based on the immunological explanation (19). Furthermore, in vitro studies showed that various antibodies, such as anti-ganglioside, antineural antibodies, and particularly TPOAbs, bind to CNS cells and impair myelin sheath damaging myelinogenesis (6,20). The increased production of monocyte- and T-lymphocytederived cytokines in HT patients can also negatively affect some neurotransmitters playing role in various neuronal pathways (6).

In recent years, an increasing number of studies have reported insidious brain function abnormalities, only detected by specific tests, in euthyroid patients (6,21-23). Immunological mechanisms are the most probable reasons for these abnormalities, as shown by the studies indicating that TPOAb levels are higher in the patients with cognitive deficits than in the other HT patients without abnormalities (6,22,23).

HT, the most common autoimmune thyroid disease, may also coexist with other autoimmune conditions (24,25). In the context of this study, it is important that HT and autoimmune diseases of the CNS affecting the optic nerve and visual pathways, such as MS, are remarkably seen together. Since HE has several features resembling MS, such as common genetic loci, certain deregulated anti-inflammatory responses, elevated CSF oligoclonal bands, and demyelinating lesions on imaging studies, it is included in the differential diagnosis of MS, and both diseases have been suggested to have common similar pathological pathways in CNS involvement (2,5,19,24,26).

The involvement of the optic nerve and visual pathways in autoimmune CNS disorders can be seen sub-clinically, as in MS, and is only demonstrated by special methods such as VEP (7,8). The hypothesis of our study was based on this information. Moreover, it has been shown that patients with recurrent and bilateral optic neuritis have a greater frequency of HT than other optic neuritis patients, despite normal magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings (27). In many cases, optic neuropathy in autoimmune thyroid diseases relates not only to thyroid hormones, but also to increased autoantibodies and can be seen in euthyroid patients (28).

VEP parameters, particularly latencies, may be influenced by hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism. Although this situation is well documented in hypothyroidism, controversial results have been reported in hyperthyroidism (29-31). The prolongation of VEP latencies is the most common change, and it usually returns to the normal after the euthyroid state is achieved with the treatment in hypothyroid patients (32-34). Thyroid ophthalmopathies and exophthalmos are the main reasons of the VEP changes in hyperthyroid patients (29,33,35). While the exact mechanisms remained elusive, compressive optic neuropathy, axoplasmic stasis, ischemia and mechanical stretch due to proptosis, and perineural inflammation have been proposed (33,36). Decompressive surgical approaches and steroid treatment can greatly improve the VEP changes in hyperthyroid patients with ophthalmopathy (37,38).

Our goal was to explore the presence of VEP changes as an indicator of the subclinical effects of HT on optic nerve and visual pathways. The pattern reversal VEP consists of a prominent positive component at approximately 100 ms (P100), followed by negative components (N75 and N135). Dysfunctions of the optic nerve, chiasma, and retrochiasmal pathways can be assessed using the VEP. Although a delayed P100 component often occurs in association with optic nerve diseases, it should not be considered pathognomonic for optic nerve diseases (29). VEP can be used to detect subclinical optic nerve demyelination. Even after the use of MRI increased, the VEP preserved its value in the diagnosis of demyelination because it has been shown that the specificity

of the changes on MRI may be less than originally anticipated in many patients (39).

## **Study Limitations**

We could not find any statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of the latencies of VEP waves and P100 amplitudes. These results may be due to the fact that the optic nerve and visual pathways are not significantly affected in euthyroid HT patients or the sensitivity of VEP is not sufficient (8,40). There are some limitations of this study. The small number of patients and the lack of male euthyroid HT patients are some of our limitations.

## CONCLUSION

The results of this study cannot support the hypothesis that VEP can be a screening test for the subclinical involvement of the optic nerve or visual pathways in euthyroid HT patients. As the possible reasons for these results, we suggested that there was no significant involvement in the aforementioned regions of CNS in euthyroid HT patients without visual symptoms and/or the lack of sufficient sensitivity of the VEP method in this regard.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by Yeditepe University Faculty of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 2019-920, date: 02.01.2019).

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consents were obtained from all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - H.Ş., B.E., Design - H.Ş., Supervision - H.Ş., B.E., Materials - H.Ş., R.B., Data Collection and/or Processing - H.Ş., R.B., Analysis and/or Interpretation - H.Ş., B.E., Literature Search - H.Ş., Writing Manuscript - H.Ş., Critical Review - B.E.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- Nandi-Munshi D, Taplin CE. Thyroid-related neurological disorders and complications in children. Pediatr Neurol 2015; 52: 373-82.
- Scolding N. The differential diagnosis of multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2001; 71(Suppl 2): 9-15.
- Drakulic S, Toncev G, Vrndic O, Zivancevic Simonovic S. Neurological signs and symptoms in patients with autoimmune thyroid disease. Serbian J Exp Clin Res 2011; 12: 123-6.
- Zarković M. Autoimmune thyroid disease and brain. Srp Arh Celok Lek 2005; 133(Suppl 1): 88-91.
- Haralur Y, Mechtler LL. Neuroimaging of multiple sclerosis mimics. Neurol Clin 2020; 38: 149-70.
- Leyhe T, Müssig K. Cognitive and affective dysfunctions in autoimmune thyroiditis. Brain Behav Immun 2014; 41: 261-6.
- Demir S, Duzgun E, Kafadar C, Togrol E, Senol M. G, Cakir A. Evoked potentials and other guiding factors of conversion from radiologically isolated syndrome to definite multiple sclerosis. Med Sci Disc 2017; 4: 44-50.
- Walsh P, Kane N, Butler S. The clinical role of evoked potentials. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2005; 76(Suppl 2): 16-22.
- Jha MK, Thakur D, Limbu N, Badhu BP, Paudel BH. Visual evoked potentials in primary open angle glaucoma. J Neurodegener Dis 2017; 2017: 9540609.

- Odom JV, Bach M, Brigell M, Holder GE, McCulloch DL, Mizota A, Tormene AP. ISCEV standard for clinical visual evoked potentials: (2016 update). Doc Ophthalmol 2016; 133: 1-9.
- Gautam V, Paudel BH, Lamsal M, Agrawal K, Jha MK, Maharjan S, et al. Visual evoked potentials' responses in hypothyroidism and hyperthyroidism. Int J Res Med Sci 2019; 7: 1589-93.
- Pilhatsch M, Schlagenhauf F, Silverman D, Berman S, London ED, Martinez D, Whybrow PC, et al. Antibodies in autoimmune thyroiditis affect glucose metabolism of anterior cingulate. Brain Behav Immun 2014; 37: 73-7.
- Cai YJ, Wang F, Chen ZX, Li L, Fan H, Wu ZB, et al. Hashimoto's thyroiditis induces neuroinflammation and emotional alterations in euthyroid mice. J Neuroinflammation 2018; 15: 299.
- 14. Piga M, Serra A, Deiana L, Loi GL, Satta L, Di Liberto M, et al. Brain perfusion abnormalities in patients with euthyroid autoimmune thyroiditis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2004; 31: 1639-44.
- Quinque EM, Karger S, Arélin K, Schroeter ML, Kratzsch J, Villringer A. A Structural and functional MRI study of the brain. Cognition and mood in long-term adequately treated Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2014; 42: 188-98.
- Engler H, Doenlen R, Engler A, Riether C, Prager G, Niemi MB, et al. Acute amygdaloid response to systemic inflammation. Brain Behav Immun 2011; 25: 1384-92.
- Wen J, Stock AD, Chalmers SA, Putterman C. The role of B cells and autoantibodies in neuropsychiatric lupus. Autoimmun Rev 2016; 15: 890-5.
- Platt MP, Agalliu D, Cutforth T. Hello from the other side: how autoantibodies circumvent the blood-brain barrier in autoimmune encephalitis. Front Immunol 2017; 8: 442.
- 19. Tang Y, Xing Y, Lin MT, Zhang J, Jia J. Hashimoto's encephalopathy cases: Chinese experience. BMC Neurol 2012; 24: 12:60.
- Müssig K, Leyhe T, Holzmüller S, Klein R, Weinert C, Saur R, et al. Increased prevalence of antibodies to central nervous system tissue and gangliosides in Hashimoto's thyroiditis compared to other thyroid illnesses. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2009; 34: 1252-6.
- Mazzù I, Mosti S, Caltagirone C, Carlesimo GA. Hashimoto's encephalopathy: Neuropsychological findings. Neurol Sci 2012; 33: 653-6.
- Leyhe T, Müssig K, Weinert C, Laske C, Häring HU, Saur R, et al. Increased occurrence of weaknesses in attention testing in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis compared to patients with thyroid illnesses. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2008; 33: 1432-6.
- Müssig K, Künle A, Säuberlich AL, Weinert C, Ethofer T, Saur R, et al. Thyroid peroxidase antibody positivity is associated with symptomatic distress in patients with Hashimoto's thyroiditis. Brain Behav Immun 2012; 26: 559-63.
- Perga S, Martire S, Montarolo F, Giordani I, Spadaro M, Bono G, et al. The footprints of poly-autoimmunity: evidence for common biological factors involved in multiple sclerosis and hashimoto's thyroiditis. Front Immunol 2018; 20: 9:311.
- 25. Nandi-Munshi D, Taplin CE. Thyroid-related neurological disorders and complications in children. Pediatr Neurol 2015; 52: 373-82.
- 26. Yamasaki R, Kira JI. Multiple Sclerosis. Adv Exp Med Biol 2019; 1190: 217-47.
- Kurne A, Karabudak R, Yalcin Cakmakli G, Gursoy Ozdemir Y, Aydin P, Ilksen Colpak A, et al. Recurrent optic neuritis: clues from a long-term follow up study of recurrent and bilateral optic neuritis patients. Eye Brain 2010; 5: 15-20.
- Toyama S, Wakakura M, Chuenkongkaew W. Optic neuropathy associated with thyroid-related auto-antibodies. Neuro-Ophthalmology 2009; 25: 127-34.
- Salvi M, Spaggiari E, Neri F, Macaluso C, Gardini E, Ferrozzi F, et al. The study of visual evoked potentials in patients with thyroid-associated ophthalmopathy identifies asymptomatic optic nerve involvement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997; 82: 1027-30.
- Nazliel B, Akbay E, Irkeç C, Yetkin I, Ersoy R, Törüner F. Pattern visual evoked potential (PVEP) evaluation in hypothyroidism. J Endocrinol Invest 2002; 25: 955-8.

- 31. Mitchell KW, Wood CM, Howe JW. Pattern visual evoked potentials in hyperthyroidism. Br J Ophthalmol 1988; 72: 534-7.
- Aprajita, Sharma G, Aggarwal S. Visual evoked potentials in overt hypothyroid patients before and after achievement of euthyroidism. Indian J Endocrinol Metab 2017; 21: 419-23.
- Iao TWU, Rong SS, Ling AN, Brelén ME, Young AL, Chong KKL. Electrophysiological studies in thyroid associated orbitopathy: a systematic review. Sci Rep 2017; 21; 7: 12108.
- 34. Ladenson PW, Stakes JW, Ridgway EC. Reversible alteration of the visual evoked potential in hypothyroidism. Am J Med 1984; 77: 1010-4.
- Pawłowski P, Myśliwiec J, Mrugacz M, Bakunowicz-Łazarczyk A, Górska M. Pattern visual evoked potentials in the early diagnosis of optic neuropathy in the course of Graves' ophthalmopathy. Endokrynol Pol 2006; 57: 122-6.
- Pérez-Rico C, Rodríguez-González N, Arévalo-Serrano J, Blanco R. Evaluation of multifocal visual evoked potentials in patients with Graves'

orbitopathy and subclinical optic nerve involvement. Doc Ophthalmol 2012; 125: 11-9.

- Lipski A, Eckstein A, Esser J, Loesch C, Mann K, Mohr C, et al. Course of pattern-reversed visual evoked cortical potentials in 30 eyes after bony orbital decompression in dysthyroid optic neuropathy. Br J Ophthalmol 2011; 95: 222-6.
- Szanyi J, Kremlacek J, Kubova Z, Langrova J, Kuba M. A pilot study to monitor Graves' ophthalmopathy with a combination of pattern-reversal and motion-onset visual evoked potentials. J Clin Apher 2012; 27: 295-301.
- Holder GE. Electrophysiological assessment of optic nerve disease. Eye (Lond) 2004; 18: 1133-43.
- American Clinical Neurophysiology Society. Guideline 9B: guidelines on visual evoked potentials. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol 2006; 46: 254-74.

## Rare Factor Deficiencies: A Retrospective, Single-center Cohort Study

Nilgün Eroğlu<sup>1</sup>, Erol Erduran<sup>1</sup>, Ayşenur Bahadır<sup>1</sup>, Haluk Saruhan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, Trabzon, Turkey
<sup>2</sup>Karadeniz Technical University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Trabzon, Turkey

Cite this article as: Eroğlu A, Erduran E, Bahadır A, Saruhan H. Rare Factor Deficiencies: A Retrospective, Single-Center Cohort Study. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):232-6

## ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Rare factor deficiencies (RFD) include fibrinogen and factor (F) II, FV, combined FV and FVIII, FVI, FX, FXI, and FXIII deficiencies. Although patients with RFD may present with severe hemorrhage, little is still known about this patient group. Additionally, mortality and morbidity also increase due to the limited available knowledge concerning diagnostic and therapeutic methods and surgical approaches. Herein, we report the demographic features, clinical follow-up, surgical approaches, and treatment of patients with RFD.

**Methods:** We retrospectively evaluated 37 patients with RFD. Patients' demographic characteristics, age at presentation, type of bleeding at diagnosis, clinical findings, surgeries performed, and surgical approaches were recorded.

**Results:** In this study, 64.8% of the patients were males and 35.2% were females. The most common factor deficiency was FVII deficiency (29.7%). Parental consanguinity was detected in 48.6% of cases. Adenoidectomy was performed on 27% of patients with FVII deficiency. Circumcision was performed on 67% of patients with FXI deficiency, 27% of patients with FVII deficiency, and 20% of patients with FV deficiency. Fresh frozen plasma, fibrinogen concentrate, or rFVIIa combined with tranexamic acid were administered before surgery. No post-operative complications were observed.

**Conclusion:** RFDs are prevalent due to the increased frequency of consanguineous marriages, and the diagnosis of coagulation disorders is substantially delayed in Turkish children. Since the clinical findings of RFDs are not obvious, patients in the preoperative period must be assessed with RFD in mine. We think that this paper will contribute to the diagnosis and treatment of RFD and to the surgical approaches.

Keywords: Rare factor deficiencies, surgery, factor

## INTRODUCTION

Rare factor deficiencies (RFDs) include congenital fibrinogen and factor (F) II, FV, combined FV and FVIII, FVII, FX, FXI and FXIII deficiencies other than hemophilia A, hemophilia B, and von Willebrand's disease. A deficiency in any of the above-mentioned coagulation factors may result in a coagulopathy, leading to either spontaneous or post-traumatic and post-operative hemorrhages.

Deficiencies of FVIII and FIX, also known as hemophilia A and B, are the most common, with a prevalence of 1:5,000 and 1:30,000 males, respectively; together with von Willebrand's disease, they account for 95%-97% of all coagulopathies (1). On the other hand, the remaining deficiencies, known as rare coagulation disorders (RCDs), are much less prevalent, with rates ranging from 1:2 million for FII and FXIII deficiencies to 1:500,000 for FVII deficiency, in the general population (2). However, all these RCDs represent an

ORCID IDs of the authors: N.E. 0000-0002-9956-4054; E.E. 0000-0003-1011-5111; A.B. 0000-0001-9226-369X; H.S. 0000-0002-0991-8235.



**Corresponding Author:** Nilgün Eroğlu, E-mail: dr-nilguner@hotmail.com Received Date: 03.08.2020 Accepted Date: 14.10.2020

important challenge for clinicians, especially in countries where consanguineous marriages are frequent. RCDs are characterized by a wide variety of symptoms ranging from mild to severe, which can vary significantly from one disorder to another and from one patient to another. Generally, the most typical symptoms of all RCDs include mucosal tract bleedings and excessive bleeding during invasive procedures, delivery in women, and circumcision in boys. In addtion, other life- and limb-endangering symptoms such as central nervous system (CNS) bleeding and hemarthroses are mostly present only in afibrinogenemia and FX and FXIII deficiencies (3). This clinical heterogeneity, combined with the smaller number of patients affected with RCDs compared with hemophilias, led to a lack of studies that aim to understand how to recognize and diagnose a RCD. As a result, this lack of knowledge led to a delay in the design and production of adequate therapeutic treatments for RCDs.

The purpose of this retrospective study was to describe the demographic features, clinical follow-up and treatment of patients with RFD.

## **METHODS**

Thirty-seven cases of RFD that were followed up and treated at our clinic between 2006 and 2019 were retrospectively analyzed. Information was obtained from the patients' files. Patient characteristics as well as family history, age at presentation, first bleeding symptoms and bleeding episodes, treatment

of bleeding episodes, prophylactic treatments, and surgical approaches applied were recorded. The first coagulation screening tests were performed using prothrombin time (PT) and activated prothrombin time (aPTT). Specific factor deficiency and inhibitor levels were investigated for the cases according to the results of the PT or aPTT tests. FXIII levels were evaluated gualitatively by screening for the lysis of formed clots in 5 mol/L of urea without prolonged PT and aPTT in patients with hemorrhagic diathesis. Patients with factor activities lower than 50% were included in the study. Values under 100 mg/dL were defined as hypofibrinogenemia.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Simple descriptive analyses, including mean, median, and range, were used to summarize the results using SPSS version 19 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL).

## RESULTS

In this study, 64.8% of the patients were males and 35.2% were females. Patients' demographic characteristics and age at presentation are shown in Table 1. The distribution of RFD is shown in Figure 1. The most common factor deficiency was FVII deficiency (29.7%) (Figure 1). Parental consanguinity was found in 48.6% of cases. Parental consanguinity rates were 100% in fibringen deficiency and 66.6% in FXI deficiency. Factor levels were less than 5% in 18.7% of patients, 5%-30% in 43.7% of patients, and 30%-50% in 37.5% of patients. Factor levels were

Table 1. Patients' demographic characteristics								
	Fibrinogen deficiency	FV deficiency	FV + FVIII deficiency	FVII deficiency	FX deficiency	FXI deficiency	FXIII deficiency	Total
Patients	5 (13.5%)	5 (13.5%)	1 (2.7%)	11 (29.7%)	4 (10.8%)	6 (16.2%)	5 (13.5%)	37
Sex								
Male	2	4	-	10	-	5	3	24 (64.8%)
Female	3	1	1	1	4	1	2	13 (35.2%)
First bleeding time								
<1 year	5	1	-	2	1	-	-	9 (24.3%)
1-5 year	-	-	-	2	3	3	5	13 (35.1%)
>5 year	-	4	1	7	-	3	-	15 (40.5%)
Consanguinity	5	1	1	4	2	4	1	18 (48.6%)
Factor activity							Factor activity can not be measured	
<5%	2	-	-	-	2	2		6
5%-30%	-	3	-	7	2	2		14
30%-50%	3	2	1	4	-	2		12
Clinical symptoms								
Grade 1	-	-	-	7	1	2	1	11 (29.7)
Grade 2	1	1	1	-	1	-	1	5 (13.5%)
Grade 3	4	4	-	4	2	4	3	21 (56.7%)
Asymptomatic	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Prophylaxis	2	-	-	1	1	-	-	4 (10.8%)

undetectable in five patients with FXIII deficiency. Fibrinogen levels of the hypofibrinogenemia patients were below 100 mg/ dL (74 mg/dL in one, 50 mg/dL in one, and 40 mg/dL in three). FV and FVIII levels in a patient with combined FV and FVIII deficiency were 35% and 28.7%, respectively. Moderate FVII deficiency was determined in 18.9% of patients and mild deficiency in 10.8%. Moderate or severe factor X deficiency was determined in 10.8% of patients, and mild, moderate, or severe FXI deficiencies in



Figure 1. Distrubition of rare factor deficiencies

16.2%. Grade 1 bleeding symptoms (Bleeding that occurred after trauma or drug ingestion) were observed in 29.7% of symptomatic patients, grade 2 symptoms (Spontaneous minor bleeding: bruising, ecchymosis, minor wounds, oral cavity bleeding, epistaxis, and menorrhagia) in 13.5%, and grade 3 (Spontaneous major bleeding: hematomas, hemarthrosis, CNS, GI, and umbilical cord bleeding) in 56.7%. Life-threatening CNS bleeding was determined in four patients with RFD after trauma. Ecchymosis and epistaxis were most frequently detected in FVII deficiency at a level of 18.9%. The gastrointestinal system (GIS) bleeding rate was determined as 8.1% in fibrinogen and FV deficiencies. The type of bleeding at diagnosis and clinical findings are shown in Table 2, while the surgical procedures performed are shown in Table 3. Adenoidectomy was performed on 27% of patients with FVII deficiency. Circumcision was performed on 67% of patients with FXI deficiency, 27% of patients with FVII deficiency, and 20% of patients with FV deficiency. Fresh frozen plasma (FFP), fibrinogen concentrate, or rFVIIa in combination with tranexamic acid were administered before surgery. Tranexamic acid was initiated in patients who were to undergo circumsion, adenoidectomy, and undescended testis surgery and in those with mucosal bleeding, in three doses of 10 mg/kg/dose iv 8 h before surgery, and was maintained for two or three days after the surgery depending on

Table 2. Fatients clinical mannestations								
	Fibrinogen deficiency (N:3)	Fibrinogen + FXIII deficiency (N:2)	FV deficiency (N:5)	FV + FVIII deficiency (N:1)	FVII deficiency (N:11)	FX deficiency (N:4)	FXI deficiency (N:6)	FXIII deficiency (N:5)
Ecchymosis n (%)	2 (5.4)	2 (5.4)	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)	3 (8.1)	2 (5.4)	2 (5.4)	2 (5.4)
Epistaxis n (%)	2 (5.4)	2 (5.4)	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)	4 (10.8)	2 (5.4)	2 (5.4)	1 (2.7)
Umbilical bleeding n (%)	2 (5.4)	2 (5.4)	1 (2.7)	-	-	-	-	1 (2.7)
GIS bleeding n (%)	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)	-	-	-	-	-
Muscular hematoma n (%)	-	-	1 (2.7)	-	-	-	-	2 (5.4)
Joint bleeding n (%)	-	-	1 (2.7)	-	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)	-	1 (2.7)
CNS bleeding n (%)	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)		-	1 (2.7)	1 (2.7)	-	-

GIS: gastrointestinal system, CNS: central nervous system, N: total number of patients for each factor defiency, n: number of patients with the specific clinical presentation

Table 3. Surgical procedures performed								
	Fibrinogen deficiency (N:5)	FV deficiency (N:5)	FVII deficiency (N:11)	FX deficienc (N:4)	FXI deficiency (N:6)			
*Circumsion (n, %)	-	1 (20)	3 (27)	-	4 (67)			
*Adenoidectomy (n, %)	-	-	3 (27)	-	-			
*Undescended testis surgery (n, %)	-	-	1 (9)	-	-			
*Humerus fracture surgery (n, %)	-	-	1 (9)	-	-			
*ASD surgery (n, %)	1 (50)	-	-	-	-			
*Mastoidectomy (n, %)	-	-	1 (9)	-	-			
*Mass excision (n, %)	-	-	-	1 (25)	-			
*İntracerebral hematoma evacuation, duraplasty (n, %)	-	-	-	1 (25)	-			
*Developmental hip dysplasia surgery (n, %)	1 (50)	-	-	-	-			

ASD: atrial septal defect, N: total number of patients for each factor defiency, n: number of patients with the specific surgical method

bleeding status. Tranexamic acid was not used preoperatively in hematuria patients. No post-operative complications were observed.

## DISCUSSION

Since most RFDs are inherited in an autosomal recessive manner, they are more prevalent in countries where consanguineous marriages are common. An autosomal dominant inheritance has been reported in some cases of FXI deficiency and dysfibrinogemia (2). Although there is no national record system in Turkey, Tugcu et al. (4) reported a consanguineous marriage rate of 49.5% in their study of 192 RFDs, similar to the rate of 48.6% in this study.

FVII deficiency has been reported as the most common RFD in studies from Iran, Italy, and North America, and was also the most common RFD in our study, with a rate of 29.7%. Sharma et al. (5) reported FX deficiency as the most common RFD, while it was the fourth most common RFD in our study, with a rate of 10.8%.

Patients with RFD may present with a range of bleeding symptoms, from post-traumatic bleeding to severe attacks during or after birth. In some factor deficiencies, the factor level is directly related to the hemorrhagic risk, although this is not applicable in every case. The first correlation between factor level and bleeding severity in RFD was reported by the EN-RBD based on data from 489 patients in 13 treatment centers in Europe (6). Peyvandi et al. (6) found a strong correlation between bleeding severity and coagulation activity in fibrinogen, combined FV and FVIII, FX, and FXIII deficiencies, while a weak correlation was determined for FV and FVII deficiencies. No correlation was observed between factor level and bleeding severity for FXI deficiency. In the present study, the correlation between bleeding severity and factor level could not determine. The factor level was below 5% in two patients with FX deficiency. A life-threatening CNS bleeding was observed in one patient and intramuscular hematoma in the other. The factor level was between 30% and 50% in one patient with combined FV and FVIII deficiency, and no bleeding other than grade 1 bleeding was observed in this patient.

CNS bleeding was observed in one of the two patients with hypofibrinogenemia and pericardial tamponade in the other, despite the administration of fibrinogen concentrates and FFP before surgery.

Hemarthrosis and intramuscular bleeding are the most common symptoms in patients with hemophilia, while mucocutaneous bleeding is more common in RFDs (7). In our study, CNS, GIS, umbilical bleeding, hemarthrosis, and hematomas (grade 3 bleeding) were the most common bleeding symptoms (55.2%). RFDs are generally diagnosed after bleeding, and 40% of patients were diagnosed at an age >5 years.

Male children in various societies, including Turkey, have been circumcised for thousands of years for religious and cultural reasons. The known risk of circumcision in normal children is 0.2%-0.6%, but it constitutes a life-threatening risk in children

with bleeding disorders (4). The families of children with bleeding disorders wish to see their children circumcised despite the known risks. This is an important ritual for most patients and their families, and is actually a social obligation for boys. As with other surgical procedures, appropriate precautions must be taken in children with bleeding disorders. Since there are few available studies on circumcision and surgery in RFD, the centers' clinical experiences are particularly important (8,9). In our study, patients received tranexamic acid 8 h prior to circumcision. While FFP was administered before surgery in cases of FV and FXI deficiency, it was maintained postoperatively depending on the bleeding status. rFVIIa was given to patients with FVII deficiency. Fibrinogen and FFP were administered before atrial septal defect surgery in fibrinogen deficiency, and combined coagulation concentrate (Cofact®) was administered before mastoidectomy in FX deficiency.

Little is known concerning prophylaxis in RFDs. This is only recommended for short-term use or after surgery. Tugcu et al. (4) applied prophylaxis in cases of fibrinogen, FVII, and FX deficiencies. Prophylaxis after severe, life-threatening bleeding reduces morbidity and mortality in RFDs. In our study, prophylaxis was applied to four patients with fibrinogen, FVII, and FX deficienc because of CNS bleeding. Care must be taken with prophylaxis in FX and fibrinogen deficiencies due to the risk of thrombosis.

RFDs can be detected through preoperative screening, clinical symptoms of bleeding, or incidentally. Clinical diagnosis is therefore difficult. There is no therapeutic strategy for RFDs. Investigation of cases in terms of diathesis before surgery and the management of life-threatening bleeding and surgeries are of vital importance.

We believe that the following procedures should be applied for the treatment and prophylaxis of RFDs and in preparation for surgery.

Tranexamic acid was initiated with three doses of 10 mg/kg/dose iv 8 hours before surgeries, such as circumcision, adenoidectomy, and tonsillectomy surgeries and mucosal bleedings, and was maintained for two or three days after surgery depending on the bleeding status.

In fibrinogen deficiency, fibrinogen concentrate was given at a dosage of  $30-40 \ \mu g/kg/dose$ , in patients with grade 2,3 bleedings, and half an hour before surgery. After one hour, the patient went for operation with a level of 200 mg/dL.

In FX deficiency, combined coagulation concentrate (Cofact®) was given at 50 units/kg/dose; in FVII deficiency, rFVIIa was given at 30 µg/kg/dose; and in FV, FXI, and FXIII deficiencies, FFP was given at 15 mL/kg/dose, half an hour before surgery. After one hour, the patient went for surgery with appropriate factor level. Factor therapy can be continued for 24-72 hours according to the patient's bleeding condition. Although prophylaxis is controversial in patients with CNS bleeding, our patients have been receiving prophylaxis for approximately 2 years. No complication or bleeding were observed in our patients and, due to this, we think that prophylaxis is appropriate after CNS bleeding.
#### **Study Limitations**

This study has some limitations. The longitudinal cohort had a small sample size, and genetic mutation analysis could not be done.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, our results demonstrate that the most common RFD is FVII deficiency, followed by FXI deficiency in Turkish children. RFDs are more prevalent in Turkey than in Western countries due to the high parental consanguinity rates, indicating the need to raise public awareness on the risks of consanguineous marriages and to improve access to genetic counseling and testing facilities. Delayed diagnosis and the lack of prophylactic replacement therapy are the main risk factors that increase life-threatening bleedings. The need for a national bleeding disorders registry is indispensable for the collection of accurate data on the number of patients, complications, and treatment statistics in order to plan effective interventions that can improve the quality of care.

Ethics Committee Approval: Retrospective study.

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consent, approved by our institutional review board, was obtained from all patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - H.S.; Concept - N.E.; Design - E.E.; Data Collection and/or Processing - N.E.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - A.B.; Literature Search - N.E, A.B.; Writing Manuscript - N.E.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Menegatti M, Peyvandi F. Treatment of rare factor deficiencies other than hemophilia. Transfus Apher Sci 2020; 9: 102728.
- Palla R, Peyvandi F, Shapiro AD. Rare bleeding disorders: diagnosis and treatment. Blood 2015; 125: 2052-61.
- Salcioglu Z, Tugcu D, Akcay A, Sen HS, Aydogan G, Akici F. Surgical interventions in childhood rare factor deficiencies: a single-center experience from Turkey. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2013; 24: 854-61.
- Tugcu D, Salcioglu Z, Akcay A, Sen HS, Aydogan G, Akici F, et al. How do we encounter rare factor deficiencies in children? Single-centre results from Turkey. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2015; 26: 145-51.
- Sharma SK, Kumar S, Seth T, Mishra P, Agrawal N, Singh G, et al. Clinical profile of patients with rare inherited coagulation disorders: a retrospective analysis of 67 patients from Northern India. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis 2012; 4: e2012057.
- Peyvandi F, Palla R, Menegatti M, Siboni SM, Halimeh S, Faeser B, et al. European Network of Rare Bleeding Disorders Group Coagulation factor activity and clinical bleeding severity in rare bleeding disorders: results from the European Network of Rare Bleeding Disorders. J Thromb Haemost 2012; 10: 615-21.
- Shetty S, Shelar T, Mırgal D, Nawadkar V, Pinto P, Shabhag S, et al. Rare coagulation factor deficiencies: a countrywide screening data from India. Haemophilia 2014; 20: 575-81.
- Dunsmuir WD, Gordon EM. The history of circumcision. BJU Int 1999; 83(Suppl 1): 1-12.
- Rodriguez V, Titapiwatanakun R, Moir C, Schmidt KA, Pruthi RK. To circumcise or not to circumcise? Circumcision in patients with bleeding disorders. Haemophilia 2010; 16: 272-6.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3185 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):237-40

## Comparison and Analyses of Intraoperative Consultation and Paraffin Section Responses of Ovarian Lesions

🔟 Elife Kımıloğlu<sup>1</sup>, 🗅 İrem Yanık<sup>1</sup>, 💿 Özgecan Gündoğar<sup>1</sup>, 💿 Sibel Bektaş<sup>1</sup>, 💿 Süleyman Salman<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Health Practice and Research Center, Department of Medical Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Health Practice and Research Center, Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kımıloğlu E, Yanık İ, Gündoğar Ö, Bektaş S, Salman S, Comparison and Analyses of Intraoperative Consultation and Paraffin Section Responses of Ovarian Lesions. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):237-40

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** We aimed to analyze the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values (PPV) and negative predictive values (NPV) and the accuracy of frozen section (FS) method and compare the concordance of FS responses and paraffin section (PS) (final histopathological diagnoses) results of the ovarian mass operations in our hospital.

**Methods:** We retrospectively reviewed the cases of ovarian lesions operated between March 2008 and June 2018 in which FS was requested. In total 205 cases were found and the results were compared. The FS responses and PS results were classified as benign, borderline and malignant. Seventeen cases weren't responded in FS (and left to be diagnosed in PS) and they were left out of the study.

**Results:** According to the analyses; the sensitivity of benign, borderline and malignant tumors were 100%, 83%, 95%, and the specificity were 98%, 99%, 98%, respectively. The PPV of borderline and malignant tumors were 91%, 92% and the NPV were 98%, 99% respectively. Furthermore; both of their accuracy was 97%. The concordance between the methods was assessed with Kappa test and found as 94% (p<0.001).

**Conclusion:** In our study we showed that even if all of the FS responses didn't match with its PS, FS has a very high rate of consistency. FS is a way to help the surgeon during the operation. However, it must not be forgotten that this method has its own pitfalls and limitations.

Keywords: Ovary, frozen section, paraffin section, diagnosis accuracy

#### INTRODUCTION

Intraoperative consultation, or more commonly referred as frozen section (FS), plays a crucial part in pathology. FS is especially important during ovarian mass surgeries since radiological imaging and biochemical markers are limited in determining these lesions' malignancy. Intraoperative consultations are performed to help operating surgeons decide the surgical approach. This study intended to evaluate the concordance of FS responses and paraffin section (PS) (final histopathological diagnoses) results of ovarian neoplasm surgeries conducted in our hospital and to determine the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values (PPV) and negative predictive values (NPV), and accuracy of FS in categorizing ovarian lesions as benign, borderline, and malignant.

ORCID IDs of the authors: E.K. 0000 0002 2708 1272; İ.Y. 0000-0001-6227-1189; Ö.G. 0000 0003 3075 6063; S.B. 0000-0003-0248-9869; S.S. 0000 0001 7090 6105.



**Corresponding Author:** İrem Yanık, E-mail: iremyanik@gmail.com Received Date: 12.09.2020 Accepted Date: 14.10.2020

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org

#### J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):237-40

### METHODS

#### **Subjects**

The study retrospectively reviewed cases of ovarian neoplasms operated in our hospital between March 2008 and June 2018 in which intraoperative pathology consultation (FS) were done. A total of 205 cases were included. The reports of the pathologists, who were working in our department during this time, were reviewed, and the FS responses and final PS results were grouped accordingly. PS results were grouped as benign (both neoplastic and non-neoplastic lesions), borderline, and malignant (including metastasis cases), and FS responses were grouped as benign, borderline (including "at least borderline" responses), and malignant. Juvenile and adult granulosa cell tumors, which are considered "low potential of malignancy," were included in the borderline group (1).

Seventeen cases with no definitive FS responses were excluded from this study as they have no equivalent PS results.

The study was approved by the Taksim Training and Research Hospital, Clinic Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 89, date: 19.09.2018).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data were presented as frequency and percentage, and concordance between the methods was evaluated using the Kappa test. Sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV, accuracy, and 95% confidence interval were determined. The limit of significance was set at p<0.05 and bidirectional. Analyses were conducted using the NCSS 10 program (Kaysville, UT, USA).

#### RESULTS

During FS, 127 cases were identified as benign, 22 borderline, and 39 malignant. Of the cases, 17 had a definitive response in FS for varying reasons, and they were left to be determined in PS and, therefore, excluded from this study.

PS results showed that there were 126 (67%) benign cases: 62 (33%) non-neoplastic and 64 (34%) neoplastic. Furthermore, 24 (13%) cases were reported as borderline. Finally, 38 cases were diagnosed as malignant, of which 33 (16%) were primary ovarian tumors and 7 (4%) metastases (Table 1).

Of the 17 cases that were left to be determined in PS, 12 were benign, 3 borderline, and 2 malignant.

The PS and FS responses were compared numerically (Table 2), and 1 of the 127 benign cases in FS was later reported as borderline, 2 of the 22 borderline cases were later reported as malignant, and 3 of the 39 malignant cases were later diagnosed as borderline.

In this study, the mean age of all 188 cases was 49.5 years. When all cases were reviewed, 182 of 188 cases, for which a FS response was given, were compatible with the final paraffin diagnoses, and the outcome showed a consistency of 96.8%.

According to statistical analyses (Table 3), the sensitivities of FS responses of benign, borderline, and malignant tumors were 100%, 83%, and 95%, and the specificity results were 98%, 99%, and 98%, respectively. The PPVs of borderline and malignant tumors were 91% and 92%, and NPVs were 98% and 99%, respectively. Also, both tumors have an accuracy of 97%. The concordance between the methods was evaluated using the Kappa test and was 94% $\pm$ 0.03% (p<0.001).

#### DISCUSSION

Intraoperative pathology consultation (or FS) is an essential method that must be done meticulously since it helps surgeons perform optimal operations for patients. The FS method preserves its significance because of non-specific biomarkers, which also frequently result in false positive or false negative results, and limited preoperative radiological imaging in ovarian neoplasm adequacy. Overdiagnosis during FS will extend the operation time, which may increase mortality and morbidity,

Table 1. Numerical distribution of cases							
Denieu	Non-neoplastic	62 (33%)	10/ // 70/)				
benign	Neoplastic	64 (34%)	120 (07 %)				
Borderline	-	-	24 (13%)				
Melionent	Primary ovarian	32 (17%)	20 (200/)				
Malignant	Metastases	6 (3%)	38 (20%)				
Total		188 (100%)					

Table 2. Numerical comparison between paraffin and intraoperative consultation result

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
	Paraffin results	Paraffin results				
	Benign	Borderline	Malignant	IOtai		
Intraoperative consultation results	Benign	126	1	0	127	
	Borderline	0	20	2	22	
	Malignant	0	3	36	39	
Total	126	24	38	188		

Table 3. Statistical analyses of cases classif	led as benign, borderline, a	na malignant	
	Benign	Borderline	Malignant
Sensitivity (95% GA)	1 (0.97-1)	0.83 (0.63-0.95)	0.95 (0.82-0.99)
Specificity (95% GA)	0.98 (0.91-1)	0.99 (0.96-1)	0.98 (0.94-1)
PPV (95% GA)	0.99 (0.95-1)	0.91 (0.71-0.98)	0.92 (0.80-0.97)
NPV (95% GA)	1 (0.92-1)	0.98 (0.94-0.99)	0.99 (0.95-1)
Accuracy (95% GA)	0.99 (0.97-1)	0.97 (0.93-0.99)	0.97 (0.94-0.99)
	1		

PPV: positive predictive value, NPV: negative predictive value

whereas underdiagnosis may require reoperation or cause tumor to spread (2).

Cases that were inconsistent with PS were reviewed, and it was found that errors might have occurred in some steps. The intraoperative consultation process consists of some crucial parts, including proper macroscopic examination and appropriate sampling. Errors in these parts could be avoided by proper training and experience. Tissue freezing can also result in frozen/ freezing artifacts, which might cause the cells to look different than in formalin-fixed tissue samples, thus completely altering the diagnoses. Another important step is the staining part, and errors here might cause the nuclei to appear more hyperchromatic than they are. After meticulously performing all these steps, the pathologists should provide a result in the shortest possible time.

In our study, the group classified as benign contained both non-neoplastic and neoplastic lesions. Endometriosis, follicle cysts, corpus luteum cysts, and abscesses were considered nonneoplastic, whereas cystadenomas, cystadenofibromas, mature cystic teratomas, fibromas, thecomas, and fibrothecomas were neoplastic. During FS, the pathologists did not provide a result (left it to be decided in PS) for some of these benign lesions, such as fibromas/thecomas/fibrothecomas.

Of the 127 cases, which were considered benign during intraoperative consultation, only one did not correlate with the final PS report. During consultation, the case appeared "benign" on FS slides and was thought to be a sex-cord stromal tumor. After 24 hours of formalin fixation, more samples were taken. All the PS slides were evaluated both morphologically and immunohistochemically. The final diagnosis was "adult granulosa cell tumor," which is considered "low malignant potential," and in our study, it is classified as borderline tumors.

The correlation in the benign group was 99.2%. Similar to our study, other studies also have high sensitivity to benign lesions: Sukumaran et al. (2) reported 99.2%, Bige et al. (3) 99.2%, and Arshad et al. (5) 95.6% (2-6).

Borderline tumors make up close to 15%-20% of all ovarian malignancies (7). Borderline epithelial tumors and some sex-cordstromal tumors (which are considered low/unknown malignant potential tumors like adult/juvenile granulosa cell tumors) were included in the borderline group in our study. The borderline group had the lowest concordance and sensitivity rate at 90.9% and 83%, respectively. Similar sensitivity results were reported in other studies: 88.46% (3), 77.8% (4) and 76.2% (5), thus supporting our findings.

During intraoperative consultations, 2 of 22 border lesions were later categorized as malignant in PS. These tumors were large, and only a limited amount of sampling was done from the areas most suspicious for invasion. No evidence of invasion was found in the frozen slides; however, suspicion of malignancy remained. Therefore, they were reported as "at least borderline" during intraoperative consultation. More samplings were performed from macroscopically detected suspicious thickening of the lesion wall and from the papillary appearing areas after the 24 hours formalin fixation. Routine staining limited the number of invasive areas identified, and therefore, these tumors were later reported as malignant during PS.

The remaining 20 cases were compatible. The two cases, which the pathologists classified FS as "at least borderline" may be statistically seen as an error. However, the surgeons knew the possibility of them being malignant during the operation, and they proceeded accordingly. Since sampling problems during FS for borderline tumors are widely known, the term "at least borderline" as a response is supported by other authors (8).

Tempfer et al. (9) collected data from four studies (including their own) and evaluated borderline tumors during FS. Results showed that consistency between FS and PS was observed in 62.8% of the cases. According to them, because of this high ratio of underdiagnosis/overdiagnosis (37.2%), when FS is classified as borderline, surgeons should not take any further action during the operation and wait for PS reports. It is also suggested that for larger lesions (>5 cm), after a thorough macroscopic evaluation, multiple samples might be used to answer FS or intraoperative consultation might not be done at all (9).

An additional observation showed that subspecialization of pathologists in gynecologic pathology yielded better results (9). For example, Bige et al. (3) presented two sets of data from gynecologic and non-gynecologic pathologists and found that percentages of sensitivity, specificity, PPV and NPV were higher in gynecologic pathologists, especially in the borderline group. According to Açikalin et al. (4), gross examination conducted by gynecologic pathologists during FS is an important factor to increase FS accuracy. This factor might be one of the limitations of our study because our department has no subspecialized pathologists.

Other reasons that borderline tumors are challenging to assess during FS include their heterogeneous component and size. Only a limited amount of sampling can be done in FS; however, after fixation, more lesions can be sampled, and this may very well change the diagnosis (2,6,10).

In the malignant group, there were two cases of primary ovarian tumors and metastases. In 36 of the 39 malignant cases, the FS responses and PS results were consistent. However, the remaining three cases were later reported as borderline lesions because the cells that were considered invasive were actually pseudoinvasions and the nuclei appeared more hyperchromatic because of staining and improper sectioning (such as section thickness).

The concordance rate and sensitivity of the malignant group were 92.3% and 95%, respectively. Açikalin et al. (4) and Bige et al. (3) had sensitivities of 95.6% and 95%, respectively, which are similar to our study. However, Sukumaran et al. (2) had a slightly lower sensitivity (82.95%), and Takemoto et al. (10) had slightly higher data (99.2%).

According to statistical findings, a high consistency was found between these methods (Kappa 0.94, p<0.001). The benign lesion group had the highest sensitivity and accuracy rates (100% and 99%, respectively), whereas the borderline group had the highest specificity (99%).

#### CONCLUSION

Although the coherency between FS and PS is not 100%, it is still high, and that is why FS still plays a crucial part in pathology practice. Considering these findings, surgeons must not forget that FS might be limited and have pitfalls; therefore, they should plan their operations accordingly.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Taksim Training and Research Hospital, Clinic Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 89, date: 19.09.2018).

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - E.K., Design - İ.Y., Supervision - E.K., S.S., Resources - E.K., S.B., S.S., Materials - S.S., Data Collection and/or Processing - İ.Y., Ö.G., Analysis and/or Interpretation - İ.Y., Ö.G., Literature Search - S.B., Writing Manuscript - İ.Y., Ö.G., Critical Review - E.K., S.B.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS, Young RHE, editors. WHO classification of tumours of female reproductive organs. IARC: Lyon; 2014.
- Sukumaran R, Somanathan T, Mathews A, Kattor J, Sambasivan S, Nair RP. Role of frozen section in intraoperative assessment of ovarian masses: a tertiary oncology center experience. Indian J Surg Oncol 2014; 5: 99-103.
- Bige O, Demir A, Saygili U, Gode F, Uslu T, Koyuncuoglu M. Frozen section diagnoses of 578 ovarian tumors made by pathologists with and without expertise on gynecologic pathology. Gynecol Oncol 2011; 123: 43-6.
- Açikalin A, Torun G, Bağir E, Bayram F, Zeren H, Güleç U, et al. Intraoperative frozen section in ovarian neoplasms; a tertiary center experience. Turk Patoloji Derg 2014; 30: 184-8.
- Arshad NZ, Ng BK, Paiman NA, Abdullah Mahdy Z, Mohd Noor R. Intra-operative frozen sections for ovarian tumors - a tertiary center experience. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2017; 19: 213-8.
- Hashmi AA, Naz S, Edhi MM, Faridi N, Hussain SD, Mumtaz S, et al. Accuracy of intraoperative frozen section for the evaluation of ovarian neoplasms: an institutional experience. World J Surg Oncol 2016; 14: 91.
- Seong SJ, Kim DH, Kim MK, Song T. Controversies in borderline ovarian tumors. J Gynecol Oncol 2015; 26: 343-9.
- Shih KK, Garg K, Soslow RA, Chi DS, Abu-Rustum NR, Barakat RR. Accuracy of frozen section diagnosis of ovarian borderline tumor. Gynecol Oncol 2011; 123: 517-21.
- Tempfer CB, Polterauer S, Bentz EK, Reinthaller A, Hefler LA. Accuracy of intraoperative frozen section analysis in borderline tumors of the ovary: a retrospective analysis of 96 cases and review of the literature. Gynecol Oncol 2007; 107: 248-52.
- Takemoto S, Ushijima K, Kawano R, Fukui A, Terada A, Fujimoto T, et al. Validity of intraoperative diagnosis at laparoscopic surgery for ovarian tumors. J Minim Invasive Gynecol 2014; 21: 576-9.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3563 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):241-5

## Optimal Target in Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease: Comparison of Atlas and Magnetic Resonance Imaging-based Stereotactic Targeting

#### İdris Sertbaş

İstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Sertbaş İ. Optimal Target in Deep Brain Stimulation for Parkinson's Disease: Comparison of Atlas and Magnetic Resonance Imaging-based Stereotactic Targeting. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):241-5

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** We aimed to compare magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and atlas measurements to determine the target coordinates of globus pallidus internus (GPi) and subthalamic nucleus (STN) during stereotactic neurosurgery.

**Methods:** Eleven patients treated with bilateral deep brain stimulation (DBS) GPi and STN for the treatment of Parkinson's disease (PD) were included in the study. The target was chosen by direct visual recognition of GPi and STN in three-dimensional MRI. The coordinates were automatically saved using special software and converted to the anterior commissure-posterior commissure (AC-PC) coordinate system using a matrix conversion process. The same GPi and STN targets were identified based on the locations of brain structures shown in the Schaltenbrand atlases. MRI-based GPi and STN target coordinates were statistically compared with the corresponding atlas-based coordinates.

**Results:** Eleven patients were included in our study. The median age was 66.6±11.72 in the GPi group and 47.50±14.20 in the STN group. The average length of the AC-PC line was 26.15±1.42 in the STN group; and 26.46±1.34 in the GPi group. It was quite similar in both groups for each coordinate measurement, and the Intra-class Correlation Coefficients of each measurement were over 90%.

**Conclusion:** According to the results of our study, target coordinates obtained by direct visual targeting on MRI and target coordinates obtained by indirect targeting based on atlas were highly compatible. The coordinates used for DBS in the treatment of PD were confirmed by both methods. **Keywords:** MRI, deep brain stimulation, stereotactic targeting, subthalamic nucleus, globus pallidus

#### INTRODUCTION

Parkinsonism is a clinical syndrome that occurs with any combination of bradykinesia, resting tremor, rigidity, and postural instability. The most common form of parkinsonism is Parkinson's disease (PD); a chronic, progressive disease caused by the degenerative loss of dopaminergic neurons in the brain and characterized by clinically asymmetric parkinsonism (1). During diagnosis and treatment, many factors should be carefully evaluated, including the patient's signs, symptoms, age, stage of the disease, degree of functional disease, level of physical activity and efficiency (2). Treatment of PD can be divided into pharmacological, non-pharmacological and surgical treatment.

Deep brain stimulation (DBS) is the most commonly performed surgical procedure for the treatment of advanced PD (3). Evidence from randomized controlled trials suggests that either the DBS of the subthalamic nucleus (STN) or the internal globus pallidus (GPi) mitigate motor fluctuations and dyskinesia associated with

ORCID ID of the author: İ.S. 0000-0002-6904-6678.



**Corresponding Author:** İdris Sertbaş, E-mail: idris.sertbas@yeniyuzyil.edu.tr Received Date: 06.07.2020 Accepted Date: 16.10.2020

advanced PD. The STN and GPi are two of the most common target structures used for DBS (3,4). The lead should be placed correctly to maximize therapeutic benefit and minimize side effects. Preoperative localization of target structures can be performed directly from stereotactic preoperative magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or indirectly from atlas coordinates and predefined anatomical markers. Given the anatomical variability of the target core between patients and a degree of atrophy that can be found in patients with neurodegenerative diseases, the direct targeting method is unquestionably more suitable for individual patients. However, this technique can result in limited contrast and relatively low visibility of target points in standard MRI (5,6).

Technological advances in imaging methods have facilitated direct target planning and post-operative lead localization. But intraoperative verification of the electrode position relative to the intended target coordinates is difficult. Although there are very few published data documenting the best targeting method for DBS and the accuracy of any electrode placement method, there is no consensus on the subject (7-10). The aim of this study was to investigate the reliability of atlas-derived data by comparing it with direct targeting on MRI, and to assess the suitability of each technique for stereotactic targeting.

#### METHODS

This study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Helsinki Declaration of the World Medical Association "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects" (held in October 2013). Ethics committee approval for this study was obtained from İstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2020/02, date: 10.02.2020).

This study included 11 patients admitted to a neurosurgery clinic for drug-resistant PD and underwent DBS. Patients underwent bilateral electrode implantation for continuous stimulation of GPi (n=5) and STN (n=6) under local anesthesia.

Under local anesthesia, the stereotactic frame (Zamorano-Dujovny open ceramic version, Stryker Leibinger, Freiburg, Germany) was placed parallel to the anterior commissure-posterior commissure (AC-PC) line relative to the external landmarks (lower orbital ring, external auditory canal). AC-PC coordinates were determined on axial T1-weighted images (T1-WI) using MRI, Achieva 1.5 Tesla (Philips, Best, Netherlands), and the coordinates of the midcommistatic point (AC-PC) and AC-PC distance were calculated accordingly. The location of the STN and GPi cores was found and their coordinates were calculated according to the AC-PC line. Schaltenbrand-Wahren-Atlas was also used as AC and PC reference points and merged with a volumetric T1-WI MRI data set.

The target was then chosen based on the Schaltenbrand atlas (11). In this atlas, one of the GPi and STN cores was selected, the distances between the AC and PC midpoints were measured on the Schaltenbrand atlas after the target was detected. According

to the AC-PC line on the atlas; vertical, inferior and anterioposterior coordinates were determined and the plate where the DBS target was wanted to be placed was selected.

Then, in the operating room, a stereotactic electrode guidance device was mounted and a 14 mm hole was drilled at the predetermined orbital level. Microelectrode recording was not used. Electrode implantation was performed. Distal electrode tips were placed subcutaneously. Under general anesthesia, the brain pacemaker placed under the skin with iv propofol and remifentanil was connected to the electrodes. Computed Tomography was performed to control post-operative patients in terms of possible complications.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All analyzes were done in SPSS v21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Due to the small sample size, the coordinates were analyzed with the Wilcoxon signed-ranks test. The fit of the coordinates for both methods was evaluated using Cronbach's Alpha and Intra-class Correlation Coefficient (ICC). Accordingly, we suggest that ICC values below 0 indicate "low" reliability; values between 0.5 and 0.75 indicate "moderate" reliability; values between 0.75 and 0.9 indicate "good" reliability; and values greater than 0.90 indicate "excellent" reliability (12). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

Eleven patients (4 females, 7 males) were included in our study. The mean age was  $66.6\pm11.72$  in the GPi group and  $47.50\pm14.20$  in the STN group.

The average length of the AC-PC line was  $26.15\pm1.42$  in the STN group. The target coordinates set in Atlas and MRI for STN showed "excellent" correlation for distances between right hemisphere dx, dz and left hemisphere dx, dy, dz (p-value for all >0.05 and ICC >0.90) (Table 1).

The average length of the AC-PC line was  $26.46\pm1.34$  in the GPi group. The target coordinates set in Atlas and MRI for GPi showed "excellent" correlation in distances between right hemisphere dx, dy, dz and left hemisphere dx, dz (p-value for all >0.05 and ICC >0.90) (Table 2).

#### DISCUSSION

According to the results of our study, the target coordinates we determined in Atlas and MRI for STN and GPi showed "excellent" correlation. Accordingly, DBS structures, which are often not clearly visualized using Atlas, have been verified by MRI techniques.

Reliable identification of the anatomical boundaries of STN and GPi is a critical step for DBS of these structures. Atlas-based coordinates are limited to relying only on a few brain samples, and several studies have documented inter-individual variations in the position of these nuclei. The Schaltenbrand atlas consists of successive brain slices (plates) obtained from a brain. The coordinates calculated based on the structures found in this atlas

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):241-5

Table 1. Distribution of STN coordinates according to patient characteristics										
	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum	р	Cronbach's Alpha	ICC		
Age	47.50	14.20	47.50	31.00	69.00	-	-	-		
AC-PC distance	26.15	1.42	26.30	23.80	27.60	-	-	-		
Right hemisphere										
dx										
Atlas	11.82	2.13	11.15	9.70	15.90	0 100	0.005	0.992		
MRI	12.08	2.29	11.50	10.00	16.50	0.109	0.995			
dy										
Atlas	2.60	2.78	1.70	0.40	8.00	0.042	0.095	0.968		
MRI	3.33	2.34	2.50	2.00	8.00	0.045	0.705			
dz										
Atlas	3.67	1.36	3.80	1.40	5.00	1 000	0.002	0.993		
MRI	3.67	1.51	4.00	1.00	5.00	1.000	0.772			
Left hemisphere										
dx										
Atlas	11.58	2.76	11.00	9.00	16.60	0.070	0.000	0.004		
MRI	12.08	2.46	11.50	10.00	16.50	0.078	0.992	0.984		
dy										
Atlas	2.28	2.00	1.80	0.30	5.90	0 174	0.001	0.077		
MRI	2.58	1.69	2.50	1.00	5.50	0.170	0.901	0.977		
dz										
Atlas	3.03	2.06	3.55	0.30	5.00	0 100	0.000	0.005		
MRI	3.33	1.86	4.00	1.00	5.00	0.109	0.989	0.900		

dx, dy, and dz distances to the x, y, and z axes, respectively. p: p-values for Wilcoxon signed-ranks test, ICC: Intra-class Correlation Coefficient, SD: standard deviation, AC-PC: anterior commissure-posterior commissure, MRI: magnetic resonance imaging, STN: subthalamic nucleus

Table 2. Distribution of GPi coordinates according to patient characteristics									
	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Max	р	Cronbach's Alpha	ICC	
Age	66.60	11.72	71.00	48.00	78.00	-	-	-	
AC-PC distance	26.46	1.34	26.50	25.10	28.20	-	-	-	
Right hemisphere									
dx									
Atlas	17.34	2.95	15.70	15.00	22.10	0.000	0.000	0.978	
MRI	18.00	2.92	17.00	16.00	23.00	0.000	0.700		
dy									
Atlas	6.56	2.76	7.90	2.20	8.90	0 222	0.001	0 000	
MRI	6.80	2.68	8.00	3.00	9.00	0.225	0.991	0.990	
dz									
Atlas	2.12	1.18	1.70	1.00	3.70	0 502	0.040	0.958	
MRI	2.20	1.30	2.00	1.00	4.00	0.393	0.949		
Left hemisphere									
dx									
Atlas	17.36	2.93	15.70	15.10	22.10	0.079	0.090	0.070	
MRI	18.00	2.92	17.00	16.00	23.00	0.078	0.707	0.777	
dy									
Atlas	6.48	2.65	7.60	2.30	8.90	0.042	0.007	0.007	
MRI	7.00	2.55	8.00	3.00	9.00	0.045	0.777	0.987	
dz									
Atlas	2.12	1.16	1.70	1.00	3.60	0 1 4 4	0.076	0.066	
MRI	2.40	1.14	2.00	1.00	4.00	0.144	44 0.976	0.966	

dx, dy, and dz distances to the x, y, and z axes, respectively. p: p-values for Wilcoxon signed-ranks test, ICC: Intra-class Correlation Coefficient, SD: standard deviation, AC-PC: anterior commissure-posterior commissure, MRI: magnetic resonance imaging, GPi: globus pallidus internus are not obtained from an average brain, but from a photograph that actually corresponds to a slice of a certain thickness (13). It has been recognized that the use of atlases for stereotactic neurosurgery is conditioned on data normalization according to the characteristics of each brain. However, there has been no consensus on the normalization process (14,15).

MRI allows excellent visualization of commissures, which are thalamic organization. It also shows individual anatomical variations while reducing the imaging artifacts produced by the stereotactic framework. It is possible to obtain millimeter sections with good signal with 3-D gradient-Echo reception. It allows the radiologist to position all anatomical landmarks identified by high-resolution MRI ventriculography in a non-invasive manner. In addition, structures not seen in ventriculograms, such as the internal capsule, can be visualized (16,17). There are concerns that artifacts on MRI will distract intracranial targets from their actual anatomical position, leading to errors in determining target coordinates and, as a result, failed stereotactic procedures. However, precise MRI-guided stereotactic procedures can be performed using high-field MRI with a homogeneous magnetic field and linear field gradients (18,19). In a study conducted using anatomical samples, mean stereotactic errors were reported to be 0.48±0.17 mm; 0.69±0.14 mm and 0.82±0.13 mm, respectively, in the x, y and z directions (18). Other studies that report the reliability of direct MRI coordinates are mainly based on visualizing the structure only in the coronal plane and do not target a specific subregion (20,21). In another study comparing MRI and Atlas methods for DBS in Parkinson's patients, it was concluded that high-resolution MRI, which enables direct visualization of the nucleus in both axial and coronal planes, correlates borders in both planes and creates a three-dimensional structure would be more effective (7). These results support that a functional MRI procedure can be performed safely after its accuracy has been verified by a certain stereotactic MRI standardization. A recent metaanalysis concluded that STN for DBS is difficult due to low resolution and geometric distortion in MRI sequences used in direct targeting, but that STN boundaries can be better defined with new MRI techniques. Accordingly, sensitivity-based imaging techniques and image reconstruction methods can show the way to produce high-quality, artifact-free images that neurosurgeons can use to accurately and reliably target their electrodes (22).

#### **Study Limitations**

Our study also had limitations. It is a retrospective study in nature, based on patient file records. Although the patient population is not sufficient, objective results can be obtained with prospective studies.

#### CONCLUSION

In light of these results, normalizing Atlas data based on the reference of more patients will bring Atlas coordinates closer to MRI targets. In addition, increased image quality along with the developing technology in the field of MRI will also allow sterotactic

targeting to be performed more accurately and in a standard way. Based on the overlap of the target coordinates we determined in our study in both Atlas and MRI, we believe that the targets we determined will be a guide for subsequent studies. Randomizedcontrolled studies are needed on this issue.

The target coordinates we set for DBS coincide with each other in both Atlas and MRI. Due to atrophy in neurodegenerative conditions, the anatomy of patients will also be different. Therefore, a direct targeting technique based on the patient's own brain anatomy may be a more convenient way of preoperative targeting for DBS. Accurate anatomical targeting can also minimize the number of exploration marks required for physiological testing of the target, thus enabling faster and safer surgery.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval for this study was obtained from İstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2020/02, date: 10.02.2020).

**Informed Consent:** Due to the retrospective design of the study, patient consent was not obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Watts RL, Koller WC. Movement disorders: neurologic principles & practice. McGraw-Hill Professional, 2004.
- Odin P, Chaudhuri KR, Slevin J, Volkmann J, Dietrichs E, Martinez-Martin P, et al. Collective physician perspectives on non-oral medication approaches for the management of clinically relevant unresolved issues in Parkinson's disease: consensus from an international survey and discussion program. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2015; 21: 1133-44.
- Fasano A, Daniele A, Albanese A. Treatment of motor and non-motor features of Parkinson's disease with deep brain stimulation. Lancet Neurol 2012; 11: 429-42.
- Deuschl G, Schade-Brittinger C, Krack P, Volkmann J, Schäfer H, Bötzel K, et al. A randomized trial of deep-brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease. N Eng J Med 2006; 355: 896-908.
- Odekerken VJ, Van Laar T, Staal MJ, Mosch A, Hoffmann CF, Nijssen PC, et al. Subthalamic nucleus versus globus pallidus bilateral deep brain stimulation for advanced Parkinson's disease (NSTAPS study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Neurol 2013; 12: 37-44.
- Öztürk S, Kocabiçak E. Parkinson hastalığında nöromodülasyon. Turkiye Klinikleri Phys Med Rehab 2018; 11: 23-32.
- Vayssiere N, Hemm S, Cif L, Picot MC, Diakonova N, El Fertit H, et al. Comparison of atlas-and magnetic resonance imaging-based stereotactic targeting of the globus pallidus internus in the performance of deep brain stimulation for the treatment of dystonia. J Neurosurg 2002; 96: 673-9.
- Pinsker M, Volkmann J, Falk D, Herzog J, Steigerwald F, Deuschl G, et al. Deep brain stimulation of the internal globus pallidus in dystonia: target localisation under general anaesthesia. Acta neurochirurgica (Wien) 2009; 151: 751-8.
- Schlaier J, Schoedel P, Lange M, Winkler J, Warnat J, Dorenbeck U, et al. Reliability of atlas-derived coordinates in deep brain stimulation. Acta Neurochirurgica 2005; 147: 1175-80.
- Tolleson C, Pallavaram S, Li C, Fang J, Phibbs F, Konrad F, et al. The optimal pallidal target in deep brain stimulation for dystonia: a study using a functional atlas based on nonlinear image registration. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 2015; 93: 17-24.
- 11. Schaltenbrand G. Atlas for stereotaxy of the human brain. Georg Thieme 1977.
- 12. Koo TK, Li MY. A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. J Chiropr Med 2016; 15: 155-63.

- Bajcsy R, Lieberson R, Reivich M. A computerized system for the elastic matching of deformed radiographic images to idealized atlas images. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1983; 7: 618-25.
- Lancaster JL, Fox PT, Downs H, Nickerson DS, Hander TA, El Mallah M, et al. Global spatial normalization of human brain using convex hulls. J Nucl Med 1999; 40: 942-55.
- 15. Davatzikos C. Spatial normalization of 3D brain images using deformable models. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1996; 20: 656-65.
- Aviles-Olmos I, Kefalopoulou Z, Tripoliti E, Candelario J, Akram H, Martinez-Torres I, et al. Long-term outcome of subthalamic nucleus deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease using an MRI-guided and MRIverified approach. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr 2014; 85: 1419-25.
- Brunenberg EJ, Platel B, Hofman PA, ter Haar Romeny BM, Visser-Vandewalle V. Magnetic resonance imaging techniques for visualization of the subthalamic nucleus: a review. J Neurosurg 2011; 115: 971-84.
- Dormont D, Zerah M, Cornu P, Parker F, Aubert B, Sigal R, et al. A technique of measuring the precision of an MR-guided stereotaxic

installation using anatomic specimens. American J Neuroradiol 1994; 15: 365-71.

- Kondziolka D, Dempsey PK, Lunsford LD, Kestle JR, Dolan EJ, Kanal E, et al. A comparison between magnetic resonance imaging and computed tomography for stereotactic coordinate determination. Neurosurgery 1992; 30: 402-7.
- Zonenshayn M, Rezai AR, Mogilner AY, Beric A, Sterio D, Kelly PJ. Comparison of anatomic and neurophysiological methods for subthalamic nucleus targeting. Neurosurgery 2000; 47: 282-94.
- Cuny E, Guehl D, Burbaud P, Gross C, Dousset V, Rougier A. Lack of agreement between direct magnetic resonance imaging and statistical determination of a subthalamic target: the role of electrophysiological guidance. J Neurosurgery 2002; 97: 591-7.
- Chandran AS, Bynevelt M, Lind CR. Magnetic resonance imaging of the subthalamic nucleus for deep brain stimulation. J Neurosurgery 2016; 124: 96-105.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3790 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):246-51

# Comparison of COVID-19 Case-Fatality-Rates by Socio-Demographic Factors

D Esra Keleş Peker<sup>1</sup>, D Güven Bektemur<sup>2</sup>, D Kürşad Nuri Baydili<sup>3</sup>, D Melek Aktaş<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Zeynep Kamil Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecologic Oncology, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Hamidiye Faculty of Medicine, Department of Public Health, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>3</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Hamidiye Faculty of Medicine, Department Biostatistics and Medical Informatics, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>4</sup>French School of Public Health and Political Sciences Rennes, Student master 2 in Administration of Public Health Policies and Programmes, Rennes, France

Cite this article as: Keleş Peker E, Bektemur G, Baydili KN, Aktaş M. Comparison of COVID-19 Case-Fatality-Rates by Socio-Demographic Factors. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):246-51

#### ABSTRACT

Objective: To evaluate socio-demographic risk factors in comparison with Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) case fatality rates (CFRs).

**Methods:** In this cross-sectional study, we used the demographic and epidemiologic data that were identified as risk factors for COVID-19 CFRs. The electronic dataset was extracted from an open-source database, Our World in Data, and the European Center for Disease Prevention and Control websites. Countries with at least 1,000 confirmed COVID-19 cases that were reported by July 10, 2020, a reported incidence of the 14-day COVID-19 cases, and having all available parameters were included in the study. Countries with ascertained and/or missing parameters were excluded from this study. A cross-continental comparison was also performed. To analyze the data, One-Way analysis of variance (One-Way ANOVA) followed by the Bonferroni test and Pearson correlation coefficient were conducted.

**Results:** In the final analysis, 137 countries were eligible. The median age, population aged over 65 years, female smoking rates, and life expectancy were positively correlated with the COVID-19 CFRs, while no significant correlation was found with diabetes prevalence, frequency of available handwashing centers, and number of hospital beds per 1,000 persons. The European continent had higher COVID-19 CFRs, while the Asian continent had higher cases/1 million population.

**Conclusion:** It is important to highlight the risk factors for mortality due to the novel coronavirus. This will help to anticipate healthcare needs and implement appropriate mitigation strategies, as well as to prioritize the most vulnerable individuals, thereby increasing their chances of survival from COVID-19.

Keywords: Case fatality rate, COVID-19, risk factors, continents, handwashing, smoking

ORCID IDs of the authors: E.K.P. 0000-0001-8099-8883; G.B. 0000-0001-5899-566X; K.N.B. 0000-0002-2785-0406; M.A. 0000-0003-4195-5797.



**Corresponding Author:** Esra Keleş Peker, E-mail: dresrakeles@hotmail.com Received Date: 30.09.2020 Accepted Date: 05.11.2020

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):246-51

#### INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, cases of an "unrecognized viral pneumonia" were detected among individuals working in or in contact with the local seafood market in Wuhan, China (1). The cause of this infection has been identified as a new subtype of coronavirus, referred to as Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome-Coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2), named Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) by the World Health Organization (WHO) (2). By the end of March 2020, the new coronavirus had spread rapidly from China to Europe, followed by a pandemic in the United States, which became the new global epicenter of the coronavirus (3,4). In early March 2020, the Director-General of the WHO declared the COVID-19 as a pandemic (5). At that time, COVID-19 had spread to six continents and all the regions of the United Nations (6).

Countries had diverse responses to the COVID-19 pandemic. Many countries have implemented national regulations, such as quarantine, curfews, travel restrictions (7), and border closings, as mitigation strategies (8). In addition, personal protective measures have been taken, including the use of face masks and hand hygiene to reduce the spread of the coronavirus.

Worldwide, the pandemic has resulted in many deaths. According to currently available data, elderly indivduals, men, and those with underlying health diseases have been more affected by this contagious infection (9,10).

The relationship between the COVID-19 infection and smoking has been examined, but remains controversial. While some studies have found an association between smoking and the disease severity and mortality, some studies have not. All of these prompted us to investigate whether there is a link between COVID-19 and smoking and whether gender plays a role in this difference.

We aimed to highlight the relationship between the sociodemographic and epidemiologic risk factors in comparison with COVID-19 case fatality rates (CFR). Furthermore, we conducted a comparison between population-based risk factors and COVID-19 CFR across the continents.

#### **METHODS**

#### Study Design

This cross-sectional study was conducted by examining data using the relational scanning model. The electronic dataset was extracted from the open-source database on July 10, 2020. This study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Hamidiye Scientific Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 20/309).

#### Data Collection

The socio-demographic and COVID-19 data were obtained from the open-source websites, Our World in Data (https://

ourworldindata.org.), and the European Center for Disease Prevention and Control websites (https://github.com/owid/ covid19 data/tree/master/public/data), which are updated daily and include data on confirmed cases, deaths, and tests for all countries. The demographic and epidemiologic data that were identified as risk factors for COVID-19 CFRs were used. In the final analysis, 137 of the 215 affected countries were eligible for the study.

Abstracted data included the total number of cases per country, rate of confirmed cases per 1 million population, total population of the countries, population densities, median age, population rates over 65 and 70 years, diabetes prevalence, smoking rates among women and men, frequency of handwashing centers, number of hospital beds for 1,000 population, and life expectancy.

#### **Study Criteria**

Countries with at least 1,000 confirmed COVID-19 cases reported by July 10<sup>th</sup>, a reported incidence of the 14-day COVID-19 cases, and having all the available parameters were included in the study. Countries with ascertained and/or missing parameters were excluded from the study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (IBM SPSS version 25) for Windows software. Percentage and frequency values for categorical variables and arithmetic mean (± standard deviation) or median values for quantitative variables were used in the descriptive statistics of the data. The relationship between CFR and all other variables were determined using the Pearson correlation coefficient. Comparisons between continents were performed using a One-Way analysis of variance (One-Way ANOVA) followed by the Bonferroni post-hoc comparison test. In this study, a type I error rate of 0.05, and p-value <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

We analyzed the risk factors that were identified in the sociodemographic and epidemiologic data for COVID-19 mortality. In our study, only 137 out of approximately 215 affected countries were selected for the analysis.

The total number of cases (p=0.344), rate of cases per one million population (p=0.501), total population of the country (p=0.513), population density (p=0.252), diabetes prevalence (p=0.097), smoking rates among men (p=0.641), frequency of available hand washing centers (p=0.495), number of hospital beds per 1,000 population (p=0.395), and mortality rates were not significantly correlated with COVID-19 CFRs. Median age (p=0.001; r=0.272), population aged >65 years (p<0.001; r=0.366), population aged >70 years (p<0.001; r=0.378), and female smoking rate (p<0.001; r=0.301) were positively correlated with COVID-19 CFR. A very weak positive correlation was found between life expectancy (p=0.011; r=0.219) and COVID-19 CFR (Table 1). A significant difference was determined between the COVID-19 CFRs and cases/one million (p=0.005), deaths/one million (p<0.001). The continents of Asia and South America in cases/one million and Europe and South America in deaths/one million had

higher values than other continents. The European continent had the highest COVID-19 CFR value (Table 2). In addition, the case fatality rates of the countries participating in our study are shown in Figure 1.

Table 1. Socio-demographic risk factors and COVID-19 case fat	ality rates	
		Case fatality rates
	r	0.081
Total cases	р	0.344
	Ν	137
	r	-0.058
Total cases (per million)	р	0.501
	Ν	137
	r	0.056
Population	р	0.513
	Ν	137
	r	-0.099
Population density (people per sq. km of land area)	р	0.252
	Ν	136
	r	0.272
Median age	р	0.001
	Ν	136
	r	0.366
Aged >65 years (% percent)	р	<0.001
	Ν	136
	r	0.378
Aged >70 years (% percent)	р	<0.001
	Ν	135
Diabetes prevalence (% of population ages 20 to 79)	r	-0.143
	р	0.097
	Ν	136
	r	0.301
Female smokers (% of adults)	р	0.001
	Ν	111
	r	-0.045
Male smokers (% of adults)	р	0.641
	Ν	109
	r	0.087
Handwashing facilities (% percent)	р	0.495
	Ν	64
	r	0.077
Hospital beds (per 1,000 population)	р	0.395
	Ν	123
	r	0.219
Life expectancy	р	0.011
	Ν	136
*p<0.05. COVID-19: Coronavirus disease		

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):246-51

### DISCUSSION

In this study, we investigated the risk factors of the COVID-19 CFR according to demographic and epidemiologic characteristics. In reported studies to date, several risk factors have been associated with the disease mortality. The most important factors affecting the fatality rates were demographic characteristics such as age, smoking, and underlying health conditions (9,11,12). This study revealed that age over 65 years and longer life expectancy were significantly correlated with increased mortality among



Figure 1. Case fatality rates of COVID-19 pandemic, July 10, 2020

Table 2 Comparison of total cases, deaths, and CEPs between centin

CFR: Case fatality rates, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease

COVID-19 patients across countries, which is consistent with most published data to date (13-15). This is explained by the fact that, as individuals age, they have concomitant diseases that could weaken their immune system, making them vulnerable to this disease (14,16). This finding suggests that protective measures against COVID-19 should be implemented, especially in places such as nursing homes.

Remuzzi and Remuzzi (17) indicated that the mean age of patients who died from COVID-19 in Italy was 81 years, and two-thirds of them had underlying health conditions such as diabetes or were smokers. Since Italy is the country with one of the longest life expectancies and has an elderly population in Europe, it had the majority (77.4%) of COVID-19 cases reported from Europe as of February 29 (6). As a result, Italy was the top affected country in Europe, followed by Spain, France, and Germany, and had the highest COVID-19 case-fatality rates in Europe. Consequently, these explain why the COVID-19 CFR of Europe was higher compared to that of other continents. This fact differs in China, which makes up only 12% of the elderly population in the Asian continent, explaining why the Asian continent lagged behind in the continental ranking in terms of deaths/one million population.

In the cross-continental comparison of cases and deaths per one million population, continental rankings have changed. Several reasons for this change include the differences in the sociodemographic structures between countries, such as age, life expectancy, population density, and accompanying diseases.

While the COVID-19 CFR is expected to be high in impoverished continents such as Africa, due to insufficient protective equipment, poor sources, and low number of physicians per

	Continents	Mean	SD	F	р
	Africa	724.69	1134.95		
	Asia	3921.72	6925.53		
Total cases/1 M (per million)	Europe	2747.82	2048.63	3.846	0.005
	North America	3007.26	3120.68		
	South America	5182.69	5174.95		
	Africa	11.93	15.30		
Total deaths/1 M (per million)	Asia	31.0	40.67		
	Europe	163.79	212.57	9.396	<0.001
	North America	109.90	123.82		
	South America	174.94	149.38		
	Africa	2.31	1.67		
	Asia	2.42	4.47		
Case fatality rate	Europe	5.43	4.52	4.616	0.002
	North America	3.75	3.07		
	South America	3.13	2.07		
*p<0.05. CFR: case fatality rate, SD: standar	d deviation				

capita, we are facing low CFR results. Additionally, although the number of cases is high in India, the reported death rates are low. The reasons for the different or unreliable CFR results between countries that make it difficult to compare the CFRs can be listed as follows: definition of death due to COVID-19 varies between countries, different ways of measuring CFRs, insufficient number of tests, differences in the timing of tests and tracing the contacts, shortages of personal protective equipment, inadequate number of available intensive care beds, presence of different health systems, and political factors.

To our knowledge, no previous study has shown that diabetes has an independent predictive value for mortality, but a large number of studies have been conducted on the impact of diabetes on the disease progression and prognosis of COVID-19 patients (10). In addition, we have not found an association between diabetes prevalence and COVID-19 CFR.

Researchers have investigated smoking as one of the epidemiologic risk factors for COVID-19 disease (15,18), but it is still controversial. In a meta-analysis, a statistically significant association was found between the risk of severe COVID-19 disease and death among smokers (19,20). In the study of Zhang et al. (13), only 1.4% of patients were smokers, while in the study of Guan et al. (21), the rate of smokers was 12.6%. When comparing the ratio of a small number of smokers to the proportion of smokers in the world, we are unable to draw a definitive relationship between the incidence or severity of COVID-19 and smoking status due to the lack of data (22). In our study, when we analyzed the association between smoking status and the COVID-19 CFRs in terms of gender, women smokers were more likely than men smokers to die of the coronavirus. Data from 137 countries suggest that this may be explained by the longer life expectancy of women compared to men. Even though these results differ from some earlier studies, compared with what was previously known, we currently do not have sufficient evidence to take into consideration the gender roles between smokers and the COVID-19 CFRs. To date, there is no convincing evidence demonstrating that hand hygiene can reduce the spread of SARS-CoV-2 (23). Although handwashing plays a crucial protective role in deterring epidemic transmission, the significance of reducing the spread of COVID-19 infection is effective when combined with strategies that include simple preventative measures such as face mask use, disinfection, social distancing, and disease awareness rather than only emphasizing the importance of hand hygiene (24). Our study results are also in line with previous studies.

#### **Study Limitations**

The strength of our study is that it covers countries with over 1,000 reported COVID-19 cases, which enables stable analysis. However, this study has several limitations. The first is that the epidemiologic data was collected using a retrospective design. The second is the under-reporting or lack of additional information, such as medications, body mass index, behavioral changes, and gender-checked smoking status, all of which may influence the published results. Hence, we recommend further detailed research to highlight these knowledge gaps regarding the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, this article highlighted the risk factors affecting COVID-19 CFRs across countries, which will help to determine appropriate mitigation strategies, prioritize the most vulnerable individuals, and increase their chances of survival from the COVID-19.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Hamidiye Scientific Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 20/309).

Informed Consent: Cross-sectional study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - E.K.P., G.B., M.A.; Design - E.K.P., G.B., K.N.B.; Data Collection and/or Processing - G.B., K.N.B.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - G.B., K.N.B.; Literature Search - E.K.P., G.B., M.A.; Writing Manuscript - E.K.P., M.A.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. New coronavirus cases rise to 571 in Chinese mainland. Available from: http:// en.nhc.gov.cn/202001/23/c\_76004.htm
- He F, Deng Y, Li W. Coronavirus disease 2019: What we know? J Med Virol 2020; 92: 719-25.
- World Health Organization. Novel coronavirus situation report-2. January 22, 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/ coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200122-sitrep-2-2019-ncov.pdf
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Geographical distribution of 2019nCov cases. Available from: https://www. ecdc. europa.eu/en/geographical-distribution2019-ncov-cases.
- World Health Organization. Director-General's remarks at the media briefing on 2019-nCoV on 11 February 2020. Availabl from: https:// www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-sremarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-2019-ncov-on-11-february-2020
- Shultz JM, Perlin A, Saltzman RG, Espinel Z, Galea S. Pandemic March: 2019 Coronavirus Disease's First Wave Circumnavigates the Globe. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2020;1-5.
- Juliana Kaplan LF. A third of the global population is on coronavirus lockdown-here's our constantly updated list of countries and restrictions. Business Insider; 2020. Available from: https://www.businessinsider.in/ international/news/a-third-of-the-global-population-is-on-coronaviruslockdown-x2014-hereaposs-our-constantly-updated-list-of-countriesand-restrictions/slidelist/75208623.cms
- Salcedo A, Yar S, Cherelus G. Coronavirus Travel Restrictions, Across the Globe. The New York Times; 2020. Available from: https://www.nytimes. com/article/coronavirus-travel-restrictions.html
- Yi Y, Lagniton P, Ye S, Li E, Xu RH. COVID-19: what has been learned and to be learned about the novel coronavirus disease. Int J Biol Sci 2020; 16: 1753-66.
- 10. Tadic M, Cuspidi C, Sala C. COVID-19 and diabetes: Is there enough evidence? J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2020; 22: 943-8.
- Du RH, Liang LR, Yang CQ, Wang W, Cao TZ, Li M, et al. Predictors of mortality for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia caused by SARS-CoV-2: a prospective cohort study. Eur Respir J 2020; 55: 2000524.
- 12. Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S. Case-fatality rate and characteristics of patients dying in relation to COVID-19 in Italy. JAMA 2020; 323: 1775-6.

- Zhang JJ, Dong X, Cao YY, Yuan YD, Yang YB, Yan YQ, et al. Clinical characteristics of 140 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Wuhan, China. Allergy 2020; 75: 1730-41.
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 Novel Coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA 2020; 323: 1061-9.
- Liu W, Tao ZW, Wang L, Yuan ML, Liu K, Zhou L, et al. Analysis of factors associated with disease outcomes in hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus disease. Chin Med J 2020; 133: 1032-8.
- Wang L, He W, Yu X, Hu D, Bao M, Liu H. et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: Characteristics and prognostic factors based on 4-week follow-up. J Infect 2020; 80: 639-45.
- 17. Remuzzi A, Remuzzi G. COVID-19 and Italy: what next? Lancet 2020; 395: 1225-8.
- Vardavas CI, Nikitara K. COVID-19 and smoking: A systematic review of the evidence. Tob Induc Dis 2020; 18: 20.
- Zhao Q, Meng M, Kumar R, Wu Y, Huang J, Lian N, et al. The impact of COPD and smoking history on the severity of COVID-19: A systemic

review and metaanalysis. J Med Virol 2020; doi: 10.1002/jmv.25889 [Online ahead of print].

- Zheng Z, Peng F, Xu B, Zhao J, Liu H, Peng J, et al. Risk factors of critical & mortal COVID-19 cases: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Infect 2020; 81: e16-25.
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. China Medical Treatment Expert Group for Covid-19 clinical characteristics of Coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Eng J Med 2020; 382: 1708-20.
- 22. Cai H. Sex difference and smoking predisposition in patients with COVID-19. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8: e20.
- West R, Michie S, Rubin GJ, Amlôt R. Applying principles of behaviour change to reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission. Nat Hum Behav 2020; 4: 451-9.
- Yang C. Does hand hygiene reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission? Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle. Ophthalmologie 2020; 258: 1133-4.

# Relationship Between Vitamin D, Calcium, and Phosphorus Levels

💿 Burcu Çaykara<sup>1</sup>, 💿 Güler Öztürk<sup>1</sup>, 💿 Hacer Hicran Mutlu<sup>2</sup>, 💿 Ebru Arslan<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Physiology, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>İstanbul Medeniyet University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Family Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çaykara B, Öztürk G, Mutlu HH, Arslan E. Relationship Between Vitamin D, Calcium, and Phosphorus Levels. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):252-7

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Our study aimed to determine the relationship between the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and calcium and phosphorus levels by retrospectively obtaining vitamin D, calcium, and phosphorus values.

Methods: Vitamin D, calcium, and phosphorus levels of patients admitted to family medicine between October 2015 and December 2017 were evaluated. Shapiro-Wilk, Mann-Whitney U, and Spearman's rho tests were used for data analysis and p-values <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

**Results:** A total of 1,063 patients were included in the study. The percentage of patients with normal vitamin D levels was 20.5% and those with normal calcium and phosphorus levels were 97.1% and 84.9% of the study population, respectively. Positive correlation was found between vitamin D levels, calcium, and age.

Conclusion: In our study, the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency was found to be 49.6%.

**Keywords:** Vitamin D, calcium, phosphorus

#### INTRODUCTION

Vitamin D is synthesized in the skin by exposure to sunlight, but can also be obtained exogenously from the diet (1). Dehydrocholesterol in the skin is converted to previtamin D by exposure to sunlight. Previtamin D is transported to the liver where it is converted into 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D], which is the major circulating form. 25(OH)D is further converted in the kidney into the active form 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D  $[1,25(OH)_2D]$  (2). To assess vitamin D levels, measurement of serum 25(OH) D, which has a half-life of about three weeks is performed (3). Vitamin D, which is fat soluble, plays an important role not only

in the musculoskeletal system, but also in all tissues, which have vitamin D receptors (4). The main function of vitamin D is to maintain calcium (Ca) and phosphorus (P) balance in the body by promoting Ca and P absorption from the intestines and kidneys (5). In vitamin D deficiency, only 10%-15% of calcium and 50%-60% of phosphorus can be absorbed from ingested foods (6).

Serum 25(OH)D levels are interpreted as follows; <10 ng/mLsevere deficiency, <20 ng/mL-deficiency, 20-30 ng/mL-insufficiency, >30 ng/mL-sufficient, and >150 ng/mL-intoxication (7,8). It is reported that the main underlying cause of vitamin D deficiency, which is now considered to be a global health issue, is insufficient

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.Ç. 0000-0001-7063-2140; G.Ö. 0000-0001-6556-3662; H.H.M. 0000-0003-3712-0068; E.A. 0000-0001-5309-3931.



**Corresponding Author:** Burcu Çaykara, E-mail: burcu.caykara@medeniyet.edu.tr Received Date: 03.05.2020 Accepted Date: 05.11.2020

exposure to sunlight (9). Vitamin D levels can also be affected by other factors such as age, sex, ethnicity, and seasonal variations (10). Low levels of vitamin D were found to be associated with hypertension, cardiovascular diseases, chronic musculoskeletal pain, and various malignancies (4). Our study aimed to determine the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and calcium and phosphorus levels.

#### **METHODS**

Vitamin D, calcium, and phosphorus levels from the hospital registries of İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Department of Family Medicine between October 2015 and December 2017 were retrospectively evaluated. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 2018/0336, date: 12.09.2018). Since our study was retrospective, consent forms were not obtained from patients. All subjects who had been tested concurrently for vitamin D, calcium, and phosphorus levels were included in the study. In cases where there was more than one measurement of the subjects under follow-up, the date of the first measurement was taken into consideration, and other measurements of the same subject were not included in the study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

SPSS 22 (IBM Corp.; Armonk, NY, USA) were used for statistical analysis. Data analyses were performed with Shapiro-Wilk, Mann-

Whitney U and Spearman's rho tests. P-value <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

The number of subjects who had undergone concurrent measurements of vitamin D, calcium, and phosphorus levels between October 2015 and December 2017 was determined to be 1,063, of which 298 were male and 765 were female. The mean age of the subjects admitted to the department of family medicine was 50.48±17.51, the mean vitamin D value was 22.24±14.85, the mean calcium value was 9.45±0.46, and the mean phosphorus value was 3.64±0.56. When these values were compared between men and women, it was determined that only phosphorus values in women were statistically significantly higher than men (Table 1). The vitamin D levels of the 1,063 subjects were as follows: 198 (18.6%) were at or below 10 ng/mL, 329 (31%) were between 10 ng/mL and 20 ng/mL, 317 (29.8%) were between 20 ng/mL and 30 ng/mL, 218 (20.5%) were between 30 ng/mL and 150 ng/mL, and only one subject had a vitamin D level (0.1%) above 150 ng/ mL (Table 2). Vitamin D levels were similar between women and men. When grouped according to vitamin D levels, a statistically significant difference was found between men and women only at levels of 30 ng/mL and 150 ng/mL (p=0.019) (Table 3). Based on calcium levels, subjects were divided into hypocalcemia, normal, and hypercalcemia groups; 13 (1.2%) subjects had hypocalcemia, 18 (1.7%) subjects had hypercalcemia, and 1,032 (97.1%) subjects

Table 1. The mean values of patient data												
Category	Number	Minimum	Maximum			Mean	ean			SD		
Age (year)	1,063	3	94	94			50.48			17.51		
Vitamin D (ng/mL)	1,063	2.6	150.8			22.24	22.24			14.85		
Calcium (mg/dL)	1,063	5.9	11.7			9.45		0.46				
Phosphorus (mg/dL)	1,063	1.80	6.8			3.64			0.56			
Men			Women	Women								
Category	Number	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	Number	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	р	
Age (year)	298	3	93	51.57	18.69	765	4	94	50.05	17.02	0.109	
Vitamin D (ng/mL)	298	5.1	89.2	22.22	11.54	765	2.6	150.8	22.25	15.96	0.086	
Calcium (mg/dL)	298	7.2	11.1	9.48	0.43	765	5.9	11.7	9.44	0.47	0.239	
Phosphorus (mg/dL)	298	2	6.1	3.49	0.59	765	1.8	6.8	3.7	0.54	< 0.001	
SD: standard deviation												

#### Table 2. Serum 25(OH)D values

n=1.063	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
n=1,005	2.6	150.8	22.24	14.85
	n		%	
<10 ng/mL	198		18.6	
10-20 ng/mL	329		31	
20-30 ng/mL	317		29.8	
30-150 ng/mL	218		20.5	
>150 ng/mL	1		0.1	
SD: standard deviation, 25(OH)D:				

had normal calcium levels (Table 4). When calcium levels were compared based on gender, no significant difference was observed between men and women (Table 5). Based on phosphorus levels, subjects were divided into hypophosphatemia, normal, and hyperphosphatemia groups; 98 (9.2%) subjects had hypophosphatemia, 63 (5.9%) subjects had hyperphosphatemia, and 902 (84.9%) subjects had normal phosphorus levels (Table 6). When phosphorus levels were compared based on gender, phosphorus levels were found to be significantly higher in women compared to men. Furthermore, a significantly higher number of women (87.2%) were in the normal phosphorus level group (3-4.5 mg/dL) compared to men (78.9%) (p<0.001) (Table 7). Spearman's rho test showed that vitamin D levels were positively correlated with calcium and age (p<0.001) (Table 8).

Table 3. Serum 2	Table 3. Serum 25(OH)D values to gender											
Men					Women	Women						
n=298	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	n=765	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	р		
	5.1	89.2	22.22	11.54		2.6	150.8	22.25	15.96	0.086		
	n		%			n		%		р		
<10 ng/mL	36		12.1		<10 ng/mL	162		21.2		0.064		
10-20 ng/mL	106		35.6		10-20 ng/mL	223		29.2		0.25		
20-30 ng/mL	96		32.2		20-30 ng/mL	221		28.9		0.413		
30-150 ng/mL	60		20.1		30-150 ng/mL	158		20.7		0.019		
>150 ng/mL	0		0		>150 ng/mL	1		0.1		-		

SD: standard deviation, 25(OH)D: 25-hydroxyvitamin D

Table 4. Calcium values								
n=1.042	Minimum Maximum		Mean	SD				
1-1,005	5.9	11.7	9.45	0.46				
	n		%					
Hypocalcemia <8.5 mg/dL	13		1.2					
Normal 8.5-10.5 mg/dL	1032		97.1					
Hypercalcemia >10.5 mg/dL	18		1.7					
SD: standard deviation								

#### Table 5. Calcium values to gender

	3									
Men					Women					
n=298	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	lean SD	n=765	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	р
	7.2	11.1	9.48	0.43		5.90	11.7	9.44	0.47	0.239
	n		%			n		%		р
<8.5 mg/dL	1		0.3		<8.5 mg/dL	12		1.6		0.276
8.5-10.5 mg/dL	292		98		8.5-10.5 mg/dL	740		96.7		0.36
>10.5 mg/dL	5		1.7		>10.5 mg/dL	13		1.7		0.424
SD: standard deviation										

#### Table 6. Phosphorus values

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
. 10/2	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
n=1,063	1.8	6.8	3.64	0.56
	n		%	
Hypophosphatemia <3 mg/dL	98		9.2	
Normal 3-4.5 mg/dL	902		84.9	
Hyperphosphatemia >4.5 mg/dL	63		5.9	
SD: standard deviation				

Table 7. Phosphorus values to gender										
Men				Women						
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	-745	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	р
n=290	2	6.1	3.49	0.59	9 n=765	1.8	6.8	3.7	0.54	<0.001
	n		%			n		%		р
<3 mg/dL	49		16.4		<3 mg/dL	49		6.4		0.813
3-4.5 mg/dL	235		78.9		3-4.5 mg/dL	667		87.2		< 0.001
>4.5 mg/dL	14		4.7		>4.5 mg/dL	49		6.4		0.174
SD: standard deviation	on									

#### Table 8. The correlation analysis for vitamin D, phosphorus, calcium, age, and gender

		Vitamin D	Phosphorus	Calcium	Age	Gender
Vitamin D	Correlation coefficient	1.00	0.016	0.125	0.303	0.053
	p-value	-	0.602	<0.001**	<0.001**	0.086
Dhaanharua	Correlation coefficient	0.016	1.00	0.009	-0.068	-0.202
Phosphorus	p-value	0.602	-	0.777	0.026*	<0.001**
Calcium	Correlation coefficient	0.125	0.009	1.00	0.078	0.036
	p-value	<0.001**	0.777	-	0.011*	0.239
A	Correlation coefficient	0.303	-0.068	0.078	1.00	0.049
Age	p-value	<0.001**	0.026*	0.011*	-	0.109
Gender	Correlation coefficient	0.053	-0.202	0.036	0.049	1.00
	p-value	0.086	<0.001**	0.239	0.109	-
*n<0.05 **n<0.001						

#### DISCUSSION

The present study shows that the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency were 49.6% and 29.8%, respectively, in our study population. The proportions of subjects with normal calcium and phosphorus levels were 97.1% and 84.9%, respectively. Furthermore, vitamin D levels were found to positively correlate with calcium and age (p<0.001).

Vitamin D plays an important role in cellular growth and proliferation, homeostasis, oxidative stress and cellular transport (11). Vitamin D enhances calcium absorption in the intestine to maintain adequate serum calcium concentrations and is essential for bone growth and remodeling by osteoblasts and osteoclasts. A meta-analysis study found that synergistic administration of calcium and vitamin D could reduce general bone fractures by 15% and hip fractures by 30% (12). A study conducted in Spain reported that daily dietary intake of calcium and vitamin D alone was not sufficient to maintain adequate serum levels (13). Factors such as decreased vitamin D absorption, low vitamin D intake and little or no sun exposure, obesity, and darker skin pigmentation may increase risk of vitamin D deficiency, which is currently considered to be a global pandemic (14,15).

The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency was found to be 75.2% in northwestern China, and the predictors of vitamin D deficiency included dyslipidemia, coronary heart disease, obesity, smoking, age, and sex (16). Another study in the United Kingdom showed that 61.5% of the study population was vitamin D deficient, and low socio-economic status, high body mass index, and cold season were associated with low vitamin D levels (17). The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency was found to be 87.1% in urban residents in Beijing and highly prevalent during the winter and spring seasons (18). Although one study found that vitamin D inadequacy and deficiency increased the odds of diabetes two-fold (19), another study conducted in Turkey found no difference between type 1 diabetics and healthy controls (20).

Yu et al. (21) found that 5.9%, 50%, and 38.7% of the study population were severely vitamin D deficient (<10 ng/mL), vitamin D deficient (10-20 ng/mL), and vitamin D insufficient (20-30 ng/mL), respectively. Only 5.4% of the participants were vitamin D sufficient (>30 ng/mL) and vitamin D deficiency was found to be higher in women (66.3%) compared to men (45.3%, p<0.01) (21). In our study, we found vitamin D levels of 198 subjects (18.6%) to be below 10 ng/mL, 329 subjects (31%) to be between 10-20 ng/mL, 317 subjects (29.8%) to be between 20-30 ng/mL, 218 subjects (20.5%) to be between 30-150 ng/mL, and only one subject (0.1%) had a vitamin D level  $\geq$ 150 ng/mL.

In a study conducted in Saudi Arabia, vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency were found in 50% and 43.8%, respectively, among 160 pregnant women (22). Vitamin D deficiency was found in

about 44.6% of pregnant Turkish women in İzmir, which is a city in the Aegean region of Turkey (23). Another study found that 97.8% of pregnant women belonging to low socio-economic status were vitamin D deficient. 25(OH)D levels of maternal serum and cord blood were found to positively correlate. The findings of that study suggested that vitamin D stores of the mother directly affect neonatal vitamin D status (24). Öztürk et al. (25) found that 94.92% of participants had serum vitamin D levels <30 ng/mL and 75.54% of the participants were vitamin D deficient in Gaziantep, another city located in the southeastern province of Turkey. When vitamin D levels were compared between men and women, no significant difference was found in our study. We found that 79.4% of our study population had serum vitamin D levels below 30 ng/mL. Similarly, a study conducted in Oman found that 79% of the study population had vitamin D levels below 30 ng/mL and the study population had normal serum calcium and alkaline phosphatase levels (26). Furthermore, 80.3% of the study population were found to have levels <30 ng/mL in a study conducted in northern France, and 25(OH)D levels were found to correlate positively with 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and negatively with parathyroid hormone, but did not correlate with serum calcium or phosphate levels (27). We observed that 97.1% and 84.9% of our study population had normal calcium and normal phosphorus levels, respectively. When phosphorus levels were compared based on gender, it was found to be significantly higher in women compared to men. Furthermore, a significantly higher proportion of women (87.2%) were in the normal phosphorus (3-4.5 mg/dL) level group (p<0.001) compared to men (78.9%). We found that vitamin D levels were positively correlated with calcium and age but not with phosphorus levels.

Vitamin D deficiency was found in 73.9% of Turkish patients suffering from widespread musculoskeletal pain, and factors associated with hypovitaminosis included sex, age, and season (especially March) (28). A total of 75.2% of female and 33.7% male medical faculty students had vitamin D levels <20 ng/ml in Malatya (29). In our previous study, it was reported that 75% of the participants had levels <20 ng/mL, 16.1% had levels between 20-30 ng/mL, and 8.9% had levels  $\geq$ 30 ng/mL (30). In the current study, we found sufficient vitamin D levels ( $\geq$ 30 ng/mL) in 20.5% of the study population (different study population and different timeline). Although our current as well as previous studies included subjects living in the Marmara region, the differing results may be due to the regular follow-up of the current subject group in a single department and more conscious practices to prevent vitamin D deficiency.

#### **Study Limitations**

The limitations of our study include not knowing the underlying disease condition of the subjects, absence of age restriction while selecting the participants, addition of triple test (vitamin D, calcium, phosphorus) for the first time, not including subjects who had these same tests before October 2015, and including only subjects who applied to the department.

#### CONCLUSION

Our study showed that prevalence of vitamin D deficiency is high in the Turkish population despite Turkey being a sunny country and presence of awareness about vitamin D deficiency among the population. Our study population generally had normal calcium and phosphorus levels.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 2018/0336, date: 12.09.2018).

**Informed Consent:** Since our study was retrospective, consent forms were not obtained from patients.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - B.Ç., G.Ö., H.H.M., E.A.; Design - B.Ç., G.Ö., H.H.M., E.A.; Data Collection and/or Processing - B.Ç., G.Ö., H.H.M., E.A.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - B.Ç., G.Ö., H.H.M., E.A.; Literature Search - B.Ç., G.Ö., H.H.M., E.A.; Writing Manuscript - B.Ç., G.Ö., H.H.M., E.A.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Öksüz A, Kutlu R. Evaluation of the vitamin D levels of the patients who applied to Meram Medical Faculty Family Medicine Outpatient Clinic. Konuralp Tip Derg 2018; 10: 160-4.
- Erbay E, Mersin S, İbrahimoğlu Ö. Effect of vitamin D on body systems. Health Care Acad J 2019; 6: 201-2016. (nette bulamadım)
- Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, Verlinden L, Carmeliet G. Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanism of action, and pleiotropic effects. Physiol Rev 2016; 96: 365-408.
- Gökçen N, Coşkun Benlidayı İ, Kocaer A, Başaran S. Association between vitamin D level and total comorbidity status in geriatric patients. Turk J Geriatr 2018; 21: 536-43. (nette bulamadım)
- Yazar A, Şamlıoğlu F, Akın F, Arslan Ş. The relationship of calcium elevation with vitamin D in infants. Sakarya Tıp Derg 2018; 8: 813-9. (nette bulamadım)
- Torun T, Çavuşoğlu H. Vitamin D deficiency rickets and nursing care. J Hacettepe Univ Fac Nurs 2018; 5: 169-76.
- Fidan F, Alkan BM, Tosun A. Çağın pandemisi: D vitamini eksikliği ve yetersizliği. Türk Osteoporoz Derg 2014; 20: 71-4.
- Türk Endokrinoloji ve Metabolik Hastalıklar Derneği. Osteoporoz ve metabolik kemik hastalıklari tani ve tedavi kilavuzu. http:// temd.org.tr/admin/uploads/tbl\_kilavuz/20180516162801-2018-05-16tblkilavuz162800.pdf (link açılmıyor)
- Holick MF. The vitamin D deficiency pandemic: Approaches for diagnosis, treatment and prevention. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 2017; 18: 153-65.
- Cashman KD, Dowling KG, Škrabáková Z, Gonzalez-Gross M, Valtueña J, De Henauw S, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in Europe: pandemic? Am J Clin Nutr 2016; 103:1033-44.
- 11. Mozos I, Marginean O. Links between Vitamin D deficiency and cardiovascular diseases. Biomed Res Int 2015;2015:109275.
- Weaver CM, Alexander DD, Boushey CJ, Dawson-Hughes B, Lappe JM, LeBoff MS, et al. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and risk of fractures: an updated meta-analysis from the National Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporos Int 2016; 27: 367-76.
- 13. Olza J, Aranceta-Bartrina J, González-Gross M, Ortega RM, Serra-Majem L, Varela-Moreiras G, et al. Reported dietary intake, disparity between the reported consumption and the level needed for adequacy and food sources of calcium, phosphorus, magnesium and vitamin D in the Spanish population: findings from the ANIBES Study. Nutrients 2017; 9: E168.
- Ticinesi A, Nouvenne A, Ferraro PM, Folesani G, Lauretani F, Allegri F, et al. Idiopathic calcium nephrolithiasis and hypovitaminosis D: A casecontrol study. Urology 2016; 87: 40-5.

- LeFevre ML, U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for vitamin D deficiency in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med 2015; 162: 133-40.
- Zhen D, Liu L, Guan C, Zhao N, Tang X. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among middle-aged and elderly individuals in northwestern China: its relationship to osteoporosis and lifestyle factors. Bone 2015; 71: 1-6.
- Jolliffe DA, James WY, Hooper RL, Barnes NC, Greiller CL, Islam K, et al. Prevalence, determinants and clinical correlates of vitamin D deficiency in patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in London, UK. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2018; 175: 138-45.
- Ning Z, Song S, Miao L, Zhang P, Wang X, Liu J, et al. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in urban health checkup population. Clin Nutr 2016; 35: 859-63.
- Zhang FF, Al Hooti S, Al Zenki S, Alomirah H, Jamil KM, Rao A, et al. Vitamin D deficiency is associated with high prevalence of diabetes in Kuwaiti adults: results from a national survey. BMC Public Health 2016; 16: 100. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-2758-x.
- Dogan B, Oner C, Feyizoglu G, Yoruk N, Oguz A. Vitamin D status of Turkish type 1 diabetic patients. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2019; 13: 2037-9.
- Yu S, Fang H, Han J, Cheng X, Xia L, Li S, et al. The high prevalence of hypovitaminosis D in China: a multicenter vitamin D status survey. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015; 94: e585.
- 22. Al-Faris NA. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among pregnant Saudi women. Nutrients 2016; 8: 77.

- Aydogmus S, Kelekci S, Aydogmus H, Eriş S, Desdicioğlu R, Yilmaz B, et al. High prevalence of vitamin D deficiency among pregnant women in a Turkish population and impact on perinatal outcomes. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2015; 28: 1828-32.
- Parlak M, Kalay S, Kalay Z, Kirecci A, Guney O, Koklu E. Severe vitamin D deficiency among pregnant women and their newborns in Turkey. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2015; 28: 548-51.
- Öztürk ZA, Gol M, Türkbeyler İH. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in otherwise healthy individuals between the ages of 18 and 90 years in southeast Turkey. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2017; 129: 854-55.
- Segana HAC, Nair R, Shah FA. Vitamin D Deficiency in South Sharqiya in Oman and its Impact on ENT Patients - A Retrospective Study. Bengal Journal of Otolaryngology and Head Neck Surg 2016; 24: 122-8.
- Souberbielle JC, Massart C, Brailly-Tabard S, Cavalier E, Chanson P. Prevalence and determinants of vitamin D deficiency in healthy French adults: the VARIETE study. Endocrine. 2016; 53: 543-50.
- Çidem M, Karacan İ, Beytemur O, Kara S. Prevalence and risk factors for vitamin D deficiency in patients with widespread musculoskeletal pain. Turk J Med Sci 2017; 47: 728-31.
- Sevimli R, Yakinci C, Encan M, Polat H, Sakci M, Sagir A, et al. The prevalence of vitamin D deficiency-insufficiency in medical faculty students. J Turgut Ozal Med Cent 2018; 25: 125-9.
- Sezgin G, Ozturk G, Turkal R, Caykara B. Vitamin D levels of Outpatients Admitted to a University Hospital in the Marmara Region of Turkey Over 3 years. J Med Biochem 2019; 38: 181-7.

# Association of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Symptoms of Parents with Parental Attitudes

🔟 Mehmet Çolak<sup>1</sup>, 🗅 Özlem Şireli Bingöl<sup>2</sup>, 🕩 Zeynep Esenkaya Usta<sup>3</sup>, 吵 Birim Günay Kılıç<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Self-Employed Physician, Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Diseases, İzmir, Turkey
<sup>2</sup>Self-Employed Physician, Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Diseases, Muğla, Turkey
<sup>3</sup>Konya Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Diseases, Konya, Turkey
<sup>4</sup>Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çolak M, Şireli Bingöl Ö, Esenkaya Usta Z, Kılıç BG. Association of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder Symptoms of Parents with Parental Attitudes. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):258-63

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to examine the relationship between the level of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) symptoms and the attitudes of parents of children diagnosed with ADHD.

**Methods:** According to the Diagnostic and Numerical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV diagnostic criteria, 66 children with an age range of 6-13 were diagnosed with ADHD and their parents who brought them to the interview. A total of 94 parents were included in the study, including both the mother and father of some children diagnosed with ADHD, the mother of some, and the father of some. Parents of the children were evaluated with the "Wender-Utah Rating Scale (WURS)", "Parenting Styles and Dimensions Scale (PSDS-SF)".

**Results:** According to the results of our study; it was found that the permissive subscale scores of PSDS-SF were significantly higher in parents whose WURS scores were above the cut-off value compared to those whose WURS scores were below the cut-off value, and there was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of competent and authoritarian subscale scores of PSDS-SF. It was found that there was no significant association between parents' age and educational levels and their parent's attitudes. In addition, comparisons of parents in terms of ADHD symptom level and parental attitudes did not show significant differences between parents in terms of both variables.

**Conclusion:** The results of our study showed that permissive attitudes were significantly higher in parents with high levels of ADHD symptoms. In a clinical approach to children diagnosed with ADHD, it is believed that evaluating the symptoms and attitudes of parents with ADHD and psychoeducation of parents about adult ADHD are important for treatment.

Keywords: ADHD, adult ADHD, parental attitudes

## INTRODUCTION

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) is defined as a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by decreased sustained attention, increased impulsivity, and/or mobility. It is quite common in children and adolescents and has been shown to have an average worldwide prevalence of 5.9-7.1% (1). ADHD, which begins in childhood, also persists in the adult period at a rate of 50-70% (2,3).

ADHD is a genetic transitive disorder, and the incidence of ADHD in the mothers and/or fathers of children with ADHD is high

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.Ç. 0000-0003-4880-3892; Ö.Ş.B. 0000-0002-5549-4154; Z.E.U. 0000-0003-0925-7868; B.G.K. 0000-0002-4566-2564.



compared to the healthy population. In Turkey, in 2005, a crosssectional study evaluating the parents of 69 ADHD diagnosed and monitored children found that 33.8% of parents met ADHD diagnostic criteria (4). Another recent study in Turkey evaluated 135 children with ADHD and 135 control groups and found that the level of ADHD symptoms of parents of children with ADHD was significantly higher than that of the control group (5). Overall, the lifetime prevalence of ADHD in adults is known to be 1.1-5% (6,7). Lifelong clinical features of ADHD are manifested in different forms in adults. Inattention causes symptoms in individuals such as forgetfulness, contemplation, inability to listen, difficulty in making decisions, lack of planning skills, inability to use time properly, failures in performing tasks, postponement or inability to finish work. While hyperactivity causes symptoms such as inner restlessness, tension, talking too much, not being able to sit for a long time; impulsivity causes symptoms such as taking action without thinking, inability to wait in line, constant attention seeking, frequent job and traffic accidents, frequent job and partner changes, and inappropriate sexual experiences (8). Adult ADHD, where the rate of co-diagnosis is also high, negatively affects people's relationships, work and family life (9,10).

In general, the attitude of parents is defined as the whole of the attitudes and behaviors that parents display in their relationship with the child. Researchers evaluated parental attitudes in many dimensions, such as control, control, temperature, showing the necessary attention, open communication, and defined different classifications. Baumrind (11) defined three basic parenting attitudes as "democratic/balanced (authoritative)", "authoritarian (authoritarian)" and "permitting". In Democratic parental attitudes, open communication with the child and the necessary emotional support are provided; appropriate conditions are provided for the child to develop autonomy by keeping the child's behavior under supervision within a certain discipline. In authoritarian (authoritarian) parental attitudes, parents have a strict understanding of discipline, the child is not shown sufficient emotional support and warmth. In permissive parental attitudes, there is a weakness in controlling and controlling the child's behavior (11). According to the results of the research, while accepted democratic parental attitudes have positive effects on the development of the child, authoritarian and permissive attitudes have negative effects on many areas such as the child's self-development, emotion regulation and social adaptation (12).

In studies that examined the attitudes of parents, it was found that the parenting skills and attitudes of parents of adults with ADHD were negatively affected (13). A study conducted with 147 ADHD, 107 healthy children and their mothers to assess the relationship of mothers with ADHD diagnoses and attitudes found that mothers diagnosed with ADHD exhibit negative attitudes more often than other mothers, and have difficulty practicing consistent and effective discipline (14).

In another study conducted with 90 parents diagnosed with ADHD and 120 healthy groups in which parental attitudes were examined; it has been determined that parents with ADHD display more authoritarian attitudes and behave overly reactively than healthy parents, while parents in the control group have more permissive attitudes (15).

Although ADHD is a neurodevelopmental disorder, psychosocial factors such as parental attitudes are known to be important in terms of ADHD symptom severity and prognosis (16,17). There are many studies in Turkey that assess parental attitudes in children with ADHD (18-25). However, there are limited studies evaluating the parental attitudes and parents in terms of ADHD symptoms in children with ADHD (26). The aim of this study is; to examine the relationship between the ADHD symptom level of parents of children diagnosed with ADHD and parental attitudes.

#### METHODS

#### Sample

In this study, 66 children who applied to Ankara University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Outpatient between March 2012 and August 2012, were diagnosed with ADHD according to Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV) diagnostic criteria, and their parents who brought them to the interview were included. A total of 94 parents, some of them both mothers and fathers, some only mothers and some only fathers of children with ADHD were included in the study. The presence of any chronic medical disease other than ADHD in children, concomitant diffuse developmental disorder, psychotic disorder, mental retardation (IQ lower than 80), and the presence of any chronic medical disease in parents were determined as exclusion criteria. In the study, the minimum sample width required to obtain 80% power (1- $\beta$ =0.80) at the nominal meaning level of  $\alpha$ =0.05 was determined as n=94 versus the effect size of r=0.3.

#### **Data Collection Tools**

**Sociodemographic data form:** This form prepared by researchers questions demographic information such as age of children, gender, age of parents, level of education.

**Wender-Utah Rating Scale:** This scale developed by Ward and Wender (1993); evaluates the presence and severity of childhood ADHD symptoms in adults. Its Turkish validity and reliability study was conducted by Öncü et al. (27). Wender-Utah Rating Scale (WURS) is a 5-point Likert type self-report scale consisting of 25 items. Each item is rated between 0 and 4 and the cut-off score of the scale is determined as 36. Sensitivity was 82.5% and specificity was 90.8% when the breakpoint was taken 36 and above.

**Parenting Styles and Dimensions Scale:** This scale developed by Robinson et al.; evaluates the attitudes of parents with children between the ages of 3-13. Turkish validity and reliability studies of the scale were carried out by Kapçı and Erdinç (28). Parenting Styles and Dimensions Scale (PSDS-SF) consists of 32 items and is a 5-point Likert type self-report scale. Parents' attitudes are evaluated in three dimensions as "authoritative", "authoritarian" and "permissive". In reliability analysis, the Cronbach Alpha Coefficient was calculated as 0.88 for the competent subscale, 0.74 for the competent subscale, and 0.64 for the permitting subscale. The test-retest reliability coefficient of the scale is 0.64.

#### Process

The children and their parents in the study group were informed about the purpose and method of the study and their written consents were obtained. WURS and PSDS-SF scales were applied to the parents of children diagnosed with ADHD according to DSM-IV-TR.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All data were evaluated using the SPSS Windows version 24.0 software. "Shapiro-Wilk test" and "Levene's test" were used for the suitability of the homogeneous variance assumption for the analysis of the suitability of the data for the normal distribution. In comparison of continuous variables, the "Student's t-test" was used when parametric assumptions were met, and the "Mann-Withney U test" when parametric assumptions were not met. Relations of continuous variables were evaluated by the "Pearson correlation test" and relations of discrete and sequential variables were evaluated by the "Spearman Rho correlation test". P-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

Of the children enrolled in the study, 14 (21.2%) were girls, 52 (78.8%) were boys, and the average age was  $9.83\pm2.42$  years. Of

the 94 parents included in the study, 54 (57.4%) were mothers and 40 (42.6%) were fathers. The mean age of the mothers was found to be  $35.74\pm4.89$  years, and the average age of the fathers as  $39.28\pm6.63$  years. When the education levels of the parents are evaluated; 3 of the mothers (5.6%) were only literate, 17 (31.5%) were primary school graduates, 12 (22.2%) were secondary school, 17 (31.5%) were high school, 1 (1.9%) were high school, 4 of them (7.4%) were university graduates; 14 of the fathers (35%) primary school, 5 (12.5%) secondary school, 13 (32.5%) high school, 2 (5%) college graduates, 6 (15%) of them are university graduates.

When the WURS scores of the parents were evaluated, it was determined that 12 (12.7%) of the WURS scores were above the cut-off score (36). When the parents' WURS scores were divided into two groups according to their cut-off scores and evaluated in terms of PSDS-SF scores; it was determined that the permissive subscale score of PSDS-SF was significantly higher in the parents whose WURS score was above the cut-off score compared to the parents whose WURS score was below the cut-off score (p=0.04) (Table 1).

When the parents' scale scores were evaluated separately as parents, there was no statistically significant difference between the parents' WURS and PSDS-SF scores (p>0.05) (Table 2).

When the relationship between the age and education levels of mothers and fathers and PSDS-SF scores were examined; There was no significant relationship between age and education levels and PSDS-SF scores (p>0.05) (Table 3).

Table 1. Assessment of parents' PSDS-SF scores based on WURS cut-off scores				
	WURS >36 (mean ± SD)	WURS <36 (mean ± SD)	р	
PSDS-SF				
Competent	57.08±12.10	56.68±11.38	0.82	
Authoritarian	25.58±6.06	23.99±6.86	0.38	
Permissive	15.17±3.71	12.84±3.48	0.04*	

\*p<0.05; Mann-Whitney U test, PSDS-SF: Parental Styles and Sizes Scale, WURS: Wender-Utah Rating Scale, SD: standard deviation

Table 2. Assessment of parents in terms of WURS, PSDS-SF scores						
		Mother (n=54) (mean $\pm$ SD)	Father (n=40) (mean $\pm$ SD)	р		
WURS		18.69±12.08	22.43±14.76	0.18		
	Competent	58.07±11.48	54.93±11.21	0.18		
	Authoritarian	24.26±6.67	24.10±6.95	0.91		
	Permissive	13.48±3.66	12.67±3.44	0.28		

Student's t-test; PSDS-SF: Parental Styles and Sizes Scale; WURS: Wender-Utah Rating Scale, SD: standard deviation

#### Table 3. Relationship between age and education levels of parents and PSDS-SF scores PSDS-SF Competent Authoritarian Permissive r p r р r р Age -0.094 0.36 0.017 0.86 0.009 0.93 0.99 Education level 0.071 0.49 -0.061 0.55 0.001

Pearson correlation test, Spearman Rho correlation test, PSDS-SF: Parental Styles and Sizes Scale

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):258-63

#### DISCUSSION

According to the results of our study; parents with high ADHD symptom levels were found to have significantly higher permissive parental attitudes than parents with low ADHD symptoms, and there was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of competent and authoritarian attitudes. No significant association was found between parental attitudes and the age and educational level of parents. In addition, comparisons of parents in terms of ADHD symptom level and parental attitudes did not show significant differences between parents in terms of both variables.

Studies show that parents with ADHD are associated with signs and symptoms of ADHD and negative parental attitudes. Fortyfour months of age with an average of 258 children and their parents with a 3-year longitudinal study, mothers' levels of ADHD and ADHD symptoms in children examined early and late-term relationship with parental attitudes; mothers with high levels of ADHD symptoms of excessive reactive attitudes (over-reactive parenting) demonstrated by mothers of ADHD in children, ADHD symptoms and higher symptom levels in terms of late-term negative parental attitudes are found to be the decisive factors (29). A study conducted by Woods et al. (30) found that 79 children and their mothers with an age range of 5-10 were positively associated with maternal ADHD symptoms; high control level, low temperature (harsh parenting) parental attitudes, and there was no significant association between maternal ADHD levels and positive parental attitudes (30). A meta-analysis study that examined 32 studies on the subject found that negative parental attitudes and ADHD symptom levels were associated; their parents displayed high levels of control (hars parenting) and/or low levels of control and control (lax parenting) as ADHD levels increased.

In addition, it was determined that there was no significant relationship between parents' ADHD level and positive parental attitudes (31). In Turkey, 87 children with ADHD and a thesis study with 84 healthy control group; it has been found that mothers in the ADHD group exhibit more authoritarian and permissive attitudes than mothers in the control group, and ADHD symptom levels of mothers are associated with negative parental attitudes (26). In our study, parents with high levels of ADHD symptoms according to parents with a low level of ADHD symptoms, permissive attitudes to high levels of authoritarian attitudes and positive (competent) have been found to show significant differences in terms of parental attitudes. Our results, partially compatible with the literature, suggest that ADHD signs and symptoms negatively affect parental attitudes. ADHD is a disorder that causes attention deficit, difficulty in executive function, impulsivity, and difficulty in controlling emotions and behaviors (8). It is believed that possible difficulties in ADHD-induced control mechanisms and behavior regulation can prevent parents from developing stable attitudes in their relationship with their children, causing them to behave more permissively and unsupervised.

In studies conducted in children with ADHD, it was found that parental attitudes are associated with many variables. A study conducted by Silva and colleagues found that while the relationship between the attitudes of 68 parents with children with ADHD between the ages of 6 and 11 was not found, it was directly related to critical/rejecting and permitting/negligent parental attitudes and additional behavioral problems in children (32). One hundred three ADHD children and their mothers in Turkey with ADHD subtypes in a study examined the relationship between parental attitudes; it was determined that children in the careless and compound subtype perceive their parents as more permissive/negligent, while children with the hyperactive subtype perceive their parents as more authoritarian (22). A recent crosssectional study conducted in Turkey, which examined 58 ADHD, 30 healthy children and their parents, found that children in the ADHD group perceive their maternal and paternal attitudes as less relevant, unsupervised and more strict discipline than the control group. In the same study, it was determined that variables such as children's gender, ADHD symptom level, comorbidity had significant effects on parental attitudes; When the mother's age was controlled, it was observed that the difference between the children with ADHD and healthy children in terms of perceived parental attitudes did not change (18). In our study, no significant association was found between parental attitudes and the age and educational levels of parents. Although our results are consistent with the literature, the lack of a healthy control group in our study is a significant limitation in terms of interpretation of our results.

When the literature was examined, it was seen that mostly only mothers were evaluated in studies examining parents' ADHD symptoms and parental attitudes (10,14,30,33,34). Our study is one of the few studies that evaluated the ADHD symptom levels of mothers and fathers separately (13,15,35-38). A study conducted with 109 of the mothers and fathers of children with an age range of 2-12 followed by the diagnosis of ADHD found no significant difference between the level of ADHD symptoms and parental attitudes of parents (39). Similarly, the results of our study found that parents did not differ significantly in terms of ADHD symptom level and parental attitudes. It is believed that large sample studies are needed to interpret our results.

#### **Study Limitations**

Our study has some limitations. The small sample size of our study and the lack of a healthy control group are limitations. ADHD is a clinical diagnosis, but in our study, parents were evaluated for ADHD only with diagnostic tools with high validity and reliability. It is an important limitation that parents have not been made diagnostic evaluations by a psychiatrist in terms of both ADHD and other possible psychopathologies. The fact that future studies on this issue have a design with a wide sample, in which parents are evaluated in terms of co-diagnoses with a high incidence of ADHD, as well as the severity of children's ADHD symptoms, will increase the interpretability of the results.

#### CONCLUSION

In the results of our study; parents of children diagnosed with ADHD have more permissive attitudes, parents with high ADHD symptom levels and parents with low ADHD symptoms do not differ in authoritarian and competent attitudes, and there is a significant difference between mothers and fathers in terms of ADHD level and parental attitudes. It was found that there was no difference between the parents' age and education levels and their attitudes. Parental attitudes play an important role in the severity of symptoms in ADHD, accompanying psychiatric diseases, and the prognosis of the disorder. ADHD in children negatively affects parents' parenting skills. The results of our study suggest that the symptoms of ADHD of parents in children with ADHD should also be considered as another factor that negatively affects their parenting skills. It is known that multiple approach models, including psychopharmacological treatments for the clinical treatment of ADHD, as well as evaluation of parents' attitude and behavior patterns and necessary psychosocial interventions, are the most effective treatment methods. During the treatment process, interventions for the parents' attitudes; it is thought that evaluation of mother and/or father in terms of ADHD and psychoeducation about adult ADHD is important.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Ankara University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (approval number: 9.02.2012).

**Informed Consent:** The children and their parents in the study group were informed about the purpose and method of the study and their written consents were obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - Ö.Ş.B., M.Ç., Z.E.U., B.G.K.; Design - Ö.Ş.B., M.Ç., Z.E.U., B.G.K.; Data Collection and/or Processing - Ö.Ş.B., M.Ç., Z.E.U.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - Ö.Ş.B., M.Ç., B.G.K.; Literature Search - Ö.Ş.B., M.Ç., B.G.K.; Writing Manuscript - Ö.Ş.B., M.Ç.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- 1. Willcutt EG. The prevalence of DSM-IV attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a meta-analytic review. Neurotherapeutics 2012; 9: 490-9.
- Fayyad J, De Graaf R, Kessler R, Alonso J, Angermeyer M, Demyttenaere K, et al. Cross-national prevalence and correlates of adult attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder. Br J Psychiatry 2007; 190: 402-9.
- Hechtman L, McGough JJ. Dikkat Eksikliği Bozuklukları. In: Kaplan & Sadock's Comprehensive Textbook of Psychiatry (Translation Öner Ö, Aysev A.), Ankara, Güneş Tıp Kitabevi, 2007, p.3183-205.
- Aydın H, Diler RS, Yurdagül E, Uğuz Ş, Şeydaoğlu G. DEHB tanılı çocukların ebeveynlerinde DEHB oranı. Klin Psikiyatr Derg 2006; 9: 70-4.
- Güvendeğer Doksat N, Balkanlı Zengin H, Doksat MK. Dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu olan çocukların ebeveynlerinde mükemmeliyetçilik ve dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu. Cukurova Med J 2018; 43: 581-8.
- Kessler RC, Adler L, Barkley R, Biederman J, Conners CK, Demler O, et al. The prevalence and correlates of adult ADHD in the United States: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Am J Psychiatry 2006; 163: 716-23.
- Simon V, Czobor P, Bálint S, Mészáros A, Bitter I. Prevalence and correlates of adult attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: meta-analysis. Br J Psychiatry J Ment Sci 2009; 194: 204-11.

- Surman CBH, Biederman J, Spencer T, Miller CA, McDermott KM, Faraone SV. Understanding deficient emotional self-regulation in adults with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder: a controlled study. ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorders 2013; 5: 273-81.
- Lin YJ, Lo KW, Yang LK, Gau SF. Validation of DSM-5 age-of-onset criterion of attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) in adults: comparison of life quality, functional impairment, and family function. Res Dev Disabil 2015; 47: 48-60.
- Efron D, Furley K, Gulenc A, Sciberras A. Maternal ADHD symptoms, child ADHD symptoms and broader child outcomes. Arch Dis Child 2018; 103: 841-6.
- 11. Baumrind D. Current patterns of parental authority. Dev Psychol 1971; 4: 1-103.
- Sümer N, Gündoğdu Aktürk E, Helvacı E. Psychological effects of parenting styles and behaviors: a review of studies in Turkey. Turkish Psychological Articles 2010; 13: 60-1.
- Starck M, Grünwald J, Schlarb AA. Occurrence of ADHD in parents of ADHD children in a clinical sample. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat 2016; 12: 581-8.
- Babinski DE, Pelham WE, Molina BSG, Gnagy EM, Waschbusch DA, Wymbs BT, et al. Maternal ADHD, parenting and psychopathology among mothers of adolescents with ADHD. J Atten Disord 2012; 20: 458-68.
- Karbalaei Sabagh A, Khademi M, Noorbakhsh S, Razjooyan K, Arabgol F. Adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and parenting styles. Indian J Pediatr 2015; 83: 254-57.
- Barkley RA, Fischer M, Edelbrock C, Smallish L. The adolescent outcome of hyperactive children diagnosed by research criteria-III. Mother-child interactions, family conflicts and maternal psychopathology. J Child Psychol Psychiatr 1991; 32: 233-55.
- Çengel Kültür SE, Öztekin C. Dikkat eksikliği/hiperaktivite bozukluğu ve yıkıcı davranış sorunlarının tedavisinde anne-babalık becerileri. Turkiye Klinikleri J Child Psychiatry-Special Topics 2017; 3: 106-14.
- Çöp E, Çengel Kültür SE, Dinç Şenses G. Ana babalık tutumları ile dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu belirtileri arasındaki ilişki. Turk Psikiyatri Derg 2017; 28: 25-32.
- Yalçın H, Karaman HN. Dikkat eksikliği hiperaktivite bozukluğu olan 6-12 yaş çocukların aile tutumlarının değerlendirilmesi. ACED Uluslararası Aile Çocuk ve Eğitim Derg 2018; 15: 84-99.
- Uzun ME, Uçar HN, Vural AP. Dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu olan ergenlerde bağlanma özellikleri ve ebeveyn tutumları. JCP 2019; 17: 289-300.
- Durukan İ, Erdem M, Türkbay T, Cöngöloğlu MA. Dikkat eksikliği hiperaktivite bozukluğu olan çocukların klinik belirtilerinin annelerinin öfke düzeyleri ve öfke ifade tarzları ile ilişkisi. Gülhane Tıp Derg 2009; 51: 101-4.
- Ertuğrul G, Toros F. Dikkat eksikliği hiperaktivite bozukluğu olan ergenlerin algıladıkları ebeveyn tutumu ve ebeveynlerinin evlilik uyumları arasındaki ilişki. Yeni Symposium 2010; 48: 172-83.
- 23. Polat H. Dikkat eksikliği hiperaktivite bozukluğu tanısı almış çocukların annelerinin algıladıkları sosyal destek düzeyleri, tükenmişlik düzeyleri ve çocuk yetiştirme tutumlarının incelenmesi. Yüksek Lisans Tezi. Atatürk Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü, 2015.
- Türe F. Dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu olan çocukların (8-12 yaş) değişik anne tutumlarına göre benlik saygı düzeylerinin incelenmesi. Yüksek Lisans tezi, Maltepe Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Klinik Psikoloji Anabilim Dalı, 2010.
- Uçar HN, Vural AP. Irritability and parenting styles in adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a controlled study. J Psychosoc Nurs Ment Health Serv 2018; 56: 33-43.
- 26. Keser N. Dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu tanısı almış ve almamış çocukların duygu ayarlama, anne baba tutumları, annenin dehb belirti ve bulgu düzeyinin incelenmesi. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Ankara Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, 2010.
- Öncü B, Ölmez Ş, Şentürk V. Wender-Utah Derecelendirme Ölçeği Türkçe Formunun erişkin dikkat eksikliği ve hiperaktivite bozukluğu) nda geçerlik ve güvenilirlik çalışması. Türk Psikiyatr Derg 2005; 16: 252-9.
- Kapçı EG, Erdinç S. Anne-baba tutum ölçeğinin 3-13 yaş aralığında çocuğu bulunan annelerde değerlendirilmesi. 18. Ulusal Eğitim Bilimleri Kurultayı, Bildiri Kitabı, İzmir, 2009.

- Breaux RP, Brown HR, Harvey EA. Mediators and moderators of the relation between parental ADHD symptomatology and the early development of child ADHD and ODD symptoms. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2016; 45: 443-56.
- Woods KE, Mazursky-Horowitz H, Thomas SR, Dougherty LR, Chronis-Tuscano A. The unique effects of maternal ADHD symptoms and emotion dysregulation on parenting behavior. J Atten Disord 2019.
- Park JL, Johnston C. Parental ADHD symptoms and parenting behaviors. The ADHD Report 2019; 27: 1-7.
- Muñoz-Silva A, Lago-Urbano R, Sanchez-Garcia M. Family impact and parenting styles in families of children with ADHD. J Child Fam Stud 2017; 26: 2810-23.
- Murray C, Johnston C. Parenting in mothers with and without attentiondeficit/ hyperactivity disorder. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2006; 115: 52-61.
- Algorta GP, Kragh CA, Arnold LE, Molina BSG, Hinshaw SP, Swanson JM, et al. Maternal ADHD symptoms, personality and parenting stress: differences between mothers of children with ADHD and Mothers of Comparison Children. J Atten Disord 2018; 22:1266-77.

- Psychogiou L, Daley D, Thompson M, Sonuga-Barke E. Testing the interactive effect of parent and child ADHD on parenting in mothers and fathers: a further test of the similarity-fit hypothesis. Br J Dev Psychol 2007; 25: 419-33.
- Williamson D, Johnston C, Noyes A, Stewart K, Weiss MD. Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder symptoms in mothers and fathers: family level interactions in relation to parenting. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2017; 45: 485-500.
- 37. Friedrich A, Moning J, Weiss J, Schlarb A. The effects of parental ADHD symptoms on parenting behaviors. Health 2017; 9: 1054-74.
- Wymbs BT, Wymbs FA, Dawson AE. Child ADHD and ODD behavior interacts with parent ADHD symptoms to worsen parenting and interparental communication. J Abnorm Child Psychol 2014; 43: 107-19.
- Jeppson-Frandsen R. Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): relationship between parental symptomatology, child behaviors, and parenting behaviors. Unpublished Thesis, Utah State University, 2019.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3764 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):264-68

## Retrospective Evaluation of Patients Undergoing Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation in the Emergency Department

🔟 Ertuğrul Altınbilek<sup>1</sup>, 🗅 Mustafa Çalık<sup>2</sup>, 🗅 Miray Tümer<sup>3</sup>, 🕩 Ahmet Burak Erdem<sup>3</sup>, 🗅 Derya Öztürk<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Emergency Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>2</sup>İstanbul Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Emergency Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey
<sup>3</sup>Ankara City Hospital, Clinic of Emergency Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Altınbilek E, Çalık M, Tümer M, Erdem AB, Öztürk D. Retrospective Evaluation of Patients Undergoing Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation in the Emergency Department. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):264-68

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** In this study, we aimed to investigate demographic data of patients who were arrested in an emergency department and outside the hospital, who died despite effective cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR), how they were admitted to the emergency department, blood parameters, additional diseases, and duration of CPR.

**Methods:** Two hundred two patients whose complete records can be accessed were included in the study. Demographic data of patients, emergency department arrival patterns, vital signs, additional diseases, blood gas pH, lactate, base minus values, CPR duration and adrenaline doses used in CPR were recorded.

**Results:** Two hundred twenty-one (59.90%) of the patients were male and 81 (40.09%) were female. Of the men, 69 (57.02%) were in the emergency department and 52 (42.97%) were outside the hospital. Fifty (61.72%) of the women were arrested in the emergency department and 31 (32.27%) were arrested outside the hospital. The average age of men was 70 and the average age of women was 80. In the group with non-hospital arrest, there was a significant difference between base minus, lactate and pH values in arterial blood gas compared to the group with in-hospital arrest.

**Conclusion:** Cardiopulmonary arrest is a very important health problem that is common in emergency departments and has a high rate of mortality. The society should be made aware of early diagnosis, timely and correct intervention, and rapid transfer of arrested cases outside the hospital. Advanced age, concomitant comorbid diseases, and prolonged CPR times are directly associated with mortality.

Keywords: Cardiopulmonary arrest, mortality, blood gas

#### INTRODUCTION

A sudden loss of consciousness with the termination of hemodynamics due to the cessation of electrical activity in the heart and the subsequent deterioration of cerebral perfusion is called cardiopulmonary arrest (1). 56-80% of arrest cases are of

cardiac origin (2). Adult patients often have an underlying ischemic heart disease. A third of patients with acute myocardial infarction die within the first hour of reaching the hospital.

Generally, fibrillated rhythms are responsible for most of these deaths (ventricular fibrillation or pulseless ventricular tachycardia)

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** E.A. 0000-0003-4201-8850; M.Ç. 0000-0002-3184-2943; M.T. 0000-0002-3917-0213; A.B.E. 0000-0002-3618-6252; D.Ö. 0000-0001-7318-0725.



**Corresponding Author:** Ertuğrul Altınbilek, E-mail: ertugrulaltinbilek@gmail.com Received Date: 10.09.2020 Accepted Date: 19.11.2020

(3). Pulseless electrical activity and asystolic rhythms are the most common in hospital arrests (4).

Causes of non-cardiac arrest can often be considered as nontraumatic bleeding, pulmonary thromboembolism, malignancy, intracranial pathologies, trauma, intoxication, and drowning in water (5).

In non-hospital arrest cases, the prognosis is poor and survival remains 3-7% despite effective cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR). 69% of these patients are male (6). In patients admitted to the emergency department, cardiopulmonary arrest is a condition with high mortality that can occur at any time. If there is hypotension, tachycardia, tachypnea, mental status changes, decreased urine output and accompanying laboratory abnormalities (hypoxia, acidosis, hyponatremia, hyperkalaemia, increased creatinine) in the patient who is followed up in the emergency room, the possibility of arrest is high. In hospital arrests, non-cardiac pathophysiological processes continue and eventually cardiac arrest develops (7). Mortality is quite high in both out-of-hospital and in-hospital arrests, even with timely and effective CPR (7).

In this study, we aimed to investigate the demographic data, forms of admission to the emergency room, blood parameters, comorbidities and CPR times of patients who were arrested in an education and research hospital emergency room or who were arrested outside the hospital and were brought to the emergency department and died despite effective CPR.

#### **METHODS**

For this retrospectively planned study, approval was obtained from the Ethics Board from a Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 2691, date: 25.02.2020). Patient consent was not obtained due to the fact that the study was retrospective, that there were patients with exitus, and that it was conducted through laboratory data. After the approval of the ethics committee, patients who were brought to a Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Emergency Medicine with cardiac arrest or who developed cardiac arrest in the emergency department, who could not respond despite the current CPR protocol, and died between 01.06.2018 and 01.06.2019 were scanned retrospectively. In accordance with the current advanced life support protocols, the information of the cases undergoing CPR was obtained from the emergency service referral forms, ambulance case forms, emergency service and hospital records. A total of 202 patients whose information was fully accessible were included in the study. Patients were divided into two groups as those who were arrested inside the emergency room and outside the emergency room. Patients who were arrested outside the emergency department were also examined in two subgroups as those who applied to the emergency room with their own vehicles and those who came by ambulance. Demographic data of patients, emergency department arrival patterns, vital signs, additional diseases, blood gas pH, lactate, base minus values, CPR duration and adrenaline doses used in CPR were recorded.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The SPSS for Windows, Version 22 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used for normality of variables. Mean ± standard deviation (SD) was used for parameters with a normal distribution, and median [interquartile range (IQR)] was used for parameters that did not match the normal distribution. Student's t-test was used for parameters with normal distribution. Those who did not have a normal distribution were evaluated by the Mann-Whitney U test. Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated for normally distributed parameters. Spearman correlation coefficients were calculated for parameters that were not normally distributed. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. In the descriptive statistics of the data, mean ± SD, median lowest, highest, frequency and ratio values were used.

#### RESULTS

Two hundred two patients who came to the emergency medicine clinic as an outpatient arrest or who died while being followed in the emergency department and died despite effective CPR were included in the study. One hundred twenty-one of these patients (59.90%) were male and 81 (40.09%) were female. Sixty-nine (57.02%) of the men were arrested in the emergency room and 52 (42.97%) outside the hospital. Fifty (61.72%) of the women were arrested in the emergency room and 31 (32.27%) outside the hospital (Table 1).

Table 1. Characteristics of routine blood parameters according to where patient groups are arrested

	· · · · · <b>·</b> · · · · · · · · · · ·	<u> </u>				
	Median (IQR)					
Features	In-hospital (n=119)	Out-of-hospital (n=83)	All patients (n=202)	р		
Age, median (IQR), time, year	77.0 (64.0-85.0), 19-98	73.0 (56.0-84.0), 19-94	71 (63-84), 19-98	0.347		
Gender, male/female	69/50	52/31	121/81	0.507		
Lactate	4.4 (2.6-7.1)	10.9 (8.0-14.0)	7.0 (3.5-11.6)	<0.001*		
рН	7.03 (6.92-7.18)	7.31 (7.2-7.4)	7.2 (7.05-7.379)	<0.001*		
K, mmol/L	5.2 (4.2-6.3)	4.5 (3.8-5.4)	4.7 (4.0-5.89)	<0.001*		
BD, mmol/L	-12.1 [-18.8-(-)8.8]	-6.8 [-12.4-(-2.5)]	-9.84 (-14.5-4.0)	<0.001*		
CPR duration,min	35.0 (30.0-50.0)	40.0 (30.0-50.0)	40.0 (30.0-50.0)	0.215		
CPR: cardiopulmonary resuscitation, IQR:	interquartile range, K: potassium,	BD: base deficit				

In the group with non-hospital arrest, there was a significant difference between base minus, lactate and pH values in arterial blood gas compared to the group with in-hospital arrest (Table 1).

Forty-five (54.21%) of the cases arrested outside the hospital were admitted to the emergency department with their own vehicles, while 38 (45.78%) were brought to the emergency department with 112 ambulances (Table 2).

The average age of men was 70 and the average age of women was 80. Among the cases of arrest outside the hospital, the average age of those who came by ambulance was 73, and the average age of those who came by their own vehicle was 67. The average age of the emergency room arrest cases was 77 (Table 2).

Basic demographic characteristics and additional diseases of patients with in-hospital arrest and patients with out-of-hospital arrest are summarized in Table 2. No significant differences were found between the two groups between age, sex, and duration of CPR. P-values were p=0.347, p male=0.140, female: p=0.923, p=0.215, respectively.

The most common accompanying disease was ischemic heart disease (66.60%) in the group with in-hospital arrest, and systemic

hypertension in the group with out-of-hospital arrest (48.20%).

In addition, the relationship between blood gas parameters and CPR durations is summarized in Table 3.

#### DISCUSSION

Sudden cardiac death, which occurs as a result of cardiopulmonary arrest, especially outside the hospital, is a significant public health problem and is one of the leading causes of death near almost the entire world. Despite rapid and effective cardioplumoner resuscitation, both in and out of hospital, there is a high rate of mortality. The mortality rate in non-hospital arrests is above 90%, while in hospital arrests this rate ranges from 13-85% (8). Therefore, the community needs to be educated and aware about recognizing cardiac arrest and providing basic life support. In this study, we aimed to define the general characteristics of cardiopulmonary arrest cases with mortal observation in the emergency department.

Wallace et al. (9) found that 54.50% of the patients were male in their study on 4,789 cases who underwent CPR. Khan et al. (10) reported that 60% of the cases were male. A higher rate of cardiac

Table 2. Basic of	demographic and	additional	diseases of	patient groups
-------------------	-----------------	------------	-------------	----------------

	Median (IQR)				
		Out-of-hospital (n=83)	All most such		
Features	In-hospital (n=119)	Ambulance	Own vehicle	(n=202)	р
Age, median (IQR), time, year	77.0 (64.0-85.0), 19-98	73.0 (56.0-84.0), 19-94	-	71 (63-84), 19-98	0.347
Male	76 (62.5-84)	73 (28)	67 (25)	70 (30)	0.140
Famele	80 (66.5-85)	80 (16)	81 (15)	80 (16)	0.923
Gender, male/female	69/50	49/30	3/1	121/81	0.507
Co-morbidity	-	-	-	-	-
Hypertension, (n, %)	15 (51.7%)	13 (44.8%)	1 (3.4%)	29	-
Diabetes mellitus, (n, %)	7 (50%)	7 (50%)	0 (0%)	14	-
Ischemic heart disease, (n, %)	20 (66.6%)	10 (33.3%)	0	30	-
Chronic kidney disease, (n, %)	8 (80%)	2 (20%)	0	10	-
Cancer, (n, %)	17 (89.4%)	2 (10.5%)	0	19	-
Cerebrovascular accident, (n, %)	7 (77.7%)	1 (11.1%)	1	9	-
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, (n, %)	8 (80%)	2 (620%)	0	10	-
Other, (n, %)	5 (71.4%)	2 (28.5%)	0	7	-
IQR: interquartile range					

#### Table 3. Relationship between life expectancy and parameters of groups

	In-hospital (n=119)		Out-of-hospital (n=83)	
Parameters	r	р	r	р
Lactate	-0.252	0.006*	0.110	0.322
рН	0.119	0.199	0.046	0.680
BD, mmol/L	0.104	0.259	-0.134	0.226
K, mmol/L	0.084	0.364	0.008	0.941
Values less than p<0.05 were c	onsidered significant, r-values were	calculated using the Spearman	correlation test.	

BD: base deficit, K: potassium

arrest in men depends on the fact that ischemic heart disease is more common in this sex than in women (11).

In the study conducted by Petrie et al. (12), in which out-of-hospital arrest cases were examined, Ontario Prehospital Advanced Life Support, the average age of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest cases was 68, and in the National Registry of Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation study conducted by Peberdy et al. (13), the mean age of in-hospital arrest was 67.60.

In our study, 59.90% of the cases were male when demographic data was examined. The average age of those with in-hospital arrest was 77, and the average age of those with out-of-hospital arrest was 73. These findings were consistent with other studies.

Cardiac arrests are divided into in-hospital and out-of-hospital. Emergency departments are where both in-hospital arrests are common and out-of-hospital arrests are intervened as a result of transfer to the hospital (14). Mortality in cardiac arrests that develop outside the hospital is usually associated with prehospital factors (15). Studies have shown that they are more likely to live in witness arrests (14,16).

In our study, it was determined that non-hospital arrests were mostly brought by patient relatives (54.21%). This suggests to us that society is incapable of recognizing cardiac arrest and using the 112 emergency system for this purpose. We think that there is a need for more training in using 112 emergency health services for the right purpose and basic life support in the society. In addition, it is important to have accessible automatic external defibrillators in crowded areas and to train people who can use these devices.

The main factor affecting mortality is having multiple comorbid diseases with increasing age (17). In most of these cases, the most common accompanying comorbid disease is structural heart disease, particularly coronary atherosclerosis and/or cardiomegaly (18). In accordance with the medical literature, ischemic heart disease (30%) was detected in the majority of patients in our study (18-20). Co-morbidities accompanying the cases taken in the study are given in detail in Table 2.

A long period of resuscitation in patients undergoing CPR shows an increased mortality rate (20). Mortality is higher if the resuscitation attempt lasts longer than 10 minutes. In our study, the average duration of resuscitation was 40 minutes (30-50).

Hypoxia, which develops in tissues with the development of cardiac arrest and prolonged resuscitation times, leads to the use of anaerobic metabolism and an increase in lactate levels in the blood. Acute myocardial ischemia results in an increase in intracellular potassium ions (21). Therefore, in order to evaluate whether CPR applied to the patient is effective or not, the arterial blood gas and the patient's blood pH, potassium and lactate level, base deficiency should be followed while resuscitation procedures continue. In this study, the relationship between CPR duration and blood gas results is given in detail in Figure 1.



**Figure 1.** Relationship between CPR duration and blood gas results CPR: cardiopulmonary resuscitation

#### **Study Limitations**

Because our study was retrospective and created study data for deceased patients, the control group could not be created. In addition, the fact that our sample numbers were small was also a factor that limited us.

#### CONCLUSION

Cardiopulmonary arrest is a very important health problem that is common in emergency departments and has a high rate of mortality. Community awareness should be raised about early recognition, timely and correct intervention, and rapid transfer to the hospital, especially cases that are arrested outside the hospital. Advanced age, concomitant co-morbid diseases, prolonged CPR durations are directly associated with mortality.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** For this retrospectively planned study, approval was obtained from the ethics board from a Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 2691, date: 25.02.2020).

**Informed Consent:** Patient consent was not obtained due to the fact that the study was retrospective, that there were patients with exitus, and that it was conducted through laboratory data.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - E.A., D.Ö.; Concept - E.A., A.B.E., M.T.; Design - E.A., M.Ç., A.B.E., M.T., D.Ö.; Data Collection and/or Processing - E.A., D.Ö.; Analysis and/or Interpretation -E.A., A.B.E., M.T., D.Ö., M.Ç.; Literature Search - E.A., A.B.E., M.T., D.Ö., M.Ç.; Writing Manuscript - E.A., A.B.E., M.T.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

- Jacobs I, Nadkarni V, Bahr J, Berg RA, Billi JE, Bossaert L, et al. Cardiac arrest and cardiopulmonary resuscitation outcome reports: update and simplification of the Utstein templates for resuscitation registries: a statement for healthcare professionals from a task force of the International Liaison Committee on Resuscitation (American Heart Association, European Resuscitation Council, Australian Resuscitation Council, New Zealand Resuscitation Council, Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, InterAmerican Heart Foundation, Resuscitation Councils of Southern Africa). Circulation 2004; 110: 3385-97.
- Engdahl J, Resusc 2002 Chugh SS, Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases 2008.
- Osborn LA. Etiology of suddendeath. In: Paradis NA, Halperin HR, Nowak RM (eds). Cardiac Arrest. The Science and Practice of Resuscitation Medicine. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1994: 243-51.
- Nolan JP, Soar J, Smith GB, Gwinnutt C, Parrott F, Power S, et al. Incidence and outcome of in-hospital cardiac arrest in the United Kingdom National Cardiac Arrest Audit. Resuscitation 2014; 85: 987-92.
- Kuisma M, Alaspää A. Out-of-hospital cardiacarrests of non-cardiac origin. Epidemiology and outcome. Eur Heart J 1997; 18: 1122-8.

- Margey R, Browne L, Murphy E, O'Reilly M, Mahon N, Blake G, et al. The Dublin cardiac arrest registry: temporal improvement in survival from outof-hospital cardiac arrest reflects improved pre-hospital emergency care. Europace 2011; 13: 1157-65.
- Schein RM, Hazday N, Pena M, Ruben BH, Sprung CL. Clinical antecedents to in-hospital cardiopulmonary arrest. Chest 1990; 98: 1388-92.
- Möhnle P, Huge V, Polasek J, Weig I, Atzinger R, Kreimeier U, et al. Survival after cardiac arrest and changing task profile of the cardiac arrest team in a tertiary care center. Scientific World Journal 2012; 2012: 294512.
- Wallace SK, Abella BS, Shofer FS, Leary M, Agarwal AK, Mechem CC, et al. Effect of time of day on prehospital care and outcomes after out-ofhospital cardiac arrest. Circulation 2013; 127: 1591-6.
- 10. Khan AM, Kirkpatrick JN, Yang L, Groeneveld PW, Nadkarni VM, Merchant RM. American Heart Association's Get With the Guidelines-Resuscitation (GWTG-R) Investigators. Age, sex, and hospital factors are associated with the duration of cardiopulmonary resuscitation in hospitalized patients who do not experience sustained return of spontaneous circulation. J Am Heart Assoc 2014; 3: e001044.
- Oğuztürk H, Turtay MG, Tekin YK, Sarıhan E. A Cardiac Arrests in the Emergency Ward and Our Experiences on the Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Kafkas J Med Sci 2011; 1: 114-7.
- Petrie DA, De Maio V, Stiell IG, Dreyer J, Martin M, O'brien JA. Factors affecting survival after prehospital asystolic cardiac arrest in a Basic Life Support-Defibrillation system. CJEM 2001; 3: 186-92.
- Peberdy MA, Kaye W, Ornato JP, Larkin GL, Nadkarni V, Mancini ME, et al. Cardiopulmonary resuscitation of adults in the hospital: a report of 14720 cardiac arrests from the National Registry of Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation. Resuscitation 2003; 58: 297-308.
- Karataş AD, Baydın A, Otal Y. The retrospective analysis of deaths in emergency department. Akademik Acil Tıp Dergisi 2007; 5: 14-7.
- Fredriksson M, Aune S, Bång A, Thorén AB, Lindqvist J, Karlsson T, et al. Cardiac arrest outside and inside hospital in a community: mechanisms behind the differences in outcome and outcome in relation to time of arrest. Am Heart J 2010; 159: 749-56.
- Çilingiroğlu N, Subaşı N, Çiçekli Ö, Kara AV, Ferlengez E, Kocatürk Ö. Evaluation of Deaths at Hacettepe University Hospital for the Year 2004. Hacettepe Journal of Health Administration 2005; 8: 308-24.
- Field JM, Hazinski MF, Sayre MR, Chameides L, Schexnayder SM, Hemphill R, et al. Part 1: Executive Summary: 2010 American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Circulation 2010; 122: 640-56.
- Herlitz J, Rundqvist A, Bång A, Aune S, Lundström G, Ekström L, et al. Is there a difference between women and men in characteristics and outcome after in hospital cardiac arrest? Resuscitation 2001; 49: 15-23.
- Schultz SC, Cullinane DC, Pasquale MD, Magnant C, Evans SR. Predicting in-hospital mortality during cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Resuscitation 1996; 33: 13-7.
- van Walraven C, Forster AJ, Parish DC, Dane FC, Chandra KMD, Durham MD, et al. Validation of a clinical decision aid to discontinue in-hospital cardiac arrest resuscitations. JAMA 2001; 285: 1602-6.
- Kazak Z, Ökten F. Pathophysiology of cardiac arrest. Türkiye Klinikleri J Surg Med Sci 2007; 3: 10-4.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3885 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):269-76

## Follow-up for Patients with Intestinal Metaplasia Restricted to the Antrum

Deniz Öğütmen Koç<sup>1</sup>
Sadettin Hülagü<sup>2</sup>
Yeşim Saliha Gürbüz<sup>3</sup>
Altay Çelebi<sup>2</sup>
Ali Erkan Duman<sup>2</sup>
Tanyeli Güneyligil Kazaz<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, İzmit, Turkey <sup>3</sup>İstinye University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey

<sup>4</sup>Gaziantep University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Gaziantep, Turkey

Cite this article as: Öğütmen Koç D, Hülagü S, Gürbüz YS, Çelebi A, Duman AE, Güneyligil Kazaz T. Follow-up for Patients with Intestinal Metaplasia Restricted to the Antrum. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):269-76

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Guidelines recommend endoscopic surveillance for patients with extensive atrophy/intestinal metaplasia (IM), but follow-up is not recommended for patients with atrophy/IM restricted to the antrum. We evaluated the risk of neoplastic lesions in patients with antrum-restricted IM to determine whether surveillance endoscopy is necessary.

Methods: Overall, 117 patients with antrum-restricted IM diagnosed within the past 10 years underwent surveillance endoscopy. The gastric biopsy specimens were evaluated for atrophy, IM, and dysplasia.

**Results:** We enrolled 117 patients. Surveillance endoscopy was performed at a median (interquartile range) of 7.2 years (5.9-8.7 years) after the initial diagnosis of IM. On surveillance endoscopy, 27.4% of patients exhibited progression in their IM grade, whereas 25.6% had atrophy progression, and 33.3% had dysplasia progression. High-grade dysplasia and gastric cancer (GC) were detected in four and two patients, respectively. The annual incidence of GC in patients with antrum-restricted IM was 0.17%. IM grade and type regressed in 29.9% and 38.5% of patients, respectively. Most patients with progressive IM grade, IM type, and dysplasia on surveillance endoscopy had Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) stage 3-4 (p=0.0001, p=0.008, and p=0.0001, respectively), and most patients with progressive atrophy and dysplasia had Operative Link on Gastric IM (OLGIM) stage 3-4 (both p=0.001).

**Conclusion:** Patients with IM restricted to the antrum are at risk for neoplastic lesions and require endoscopic surveillance, contrary to existing recommendations. Premalignant lesions can exhibit both progression and regression. Therefore, a patient-specific surveillance program based on OLGA and OLGIM might be appropriate.

Keywords: Gastric cancer, intestinal metaplasia, surveillance endoscopy

#### INTRODUCTION

Gastric cancer (GC) is one of the most common cancers globally and has a poor prognosis, especially in the advanced stages of the disease. Nevertheless, screening and monitoring patients at risk of GC can facilitate early detection and treatment and reduce mortality (1).

Intestinal-type gastric adenocarcinoma is the final stage of a multistage disease process known as the Correa cascade, which includes

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** D.Ö.K. 0000-0003-2738-625X; S.H. 0000-0001-6659-1286; Y.S.G. 0000-0002-4278-8241; A.Ç. 0000-0003-2864-7124; A.E.D. 0000-0002-7093-2503; T.G.K. 0000-0002-4191-1244.



Received Date: 26.10.2020 Accepted Date: 19.11.2020

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):269-76

inflammation, atrophy, intestinal metaplasia (IM), dysplasia, and carcinoma (2). IM is a precancerous lesion characterized by replacement of the epithelium in the oxyntic or antral mucosa with intestinal epithelium. IM is classified as complete (small-intestine type) or incomplete (colonic type; thought to be the most advanced stage of IM) based on the histologic characteristics and type of mucinous material secreted (3). Notably, patients with gastric IM, along with other precancerous gastric lesions, are better monitored in Asia than in Europe (4). New guidelines for screening programs were published recently in Western countries (5,6). However, a study conducted in the United States revealed that 78% of endoscopists were not aware of the guidelines for the surveillance and management of IM (7). Notably, the best strategy for reducing mortality in patients at high risk of GC is diagnosis and surveillance of precancerous gastric lesions (8,9). The recently presented guidelines recommend endoscopic surveillance for patients with extensive atrophy and/or IM (5,6,10). However, no scheduled endoscopic and histologic surveillance was recommended for patients with antrum-restricted IM and atrophy (6,11). However, to the best of our knowledge, no comprehensive study has been conducted regarding the follow-up of patients with premalignant gastric lesions restricted to the antrum.

Our study evaluated the risk of neoplastic lesions in patients with antrum-restricted IM to determine whether surveillance endoscopy is necessary.

#### **METHODS**

For this single-center study, we invited patients with antrumrestricted IM that had been histologically confirmed with untargeted biopsy sampling in the past 10 years to undergo targeted biopsy sampling during surveillance endoscopy. We selected patients with at least 4 years between the initial and surveillance endoscopies. Overall, 607 patients were identified. We excluded patients with peptic ulcers, Barrett's esophagus, GC, other cancers, and prior gastric resection. In addition, we excluded patients whose initial gastric biopsy did not meet the minimum quality criteria (e.g., paraffin block for a reassessment of the antrum mucosa) and those who could not be reached by telephone. We called up 182 patients and invited them to undergo surveillance endoscopy; of these, 117 agreed and were included in the study. During the appointment, patients were asked about their smoking history, use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), use of proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), diagnosis and treatment of Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) infection, and family history of GC. For consistency, all esophagogastroduodenoscopy and biopsy procedures were performed by a single physician (D.O.K.).

For optimal assessment of the severity and distribution of premalignant gastric lesions, biopsies were obtained from five standardized intragastric locations during surveillance endoscopy according to a predetermined protocol (12) (Figure 1). Overall, the following 12 biopsies were obtained: 4 from the pylorus 2-3 cm proximal to the antrum, 2 from the opposite walls of the incisura

angularis, 2 from the corpus minor curvature, 2 from the corpus greater curvature, and 2 from the cardia. Additional targeted biopsies were obtained of visible abnormalities and lesions in the stomach, if present.

IM was graded according to the visual analog scale of the updated Sydney system (0: absent; 1: mild; 2: moderate; 3: marked). Mucosal atrophy score was evaluated on a four-level scale [no atrophy (0%) score=0; mild atrophy (1-30%) score=1; moderate atrophy (31-60%) score=2; and severe atrophy (>60%) score=3] (3). In addition, the Vienna system was used to classify dysplasia as lowor high-grade neoplasia (13). For histopathologic examination, preparations were stained with hematoxylin-eosin and Alcian blue-periodic acid Schiff (pH 2.5). Giemsa staining was performed to identify H. pylori infection. The biopsy samples obtained during the first endoscopy were re-evaluated by the same pathologist (Y.S.G.), independent of any subsequent biopsy. Because different lesion grades often coexist in pathologic specimens obtained from the same patient, the highest grade lesion observed in any biopsy specimen was used to grade the disease in each patient. IM was subclassified, based on the morphologic characteristics, as "complete" (presence of mature brush border absorptive cells, sialomucin-secreting goblet cells and, occasionally, Paneth cells) or "incomplete" (few absorptive cells, secretion of sulfomucin by intermediate cells, secretion of sialomucin and/or sulfomucin by goblet cells, and marked glandular distortion and branching in the metaplastic glands) (14).

The Operative Link on Gastritis Assessment (OLGA) staging system was used to determine the disease status according to the antrum and corpus scores. The disease was graded on a scale ranging from stage 0 (none) to stage 4 (severe) (15). For the Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia (OLGIM) system, IM was evaluated instead of atrophy, and the severity and distribution of IM were classified on a scale ranging from stage 0 (none) to stage 4 (severe) (16). Patients with stage 3-4 disease on OLGA and OLGIM were considered at high risk of GC.

This study was approved by the Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 4, date: 2011). Informed consent was obtained.



Figure 1: Biopsy sites (adapted from reference 12)

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software (version 20.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). We used the Shapiro-Wilk test to determine if numerical variables followed a normal distribution. The Wilcoxon test was used to evaluate the dependent numerical variables that were not normally distributed. The relationship between categorical variables was determined using the chi-square analysis. Relationships between numerical variables were tested using the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. Numerical variables are expressed as mean and standard deviation, and categorical variables are expressed as numbers and percentages. A p-value <0.05 indicated statistical significance.

#### RESULTS

#### **Baseline Characteristics at Initial Endoscopy**

The study included 117 patients with IM restricted to the antrum, with or without atrophy on initial endoscopy, which was performed at the Department of Gastroenterology, Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine. The median [interguartile range (IQR)] age of patients at the time of surveillance endoscopy was 59 years (49-67 years), and 57.3% of patients were women. At baseline, 95 patients (81%) had a histologic diagnosis of atrophy, 79 (67.5%) had incomplete IM, 38 (32.5%) had complete IM, and 19 (16.2%) had low-grade dysplasia (LGD). On initial endoscopy, 41.0% of patients had H. pylori infection, of which 44.8% had undergone H pylori eradication therapy after initial endoscopy. Overall, 51.7% of patients were smokers, 36.8% were using NSAIDs, and 69.2% were on PPIs at initial endoscopy. One-quarter (25.0%) of patients had a family history of GC. Nevertheless, no relationship was noted between history of GC and IM type (p=0.301) or IM grade (p=0.929) (Table 1).

#### Surveillance Endoscopy

Surveillance endoscopy was performed at a median (IQR) of 7.2 years (5.9-8.7) after the initial diagnosis of IM. On initial endoscopy, 22 patients had antrum-restricted IM with atrophy, and 95 patients had no atrophy. On surveillance endoscopy, the rates of dysplasia were similar between patients with and without atrophy (p=0.339). IM was absent in 22 patients (18.8%) on surveillance endoscopy. Among the 95 patients with IM, 58.9% of patients had IM present in only the antrum or incisura angularis, 4.2% in the corpus, and 36.8% had in both regions.

Surveillance endoscopy revealed high-grade dysplasia (HGD) in four patients (3.4%) with previous indefinite dysplasia and gastric adenocarcinoma in two patients (1.7%) with previous LGD. The annual incidence of GC in patients with antrum-restricted IM was 0.17%. In the first patient with gastric adenocarcinoma, diffuse gastric carcinoma was detected in the incisura angularis 4.6 years after the initial endoscopy, and surgery was performed. In the second patient, an intestinal-type early gastric carcinoma was detected 4.7 years after onset, and endoscopic submucosal dissection was performed.

#### Progression and Regression of Premalignant Lesions

On surveillance endoscopy, 11.1% of patients exhibited progression of IM type, 27.4% had progression of IM grade, 25.6% had progression of atrophy, and 33.3% had progression of dysplasia compared with the results of the initial endoscopy. Compared with the findings on initial endoscopy, IM type regressed in 38.5% of patients, and IM grade regressed in 29.9%. Notably,

Table 1. Baseline characteristics of the 117 patients				
Age, mean (± SD), y	58.26±11.2			
Sex				
Male	50 (42.7)*			
Female	67 (57.3)*			
IM type				
Complete	38 (32.5)*			
Incomplete	79 (67.5)*			
IM grade				
Mild	48.0 (41.0)*			
Moderate	48.0 (41.0)*			
Marked	21 (18.0)*			
Atrophy				
None	22 (18.8)*			
Mild	65 (55.5)*			
Moderate	26 (22.2)*			
Marked	4 (3.4)*			
Dysplasia				
None	31 (26.5)*			
Undefined	67 (57.3)*			
Low grade	19 (16.2)*			
Helicobacter pylori				
Negative	69 (59)*			
Positive	48 (41)*			
Family history of gastric cancer				
Yes	29 (25.0)*			
No	87 (75.0)*			
NSAIDs				
Yes	43 (36.8)*			
No	74 (63.3)*			
Proton pump inhibitors				
Yes	81 (69.2)*			
No	36 (30.8)*			
Smoking				
Yes	60 (51.7)*			
No	56 (48.3)*			
Alcohol consumption				
Yes	13 (11.2)*			
No	103 (88.8)*			

\*(n, %), IM: intestinal metaplasia, NSAIDs: non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, SD: standard deviation
J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):269-76

IM type and grade were stable in 50.4% and 42.7% of patients, respectively. Similarly, atrophy regressed in 35.0% of patients, and atrophy was stable in 39.3% based on surveillance endoscopy; dysplasia regressed in 23.1% of patients, and dysplasia was stable in 43.6% (Table 2). Among patients with incomplete metaplasia on initial endoscopy, 54.0% had incomplete IM on surveillance endoscopy, 25.3% had complete IM, and 20.3% did not have IM. Among the patients with complete IM on initial endoscopy, 34.2% progressed to incomplete metaplasia, and 23.7% did not have IM.

On surveillance endoscopies, a positive correlation was observed between the progression of the IM grade and the progression of the IM type (r=0.59, p=0.001), atrophy (r=0.52, p=0.001), and dysplasia (r=0.55, p=0.001). Likewise, as IM type progression, both atrophy (r=0.22, p<0.05) and dysplasia progressed (r=0.41, p=0.001). Moreover, as atrophy progressed, dysplasia progressed too (r=0.53, p=0.001).

# Progression to Dysplasia in Premalignant Lesions

A statistically significant difference was observed between IM grade on the initial biopsies and the distribution of dysplasia in subsequent biopsies (p=0.002) and between atrophy status on the initial biopsies and the distribution of dysplasia in subsequent

biopsies (p=0.019). Fourteen patients (43.8%) who had LGD on surveillance endoscopy, as well as all four patients with HGD (100%) and two patients with GC (100%), had moderate IM on initial endoscopy. However, 23 patients (56.1%) without dysplasia and 17 (44.7%) with indefinite dysplasia had mild IM on initial endoscopy (p=0.002). Likewise, 13 patients (40.6%) with LGD and 2 patients (100%) with GC had moderate atrophy scores on the initial biopsies. Moreover, 20 patients (48.8%) without dysplasia and 28 patients (73.7%) with indefinite dysplasia had mild atrophy scores on the initial biopsies (p=0.019). No significant relationship was noted between IM type on the initial biopsies and the distribution of dysplasia on subsequent biopsies (p=0.070) (Table 3). However, 24 of 32 patients (75%) who had LGD on surveillance endoscopy had incomplete IM on initial endoscopy, and in all 4 patients (100%) with HGD and both patients (100%) with GC on surveillance endoscopy, incomplete IM was noted on initial endoscopy.

# **Risk Factors**

The rate of *H. pylori* infection was significantly higher on surveillance endoscopy compared with initial endoscopy (p=0.001). Notably, including the 23 patients who received eradication therapy before initial endoscopy, 53 patients (76.8%)

Table 2. Progression and regression of premalignant gastric lesions on surveillance endoscopy						
	Surveillance endoscopy n (%)					
	Progression	Regression	No change			
Baseline endoscopy						
IM types	13 (11.1)	45 (38.5)	59 (50.4)			
IM grade	32 (27.4)	35 (29.9)	50 (42.7)			
Atrophy	30 (25.6)	41 (35)	46 (39.3)			
Dysplasia	39 (33.3)	27 (23.1)	51 (43.6)			
IM: intestinal metaplasia						

 Table 3. Comparison of patients at low and high risk for gastric cancer on surveillance endoscopy according to histologic characteristics on initial endoscopy

Dysplasia on surveillance endoscopy, n (%)								
Baseline endoscopy	GC (n=2)	HGD (n=4)	LGD (n=32)	Indefinite (n=38)	None (n=41)	р		
IM grade								
Marked	0	0	10 (31.3)	7 (18.4)	4 (9.8)	-		
Moderate	2 (100)	4 (100)	14 (43.8)	14 (36.8)	14 (34.1)	0.002*		
Mild	0	0	8 (25)	17 (44.7)	23 (56.1)	-		
IM type								
Incomplete	2 (100)	4 (100)	24 (75)	25 (65.8)	24 (58.5)	0.070		
Complete	0	0	8 (25)	13 (34.2)	17 (41.5)	-		
Atrophy								
Marked	0	0	1 (3.1)	0	3 (7.3)	-		
Moderate	2 (100)	0	13 (40.6)	4 (10.5)	7 (17.1)	-		
Mild	0	4 (100)	13 (40.6)	28 (73.7)	20 (48.8)	0.019*		
None	0	0	5 (15.6)	6 (15.8)	11 (26.8)	-		

\*p<0.05 indicates significance.

GC: gastric cancer, HGD: high-grade dysplasia, IM: intestinal metaplasia, LGD: low-grade dysplasia

without *H. pylori* infection had positive *H. pylori* results on surveillance endoscopy.

Nevertheless, no correlation was noted between the progression and regression status of premalignant lesions and possible risk factors, such as age, sex, smoking history, alcohol use, PPI and NSAID use, and *H. pylori* infection (all p>0.05).

#### OLGA and OLGIM Stage

On surveillance endoscopy, 32.8% of patients had OLGA stage 1 disease, 24.1% had stage 2, 10.3% had stage 3, and 1.7% had stage 4. No significant relationship was observed between IM grade (p=0.064), IM type (p=0.593), atrophy (p=0.222), or dysplasia distribution (p=0.138) on initial endoscopy and the OLGA stages on surveillance endoscopy. However, on surveillance endoscopy, OLGA stage 3-4 disease was noted in most patients who had progression of IM grade (p=0.0001), IM type (p=0.0001).

On surveillance endoscopy, 19 patients (16.2%) had OLGIM stage 1, 41 (35%) had stage 2, 22 (18.8%) had stage 3, and 14 (12%) had stage 4. Furthermore, with the increase in IM grade, IM type, atrophy, and dysplasia on initial endoscopy, an increase in OLGIM stage was observed on surveillance endoscopy. Most patients with OLGIM stage 2-4 disease had incomplete IM, and LGD, or indefinite dysplasia on initial endoscopy, whereas most OLGIM stage 1 patients had complete IM (p=0.044) and no dysplasia (p=0.009) (Table 4).

Regarding the OLGIM stage of premalignant lesions on surveillance endoscopy, moderate atrophy was noted in most patients with OLGIM stages 3 (59.1%) and 4 (50.0%); stage 2 was seen in most patients (56.1%) with mild atrophy, and atrophy was not observed in most patients with stage 1 (63.2%) (p=0.001). Incomplete IM was observed in most patients with OLGIM stages 2 (51.2%), 3 (86.4%), and 4 (85.7%), and complete IM was observed in most patients with stage 1 (73.7%) (p=0.001). Regarding dysplasia, LGD was noted in most patients with stages 3 (50.0%) and 4 (57.1%), and nearly half (48.8%) of patients with indeterminate dysplasia had stage 2. Typically, dysplasia was not observed in patients with stage 1 (p=0.001).

Furthermore, most patients whose atrophy progressed on surveillance endoscopy had OLGIM stages 3 (45.5%) and 4 (42.9%) (p=0.001), and those whose dysplasia progressed were OLGIM stages 3 (50.0%) and 4 (64.3%) (p=0.001).

# DISCUSSION

In this study, patients with antrum-restricted IM on untargeted biopsies obtained during initial endoscopy were re-evaluated after a median of 7.2 years. Based on our results, patients with antrum-restricted IM are at risk of neoplastic lesions and require endoscopic surveillance. In addition, it has been observed that premalignant lesions can both progress and regress during clinical surveillance.

OLGIM on surveillance endoscopy, n (%)								
Baseline endoscopy	Stage 4	Stage 3	Stage 2	Stage 1	None	р		
IM grade	IM grade							
Marked	6 (42.9)	7 (31.8)	5 (12.2)	1 (5.3)	2 (9.5)	-		
Moderate	6 (42.9)	9 (40.9)	22 (53.7)	3 (15.8)	8 (38.1)	0.001*		
Mild	2 (14.3)	6 (27.3)	14 (34.1)	15 (78.9)	11 (52.4)	-		
IM type								
Incomplete	12 (85.7)	19 (86.4)	26 (63.4)	9 (47.4)	13 (61.9)	0.044		
Complete	2 (14.3)	3 (13.6)	15 (36.6)	10 (52.6)	8 (38.1)	-		
Atrophy								
Marked	0 (0.0)	1 (4.5)	0 (0.0)	1 (5.3)	2 (9.5)	-		
Moderate	5 (35.7)	5 (22.7)	11 (26.8)	0 (0.0)	5 (23.8)	0.043		
Mild	8 (57.1)	11 (50.0)	25 (61.0)	13 (68.4)	8 (38.1)	-		
None	1 (7.1)	5 (22.7)	5 (12.2)	5 (26.3)	6 (28.6)	-		
Dysplasia								
High-grade	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	-		
Low grade	4 (28.6)	6 (27.3)	5 (12.2)	1 (5.3)	3 (14.3)	0.009*		
Indefinite	9 (64.3)	11 (50.0)	29 (70.7)	6 (31.6)	12 (57.1)	-		
None	1 (7.1)	5 (22.7)	7 (17.1)	12 (63.2)	6 (28.6)	-		

Table 4. Evaluation of OLGIM stages on surveillance endoscopy according to histology diagnoses on baseline endoscopy

\*p<0.05 indicates significance.

IM: intestinal metaplasia , OLGIM: Operative Link on Gastric Intestinal Metaplasia

Delayed diagnosis of GC is associated with a high mortality rate. Therefore, it is imperative to screen for premalignant lesions in high-risk groups (17). Moreover, an uneven IM distribution might cause sampling errors, making the detection of premalignant gastric lesions challenging. Therefore, the best approach is to use diagnostic endoscopy with a gastric mapping protocol. The updated Sydney system is a widely applied biopsy protocol (7). However, studies have reported that this protocol does not fully reflect the actual state of IM (18,19). Therefore, in our study, we used a biopsy protocol to obtain specimens from all stomach regions to optimally assess the severity and distribution of premalignant gastric lesions (12). Most premalignant gastric lesions were observed in the antrum, followed by throughout the stomach and the corpus. In Western countries and other populations, 50% of precancerous gastric lesions were noted in the antrum, 17.7% in the corpus, and 15% in both regions (20,21).

Notably, the prevalence of GC varies significantly among different geographic regions (22,23). Guidelines recommend surveillance endoscopy for patients with extensive IM and atrophy, and also for patients with gastric IM who are at high risk for GC owing to their ethnicity or family history (5,6,10,11). European guidelines recommend an interval of 3 years and more more intensive surveillance for those with extensive gastric IM and atrophy, whereas the guidelines of the American Gastroenterological Association recommend a 3- to 5-year surveillance period (5,6). Nonetheless, these guidelines do not recommend follow-up for patients with antrum-restricted gastric IM and atrophy. However, in our study, 27.4% of patients with antrum-restricted IM on initial endoscopy had progression of the IM grade, whereas 25.6% had progression of atrophy and 33.3% had progression of dysplasia on surveillance endoscopy. In addition, HGD and GC were detected in four and two patients, respectively. For the two patients with GC, the mean time between initial endoscopy and GC diagnosis was 4.65 years. In our series, the annual incidence of GC was 0.17% among patients with antrum-restricted IM. In one study, the 10-year incidence of GC was 0.8% among patients with atrophic gastritis, while that of patients with IM was 1.8% (8). Therefore, it might not be appropriate to use the same follow-up period for patients with atrophic gastritis and IM. However, per another study, no patients with atrophic gastritis or complete IM on their initial biopsies developed HGD or GC during the 3-year followup period, with only less than 10% of cases progressing to LGD (24). Nevertheless, the annual endoscopic follow-up might not be appropriate for all patients with IM because some will not develop GC. Therefore, a better approach would be to devise a patientindividualized follow-up strategy.

Although the US guidelines on surveillance endoscopy consider patients with incomplete IM as high risk, the European guidelines and the study of Dinis-Ribeiro et al. (11) do not consider IM type (5,6,12). Gonzalez et al. (25) revealed that the risk of GC is three times higher in patients with incomplete IM than those with complete IM. In another study from Spain, 16 of 21 patients with adenocarcinoma had incomplete IM at a mean of 12.8 years after the initial diagnosis, and 1 patient had complete IM; the risk of GC was highest among patients with incomplete IM, and a family history of GC (26). In our study, all four patients with HGD and two with GC, diagnosed on surveillance endoscopy, had incomplete metaplasia on the initial endoscopy. Dinis-Ribeiro et al. (11) suggested using IM grade instead of IM subtype. However, we determined a positive correlation between IM type and grade in our study. Notably, with the progression of IM type, the IM grade and dysplasia also progressed. Therefore, contrary to recommendations, patients with complete IM in the antral mucosa, a history of smoking, a family history of GC, or incomplete IM restricted to the antrum would require endoscopic surveillance (27).

While some precancerous gastric lesions show progression, others may remain stable, or exhibit true regression or show false regression according to the characteristics of the biopsy sampling site or interpretation of histologic grades (21,28). Our data indicated that premalignant lesions might exhibit both progression and regression on clinical surveillance. In our series, based on the findings of the initial endoscopies, 38.5% of patients had IM type regression, and 29.9% had IM grade regression. Nevertheless, IM type remained stable in 50.4% of patients, and IM grade remained stable in 42.7. Similarly, 35% of patients had atrophy regression, and 39.3% had persistent atrophy, whereas 23.1% of patients had dysplasia regression, and 43.6% had persistent dysplasia. Studies have revealed that the location, severity, and extent of precancerous lesions, particularly IM, reflect the likelihood of progression to GC (29). Contrary to some studies stating that IM does not regress, recent studies have demonstrated that IM can be reversible (30,31). When Akbari et al. (28) used a random-effects model to review 20 studies on patients with IM, they reported that the IM regressed in 31.8%, whereas it remained stable in 43.4%. When the results of 10 studies were combined, 32.2% of patients had atrophy regression, and 38.8% had persistent atrophy (28). In addition, the characteristics of LGD and regenerative changes exhibit a large overlap, which could complicate the diagnosis of LGD (32,33). Nevertheless, a study that followed up patients with dysplasia for more than 2 years noted that among patients with LGD, 21% had progression and 36% had spontaneous regression, and in those with moderate-grade dysplasia, 33% had progression, and 27% had spontaneous regression. In addition, 43% of cases with severe dysplasia remained stable, 47% progressed to GC, and 0% regressed (34). Strikingly, den Hoed et al. (19) revealed that 67% of cases of LGD regressed to IM, and the remaining third had regression to atrophic gastritis and even normal mucosa on surveillance endoscopy.

In our study, the severity and extent of premalignant lesions detected on initial endoscopy were not associated with OLGA stage but were associated with OLGIM stage. On initial endoscopy, we observed that, as the severity of IM grade, IM type, atrophy, and dysplasia increased, so did the OLGIM stage on surveillance endoscopy. In addition, patients whose premalignant lesions exhibited progression on surveillance endoscopy had

OLGA and OLGIM stages 3-4. Some experts recommend using a combination of OLGA and OLGIM to stage chronic gastritis (35). In addition, for patients with extensive atrophy/IM in both the antrum and corpus, histopathologic staging systems, such as OLGA and OLGIM, could be useful for defining patient subgroups based on the risk of progression to GC (11). Our results suggest that the OLGA and OLGIM staging systems can be used in the follow-up programs for premalignant gastric lesions.

#### **Study Limitations**

Nonetheless, our study had some limitations. Although premalignant lesions might develop into neoplastic lesions over the long term, we cannot be definitive regarding the likelihood of this transition, owing to our limited number of patients. In addition, because precancerous lesions have multifocal involvement, we cannot exclude sampling error and misclassification. Another limitation of our study was that we used regular white-light endoscopy at both baseline and surveillance. Although recent guidelines recommend the use of narrow-band imaging to detect premalignant gastric lesions (11), we use white-light endoscopy in our daily practice. Nevertheless, the strength of this study was that the biopsy specimens were obtained by a single physician to ensure consistency. Moreover, analysis of these biopsy samples by a single experienced pathologist ruled out interobserver variability.

# CONCLUSION

Patients with antrum-restricted IM are at risk of neoplastic lesions and require endoscopic surveillance, contrary to the existing recommendations. Moreover, instead of using a single surveillance program to evaluate all patients, a more appropriate approach would be to use a patient-specific follow-up program and use OLGA and OLGIM criteria to determine follow-up intervals. Our data revealed that premalignant lesions might exhibit both progression and regression during clinical surveillance. In addition, our study indicated that the IM subtype, along with IM grade, is a useful marker in identifying patients at risk for GC.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine Local Ethics Committee (approval number: 4, date: 2011).

Informed Consent: It was obtained.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - D.Ö.K.; Concept: D.Ö.K., S.H.; Design - D.Ö.K., S.H., A.Ç.; Data Collection or Processing - D.Ö.K., A.E.D.; Analysis or Interpretation - D.Ö.K., Y.S.G., A.Ç., T.G.K.; Literature Search - D.Ö.K., A.E.D.; Writing - D.Ö.K.

**Conflict of Interest:** No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

# REFERENCES

 Pimentel-Nunes P, Dinis-Ribeiro M, Ponchon T, Vieth M, De Ceglie A, Amato A. Endoscopic submucosal dissection: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline. Endoscopy 2015; 47: 829-54.

- Correa P. A human model of gastric carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 1988; 48: 3554-60.
- Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P. Classification and grading of gastritis. The updated Sydney System. International Workshop on the Histopathology of Gastritis, Houston 1994. Am J Surg Pathol 1996; 20: 1161-81.
- Zhang X, Li M, Chen S, Hu J, Guo Q, Liu R, et al. Endoscopic screening in Asian countries is associated with reduced gastric cancer mortality: a meta-analysis and systematic review. Gastroenterology 2018; 155: 347-54.
- Gupta S, Li D, El Serag HB, Davitkov P, Altayar O, Sultan S, et al. AGA Clinical Practice Guidelines on management of gastric intestinal metaplasia. Gastroenterology 2020; 158: 693-702.
- Pimentel-Nunes P, Libânio D, Marcos-Pinto R, Areia M, Leja M, Esposito G. Management of epithelial precancerous conditions and lesions in the stomach (MAPS II): European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE), European Helicobacter and Microbiota Study Group (EHMSG), European Society of Pathology (ESP), and Sociedade Portuguesa de Endoscopia Digestiva (SPED) guideline update 2019. Endoscopy 2019; 51: 365-88.
- Vance RB Jr, Kubiliun N, Dunbar KB. How do we manage gastric intestinal metaplasia? a survey of clinical practice trends for gastrointestinal endoscopists in the United States. Dig Dis Sci 2016; 61: 1870-8.
- De Vries A, Van Gfieken N, Looman CW, Casparie MK, De Vries E, Meijer GA, et al. Gastric cancer risk in patients with premalignant gastric lesions: a nationwide cohort study in the Netherlands. Gastroenterology 2008; 134: 945-52.
- Song H, Ekheden IG, Zheng Z, Ericsson J, Nyrén O, Ye W. Incidence of gastric cancer among patients with gastric precancerous lesions: observational cohort study in a low risk Western population. BMJ 2015; 351: h3867.
- Evans JA, Chandrasekhara V, Chathadi KV, Decker GA, Early DS, Fisher DA, et al. The role of endoscopy in the management of premalignant and malignant conditions of the stomach. Gastrointest Endosc 2015; 82: 1-8.
- Dinis-Ribeiro M, Areia M, De Vries AC, Marcos-Pinto R, Monteiro-Soares M, O'Connor A. Management of precancerous conditions and lesions in the stomach (MAPS): guideline from the European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE), European Helicobacter Study Group (EHSG), European Society of Pathology (ESP), and the Sociedade Portuguesa de Endoscopia Digestiva (SPED). Endoscopy 2012; 44: 74-94.
- De Vries AC, Haringsma J, De Vries RA, ter Borg F, Nagtzaam NM, Steyerberg EW, et al. The use of clinical, histologic, and serologic parameters to predict the intragastric extent of intestinal metaplasia: a recommendation for routine practice. Gastrointest Endosc 2009; 70: 18-25.
- Schlemper R, Riddell R, Kato Y,Borchard F, Cooper H, Dawsey S. The Vienna classification of gastrointestinal epithelial neoplasia. Gut 2000; 47: 251-5.
- Jencks DS, Adam JD, Borum ML, Koh JM, Stephen S, Doman DB: Overview of current concepts in gastric intestinal metaplasia and gastric cancer. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 14: 92-101.
- Rugge M, MeggioA, Pennelli G, Piscioli F, Giacomelli L, De Pretis G, et al. Gastritis staging in clinical practice: the OLGA staging system. Gut 2007; 56: 631-6.
- Rugge M, Fassan M, Pizzi M, Farinati F, Sturniolo GC, Plebani M, et al. Operative link for gastritis assessment vs operative link on intestinal metaplasia assessment. World J Gastroenterol 2011; 17: 4596-601.
- 17. Takahashi T, Saikawa Y, Kitagawa Y. Gastric cancer: current status of diagnosis and treatment. Cancers 2013; 5: 48-63.
- El-Zimaity HM, Graham DY. Evaluation of gastric mucosal biopsy site and number for identification of Helicobacter pylori or intestinal metaplasia: role of the Sydney System. Hum Pathol 1999; 8177: 90303-9.
- den Hoed CM, Holster IL, Capelle LG, De Vries AC, den Hartog B, Ter Borg F, et al. Follow-up of Premalignant Lesions in Patients at Risk for Progression to Gastric Cancer. Endoscopy 2013; 45: 249-56.

- Chapellea N, Péron M, Mosnier JF, Quénéhervé L, Coron E, Bourget A, et al. Prevalence, characteristics and endoscopic management of gastric premalignant lesions in France. Digest Dis 2019; 1-7.
- Mera RM, Bravo LE, Camargo MC, Bravo JC, Delgado AG, Romero-Gallo J, et al. Dynamics of Helicobacter pylori infection as a determinant of progression of gastric precancerous lesions: 16-year follow-up of an eradication trial. Gut 2018; 67: 1239-46.
- 22. Sitarz R, Skierucha M, Mielko J, Offerhaus GJA, Maciejewski R, Polkowski WP. Gastric cancer: epidemiology, prevention, classification, and treatment. Cancer Manag Res 2018; 10: 239-48.
- Rubio CA, Hirota T, Itabashi M, Mandai K, Yanagisawa A, Kitagawa T, et al. Extended Intestinal Metaplasia. A Survey of 1392 gastrectomies from dwellers of the Pacific Basin. Anticancer Res 2004; 24: 3185-92.
- Dinis-Ribeiro M, Lopes C, da Costa-Pereira A, Guilherme M, Barbosa J, Lomba-Viana H, et al. A follow up model for patients with atrophic chronic gastritis and intestinal metaplasia. J Clin Pathol 2004; 57: 177-82.
- Gonzalez CA, Sanz-Anquela JM, Companioni O, Bonet C, Berdasco M, López Consuelo. Incomplete type of intestinal metaplasia has the highest risk to progress to gastric cancer: results of the Spanish follow-up multicenter study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2016; 31: 953-58.
- Gonzalez CA, Pardo ML, Liso JM, Alonso P, Bonet C, Garcia RM, et al. Gastric cancer occurrence in preneoplastic lesions: a long-term follow-up in a high-risk area in Spain. Int J Cancer 2010; 127: 2654-60.
- 27. Zullo A, Hassan C, Repici A, Annibale B. Intestinal metaplasia surveillance: Searching for the road- map. World J Gastroenterol 2013; 19: 1523-6.

- Akbari M, Tabrizi R, Kardeh S, Lankarani KB. Gastric cancer in patients with gastric atrophy and intestinal metaplasia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0219865.
- Sakitani K, Hirata Y, Watabe H, Yamada A, Sugimoto T, Yamaji Y, et al. Gastric cancer risk according to the distribution of intestinal metaplasia and neutrophil infiltration. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2011; 26: 1570-5.
- Fuccio L, Zagari RM, Minardi ME, Bazzoli F. Systematic review: Helicobacter pylori eradication for the prevention of gastric cancer. Alimentary Pharmacol Ther 2007; 25: 133-41.
- Kiriyama Y, Tahara T, Shibata T, Okubo M, Nakagawa M, Okabe A, et al. Gastric-and-intestinal mixed intestinal metaplasia is irreversible point with eradication of Helicobacter pylori. O J Pathol 2016; 6: 93.
- Rugge M, Correa P, Dixon MF, Hattori T, Leandro G, Lewin K, et al. Gastric dysplasia: the Padova international classification. Am J Surg Pathol 2000; 24: 167-76.
- Lauwers GY, Riddell RH. Gastric Epithelial Dysplasia. Gut 1999; 45: 784-90.
- Rugge M, Farinati F, Baffa R, Sonego F, Di Mario F, Leandro G, et al. Gastric epithelial dysplasia in the natural history of gastric cancer: a multicenter prospective follow-up study. Interdisciplinary Group on Gastric Epithelial Dysplasia. Gastroenterology 1994; 107: 1288-96.
- Isajevs S, Liepniece-Karele I, Janciauskas D, Moisejevs G, Putnins V, Funka K, et al. Gastritis staging: interobserver agreement by applying OLGA and OLGIM systems. Virchows Arch 2014; 464: 403-7.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3579 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):277-82

# Reliability and Validity of the Turkish Version of the Questionnaire for the Assessment of Self-Reported Olfactory Functioning and Olfaction-Related Quality of Life

Özlem Saatçi<sup>1</sup>, Özge Arıcı Düz<sup>2</sup>, Aytuğ Altundağ<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Sancaktepe Şehit Prof Dr. İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Otolaryngology, İstanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Medipol University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Neurology, İstanbul, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Biruni University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Otolaryngology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Saatçi Ö, Arıcı Düz Ö, Altundağ A. Reliability and Validity of the Turkish Version of the Questionnaire for the Assessment of Self-Reported Olfactory Functioning and Olfaction-Related Quality of Life. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):277-82

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** To examine the reliability and validity of the Turkish version of the questionnaire for the assessment of self-reported olfactory functioning and olfaction-related quality of life (ASOF).

**Methods:** Three different surveys [ASOF, beck depression inventory (BDI), and 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) questionnaire] were completed by 112 subjects with subjective olfactory dysfunction (OD) and 21 healthy controls. Sniffin' Sticks tests were performed. Internal consistency, test-retest reliability, and validity were analyzed.

**Results:** The Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients for the ASOF self-reported capability of perceiving (ASOF-SRP) specific odors scale (SOC) and ASOF self-reported olfaction-related quality of life (ASOF-ORQ) were 0.98 and 0.97, with relatively high internal consistency, respectively. The test-retest reliability for the ASOF was high for all subscales. ASOF-SRP-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ showed significant positive correlations with the overall SF-36 score and negative correlations with BDI. The ASOF scale scores in healthy controls were significantly higher than those in patients with hyposmia and anosmia (p=0.001). TDI composite score and its subscales (threshold, discrimination, and identification) showed significant negative correlations with the BDI score and significant positive correlations with each of the SF-36 domains and overall SF-36 scores and ASOF subtests.

**Conclusion:** This study showed that the Turkish version of the ASOF is a reliable and valid measure to determine the olfactory function and impairment in daily life associated with OD. Because of the easy-to-use features of the ASOF, it is a useful tool for initial assessment and follow-up of the subjects with OD.

Keywords: Smell, olfaction disorders, quality of life, olfactory test, olfaction-related quality of life, questionnaire of olfactory disorders

# INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of olfactory dysfunction (OD) in the general population ranges between 4% and 25% (1). Sinonasal disorders, upper airway infections, and trauma are the most frequent causes

of OD (2). OD not only leads to a decline in tasting foods, but also may affect an individuals' life by complicating the recognition of rotten food or toxic gases (3). Moreover, OD may influence subjects' well-being and health-related quality of life and may even lead to the development of depression in some individuals (4).

ORCID IDs of the authors: Ö.S. 0000-0002-3372-9514; Ö.A.D. 0000-0003-0334-811X; A.A.0000-0003-0794-5050.



**Corresponding Author:** Özlem Saatçi, E-mail: oreleos@hotmail.com Received Date: 03.07.2020 Accepted Date: 27.11.2020

Psychometric assessment tools have been developed to evaluate the individual effects of OD on daily activities. Questionnaire for olfactory dysfunction (QOD), olfaction questionnaire, and assessment of self-reported olfactory functioning and olfactionrelated quality of life (ASOF) are some of the tests used to evaluate the functional status and health-related quality of life following OD (3-7). ASOF was developed by Pusswald et al. (4) in 2012. ASOF contains subjective olfactory capability scale (SOC), selfreported capability of perceiving specific odors scale (SRP), and olfactory-related quality of life scale (ORQ). Besides its feasibility for application to subjects with OD, ASOF can also provide data concerning the psychometric properties of subjects with OD. ASOF, which is used to assess patients' subjective symptom severity in clinical practice, has been shown to discriminate between subjects with normosmia and hyposmia (8,9).

Disease-specific questionnaires evaluating the quality of life may be utilized to identify the changes in the health-related quality of life. Moreover, these inventories may help compare data derived from different populations. However, the content and language of the questionnaires have to be adapted and tested before its application in different patient populations. Therefore, the present study aimed to assess the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the ASOF in subjects with OD.

# **METHODS**

This prospective single-center study was conducted on 112 subjects admitted to the Smell and Taste Center for subjective smell disorders between March 2019 and December 2019. The control group included 21 healthy subjects without any chronic medical disease or OD. All subjects underwent routine otolaryngological examination, nasal endoscopy, computed tomography of the paranasal sinuses, and Sniffin' Sticks test. Subjects with neurodegenerative diseases, pregnant subjects, smokers, and subjects with malignancies were excluded. Ethics committee of Medipol University (approval number: 268, date: 22.03.2019). The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments. Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

In the test-retest reliability analysis, the data related to 50 individuals were analyzed through the Spearman correlation test and compared with the data obtained after 3 weeks.

#### **Olfactory Function Tests**

The Turkish version of the Sniffin' Sticks test (Burghart, Wedel, Germany) was used to evaluate patients' olfactory function. The cap of the pen was removed by the experimenter to present odor for 3 s while the tip of the pen was 1-2 cm away from the nostrils. Odor thresholds (T) for n-butanol were determined by using three alternative forced-choice procedures. Sixteen triplets of pens were presented for odor discrimination (D), one containing 4% n-butanol solution (target odorant), and the other two containing only propylene glycol (negative controls). The subjects were

requested to identify the pen containing the odorant. Each odor was presented once. The subjects were blindfolded using a sleeping mask to prevent visual identification of the pens. At least 30-s intervals were provided between odor samplings. The answer was accepted as correct when the subject could identify the pen containing the odorant for two consecutive applications. T was scored from 1 to 16.

Sixteen common odors were used to assess odor identification (OI). OI was performed from a list of four verbal descriptors using a multiple forced-choice paradigm. Each odorant was presented by the experimenter with 30-s intervals between odors. OI was scored from 0 to 16.

Overall olfactory function (TDI score) was expressed by adding the scores from the three individual tests, and scores of <16.5 and >30.5 correspond to functional anosmia and normosmia, respectively (10). Subjects with a TDI score between 16.5 and 30.5 were considered to have hyposmia (11).

#### Translation and Scoring of ASOF

The necessary legal permission to translate the ASOF inventory to the Turkish language was obtained from Johann Lehrner by e-mail. The ASOF inventory was translated to Turkish by two independent medical translators (4). The translated inventory was approved by five ear, nose, and throat specialists who were aware of the socio-cultural properties of the study group. The Turkish version of the ASOF inventory was then retranslated to English by two independent medical translators unaware of the original ASOF inventory. A committee consisting of specialists checked the English version, and this version was resent to the authors for approval.

The original version of the ASOF consisted of three domains, including the one-item SOC, the five-item SRP, and the six-item ORQ scales. SOC indicates the olfactory performance on a Likert scale ranging from 0 to 10 (0 indicates unable to smell and 10 indicates best possible smell). An SOC score of  $\leq$ 3 indicates abnormal olfactory capabilities. SRP includes five items and measures the capability of perceiving specific odors. An SRP score of  $\leq$ 2.9 indicates problems in smelling odors. The six-item ORQ measures olfaction-related quality of life. Patients with ORQ score of  $\leq$ 3.7 are considered to have smell-related problems in their quality of life.

In the test-retest reliability analysis, the data related to 50 individuals were analyzed through the Spearman correlation test and compared with the data obtained after 3 weeks.

To assess the validity of the Turkish version of the ASOF, its correlation with other psychometric tests, such as the 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey questionnaire (SF-36), and beck depression inventory (BDI) was analyzed.

#### SF-36

The SF-36 is a multi-item scale that assesses the limitations in eight health concepts, including limitations in physical and social activities, and usual role activities caused by physical or emotional problems (12,13).

#### BDI

The BDI consists of 21 self-scored items that evaluate key symptoms of depression. Scores between 10 and 16, between 17 and 23, and ≥24 indicate mild, moderate, and severe depression, respectively (14,15).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All analyses were performed using SPSS v21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test data distribution. Descriptive data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation, and categorical variables were presented as frequency and percentages. The Cronbach alpha coefficient was calculated to assess the internal consistency of the ASOF and its subscales. The test-retest reliability was calculated by correlating initial and subsequent test scores based on the Spearman correlation coefficient.

The convergent validity of the ASOF and its subscales was assessed by correlating their scores with SF-36 and BDI using the Spearman's rank coefficient of correlation. The discriminative validity of the ASOF was evaluated by comparing its scores between subgroups of patients with anosmia, hyposmia, and normosmia by using the Kruskal-Wallis test. The correlation of the ASOF with TDI score and its subscales (T, D, and OI) was evaluated using the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. The association of the ASOF subtests with patients' sex and age was also examined using the Mann-Whitney U Test and Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, respectively. Two-tailed p<0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

# RESULTS

The study enrolled 133 subjects (mean age: 44.83±13.15 years), 46.5% of the subjects were men. Hyposmia and anosmia were noted in 54 (48.2%) and 58 (51.8%) participants. The control groups consisted of 21 healthy volunteers. The etiology was chronic rhinosinusitis, allergic rhinitis, post-upper respiratory tract Saatçi et al. Questionnaire for Olfactory Functioning 279

infection, and post-traumatic in 29 (25.9%), 24 (21.4%), 42 (37.5%), and in 17 (15.2%) subjects, respectively. The duration of olfactory loss was 29.71±9.92 months.

The Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients calculated for the ASOF-SRP and ASOF-ORQ in all patients were 0.98 and 0.97, with relatively high internal consistency, respectively.

The test-retest reliability coefficient for subscales were 0.97 (p<0.001) and 0.94 (p<0.001) for ASOF-SRP and ASOF-ORQ, respectively.

For validation, we assessed both convergent and discriminant validity. The convergent validity of the ASOF subscales (SOC, SRP, and ORQ) were assessed by correlating their scores with other validated psychometric tests. ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ showed significant positive correlations with all SF-36 score and SF-36 domains, and negative correlations with BDI (Table 1). The discriminant validity of the ASOF was evaluated by comparing ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores in patients with different olfactory functions (anosmia, hyposmia, and normosmia). ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores in healthy controls were significantly higher than those in patients with hyposmia and anosmia (p=0.001). ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores in patients with hyposmia were also higher than those in patients with anosmia (p=0.001) (Table 2, Figure 1). In addition, all SF-36 domain scores in healthy controls were higher than those in patients with hyposmia and anosmia (p<0.001). Moreover, the BDI score in healthy controls was significantly lower than that in patients with hyposmia and anosmia (p<0.001).

Statistically significant negative correlations of T, D, OI, and TDI scores with the BDI score and statistically significant positive correlations of T, D, OI, and TDI scores with each of the SF-36 domains and overall SF-36 scores were noted. TDI score and its subscales (T, D, and OI) were also positively correlated with ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores (Table 3). However, no significant correlations were observed between age and ASOF-

Table 1. Correlation between ASOF test with SF-36 and BDI							
	ASOF-SOC		ASOF-SRP		ASOF-ORQ		
	r	р	r	р	r	р	
PF	0.620	<0.001	0.454	<0.001	0.445	<0.001	
RP	0.542	<0.001	0.409	<0.001	0.423	<0.001	
RE	0.622	<0.001	0.513	<0.001	0.432	<0.001	
VT	0.699	<0.001	0.658	<0.001	0.655	<0.001	
MH	0.643	<0.001	0.572	<0.001	0.559	<0.001	
SF	0.603	<0.001	0.604	<0.001	0.595	<0.001	
BP	0.696	<0.001	0.703	<0.001	0.722	<0.001	
GH	0.702	<0.001	0.601	<0.001	0.639	<0.001	
BDI	-0.634	<0.001	-0.585	<0.001	-0.564	< 0.001	

ASOF: assessment of self-reported olfactory functioning and olfaction-related quality of life, ASOF-SOC: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-ORQ: self-reported olfaction related quality of life, SF-36: 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey, PF: physical functioning, RP: role limitation due to physical health, RE: role limitations due to emotional problems, VT: vitality, MH: mental health, SF: social function, BP: bodily pain, GH: general health perception, BDI: beck depression inventory

Table 2. Comparison of ASOF scores between healthy control and patients with hyposmia and anosmia							
	Healthy controls (n=21)	Patients with hyposmia (n=54)	Patients with anosmia (n=58)	p <sup>1</sup>	p <sup>2</sup>	p <sup>3</sup>	
ASOF-SOC	7.62±0.8	2.85±1	1.84±1.02	< 0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	
ASOF-SRP	4.93±0.22	2.8±0.56	2.06±0.48	< 0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	
ASOF-ORQ	4.93±0.23	2.77±0.53	2.6±0.33	< 0.001	<0.001	<0.001	

Data expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation.

ASOF-SOC: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-SRP: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-ORQ: self-reported olfaction related quality of life,  $p^1$ : control group vs group with hyposmia (p=0.001; p<0.01),  $p^2$ : control group vs group with anosmia (p=0.001; p<0.01),  $p^3$ : groups with hyposmia vs anosmia (p=0.001; p<0.01)

Table 3. Correlation of ASOE test, SE-36 test and BDI test with olfactory tests (TDI score and its subtests OT, OD, and OI)

				•			
т		D		OI		TDI	
r	Ρ	r	р	r	р	r	р
0.813	<0.001	0.820	<0.001	0.827	< 0.001	0.843	< 0.001
0.808	<0.001	0.841	<0.001	0.808	<0.001	0.846	< 0.001
0.699	<0.001	0.728	<0.001	0.665	< 0.001	0.715	< 0.001
0.535	<0.001	0.505	<0.001	0.497	<0.001	0.513	<0.001
0.499	<0.001	0.433	<0.001	0.421	< 0.001	0.456	< 0.001
0.522	<0.001	0.523	<0.001	0.547	< 0.001	0.541	< 0.001
0.639	<0.001	0.606	<0.001	0.644	<0.001	0.648	< 0.001
0.543	<0.001	0.495	<0.001	0.498	< 0.001	0.505	< 0.001
0.549	<0.001	0.598	<0.001	0.556	<0.001	0.587	< 0.001
0.646	<0.001	0.653	<0.001	0.592	<0.001	0.634	< 0.001
0.633	<0.001	0.602	<0.001	0.592	<0.001	0.617	< 0.001
-0.588	<0.001	-0.536	<0.001	-0.521	<0.001	-0.556	< 0.001
	T         r         0.813         0.808         0.699         0.535         0.499         0.522         0.639         0.543         0.543         0.543         0.646         0.633         -0.588	T         P           r         P           0.813         <0.001	T         D           r         P         r           0.813         <0.001	T         D           r         p           0.813         <0.001	TDOIrPrpr $0.813$ <0.001	TDOIrprp $0.813$ $<0.001$ $0.820$ $<0.001$ $0.827$ $<0.001$ $0.808$ $<0.001$ $0.841$ $<0.001$ $0.808$ $<0.001$ $0.609$ $<0.001$ $0.728$ $<0.001$ $0.665$ $<0.001$ $0.535$ $<0.001$ $0.505$ $<0.001$ $0.497$ $<0.001$ $0.499$ $<0.001$ $0.433$ $<0.001$ $0.421$ $<0.001$ $0.522$ $<0.001$ $0.523$ $<0.001$ $0.547$ $<0.001$ $0.543$ $<0.001$ $0.666$ $<0.001$ $0.644$ $<0.001$ $0.543$ $<0.001$ $0.598$ $<0.001$ $0.556$ $<0.001$ $0.646$ $<0.001$ $0.653$ $<0.001$ $<0.592$ $<0.001$ $0.633$ $<0.001$ $0.602$ $<0.001$ $<0.592$ $<0.001$ $0.588$ $<0.001$ $<0.536$ $<0.001$ $<0.592$ $<0.001$	TDOITDIrPrprp $0.813$ $<0.001$ $0.820$ $<0.001$ $0.827$ $<0.001$ $0.843$ $0.808$ $<0.001$ $0.811$ $<0.001$ $0.808$ $<0.001$ $0.843$ $0.609$ $<0.001$ $0.841$ $<0.001$ $0.808$ $<0.001$ $0.846$ $0.699$ $<0.001$ $0.728$ $<0.001$ $0.6655$ $<0.001$ $0.715$ $0.535$ $<0.001$ $0.505$ $<0.001$ $0.497$ $<0.001$ $0.513$ $0.499$ $<0.001$ $0.433$ $<0.001$ $0.421$ $<0.001$ $0.456$ $0.522$ $<0.001$ $0.523$ $<0.001$ $0.547$ $<0.001$ $0.541$ $0.639$ $<0.001$ $0.606$ $<0.001$ $0.644$ $<0.001$ $0.505$ $0.543$ $<0.001$ $0.495$ $<0.001$ $0.592$ $<0.001$ $0.587$ $0.646$ $<0.001$ $0.602$ $<0.001$ $0.592$ $<0.001$ $0.617$ $0.588$ $<0.001$ $<0.536$ $<0.001$ $<0.521$ $<0.001$ $<0.556$

ASOF: assessment of self-reported olfactory functioning and olfaction-related quality of life, ASOF-SOC: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-SRP: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-ORQ: self-reported olfaction related quality of life, SF-36: 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey, PF: physical functioning, RP: role limitation due to physical health, RE: role limitations due to emotional problems, VT: vitality, MH: mental health, SF: social function, BP: bodily pain, GH: general health perception, BDI: beck depression inventory, T: odor threshold, D: odor discrimination, OI: odor identification



Figure 1. Comparison of ASOF scores between healthy control and patients with hyposmia and anosmia

\*p<0.05 in comparison of the control group vs. the groups with hyposmia and anosmia, #p<0.05 in comparison of the groups with hyposmia vs anosmia, ASOF: assessment of self-reported olfactory functioning and olfaction-related quality of life, ASOF-SOC: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-SRP: self-reported capability of perceiving specific odors scale, ASOF-ORQ: self-reported olfaction related quality of life SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores (p=0.773; p=0.60; p=0.921, respectively). ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores were also similar in male and female participants (p=0.347; p=0.268; p=0.435, respectively).

# DISCUSSION

This study showed that the Turkish version of the ASOF is highly reliable and valid to assess the subjective severity of OD in a Turkish population. The Cronbach  $\alpha$  coefficients calculated for the ASOF-SRP and ASOF-ORQ in all patients were 0.98 and 0.97, respectively. The test-retest reliability for subscales also ranged between 0.94 and 0.97, suggesting that the ASOF has high reproducibility. Thus, test-retest reliability was found to be acceptable for ASOF. The significant correlations between ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ with overall SF-36 score and SF-36 domains, and significant negative correlations between ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ with BDI showed the convergent validity of the ASOF subscales. ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ with BDI showed the convergent validity of the ASOF subscales. ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ with BDI showed the convergent validity of the ASOF subscales. ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores differed significantly among healthy

controls and patients with hyposmia and anosmia, indicating discriminant validity of the ASOF subscales. TDI score and its subscales (T, D, and OI) showed significant negative correlations with the BDI score and significant positive correlations with each of the SF-36 domains and overall SF-36 scores.

Because the sense of smell is associated with several biological functions, including eating, reproduction, and avoidance of danger, OD leads to difficulties in daily living. Patients with severe hyposmia or anosmia have been shown to encounter significant impairment in health-related quality of life (16). Retrospective data has revealed that patients with OD are subject to reduced body weight, appetite, and psychological well-being, as well as an increased rate of depression (17).

Several olfaction-specific psychometric assessment tools have been developed to address the impact of OD on daily life. Present Odor Perception Scale, which consists of three questions aiming to identify how well patients think they can smell, is one of the earliest questionnaires used for this purpose (18). QOD is another widely used psychometric assessment tool utilized to assess the quality of life related to OD (6). However, shortness of psychometrically validated instruments concerning self-reported general olfactory capability, self-reported capability of reporting specific odors and self-reported olfaction-related quality of life in patients with OD led to the development of novel psychometric assessment tools, such as the ASOF.

The ASOF has been shown to have excellent psychometric properties in addition to being easy to use in clinical practice. Therefore, the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the ASOF were assessed for its application in subjects with OD. Our findings indicate that Turkish version of the ASOF is highly valid for assessment of the self-reported olfaction-related quality of life. The validity was assessed using both discriminant and convergent techniques. Discriminant validity was analyzed to determine the ASOF's discriminative power by comparing the ASOF score between healthy controls and patients with OD. Significant differences were found in ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ scores among participants with normosmia, hyposmia, and anosmia. These results support the findings published by Pusswald et al. (4), which showed significant differences in ASOF-SOC, ASOF-SRP, and ASOF-ORQ between subjects with OD and healthy controls. This finding suggests that the Turkish version of the ASOF might be a valuable tool for discrimination of subjects with hyposmia from those with anosmia and subjects with hyposmia from those with normal olfactory function. Convergent validity was evaluated through correlation of the ASOF to Sniffin' Sticks test by using the data of the patients with OD. The TDI overall score and its subscales (T, D, and OI) had significant positive correlations with all ASOF subtests. The convergent validity of the Turkish version of the ASOF was also assessed by correlating ASOF subtest scores with other validated and commonly used psychometric tests, including SF-36 and BDI, which measure similar or related concepts. ASOF subtests

displayed significant positive correlations with overall SF-36 score and SF-36 domains, and negative correlations with BDI. Finally, the relation of the ASOF scales with age and sex in patients with OD was also investigated. The Turkish version of the ASOF was found to have no relation to age or sex.

#### **Study Limitations**

This study has limitations. Subjects with qualitative smell disorders, such as parosmia and phantosmia, were not enrolled in the study. Further studies enrolling patients with these disorders can further demonstrate the validity of the Turkish version of the ASOF in a larger population with OD. Nevertheless, given the high internal consistency and discriminant and convergent validity, we suggest that the Turkish version of the ASOF is highly valid and reliable to demonstrate subjective OD.

# CONCLUSION

This study shows that the Turkish version of the ASOF is a reliable and valid measure to determine the impairment in daily life associated with OD. Its cost effective and easy-to-use feature makes the ASOF a useful tool for initial assessment and follow-up of patients with OD.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was received for this study from the Ethics Committee of Medipol University (approval number: 268, date: 22.03.2019).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - Ö.S., Ö.A.D., A.A.; Concept - Ö.S., Ö.A.D.; Design - Ö.S., A.A.; Data Collection or Processing - Ö.S., Ö.A.D., A.A.; Analysis or Interpretation - Ö.S.; Literature Search - Ö.S., A.A.; Writing - Ö.S., Ö.A.D.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Brämerson A, Johansson L, Ek L, Nordin S, Bende M. Prevalence of olfactory dysfunction: the skövde population-based study. Laryngoscope 2004; 114: 733-7.
- Keller A, Malaspina D. Hidden consequences of olfactory dysfunction: a patient report series. BMC Ear, Nose and Throat Disord 2013; 13: 8.
- Croy I, Nordin S, Hummel T. Olfactory disorders and quality of life-an updated review. Chem Senses 2014; 39: 185-94.
- Pusswald G, Auff E, Lehrner J. Development of a brief self-report inventory to measure olfactory dysfunction and quality of life in patients with problems with the sense of smell. Chemosensory Perception 2012; 5: 292-9.
- Neuland C, Bitter T, Marschner H, Gudziol H, Guntinas-Lichius O. Healthrelated and specific olfaction-related quality of life in patients with chronic functional anosmia or severe hyposmia. Laryngoscope 2011; 121: 867-72.
- Croy I, Landis BN, Meusel T, Seo HS, Krone F, Hummel T. Patient adjustment to reduced olfactory function. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2011; 137: 377-82.
- Frasnelli J, Hummel T. Olfactory dysfunction and daily life. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2005; 262: 231-5.
- Tahmasebi R, Zehetmayer S, Stögmann E, Lehrner J. Awareness of olfactory dysfunction in subjective cognitive decline, mild cognitive

decline, and Alzheimer's disease. Chemosensory Perception 2020; 13: 59-70.

- Leonhardt B, Tahmasebi R, Jagsch R, Pirker W, Lehrner J. Awareness of olfactory dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Neuropsychology 2019; 33: 633-41.
- Hummel T, Sekinger B, Wolf SR, Pauli E, Kobal G. "Sniffin' sticks": olfactory performance assessed by the combined testing of odor identification, odor discrimination and olfactory threshold. Chem Senses 1997; 22: 39-52.
- Kobal G, Klimek L, Wolfensberger M, Gudziol H, Temmel A, Owen C, et al. Multicenter investigation of 1,036 subjects using a standardized method for the assessment of olfactory function combining tests of odor identification, odor discrimination, and olfactory thresholds. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2000; 257: 205-11.
- Ware JE Jr, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med care 1992: 30: 473-83.

- Koçyiğit H, Aydemir Ö, Fişek G, Ölmez N, Memiş A. Form-36 (KF-36)'nın Türkçe versiyonunun güvenilirliği ve geçerliliği. İlaç ve Tedavi Dergisi 1999; 12: 102-6.
- 14. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. Beck depression inventory-II. San Antonio 1996; 78: 490-8.
- Hisli N. A Reliability and validity study of Beck Depression Inventory in a university students sample. J Psychol 1989; 7: 3-13.
- 16. Landis BN, Konnerth CG, Hummel T. A study on the frequency of olfactory dysfunction. Laryngoscope 2004; 114: 1764-9.
- Deems DA, Doty RL, Settle RG, Moore-Gillon V, Shaman P, Mester AF, et al. Smell and taste disorders, a study of 750 patients from the University of Pennsylvania Smell and Taste Center. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Sur 1991; 117: 519-28.
- de Jong N, Mulder I, de Graaf C, van Staveren WA. Impaired sensory functioning in elders: the relation with its potential determinants and nutritional intake. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1999; 54: B324-31.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3275 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):283-87

# Relationship of Endometrial Polyp Prediction with Clinical and Demographic Findings

🔟 Dilşad Herkiloğlu<sup>1</sup>, ២ Şefik Gökçe<sup>1</sup>, ២ Pınar Göksedef<sup>1</sup>, ២ Canan Kabaca<sup>2</sup>, ២ Gülhan Sağıroğlu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Yeni Yüzyıl University, Private Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital, Clinic of Gynecology and Obstetrics, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>2</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Zeynep Kamil Gynecology and Child Diseases Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Gynecology and Obstetrics, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Herkiloğlu D, Gökçe Ş, Göksedef P, Kabaca C, Sağıroğlu G. Relationship of Endometrial Polyp Prediction with Clinical and Demographic Findings. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):283-87

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Endometrial polyp (EP) can be diagnosed clinically by transvaginal ultrasonography (TVUSG). In our study, we aimed to show the effectiveness of TVUSG in detecting EP with the hysteroscopy (H/S) results of patients who applied to our clinic and were considered for EP in TVUSG.

**Methods:** One hundred twenty-five patients who were admitted to the obstetrics outpatient clinics of our hospital between August 1, 2015 and April 1, 2017 and were scheduled for H/S operation with a pre-diagnosis of EP were included in the study. The relationship between the age, abnormal uterine bleeding (AUB), infertility history, and the presence of EP after H/S was examined in the patients who had EP appearance on ultrasonography. The H/S results of patients with suspected EP in TVUSG and the efficiency of TVUSG in detecting EP were investigated.

**Results:** The average age of the patients was  $38.04\pm8.47$  and ranged from 21 to 63. A significant difference was found in H/S between the ages of those with polyps and those without them (p=0.012). In patients with polyps in H/S, the average endometrium thickness was  $13.36\pm5.37$  mm, and in non-polyps, endometrium thickness was  $14.08\pm4.58$  mm. There was no significant difference in terms of endometrial thickness (p=0.141). The rate of AUB history (34.5%) in those with polyps seen in H/S was significantly higher than the rate of AUB history (13.2%) in those without polyps (p=0.007). Polyps were observed in H/S in 76% of 73 cases aged >35, and this rate was found to be significantly higher than cases under 35 years old. The sensitivity and negative predictive value was the highest in the diagnosis of polyp in the case of >35 years old alone (64.3% and 76.7%, respectively); Specificity and positive predictive value were the highest in both AUB and >35 years of age (89.4% and 85.7%, respectively).

Conclusion: With TVUSG, the diagnosis of EP can be made with high accuracy in the presence of over 35 years of age with AUB findings.

Keywords: Hysteroscopy, endometrial polyp, abnormal uterine bleeding

**ORCID IDs of the authors:** D.H. 0000-0001-9915-3469; Ş.G. 0000-0003-0939-4539; P.G. 0000-0002-2163-6329; C.K. 0000-0002-7069-279X; G.S. 0000-0002-0334-1260.



©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org

# INTRODUCTION

Endometrial polyps (EP) are benign lesions that rarely show malignancy, resulting from hyperplasia of the endometrial gland and stroma. Although it is seen at all ages, it is most often observed in women between the ages of 40-55. EP is diagnosed in patients as a result of complaints of menometroragia, pelvic pain, infertility and perimenosal vaginal bleeding (1).

The prevalence of EP ranges from 7.8% to 34.9%, depending on the population studied (2,3). Intrauterine evaluation is performed by ultrasonography, hysterosalpingography, saline infusion sonography (SIS), hysteroscopy (H/S) and magnetic resonance imaging. Transvaginal ultrasonography (TVUSG) is a method with high accuracy for the uterine cavity (4,5). Although SIS has a higher diagnostic rate, patients can ultimately be referred to H/S (6). The improved diagnostic accuracy of the polyp by various methods has led to the increase in the use of H/S, which proves the best diagnosis and treatment approach.

We aimed to show the efficacy of TVUSG in detecting EP by examining the relationship between the presence of EP after (H/S) in patients with abnormal uterine bleeding (AUB), a history of infertility and EP appearance on ultrasonography.

# **METHODS**

One hundred twenty-five patients who were admitted to the obstetrics outpatient clinics of our hospital between August 1, 2015 and April 1, 2017 with a pre-diagnosis of EP and scheduled for H/S operation were included in the study. Patients with complaints of deterioration in their previous menstrual pattern, sudden increase in the number of pads they used during the day, 3 or more days of deviation from normal menstruation periods, and a change of 4 days or more between menstruations were evaluated as AUB. Endometrial thickness was evaluated with a voluson GE brand 4-8 mHz wide-band Vaginal Probe in any phase of the menstrual cycle. With TVUSG, external-external measurements were made from the endometrium and myometrium border passing through the midline of the uterus in the sagittal plan, including the anterior and posterior layers, without including fluid deposits in the cavity. If the endometrium is seen to be thickened in a certain cross section, more hyperechogenic than normal endometrium and focal thickness increases that do not exceed the junction of the endometrium and myometrium, this situation is defined as the presence of polyps in the endometrial cavity. H/S indication was given to patients with suspected polyp. Age, gravida, parity and endometrium thickness of patients were retrospectively scanned from their files. All patients were given general anesthesia between the 6<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> days of the cycle, and after cervical dilation in the lithotomy position, 90° loop electrodes were entered into the uterine cavity with hysteroscope. Cervical canal, cavity and both tubal ostium were examined. All the polyps that were monitored were resected and sent to pathology. Postoperative complications did not develop in patients undergoing surgery. The study was

approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Zeynep Kamil Obstetrics and Pediatrics Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 89, date: 21.04.2017). Informed consent was obtained from each patient before the study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

SPSS 24.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York, United States) program was used to analyze the variables. The suitability of the data for normal distribution was evaluated by the Shapiro-Wilk test, and the homogeneity of variance was evaluated by the Levene test. The Independent Samples t-test was used with Bootstrap results, while the Mann-Whitney U test was used with the Monte-Carlo simulation technique to compare groups with and without polyps in H/S with each other according to quantitative data. Pearson chisquare tests, Monte-Carlo Simulation technique and Exact results were used in comparing those with and without polyps in H/S with each other according to categorical variables, and the column ratios were compared with each other and expressed according to the Benjamini-Hochberg corrected p-value results. Sensitivity and specificity for cutoff calculated to distinguish between polyps and non-polyps in H/S by age were examined and expressed by receiver operating characteristic curve analysis. The variables were examined at 95% confidence order, and p-value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

# RESULTS

The study included 125 patients. Demographic characteristics of patients are shown in Table 1. The average age of the patients was 38.04±8.47 and ranged from 21 to 63. AUB was present in 28% of cases. The rate of cases diagnosed with infertility was 22.4% (n=22). In the study of pathology results of 125 patients, endometrial hyperplasia was observed on the ground of EP in only 1 of them.

The number of polyps in H/S was 87 (69.9%). The average age of 87 patients who were monitored for polyps in H/S was 39.25±8.27, and the average age of 38 patients who were not monitored for

Table 1. Demographics					
	n=125, (%)				
Age (mean ± SD)	38.04±8.47				
Endometrium thickness (mm)	13.45±0.25				
Gravida median (range)	2 (0-12)				
Parity median (range)	1 (0-11)				
Living median (range)	1 (0-11)				
Presence of AUB	35 (28%)				
Infertility	28 (22.4%)				
Presence of polyp	87 (69.9%)				
SD: standard deviation. AUB: abnormal uterine bleeding					

polyps was  $35.26\pm8.36$ . A significant difference was found in H/S between the ages of those with polyps and those without them (p=0.012). In patients with polyps in H/S, the average endometrium thickness was  $13.36\pm5.37$  mm, and in non-polyps, endometrium thickness was  $14.08\pm4.58$  mm. No significant differences were found in endometrium thickness (p=0.141).

In 30 of the 35 patients with AUB, EP was monitored at H/S. AUB history rate (34.5%) was significantly higher in those who showed polyps in H/S than in those who did not show polyps (13.2%) (p=0.007). In 76% of 73 cases with an age of >35, polyps were monitored at H/S, and this rate was significantly higher than in cases under the age of 35. The incidence of polyps in patients with suspected EP and infertility in TVUSG was not monitored differently from others (p=0.467 and 0.246, respectively) (Table 2). In 28 (22.4%) of cases, both AUB and >35 years of age were present. AUB complaint and the simultaneous presence of >35 years of age were significantly associated with the presence of polyps compared to others (p=0.035).

Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV) and negative predictive value (NPV) values in polyp diagnosis of the presence of AUB, >35 years of age and both at the same time are summarized in Table 3. Only >35 years of age was the highest sensitivity and NPV in the diagnosis of polyps (64.3% and 76.7%, respectively); specificity and PPV were the highest if both AUB and >35 years of age (89.4% and 85.7%, respectively).

# DISCUSSION

EP is a focal hyperplastic growth of the endometrial glands and stroma. AUB is the most common finding in age groups of reproductive age and postmenopausal age group (2). In many previous studies, H/S has been shown as the gold standard diagnostic and treatment method in patients with AUB (7,8). Similarly, in our study, the rate of AUB history in those with polyps in H/S was found to be significantly higher than the rate of AUB history in those without polyps. In addition to being therapeutic, H/S has become superior to other methods when evaluated in terms of affecting quality of life and cost.

TVUSG can be considered as a first-line examination method by its two-dimensional imaging of the uterine cavity. But it should be considered that it has noticeably poor sensitivity and specificity compared to SIS. The effectiveness of SIS in the diagnosis of focal lesions increases by imaging both the uterine cavity and myometrium. SIS stands out compared to H/S, which is an invasive procedure, due to its easy applicability, tolerability, low cost and outpatient applicability. H/S is the gold standard in the pathologies of the uterine cavity in all imaging methods, including SIS, as it allows the treatment of detected lesions in the same session, even if it is considered an alternative to H/S. Ragni et al. (6), in their study including 98 infertile patients, took H/S as the gold standard and compared SIS with TVUSG. At the end of the study, they reported that SIS has a higher diagnostic rate than TVUSG in intrauterine pathologies. When compared with H/S, the sensitivity of SIS was 98% and specificity was 95%, and the sensitivity of TVUSG was 91% and specificity was 83%. Due to the low diagnostic values of SIS in lesions such as endometrial hyperplasia, endometrial cancer and endometritis, histopathological diagnosis with endometrial biopsy is required in suspicious cases.

TVUSG is recommended to be used for pre-evaluation in patients with AUB (7). However, it has been observed that 24% of polyps can be missed with TVUSG (8). In our study, the rate of polyp incidence as a result of H/S performed on patients with a clinical diagnosis of EP in TVUSG was observed as 69.6%. Demirtaş et al. (9) confirmed the diagnosis of EP in 95 (70.9%) of 130 patients with a pre-diagnosis of EP, by performing H/S and dilatation and

Table 2. Distribution of endometrial polyps by clinical and demographic data						
Polyp in hysteroscopy	No 38 (30.4%)	Yes 87 (69.6%)	Total 125 (100%)	р		
Age >35	17 (23.3)	56 (76.6)	73 (58.4)	0.041		
AUB	5 (14.3)	30 (85.7)	35 (28.0)	0.007		
Polyp suspicion at USG	11 (26.2)	31 (73.8)	42 (33.6)	0.467		
History of infertility	11 (39.2)	17 (69.6)	28 (22.4)	0.246		
AUB and age >35	24 (14.3)	4 (85.7)	28 (22.4)	0.035		

AUB: abnormal uterine bleeding, USG: ultrasonography

Table 3. presence of AUK, >35 years of age and simultaneous values of both in polyp diagnosis					
	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	
AUB	34.4%	86.8%	85.7%	36.6%	
Age >35	64.3%	55.2%	76.7%	40.3%	
AUB and age >35	27.5%	89.4%	85.7%	35.1%	

AUB: abnormal uterine bleeding, PPV: positive predictive value, NPV: negative predictive value

curettage. In our study, although the diagnosis was confirmed only by H/S, we attribute our lower rates to TVUSG quality and operator differences in the pre-diagnosis evaluation.

In a metaanalysis covering 51 studies on the malignancy potential of EP, malignancy rates in EP were found to be 0-15% (10). In a study associated with EP and malignancy, 516 EP were excised with H/S and histopathologically 96.9% were benign, 1.2% were premalignant, and 1.9% were malignant (11). In our study, we did not observe malignancy in the histopathological diagnosis, only one patient had endometrial hyperplasia. Since endometrial hyperplasia is considered as a premalignant lesion, we found similar rates in our study.

The prevalence of EP increases with age. In the study of Ricciardi et al. (12), 79.8% of women were under 60 years old. In the practical report of the American Association of Gynecological Laparoscopists, it was stated that increasing age is a risk factor for EP (13). In our study, polyps were monitored at H/S in 76% of 73 cases with an age of >35, and this rate was significantly higher than in cases under the age of 35 (p=0.041). Only >35 years of age was the highest sensitivity and NPV in the diagnosis of polyps (64.3% and 76.7%, respectively); specificity and PPV were the highest if both AUB and >35 years of age (89.4% and 85.7%, respectively). Thus, when this age group applies to gynecology clinics, the possibility of diagnosing EP increases, but it will save time for diagnosis and treatment.

In a study by Hassa et al. (14), 29.2% of the patients had multiple polyp, and in another study by Arıcı et al. (15), it was found that the number, location, and size of the polyps were not related to the patients' findings. In a study conducted by Preutthipan and Herabutya (16), the average size of the polyp in premenopausal women was 3.4±0.9 cm, and it was found to be 2.5±0.8 cm smaller than postmenopausal women. When the polyp area was examined, the right or left sidewalls, common locations, followed by the anterior and posterior walls. This situation can be considered as one of the causes of infertility in women with polyps that obstruct tubal osteosis. EP can cause infertility, especially in the cornual area. In our study, no statistically significant relationship was found between infertility and polyps in H/S (p=0.246). However, EP was monitored in 17 (69.6%) of 28 patients who were infertile. In the study of Shokeir et al. (17), EPs were diagnosed hysteroscopically in 4% of all women with unexplained infertility and 14.8% of infertile women with amenorrhea. We can attribute our higher rate to a small number of patients admitted to a gynecology clinic. As a result, successful results can be achieved for infertile patients with H/S, which is more convenient in terms of time and cost.

# CONCLUSION

AUB is the most common symptom in patients monitored by EP. EP can be diagnosed with high accuracy if they are over 35 years of age and have a combination of AUB findings. Although H/S is the most valuable diagnostic and treatment method in EP diagnosis, TVUSG should be the first option for preliminary evaluation in terms of cost and convenience.

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the University of Health Sciences Turkey, Zeynep Kamil Obstetrics and Pediatrics Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 89, date: 21.04.2017).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from each patient before the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author Contributions:** Surgical and Medical Practices - Ş.G.; Concept - Ş.G.; Design - D.H.; Data Collection and/or Processing - G.S.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - C.K.; Literature Search - G.S.; Writing Manuscript - D.H., P.G.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- Dreisler E, Stampe-Sorensen S, Ibsen PH, Lose G. Prevalence of endometrial polyps and abnormal uterine bleeding in a Danish population aged 20-74 years. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2009; 33: 102-8.
- Salim S, Won H, Nesbitt-Hawes E, Campbell N, Abbott J. Diagnosis and management of endometrial polyps: a critical review of the literature. J Minim Invasive Gynaecol 2011; 18: 569-81.
- Timmerman D, Verguts J, Konstantinovic ML, Moerman P, Van Schoubroeck D, Deprest J, et al. The pedicle artery sign based on sonography with color Doppler imaging can replace second-stage tests in women with abnormal vaginal bleeding. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2003; 22: 166-71.
- Jacobs I, Gentry-Maharaj A, Burnell M, Manchanda R, Singh N, Sharma A, et al. Sensitivity of transvaginal ultrasound screening for endometrial cancer in postmenopausal women: a case-control study within the UKCTOCS cohort. Lancet Oncol 2011; 12: 38-48.
- Kazandi M, Akşehirli S, Cirpan T, Akercan F. Transvaginal sonography combined with saline contrast sonohysterography to evaluate the uterine cavity in patients with abnormal uterine bleeding and postmenopausal endometrium more than 5 mm. Eur J Gynaecol Oncol 2003; 24: 185-90.
- Ragni G, Diaferia D, Vegetti W, Colombo M, Arnoldi M, Crosignani PG. Effectiveness of sonohysterography in infertile patient work-up: a comparison with transvaginal ultrasonography and hysteroscopy. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2005; 59: 184-8.
- Arslan S, Yüksel K, Samay ÖG, Yeşilyurt H, Yalçın H, Gökmen O. Office hysteroscopy versus transvaginal ultrasonography in the evaluation of patients with excessive uterine bleeding. Gynecol Obstet Reprod Med 2001; 7: 36-40.
- Bakour SH, Jones SE, O'Donovan P. Ambulatory hysteroscopy: evidencebased guide to diagnosis and therapy. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gyneacol 2006; 20: 953-75.
- Demirtaş Ö, Yeniel Ö, Ergenoğlu M, Demirtaş G, Aşkar N. Retrospective analysis of subjects with a clinical diagnosis of endometrial polyposis. Ege J Med 2012; 51: 239-44.
- Uglietti A, Buggio L, Farella M, Chiaffarino F, Dridi D, Vercellini P, et al. The risk of malignancy in uterine polyps: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2019; 237: 48-56.
- Gregoriou O, Konidaris S, Vrachnis N, Bakalianou K, Salakos N, Papadias K, et al. Clinical parameters linked with malignancy in endometrial polyps. Climacteric 2009; 12: 454-8.
- Ricciardi E, Vecchione A, Marci R, Shimberni M, Frega A, Maniglio P, et al. Clinical factors and malignancy in endometrial polyps. Analysis of 1027 cases. Eur J Obstet Gynaecol Reprod Biol 2014; 183: 121-4.
- American Association of Gynecologic Laparoscopists. AAGL Practice report: practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of endometrial polyps. J Minim Invasive Gynaecol 2012; 19: 3-10.

- Hassa H, Tekin B, Senses T, Kaya M, Karatas A. Are the site, diameter, and number of endometrial polyps related with symptomatology? Am J Obstet Gynaecol. 2006; 194: 718-21.
- Arıcı B, Cengiz H, Yaşar L, Özdemir İA, Keven MC. The effects of the number, location, dimension and histopathological diagnosis of endometrial polyps on laboratory and clinical findings. Gaziantep Med J 2012; 18: 90-4.
- Preutthipan S, Herabutya Y. Hysteroscopic polypectomy in 240 premenopausal and postmenopausal women. Fertil Steril 2005; 83: 705-9.
- Shokeir TA, Shalan HM, El-Shafei MM. Significance of endometrial polyps detected hysteroscopically in eumenorrheic infertile women. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2004; 30: 84-9.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3667 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):288-93

# Comparative Evalaution of the Effects of Short-Wave Diathermy, Ultrasound, and TENS on Pain and Physical Functions in Knee Osteoarthritis

🖻 Betül Başar<sup>1</sup>, 💿 Belgin Erhan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>İstanbul Medeniyet University, Göztepe Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Başar B, Erhan B. Comparative Evalaution of the Effects of Short-Wave Diathermy, Ultrasound, and TENS on Pain and Physical Functions in Knee Osteoarthritis. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):288-93

#### ABSTRACT

**Objective:** Short-wave diathermy (SWD), ultrasound (US), and Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) are commonly used agents in physical therapy treatments. This study aimed to evaluate the therapeutic effects of these physical therapy agents in women with bilateral knee osteoarthritis (OA).

**Methods:** Three equal groups of 60 women diagnosed with knee OA of age 45-65 years based on their treatment regimens were created: SWD (group 1), US (group 2), and TENS (group 3). These patients had stages 2 and 3 knee OA with reference to the Kellgren-Lawrence Classification System. The evaluations were performed using the visual analog scale (VAS) and Western Ontorio and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) and the physical function tests at the time points of pre-treatment, post-treatment, and 1-month follow-up duration.

**Results:** There were not any significant difference among the groups in terms of age, height, weight, body mass index, duration of pain, and radiological staging of OA. All 3 physical therapy agents were effective in terms of pain and physical functions. Better results were obtained in terms of the VAS and WOMAC scores at post-treatment and at 1-month follow-up when compared to that at pre-treatment assessment. However, comparison of the results of all 3 physical therapy agents showed that TENS treatment was more effective in relieving pain. Although no significant difference was noted among the groups in terms of the physical functions, SWD was more effective in terms of the scores of repeated sit-to-stand test and 20 m walk tests, while US was more effective in terms of the straight-line walk test scores.

**Conclusion:** Treatment with the physical therapy agents was effective in alleviating the physical functions. In addition, TENS was found to be more effective in alleviating pain.

Keywords: Short wave diathermy, ultrasound, TENS, pain, physical functions

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.B. 0000.0003.3547.2537; B.E. 0000.0019.8675.8493.



Corresponding Author: Betül Başar, E-mail: betulakarvardar@hotmail.com Received Date: 04.08.2020 Accepted Date: 07.12.2020

J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):288-93

# INTRODUCTION

Osteoarthritis (OA) may affect several joints, especially the weightbearing joints (1). The knee is the most commonly affected joint in OA. The prevalence of OA is 12%-35% in the general population (2,3). OA causes pain, joint swelling, stiffness, instability, and muscle weakness in the joints. These undesirable effects together decrease the quality of life of the patients. The aim of treatment in this situation is targeted at reducing the pain and joint stiffness, maintaining or regaining the joint range of motion and muscle strength, and reducing the dependency on daily living activities. Different physical therapy agents are frequently used for this purpose, including the most common used ones of short-wave diathermy (SWD), Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS), and ultrasound (US) (4).

SWD is an electrotherapeutic modality applied in the treatment of knee OA. In this treatment module, the application of continuous electromagnetic radiation increases the tissue temperature, which in turn induces vasodilatation, reduces muscle spasms, accelerates the cellular activity, and elevates the pain threshold (5).

High-frequency sound waves are applied to the affected tissues during US therapy. US therapy enhances soft tissue healing, decreases the inflammatory response, increases the blood flow, increases the metabolic activity, and decreases pain (6).

The efficiency of different electrical characteristics of TENS is to selectively activate different types of fiber. The aim of conventional TENS is to selectively activate  $A\beta$  afferents, producing segmental analgesia (7).

There are different theories about the mechanism of TENS. Most researchers agree that this device is effective in relieving pain using the 2 mechanisms of gate control and secretion of endorphins (8).

In this prospective study, we investigated the effects of SWD, US, and TENS treatments on the pain and physical functions. Accordingly, we evaluated the effects of SWD, US, and TENS treatments on the pain and physical functions in patients with OA.

# **METHODS**

The patients receiving SWD, US, and TENS treatments with the diagnosis of knee OA were reviewed prospectively during February 2008-2009. The scores of complete visual analogue scale (VAS), Western Ontario and McMaster University Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC), lift test, pick-up test, repeated sit-to-stand test, sock test, stair ascending and descending test, straight-line walking, timed up & go test, and 20 m walk test of 20 patients from each group were analyzed at pre-treatment, post-treatment, and 1-month follow-up.

Ethics committee approval was obtained from the Local Ethics Committee of the İstanbul Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Training and Research Hospital in January 2008. Written informed consent, approved by our institutional review board, was obtained from all patient. Female patients aged 45-65 years with bilateral knee OA were included in the study. Patients with a history of previous knee joint surgery, intra-articular injection, and lower back or hip pain in addition to knee pain were excluded from the study. Bilateral knee OA was diagnosed with reference to the American College of Rheumatology criteria. These patients had stages 2 or 3 knee OA according to the Kellgren-Lawrence Classification System. Twenty patients each were grouped as follows: group 1: patients receiving SWD treatment, group 2: patients receiving US therapy, and group 3: patients receiving TENS treatment (9).

SWD was applied for 15 min, US (1 MHz, 1.5 W/cm<sup>2</sup> dose) for 5 min, and TENS for 20 min in each session. Each patient received a total of 15 sessions of the prescribed treatment.

In each group, isometric quadriceps strengthening exercise was applied as a home program. Patients performed this exercise program for 3 months, thrice a day for 1 h at each session.

Evaluations were made in terms of recording the scores of VAS, WOMAC, and physical function tests at the pre-treatment, post-treatment, and 1-month follow-up (10).

Physical functions were evaluated using the lift test, pick-up test, repeated sit-to-stand test, sock test, stair ascending and descending test, stair ascending and descending test, straight-line walking, timed up & go test, and 20-m walk test (11-13).

# **Statistical Analysis**

SPSS for Windows 13.0 package program was applied for statistical analysis. Chi-square test was used to compare the demographic ratios among the groups, and the analysis of variance test was applied to compare the means among the groups. Mann-Whitney-U test or Wilcoxon test were used to compare the non-parametric tests. Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05.

# RESULTS

No significant difference was found among the groups in terms of age, height, weight, body mass index, duration of pain, and radiological staging of OA (p>0.05) (Table 1).

# SWD Treatment Group

**VAS score:** Post-treatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment value (p=0.001). At the 1-month follow-up, the VAS score was significantly lower than that at the post-treatment assessment (p=0.001) (Table 2).

**Physical functional tests:** The post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better than the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). There was no significant difference between the values of 1-month follow-up and that at post-treatment (p>0.05) (Table 2).

**WOMAC pain:** The post-treatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment one (p=0.001). At the 1-month follow-up, the WOMAC Pain score was significantly lower than the post-treatment score (p=0.003) (Table 2).

Table 1. Comparison of groups in terms of age, height, weight, BMI, duration of pain, and radiological grading						
	Group 1 SWD	Group 2 US	Group 3 TENS	р		
Age (year)	55.15±6.61	54.75±6.12	55.20±5.32	0.87		
Height (cm)	158.30±6.82	162.00±6.68	160.45±5.35	0.22		
Weight (kg)	78.35±12.70	79.45±14.39	75.55±10.14	0.30		
BMI (kg/cm²)	29.66±9.25	30.80±5.53	29.57±5.06	0.66		
Duration of pain (month)	23.20±13.92	16.26±9.34	18.30±10.05	0.31		
Kellgren-Lawrence	-	-	-	0.31		
Grade 2	10	8	16			
Grade 3	30	32	24	-		
DNU have stated and CMD also the state of the large state of TENIC To state the state of the large state of the						

BMI: body mass index. SWD: short-wave diathermy, US: ultrasound, TENS: Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation

Group 1 (SWD)	Pre-treatment	Post-treatment	First month follow-up			
VAS	7.45±0.99	5.40±1.09	4.60±1.09			
Lift test	11.40±2.13	13.05±2.23	12,70±2.17			
Pick-up test	2.15±0.67	1.75±0.78	1.76±0.67			
Repeated sit-to-stand test (sn)	16.46±3.68	13.83±3.80	13.17±3.82			
Sock test (0-3)	2.25±0.71	1.80±0.69	1.80±0.69			
Stair ascending test (sn)	13.79±4.06	11.06±4.08	10.31±3.88			
Stair descending test (sn)	13.72±4.33	11.23±4.50	11.15±4.32			
Straight-line walking (sn)	16.38±5.24	14.51±5.24	14.44±5.17			
Timed up & go test (sn)	12.31±3.22	9.91±2.75	9.92±2.65			
Twenty meter walk test (sn)	20.36±4.26	18.12±3.18	17.61±2.86			
WOMAC pain	14.80±2.82	10.85±2.66	10.00±2.90			
WOMAC stiffness	5.10±1.11	3.70±1.30	3.25±1.25			
WOMAC physical function	50.70±4.90	38.80±8.28	39.50±9.29			
WOMAC total	70.60±6.07	54.85±11.37	51.75±11.67			

SWD: short-wave diathermy, VAS: visual analog scale, WOMAC: Western Ontorio and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

**WOMAC stiffness:** The post-treatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment score (p=0.002). At the 1-month follow-up, the WOMAC Stiffness score was significantly lower than the post-treatment score (p=0.02) (Table 2).

**WOMAC physical function:** The post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly lower than the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up and post-treatment assessment (p=0.41) (Table 2).

**WOMAC total:** The post-treatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment one (p=0.002). At the 1-month follow-up, the WOMAC total score was significantly decreased than that at post-treatment assessment (p=0.003) (Table 2).

#### **US Treatment Group**

**VAS score:** The post-treatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment one (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up and post-treatment assessment (p=0.058) (Table 3).

**Physical functional tests:** In the tests other than the lift test and repeated sit-to-stand test, the values at post-treatment and at 1-month follow-up were significantly better than that at pretreatment assessment (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up and that at post-treatment (p>0.05) (Table 3).

**Lift test:** Post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better than that the pre-treatment values (p<0.001). However, at the 1-month follow-up, the lift test score was significantly lower than that at post-treatment (p=0.011) (Table 3).

**Repeated sit-to-stand test:** The post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better than that the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). However, at the 1-month follow-up, the repeated sit-to-stand test score was significantly lower than that at post-treatment assessment (p=0.038) (Table 3).

**WOMAC pain, stiffness, physical function and total score:** The post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better than the pre-treatment values (p<0.001). No significant

difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up and at posttreatment assessment (p>0.05) (Table 3).

## **TENS Treatment Group**

**VAS score:** The post-treatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up and post-treatment values (p=0.052) (Table 4).

**Physical functional tests:** In the straight-line walking test, the post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better than the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up and post-treatment values (p>0.05) (Table 4).

**Straight-line walking test:** The post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better than the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). However, at the 1-month follow-up, the straight-line walking test score was significantly lower than at the post-treatment assessment (p=0.04) (Table 4).

**WOMAC pain:** The post-treatment and 1-month follow-up values were significantly better the pre-treatment value (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted between the 1-month follow-up value and the post-treatment value (p=0.19) (Table 4).

**WOMAC stiffness, physical function and total score:** The posttreatment value was significantly lower than the pre-treatment

Table 3. Pre-treatment, post-treatment, and 1-month follow-up values of the patients treated with SWD				
Group 2 (US)	Pre-treatment	Post-treatment	First month follow-up	
VAS	7.25±0.91	4.50±1.10	4.20±0.95	
Lift test	11.30±2.34	13.65±2.36	12.75±2.44	
Pick-up test	1.85±0.71	1.10±0.44	1.05±0.39	
Repeated sit-to-stand test (sn)	15.14±2.81	12.30±2.34	12.54±2.45	
Sock test (0-3)	2.16±0.75	1.00±0.45	0.95±0.39	
Stair ascending test (sn)	11.72±3.29	9.05±2.83	9.63±2.65	
Stair descending test (sn)	11.33±2.59	9.30±2.15	9.50±2.15	
Straight-line walking (sn)	18.27±5.74	16.23±4.28	15.88±4.33	
Timed up & go test (sn)	11.22±2.39	8.91±2.08	9.26±2.27	
Twenty meter walk test (sn)	19.31±4.92	17.30±6.06	16.30±7.57	
WOMAC pain	13.65±2.20	9.95±2.41	9.65±2.25	
WOMAC stiffness	5.20±1.50	3.55±1.09	3.30±0.97	
WOMAC physical function	48.68±5.68	37.25±8.03	36.65±7.14	
WOMAC total	67.75±9.17	51.00±10.84	49.60±9.25	

SWD: short-wave diathermy, US: ultrasound, VAS: visual analog scale, WOMAC: Western Ontorio and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

#### Table 4. Pre-treatment, post-treatment, and 1-month follow-up values of the patients treated with TENS

Group 3 (TENS)	Pre-treatment	Post-treatment	First month follow-up
VAS	7.35±0.67	3.98±0.67	4.06±0.48
Lift test	13.60±2.64	14.80±3.05	14.75±3.59
Pick-up test	1.75±0.63	1.10±0.44	1.00±0.45
Repeated sit-to-stand test (sn)	14.67±2.38	12.30±2.34	11.43±2.45
Sock test (0-3)	1.65±0.58	1.00±0.45	1.05±0.39
Stair ascending test (sn)	9.75±3.03	9.05±2.83	8.41±2.49
Stair descending test (sn)	9.53±3.62	9.30±2.15	9.50±2.15
Straight-line walking (sn)	17.37±4.52	16.27±5.74	15.54±3.86
Timed up & go test (sn)	9.69±1.89	8.91±2.08	7.76±1.43
Twenty meter walk test (sn)	18.80±3.96	17.30±6.06	17.17±3.40
WOMAC pain	14.15±2.25	8.95±2.41	9.06±1.78
WOMAC stiffness	5.30±1.17	3.55±1.09	3.50±0.94
WOMAC physical function	48.40±6.72	37.25±8.03	33.95±8.88
WOMAC total	68.10±7.30	51.00±10.84	47.05±10.50

TENS: Transcutaneous Electrical Nerve Stimulation, VAS: visual analog scale, WOMAC: Western Ontorio and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

value (p<0.001). At the 1-month follow-up, the WOMAC total score was significantly decreased than that at the post-treatment assessment (p=0.001) (Table 2).

#### Comparison of the Groups

The VAS and WOMAC Pain scores after TENS treatment and at 1-month follow-up were better when compared to that after SWD and US treatments (p<0.05). SWD was found to be more effective in terms of repeated sit-to-stand test and 20 m walk tests after the treatment and at 1-month follow-up (p<0.05). US was most effective at 1-month follow-up in terms of the straight-line walk test scores (p<0.001). No significant difference was noted among the groups in terms of other parameters.

# DISCUSSION

Our results revealed that the evaluated physical therapy agents were effective in the treatment of pain and physical functions. However, in terms of pain treatment, TENS was more effective than other agents. In terms of physical functions, SWD was more effective in terms of repeated sit-to-stand test and 20 m walk tests. According to the straight-line walk test, US is more effective.

SWD, US, and TENS are commonly used physical therapy agents applied in the treatment of knee OA. However, the effect of these physical therapy agents on joint pain remains unclear. These treatment approaches increase the temperature of the tissues on application as well as an increase in the blood flow to the tissues. As the blood flow increases, the tissue perfusion and metabolic activity also increase, and muscle relaxation is achieved (5-7). Another mechanism is called the gate control theory (5,6,14). TENS has also been reported to modulate the pain control pathway by inducing endogenous opioid secretion (15).

These physical therapy agents reduce inflammation at the joints as well as reduce the pain. The decrease in synovitis was demonstrated by a decrease in US -measured synovial tissue thickness after the treatment. Reduction in inflammation reduces pain and positively affects the range of motion of the joints (16).

Some past studies have shown that SWD, US, and TENS can reduce the pain in patients with knee OA, albeit they are insufficient in terms of the physical functions alone (16-19). It has been emphasized that exercise therapies are more important in terms of physical functions (20).

Different results on the effect of physical therapy agents on the physical functions have been reported in the literature. SWD, US, and TENS increase the compliance of patients with exercise therapy, but some studies claim that US is not as effective as SWD and TENS (21,22). On the other hand, some past studies assert that US with SWD is an effective treatment modality in the treatment of knee OA and neither are superior to each other (23,24). In another study, physical therapy agents were reported to have increased the walking distance during the treatment, although this distance decreased at the end of the treatment. In the present study, it

was determined that exercise programs applied during and post-treatment could increase the walking distance during the treatment duration and prevent a decrease in the walking distance after the treatment application (21). Therefore, it is recommended to apply these physical agents together with exercise therapies for the treatment of knee OA (17,21).

In all 3 physical therapy modalities tested in this study, we found that the pain complaints decreased significantly after the treatment and at 1-month follow-up when compared to that before the treatment. On the other hand, although they were reported to be inadequate in terms of physical functions, in our study, we achieved better outcomes in terms of the scores of the physical function parameters. Furthermore, the tested physical functions did not decrease at the 1-month follow-up assessment.

#### **Study Limitations**

The absence of any control group in this study as well as the absence of medium and long-term results challenges the strengths of the study.

## CONCLUSION

TENS, US, and SWD are effective interventions for the treatment of pain and physical functions in the treatment of knee OA and can thus be safely preferred as the treatment approaches. Further studies need to be conducted to investigate their effectiveness in the treatment of other joint OA.

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethics committee approval was obtained from the Local Ethics Committee of the İstanbul Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation Training and Research Hospital in January 2008.

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consent, approved by our institutional review board, was obtained from all patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - B.B.; Concept - B.E.; Design - B.B., B.E.; Data Collection and/or Processing - B.B.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - B.B., B.E.; Literature Search - B.B.; Writing Manuscript - B.B.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbasi J. Can Exercise Prevent Knee Osteoarthritis? JAMA. 2017; 318: 2169-71.
- Spitaels D, Mamouris P, Vaes B, Smeets M, Luyten F, Hermens R, Vankrunkelsven P. Epidemiology of knee osteoarthritis in general practice: a registry-based study. BMJ Open 2020; 10: e031734.
- Quintana JM, Arostegui I, Escobar A, Azkarate J, Goenaga JI, Lafuente I. Prevalence of knee and hip osteoarthritis and the appropriateness of joint replacement in an older population. Arch Intern Med 2008; 168: 1576-84.
- Bélanger AY. Ultrasound. In: Evidence-based Guide to Therapeutic Physical Agents. Philadelphia PA, USA. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. 2003:223-261.
- Shields N, Gormley J, O'Hare N. Short-wave diathermy: a review of existing clinical trials. Phys Ther Rev 2001; 6: 101-18.
- Oo WM, Bo MT. Role of ultrasonography in knee osteoarthritis. J Clin Rheumatol 2016; 22: 324-9.

- Vance CG, Rakel BA, Blodgett NP, DeSantana JM, Amendola A, Zimmerman, et al. Effects of transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation on pain, pain sensitivity, and function in people with knee osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial. Phys Ther 2012; 92: 898-910.
- Johnson MI, Bjordal JM. Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation for the management of painful conditions: focus on neuropathic pain. Expert Rev Neurother 2011; 11: 735-53.
- Kohn MD, Sassoon AA, Fernando ND. Classifications in Brief: Kellgren-Lawrence Classification of Osteoarthritis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2016; 474: 1886-93.
- Liikavainio T, Lyytinen T, Tyrväinen E, Sipilä S, Arokoski JP. Physical function and properties of quadriceps femoris muscle in men with knee osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008; 89: 2185-94.
- Sharma L, Hayes KW, Felson DT, Buchanan TS, Kirwan-Mellis G, Lou C, et al. Does laxity alter the relationship between strength and physical function in knee osteoarthritis? Arthritis Rheum 1999; 42: 25-32.
- Rejeski WJ, Ettinger WH Jr, Schumaker S, James P, Burns R, Elam JT. Assessing performance-related disability in patients with knee osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 1995; 3: 157-67.
- Freter SH, Fruchter N. Relationship between timed 'up and go' and gait time in an elderly orthopaedic rehabilitation population. Clin Rehabil 2000; 14: 96-101.
- 14. Melzack R, Stillwell DM, Fox EJ. Trigger points and acupuncture points for pain: correlations and implications. Pain 1977; 3: 3-23.
- Basford JR: Physical agents 483–505, in Delisa JA, Gans BM (eds): Rehabilitation Medicine Principles and Practice, ed 3. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven, 1998

- Jan MH, Chai HM, Wang CL, Lin YF, Tsai LY. Effects of repetitive shortwave diathermy for reducing synovitis in patients with knee osteoarthritis: an ultrasonographic study. Phys Ther 2006; 86: 236-44.
- Rattanachaiyanont M, Kuptniratsaikul V. No additional benefit of shortwave diathermy over exercise program for knee osteoarthritis in peri-/post-menopausal women: an equivalence trial. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2008; 16: 823-8.
- Yang PF, Li D, Zhang SM, Wu Q, Wu Q, Tang J, et al. Efficacy of ultrasound in the treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee. Orthop Surg 2011; 3: 181-7.
- Ozgönenel L, Aytekin E, Durmuşoğlu G. A double-blind trial of clinical effects of therapeutic ultrasound in knee osteoarthritis. Ultrasound Med Biol 2009; 35: 44-9.
- Cakir S, Hepguler S, Ozturk C, Korkmaz M, Isleten B, Atamaz FC. Efficacy of therapeutic ultrasound for the management of knee osteoarthritis: a randomized, controlled, and double-blind study. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2014; 93: 405-12.
- Cetin N, Aytar A, Atalay A, Akman MN. Comparing hot pack, shortwave diathermy, ultrasound, and TENS on isokinetic strength, pain, and functional status of women with osteoarthritic knees: a single-blind, randomized, controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2008; 87: 443-51.
- Welch V, Brosseau L, Peterson J, Shea B, Tugwell P, Wells G. Therapeutic ultrasound for osteoarthritis of the knee. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001; CD003132.
- Jan MH, Lai JS. The effects of physiotherapy on osteoarthritic knees of females. J Formos Med Assoc 1991; 90): 1008-13.
- Boyaci A, Tutoglu A, Boyaci N, Aridici R, Koca I. Comparison of the efficacy of ketoprofen phonophoresis, ultrasound, and short-wave diathermy in knee osteoarthritis. Rheumatol Int 2013; 33: 2811-8.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3354 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):294-7

# T-Tube Breakage During Removal: Management by Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography

🔟 Mehlika Bilgi Kırmacı<sup>1</sup>, 🔟 Tamer Akay<sup>2</sup>, 🔟 Esra Özgül<sup>3</sup>, 🔟 Sezgin Yılmaz<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Afyonkarahisar University of Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey
 <sup>2</sup>Bandırma State Hospital, Clinic of General Surgery, Balıkesir, Turkey
 <sup>3</sup>Afyonkarahisar University of Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey

Cite this article as: Bilgi Kırmacı M, Akay T, Özgül E, Yılmaz S. T-Tube Breakage During Removal: Management by Endoscopic Retrograde Cholangiopancreatography. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):294-7

#### ABSTRACT

T-tube drainage is a widely used procedure among surgeons for various biliary conditions. However, various complications may occur, especially due to the breaking-off of the T-tube from the area where it enters the common bile duct during retraction. These complications often require subsequent surgical procedures to remove the T-tube fragment from the common bile duct lumen. In selected cases, the T-tube fragment can be extracted from the common bile duct lumen. In selected cases, the T-tube fragment can be extracted from the common bile duct by endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP). ERCP has a life-saving role that eliminates reoperation for such a complication. Herein, we present a 42-year-old female patient who was referred to our hospital, which is as an advanced center, due to breakage during T-tube withdrawal. The patient had previously undergone open cholecystectomy and T-tube drainage. When removing the T-tube, a breakage occurred at 3-4 cm from the T-tube leg, which was left in the common bile duct. In the ERCP, the leg of the T-tube was removed from the common bile duct lumen by basket compression following endoscopic sphincterotomy and a temporary plastic stent was placed. One month after the procedure, the stent was removed with the help of the ERCP. This case is presented as a rare indication of ERCP.

Keywords: Cholangiopancreatography, endoscopic retrograde, drainage, T-tube, complications

# INTRODUCTION

Endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) is widely used in the diagnosis and treatment of biliary tract and pancreatic diseases. Performed for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes, this procedure has a life-saving role in most cases. Although it is generally used for several biliary and pancreatic diseases, certain rare cases also require its use for therapeutic intentions (1). T-tube is still a matter of debate, even though Huang et al. showed in the largest meta-analysis that the insertion of a T-tube may be useful. Insertion of a T-tube reduces the incidence of biliary strictures. However, it also has adverse events, predominately leakage, peritonitis, and cholangitis. The T-tube is typically removed through the percutaneous route. However, this could be impossible, probably due to fibrotic and scarring processes. Those cases are classically treated by surgery. Endoscopic removal by ERCP is a minimally invasive approach that avoids a laparotomy (2-4). In this paper, we present a 42-year-old woman who was admitted to our ERCP unit for T-tube breakage during removal.

# CASE PRESENTATION

The 42-year-old woman had undergone open cholecystectomy and T-tube drainage for biliary lithiasis at another hospital

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.B.K. 0000-0002-8034-1459; T.A. 0000-0001-8137-3658; E.Ö. 0000-0002-6005-134X; S.Y. 0000-0003-0213-3758.



**Corresponding Author:** Tamer Akay, E-mail: op.dr.tamerakay@gmail.com Received Date: 04.05.2020 Accepted Date: 30.07.2020

#### J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):294-7

40 days ago. While the surgeon was taking out the T-tube, it was broken at the junction of the head and limp. The cup part of the tube remained in the common bile duct lumen, and the patient was referred to our ERCP unit for the removal of the leg of the T-tube. The patient had a mild abdominal pain and tenderness. The biochemical parameters were in the normal range. Abdominal magnetic resonance and magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography images revealed that the tube fragment was located in the common bile duct (Figure 1, 2).



Figure 1. Coronal thin-sliced abdominal MR shows a linear filling defect extending from the distal right intrahepatic bile duct to the proximal common bile duct MR: magnetic resonance



Figure 2. MRCP sequence shows that the common bile duct is 8 mm in diameter and that the breakage of the leg of the T-tube is in common bile duct

MRCP: magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography

Informed consent was obtained from the patient after providing detailed information about the surgery.

ERCP was performed and the common bile duct was cannulated using a sphincterotome and guide-wire. There was a linear-tubular filling defect in the common bile duct lumen, compatible with the residual fragment of the T-tube (Figure 3). A 20 mm sphincterotomy was performed using a rounded sphincterotome and guide-wire. The common bile duct was swept using a basket. At this time, the residual fragment was extracted (Figure 4, 5).

A 10 Fr 12 cm plastic stent was placed into the common bile duct lumen. No pathologic finding was seen on control ERCP cholangiogram. A transient biliary stent was placed and the patient was discharged two days after the procedure.



Figure 3. ERCP shows a linear-tubular filling defect in the common bile duct lumen ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography



Figure 4. Endoscopic basket extraction of the residue T-tube fragment by ERCP

ERCP: endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography



Figure 5. Retained T-tube fragment.

ERCP was successfully performed to remove the leg of the T-tube and the patient was discharged without any problem.

# DISCUSSION

Common bile duct stones constitute an extended period in which ERCP is usually applied as the first-line therapy. However, ERCP cannot remove larger stones from the sphincterotomy area. Therefore, open surgery is required for such cases (5). There are several methods that can be applied during open surgery following the extraction of stones from bile ducts, such as biliaryenteric anastomosis, primary suturing of the bile duct wall and T-tube drainage.

Patients under 65 years of age who had dilated bile ducts below 15 mm in diameter are candidates for T-tube placement. The T-tube can be removed following a period of 4 days-2 weeks depending on the preference (6).

Although T-tube drainage is a commonly used procedure, it has several complications resulting in biloma, bile ascites, cholangitis, and peritonitis. These complications may occur due to bile leak following T-tube removal. In addition, there are other rare complications that occur during the accidental breakage from the insertion site into the bile duct during T-tube limb removal. This may be caused by severe adhesions of the tube as well as suturing of the T-tube to the duct channel (7). Sharma and Farah (8) reported nine cases of T-tube fragment retained in the common bile duct. They were removed immediately in four cases (two cases with ERCP, one case with percutaneous radiological approach, one case with surgery), since the T-tube was known to have been fractured during removal. However, the other five cases remained asymptomatic for 2-36 years until cholangitis appeared (8).

For cases where the T-tube fragment remains asymptomatic for a certain period, patients may have unexplained abdominal pain, jaundice, cholestasis, and related symptoms. T-tube fragments retained in the common bile duct lumen should be taken out

immediately the diagnosis is made. Radiological, surgical, and endoscopic procedures are alternatives to removing such fragments. However, ERCP should be the initial procedure in the management, if possible. Surgical procedures should be scheduled only if radiological or endoscopic interventions fail (9).

Although primary closure of the common bile duct is safer and more effective than T-tube drainage, there is still a wide use of T-tube after choledochotomy among surgeons. Choleperitonitis is one of the most severe complications resulting from leakage of bile from the choledochotomy site due to insufficient fistula formation after removal (10). In our opinion, these complications are more frequent than mentioned among surgeons, since most of them are not reported.

Other rare complications caused by T-tube breakage during removal occur mainly due to the improper suturing of the duct to the channel or inflammatory reactions to the drainage material. Thus, the tube fragment remains in the common bile duct lumen. In this case, the presentation is quite variable depending on the clinical status of the patient and texture of the drain. Although patients may remain asymptomatic for years, bile duct stones, cholangitis, and even common bile duct injury can be seen early or late after the breakage. Measures that could be taken to reduce the risk of T-tube breakage during removal include careful T-tube preparation, prevention of partial separation, use of latex drains, preventing T-tubes from being accidentally erected in the channel of the wall, and preventing prolonged placement (11).

Retention of T-tube fragments upon removal requires immediate surgery to avoid potential serious complications. ERCP should be the initial step to remove such fragments in centers where it is available. Otherwise, surgical approach will be mandatory, but re-exploration of the biliary tract increases surgical complications, especially bile fistula and stricture formation (12).

# CONCLUSION

Broken T-tube fragments should be removed immediately to avoid potentially fatal complications due to the breaking of the T-tube fragments. The first step to avoid reoperation is to intervene endoscopically.

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from the patient after providing detailed information about the surgery.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

**Author Contributions:** Surgical and Medical Practices - M.B.K., T.A.; Concept - S.Y., E.Ö.; Design - M.B.K., S.Y.; Data Collection or Processing -E.Ö.; Analysis or Interpretation - S.Y., E.Ö.; Literature Search - T.A., M.B.K.; Writing - T.A.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

 Daldoul S, Mabrouk A, Messoudi I, Ben Dhaou A, Sayari S, Baccari A, et al. Multiple bile duct stones: Comparison of two surgical techniques done at laparotomy. Tunis Med 2016; 94: 643.

- Carmo J, Veloso J, Duarte V, Gorjão R, Barroso E. T-tube endoscopic removal by ERCP in a liver-transplanted patient after failed percutaneous removal. VideoGIE 2017; 3: 232-3.
- 3. Fejleh MP, Thaker AM, Kim S, Muthusamy VR, Sedarat A. Cholangioscopyguided retrieval basket and snare for the removal of biliary stones and retained prostheses. VideoGIE 2019; 4: 232-4.
- Heikkinen M, Poikolainen E, Kaukanen E, Pääkkönen M. Removing a biliary T-tube and retained stones by ERCP. A case report. Hepatogastroenterology 2005; 52: 1666-7.
- Wu X, Yang Y, Dong P, Gu J, Lu J, Li M, et al. Primary closure versus T-tube drainage in laparoscopic common bile duct exploration: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2012; 397: 909-16.
- Jacobs LK, Shayani V, Sackier JM. Common bile duct T-tubes. A caveat and recommendations for management. Surg Endosc 1998; 12: 60-2.
- Norrby S, Heuman R, Anderberg B, Sjödahl R. Duration of T-tube drainage after exploration of the common bile duct. Acta Chir Scand 1988; 154: 113-5.

- Sharma T, Farah KF. A 36-year retained T-tube fragment presenting with cholangitis. Gastroenterology Res 2009; 2: 126-7.
- Daldoul S, Moussi A, Zaouche A. T-tube drainage of the common bile duct choleperitoneum: etiology and management. J Visc Surg 2012; 149: e172-8.
- Nikolić M, Karthikesalingam A, Nachimuthu S, Tang TY, Harris AM. Biliary peritonitis caused by a leaking T-tube fistula disconnected at the point of contact with the anterior abdominal wall: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2008; 16: 302.
- Haq A, Morris J, Goddard C, Mahmud S, Nassar AH. Delayed cholangitis resulting from a retained T-tube fragment encased within a stone: a rare complication. Surg Endosc 2002; 16: 714.
- Wang L, Dong P, Zhang Y, Liu X, Tian B. latrogenic bile duct Injury with a retained T-tube in common bile duct for 10 years: A case report. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e15127.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3630 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):298-302

# A Rare Presentation of Retinoblastoma as a Fungating Orbital Mass: A Case Report

Kenan Kıbıcı<sup>1</sup>, Berrin Erok<sup>2</sup>, Onat Akın<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Altınbaş University, Bahçelievler Medical Park Hospital, Clinic of Neurosurgery, İstanbul, Turkey
 <sup>2</sup>Cihanbeyli State Hospital, Clinic of Radiology, Konya, Turkey
 <sup>3</sup>Patomed Laboratory, Department of Pathology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kıbıcı K, Erok B, Akın O. A Rare Presentation of Retinoblastoma as a Fungating Orbital Mass: A Case Report. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):298-302

#### ABSTRACT

Retinoblastoma (RBL) arises from the precursor cells of the retinal neuroepithelium. It is the most common primary malignant intraocular tumor in children. Primary orbital RBL is an extraocular disease detected clinically or radiologically at the time of diagnosis. It is a direct metastasis of an intraocular RBL. It very rarely presents as an exuberant fungating orbital mass, like in the present case, and is found in more advanced, untreated cases. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is the preferred imaging modality for the evaluation of the tumor, vital orbital structures such as the optic nerve, and intracranial involvements. Computed tomography (CT) is useful in the evaluation of adjacent bony structures and calcifications. Herein, we report the case of a 3-year-old boy who presented to our clinic with a large, rapidly growing cauliflower-like mass protruding out of the left orbit and invading the surrounding soft tissues. MRI showed a10×8×7.5 cm<sup>3</sup> infiltrative heterogeneously enhancing left orbital mass with some necrotic and hemorrhagic components. Metastatic leptomeningeal enhancements were widespread in the intracranial region. CT revealed erosive destructive changes at the lateral orbital wall. Following left orbital enucleation, the diagnosis of RBL was made by histopathological examination, which showed sporadic Flexner-Wintersteiner type rosette formations. The patient underwent surgery and thereafter received radiotherapy and adjuvant chemotherapy. No recurrence was observed after 5 years. Although rare, orbital extension of RBL is one of the major contributors to mortality. Early diagnosis and detailed radiological evaluation are necessary to establish intracranial involvement and distant metastasis at the time of diagnosis.

Keywords: Primary orbital retinoblastoma, Flexner-Wintersteiner rosette, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), leptomeningeal metastasis

# INTRODUCION

Various neoplasms can arise from orbital structures. Retinoblastoma (RBL) is a neoplasm that arises from the retina, affecting the precursor cells of the retinal neuroepithelium. It is the most common primary malignant intraocular tumor in children. It is exclusively found in young children, and most cases were diagnosed before the age of five (1). RBL may be sporadic or secondary to a germline mutation associated with the inactivation of the RBL protein tumor suppressor gene, which is usually inherited. The hereditary form, which constitutes approximately half of the cases, tends to occur bilaterally at younger age (2,3). Affected children are also at increased risk of developing trilateral RBL (unilateral orbital RBL and pineoblastoma) and osteosarcoma (4). Sporadic disease forms usually occur in older children and are typically solitary (1). Primary orbital RBL is diagnosed as an extraocular disease and a direct extension of intraocular RBL. It is

ORCID IDs of the authors: K.K. 0000-0002-5912-9648; B.E. 0000-0001-8036-547X; O.A. 0000-0002-9878-8726.



**Corresponding Author:** Berrin Erok, E-mail: drberrinerok@hotmail.com Received Date: 27.08.2020 Accepted Date: 18.11.2020

very rarely reported in developed countries due to early diagnosis and treatment. However, in developing and underdeveloped countries, extraocular extension of RBL is not an unusual presentation and is one of the major factors of poor prognosis. It is different from secondary orbital RBL, which is defined as orbital recurrence several weeks to years after enucleation for intraocular RBL. The most frequent manifestations are leukocoria (a white pupil), similar to that in intraocular RBL or proptosis (5). In more advanced and untreated cases, massive extraocular tumor spread very rarely results in a fungating giant orbital mass, as in the present case. Diagnosis is made by histopathological examination. In patients with extraocular extension of RBL, radiological imaging

is important to determine the exact size and extent of the tumor. Herein, we report a case of a primary orbital RBL with intracranial involvement at the time of diagnosis in a 3-year-old boy.

# CASE PRESENTATION

In August 2013, an otherwise healthy 3-year-old boy presented to our clinic with a giant, rapidly enlarging cauliflower-like mass protruding out of the left orbit and invading the surrounding soft tissues (Figure 1). He recalled that the lesion appeared approximately 6 months earlier and started to grow rapidly for the last 3 months. On physical examination, no regional lymph node enlargement or organomegaly was detected. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the orbit showed a 10x8x7.5 cm<sup>3</sup> solid infiltrative left orbital lesion obliterating the superior orbital fissure. The globe and retro-orbital structures lost their normal morphology. The left optic nerve (ON) was indistinguishable (Figure 2). There were some areas of necrosis on T2-weighted images (T2-WI) (Figure 2) and some linear hemorrhagic components on T1-WI (Figure 3). The mass extended into the left ON through the orbital apex into the optic chiasm, which was occupied by a nodular component of the mass (Figure 4). Following contrast administration, non-necrotic areas of the mass showed moderate to marked enhancement (Figure 5). In the intracranial region, enhanced metastatic meningeal lesions



**Figure 1.** A large, cauliflower-like mass protruding out of the left orbit and invading the surrounding soft tissues in a 3-year-old boy



**Figure 2.** (a) Axial and (b) sagittal T2-weighted magnetic resonance images of the left orbit showing exophytic left orbital mass, which is heterogeneously isointense to the cortical gray matter with some areas of necrosis. The superior orbital fissure is obliterated, and the left optic nerve is indistinguishable



**Figure 3.** Axial T1-weighted magnetic resonance image showing some linear hyperintense hemorrhagic components



**Figure 4.** Axial T2-weighted magnetic resonance image showing (a) the extension of the mass into the left optic nerve through the orbital apex into the optic chiasm and (b) a nodular component of the mass occupying the optic chiasm

were detected in both supratentorial and infratentorial regions. The lesions were the widest at the left middle cranial fossa on the temporal lobe (Figure 6). On computed tomography (CT), the lesion was isodense compared with the vitreous, and there were erosive destructive changes at the lateral orbital wall, with no extension into the maxillary and ethmoid sinuses. There were some hemorrhagic foci, but no calcification was detected (Figure 7). Further systemic evaluation revealed neither systemic



**Figure 5.** Axial T1-weighted fat-saturated magnetic resonance image with gadolinium showing moderate to marked enhancement in non-necrotic areas of the mass



**Figure 6.** Axial T1-weighted fat-saturated magnetic resonance image with gadolinium showing metastatic leptomeningeal enhancement at the left temporal pole

metastasis nor adrenal mass or paravertebral lesion suggesting orbital metastasis of neuroblastoma (NBL). Primary orbital NBL, primary orbital RBL, and orbital rhabdomyosarcoma (RMS) were considered in the differential diagnosis. Following left orbital enucleation, the diagnosis of orbital RBL was made by histopathological examination, which showed orderly proliferation of neoplastic cells with trabecular and insular pattern, occasionally presenting as Flexner-Wintersteiner type rosette formation (Figure 8). After surgery, the patient received radiotherapy and adjuvant chemotherapy. The patient was seen again in 2018, but no recurrence was observed.

Informed consent has been taken from the family of our patient.

# DISCUSSION

Primary orbital RBL is defined as an orbital extension of an intraocular RBL detected clinically or radiologically at the time of diagnosis (1). The term, microscopic orbital RBL, is used when an enucleated eye with intraocular RBL demonstrates ON invasion, evident scleral infiltration, or extrascleral extension on histopathological evaluation (6). Clinical presentation with an exuberant fungating orbital mass, as in the present case, is very rare and found in more advanced, untreated cases due to



**Figure 7.** Axial computed tomography scan showing (a) the left orbital mass with some hemorrhagic foci but no calcification and (b) erosive destructive changes at the lateral orbital wall



**Figure 8.** Histopathological examination showing (a) orderly proliferation of neoplastic cells with trabecular and insular patterns, occasionally forming rosettes (hematoxylin-eosin, x40). (b) Sections show a close-up view of a Flexner-Wintersteiner type rosette formation (hematoxylin-eosin, x400)

massive extraocular tumor spread through the ON or sclera. Both MRI and CT are used to assess the exact size and extent of the tumor. MRI, with its excellent soft tissue contrast, is the preferred imaging modality for the orbits and brain and for the evaluation of the tumor, vital orbital structures like the ON, and intracranial involvements. In addition, MRI enables diffusion-weighted imaging (DWI) that is valuable in monitoring treatment response. CT is useful in the evaluation of adjacent bony structures and calcifications. Following contrast administration, moderate to marked enhancement is seen in non-necrotic parts of the tumor. The rapid growth of the tumor results in necrosis and heterogeneous enhancement. On DWI, the enhancing viable part of the tumor tissue shows restricted diffusion associated with apparent diffusion coefficients lower than those of non-viable necrotic tissues. However, since these imaging features are not specific for RBL, histopathological examination is needed for exact diagnosis. In the present case, the differential diagnosis included embryonal RMS, primary orbital NBL, and primary orbital RBL, all of which share similar histology that basically consists of small round blue cells. RMS is the most common primary orbital malignancy in children (7). Clinical presentation is a typical rapidly growing mass, often in the upper inner quadrant of the orbit (8). On histopathological examination, embryonal RMS, which accounts for the majority of orbital RMS cases, is differentiated by the presence of rhabdomyoblasts. By contrast, NBL is the most common metastatic orbital tumor in children, with the primary focus in the adrenal medulla or paravertebral sympathetic/ parasympathetic tissue of the abdomen and chest. In our patient, CT of the chest and abdomen did not reveal remarkable findings. Very rarely, NBL may be found as a primary orbital NBL without any systemic disease (9). Histologically, the undifferentiated part of the RBL demonstrates small blue cells with large hyperchromatic nuclei and scant cytoplasm. Homer Wright Pseudorosettes and Flexner-Wintersteiner Rosettes may be seen. Homer Wright Rosettes are differentiated tumor cells grouped around a central region containing neuropil and are therefore associated with tumors of neuronal origin and found in other tumors like pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. On the contrary, Flexner-Wintersteiner Rosette is a relatively unique characteristic of RBL. In our patient, occasional Flexner-Wintersteiner type rosette formation was found and the tumor was differentiated from NBL. Since the orbital extension of the intraocular RBL increases the risk for regional and systemic dissemination of the disease compared with patients without extraocular disease, detailed evaluation is mandatory (10). The most common metastatic dissemination of RBL occurs intracranially via the ON in which the subarachnoid space of the ON sheath is infiltrated by the tumor cells with dissemination into the cerebrospinal fluid (5). Therefore, MRI of the brain and spinal cord should be performed at the same time to assess leptomeningeal metastases in patients with extraocular extension of RBL. Brain MRI is also necessary to rule out trilateral RBL. In the present case, both supratentorial and infratentorial leptomeningeal metastases were found on the brain MRI at the

time of presentation. In RBL, lymphatic spread to regional lymph nodes depends on the involvement of the conjunctiva or eyelids due to the absence of lymphatics in most of the globe and the orbit. Preauricular lymph nodes are most commonly affected in these patients (1). Therefore, they should be carefully palpated in clinical examination, and fine-needle aspiration biopsy should be done in case of suspicion. Metastasis to the lungs, bone, bone marrow, and liver may occur hematogenously. Skeletal metastases are best evaluated by bone scintigraphy or fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography, because the highly hematopoietic bone marrow in infants makes it difficult to detect bone marrow involvement on MRI. On post-treatment follow-up, MRI is the preferred modality for the assessment of treatment response and detection of local and distant recurrences because of the increased long-term risk for malignancy in young patients who undergo repetitive CT. Currently, there are no standard treatment protocols for orbital RBL. Good long-term survival results have been reported with multimodal treatment, including high-dose chemotherapy, orbital enucleation, radiotherapy, and additional adjuvant chemotherapy over the last years. However, extraocular extension of RBL is still a major contributor to mortality, and patients have a poor prognosis (5).

## CONCLUSION

Despite its rare occurrence in developed countries due to early diagnosis and treatment, primary orbital RBL is one of the major contributors to mortality. Early diagnosis and detailed radiological evaluation are essential to establish intracranial involvement and distant metastasis at the time of diagnosis. MRI, with its high tissue contrast and improved spatial resolution, is the mainstay in the diagnosis and follow-up of patients. Survival can be increased with early multimodal treatment and close radiological follow-up.

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent has been taken from the family of our patient.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Concept - K.K., B.E., O.A.; Design - K.K., B.E., O.A.; Data Collection or Processing - K.K., B.E., O.A.; Analysis or Interpretation - K.K., B.E., O.A.; Literature Search - K.K., B.E., O.A.; Writing - K.K., B.E., O.A.

**Conflict of Interest:** There is no any conflict of interest among the authers. **Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Rauschecker AM, Patel CV, Yeom KW, Eisenhut CA, Gawande RS, O'Brien JM, et al. High resolution MRI of the orbit in patients with RBL. Radiographics 2012; 32: 1307-26.
- Rao AA, Naheedy JH, Chen JY, Robbins SL, Ramkumar HL. A clinical update and radiologic review of pediatric orbital and ocular tumors. J Oncol 2013; 2013: 975908.
- Kumar V, Abbas AK, Aster JC. Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease. 9. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders, 2014.
- Robbins and Cotran pathologic basis of disease. Philadelphia, Pa. Elsevier Saunders, c2005.
- Khelfaoui F, Validire P, Auperin A, Quintana E, Michon J, Pacquement H, et al. Histopathologic risk factors in retinoblastoma: a retrospective study of 172 patients treated in a single institution. Cancer 1996; 77: 1206-13.

- Honavar SG. Orbital Retinoblastoma. In: Singh AD, Damato BE, Pe'er J, Murphree AL, Perry J (Eds.), Clinical Ophtalmic Oncology, first ed., Saunders Elsevier, 2007.pp. 477-83.
- 7. Singh AP, Gupta AK, Mathur V, Barolia.DK. Embryonal rhabdomyosarcoma of the orbit in a child. Med J DY Patil Vidyapeeth 2018; 1: 276-8.
- Weiss SW, Goldblum JR, Enzinger FM. Enzinger and Weiss's Soft Tissue Tumors. Mosby Inc, 2001.
- Reznick A, Mukundan G, Sonu R, Lin LK.Pictorial Review of Histopathologically Diagnosed Orbital Tumors. Am J Ophtalmic Clin Trials 2019; 2: 1-9.
- Abramson DH, Beaverson K, Sangani P. Screening for retinoblastoma: presenting signs as prognosticators of patient and ocular survival. Paediatrics 2003;112:1248-55.

#### Case Report

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3729 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):303-5

# Giant Juvenile Fibroadenoma of the Breast: Clinical Manifestation in Two Cases

🔟 Mehmet Tolga Kafadar<sup>1</sup>, 🔟 Mehmet Ali Kırşan<sup>1</sup>, ២ Suat Çal<sup>2</sup>, ២ Mehmet Hanifi Okur<sup>2</sup>, ២ Sadullah Girgin<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Dicle University Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery, Diyarbakır, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Dicle University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Diyarbakır, Turkey

Cite this article as: : Kafadar MT, Kırşan MA, Çal S, Okur MH, Girgin S. Giant Juvenile Fibroadenoma of the Breast: Clinical Manifestation in Two Cases. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):303-5

#### ABSTRACT

Giant fibroadenomas are benign masses that usually present as unilateral rapid growths in the breast during puberty. They can spread over a wide area and cause congestion and ulcerations in the breast skin. Definitive diagnosis is made by breast biopsy. Treatment options may vary from simple excision to subcutaneous mastectomy, depending on the size of the mass. Herein, we present two cases of 13- and 14-year-old female patients who were treated for giant breast fibroadenoma. In these extremely rare cases, total mass excision was performed, which preserved the breast skin.

Keywords: Breast, juvenile giant fibroadenoma, surgery

# INTRODUCTION

Fibroadenomas are the most common causes of breast lumps in young women. They have a benign character and contain mixed glandular and mesenchymal structures. They are caused by increased estrogen stimulation and receptor sensitivity during puberty (1). They usually stop growing if they reach a size of 2 cm. Those over 5 cm in size are defined as giant fibroadenoma. Indeed, providing the best treatment for these patients in terms of clinical and psychological care is challenging. Attentive surgical planning is required to ensure a fine balance between adequate resection and the best cosmetic outcome for a developing breast (2). Herein, two different cases of a giant juvenile fibroadenoma of the left breast were presented.

# CASE PRESENTATIONS

#### Case 1

A 13-year-old female patient was admitted to a general surgery outpatient clinic with a rapidly growing, painless mass in her left breast that she have noticed approximately 3 months ago. Physical examination revealed a firm, well-circumscribed, approximately 11 cm mass that filled the left breast (Figure 1a). No pathology was found in the right breast and in both axillae. Patient's family history and laboratory tests were unremarkable. Breast ultrasonography (USG) showed a 105x80 mm<sup>2</sup>, well-circumscribed hypoechoic solid lesion that nearly filled the left breast (Breast Imaging-Reporting and Data System 4A).

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.T.K. 0000-0002-9178-7873; M.A.K. 0000-0003-0015-4870; S.Ç. 0000-0003-1964-0895; M.H.O. 0000-0002-6720-1515; S.G. 0000-0002-4889-7473



**Corresponding Author:** Mehmet Tolga Kafadar, E-mail: drtolgakafadar@hotmail.com Received Date: 03.09.2020 Accepted Date: 19.11.2020

©Copyright 2020 by University of Health Sciences Turkey, Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital. Available on-line at www.jarem.org

#### Case 2

A 14-year-old female patient was admitted to the general surgery outpatient clinic with a rapidly growing, painless mass in her left breast that she have noticed approximately 3 months ago. During physical examination, a firm, well-circumscribed mass of approximately 9 cm, which nearly filled the left breast, was palpated. The patient's medical and family histories were unremarkable. Breast magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) showed a lesion that nearly filled the left breast, with heterogeneous hypointense appearance on T2A images with a size of 82x78 mm, heterogeneous hyperintense characteristic in T1A images, marked heterogeneous enhancement after intravenous administration of contrast material in the upper inner quadrant, and slight diffusion restriction in the diffusion-weighted images (Figure 1b).

Tru-cut biopsy was performed on the left breast in both cases. The results revealed fibroadenoma, and the patients underwent surgery. The masses were totally excised under general anesthesia, preserving the breast skin (Figure 1c). The resulting deformity was filled with the patients' own breast tissue (Figure 1d). Postoperative histopathological examination of the masses were interpreted as giant juvenile fibroadenoma (Figure 2). No recurrence was noted during the 3-month follow-up period.

# DISCUSSION

Fibroadenomas are one of the most common causes of breast masses in adolescents and young women. Juvenile giant fibroadenomas account for 0.5% of all fibroadenomas. They are mostly solitary in nature, but multiple masses can be found in 10%-20% of the patients. They are usually unilateral and rarely seen bilaterally (3). The incidence increases in the second and third decades of life, and masses typically stop growing when they reach



**Figure 1.** Preoperative view of the patient **(a)**, preoperative MRI of the patient **(b)**, macroscopic view of the excised specimen **(c)**, and postoperative incision view of the patient **(d)** MRI: magnetic resonance imaging



**Figure 2.** Microscopic view of the specimen; the tumor shows pericanalicular pattern growth, uniformly increased stromal cellularity, and epithelial proliferation without atypia (a,b) (hematoxylin and eosin staining, x100)

a size of 2-3 cm. They are generally benign, well-circumscribed, and encapsulated. Typically, large lesions grow rapidly. In rare cases, they can grow up to 15 cm in size. Very few fibroadenomas have irregular edges and may contain calcifications. The lesion may cause breast deformity, compression of surrounding tissues, nipple collapse, congestion, and skin ulcerations (4). Islam et al. (5) reported the world's largest juvenile fibroadenoma of the breast in a 16-year-old girl who presented with a 28x25 cm<sup>2</sup> mass on her left breast, which was treated conservatively. In the presented cases, the masses were unilateral, rapidly growing, well-circumscribed, and solitary, consistent with the literature.

Giant fibroadenoma, phyllodes tumor, juvenile macromastia, breast abscess, lipoma, hamartoma, and malignancies can be included in the differential diagnosis of large breast masses (6). Phyllodes tumors of the breast should be ruled out in the differential diagnosis. These tumors rarely occur during puberty, and they are often seen in the third to fourth decades of life. They do not have true capsules but have high cellularity and a tendency to metastasize (7).

Preoperative histopathological diagnosis is important for differentiating breast mass from phyllodes and malignant tumors. USG is usually sufficient for the diagnosis of giant fibroadenomas, but in some cases, MRI can be performed. MRI is generally indicated for atypical lesions. Mammography is not recommended in young patients (8).

Surgical planning should be made according to the localization and size of the mass. Small tumors can be easily removed through an areolar incision. Breast-conserving surgery and reconstruction with prosthesis can be performed in patients with small tumors. The excision of fibroadenomas can be performed under local or general anesthesia. Circumareolar or inframammarian incision is a good choice to minimize scar, but the location and size of the mass influence the selection of appropriate incision. For masses located far from the areola border, a half-moon incision can be made directly over the mass. The mass should be totally excised (9). Skin excision and reduction may be required due to structural deformities after giant tumor excisions. Reductions made to ensure symmetry should be done after puberty, that is, after breast development (10). Skin excision was not performed in our cases. A good cosmetic result was obtained by filling the deformity following mass excision with the patient's own breast tissue.

# CONCLUSION

Juvenile giant fibroadenomas are rare tumors. They can grow rapidly and form deformities in the breast. USG and, if necessary, MRI are required for diagnosis. Definitive diagnosis is made by histopathological examination. Once diagnosed, good cosmetic results can be obtained with immediate and appropriate surgical treatment.

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from the father of the patients presented in this study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - M.T.K., M.H.O.; Concept - M.T.K., M.A.K., S.Ç., S.G.; Design - M.T.K., S.Ç.; Data Collection and/or Processing - M.T.K., M.A.K., S.Ç., M.H.O.; Analysis and/or Interpretation - M.T.K., M.A.K., S.G.; Literature Search - M.T.K., M.H.O., S.G.; Writing Manuscript - M.T.K.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received

no financial support.

# REFERENCES

- Celik SU, Besli Celik D, Yetiskin E, Ergun E, Percinel S, Demirer S. Giant juvenile fibroadenoma of the breast: a clinical case. Arch Argent Pediatr 2017; 115: e428-31.
- Rafeek N, Rangasami R, Dhanraj K, Joseph S. Multimodality approach in the diagnosis and management of bilateral giant juvenile breast fibroadenoma. BMJ Case Rep 2016; 2016: bcr2016217588.
- Çelik MF, Dural AC, Ünsal MG, Akarsu C, Alim ER, Kapan S, et al. Giant juvenile fibroadenoma. Ulus Cerrahi Derg 2014; 31: 96-8.
- Thuruthiyath N, Das PC, Avabratha KS, Mascarenhas V, Marla N. Giant fibroadenoma of breast in an adolescent girl. Oman Med J 2012; 27: 314-5.
- Islam S, Saroop S, Bheem V, Naraynsingh V. Largest giant juvenile fibroadenoma of the breast. BMJ Case Rep 2019; 12: e227277.
- Nikumbh DB, Desai SR, Madan PS, Patil NJ, Wader JV. Bilateral giant juvenile fibroadenomas of breasts: a case report. Patholog Res Int 2011; 2011: 482046.
- Sadove AM, van Aalst JA. Congenital and acquired pediatric breast anomalies: a review of 20 years experience. Plast Reconstr Surg 2005; 115: 1039-50.
- Song BS, Kim EK, Seol H, Seo JH, Lee JA, Kim DH, et al. Giant juvenile fibroadenoma of the breast: a case report and brief literature review. Ann Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2014; 19: 45-8.
- Kupsik M, Yep B, Sulo S, Memmel H. Giant juvenile fibroadenoma in a 9-year-old: A case presentation and review of the current literature. Breast Dis 2017; 37: 95-8.
- Roveda Júnior D, Badan GM, Campos MSDDA, Maragno B, Pessanha LB. Juvenile fibroadenoma. Radiol Bras 2018; 51: 136-7.

DOI: 10.4274/jarem.galenos.2020.3703 J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):306-8

# Anesthetic Approach for a Patient with 1q21.1 Microdeletion Syndrome: A Case Report

💿 Gül Cansever, 💿 Cansu Uzuntürk, 💿 Nur Canbolat

İstanbul University, İstanbul Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Cansever G, Uzuntürk C, Canbolat N. Anesthetic Approach for a Patient with 1q21.1 Microdeletion Syndrome: A Case Report. J Acad Res Med 2020;10(3):306-8

#### ABSTRACT

1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome is a chromosome abnormality where segment of genetic material on the long (q) arm of chromosome 1 at position 21.1 is missing or deleted. Distal 1q21.1 microdeletion is associated with microcephaly, macrocephaly, mental retardation, craniofacial dysmorphism, cardiac abnormalities, and cataracts, while proximal 1q21.1 microdeletion is associated with thrombocytopenia-absent radius syndrome and skeletal, cardiac, and genitourinary system abnormalities. Moreover, patients with 1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome have no unique facial features; however, 75% of the carriers have craniofacial dysmorphism. Short stature (50%), microcephaly (22%), cleft palate, cleft lip, long philtrum, frontal bossing, epicanthal folds, and bulbous nose can be seen among these patients. Although there is delay in motor development in 50%-75% of these patients, mental retardation is typically mild to moderate. Neurological symptoms such as tremor (44%), hyperreflexia (35%), and hypotonia (35%) have been reported in the literature. In addition, seizure occurs at a frequency of 10%-20% and starts at an early age. Psychiatric conditions such as autism spectrum, attention-deficit hyperactivity, and mood and anxiety disorders might also occasionally accompany 1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome. In this case report, we discuss our anesthetic experience with a 3-year-old boy diagnosed with this syndrome, for whom an orthopedic clinic planned a posterior spinal instrumentation. Further, this is the first case in the literature on anesthetic treatment of patient with 1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome.

Keywords: 1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome, difficult intubation, general anesthesia, posterior spinal instrumentation

# INTRODUCTION

1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome is a rare disease. While some carriers of this microdeletion show no phenotype, some have craniofacial dysmorphism and cardiac, genitourinary, and neurological abnormalities (1-3).

# CASE PRESENTATION

The orthopedic clinic planned a posterior spinal instrumentation for a 3-year-old, 12 kg male patient diagnosed with 1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome. Additionally, parental's informed consent was obtained.

The patient was born in the 27<sup>th</sup> gestational week by emergency cesarean delivery due to fetal bradycardia. Moreover, he was intubated and taken to the newborn intensive care unit (ICU) due to lack of spontaneous breathing. Later on, ultrasonography revealed hemorrhage in the left periventricular region leading to a moderate communicating hydrocephalus. Echocardiography showed patent foramen ovale and mild mitral insufficiency. Later, cerebral palsy and premature retinopathy were diagnosed.

ORCID IDs of the authors: G.C. 0000-0001-9627-2294; C.U. 0000-0001-8266-8888; N.C. 0000-0003-1490-3027.



**Corresponding Author:** Nur Canbolat, E-mail: drnurekiz@gmail.com Received Date: 22.08.2020 Accepted Date: 29.11.2020

Genetic analysis conducted during ICU hospitalization revealed 1q21.1 microdeletion in his mother and himself.

In preoperative anesthesia examination, he had scaphocephaly, long philtrum, and pointed forehead (Figure 1). Difficult airways were predicted since the patient's Mallampati score was 3. Physical examination demonstrated weakness in the right arm and imbalanced walking when taking the right step. Mild mitral insufficiency persisted in the latest echocardiography performed by the pediatric cardiologist; thus, postoperative heart rate, blood pressure, electrocardiography, and electrolyte follow-up were recommended.

Various sizes of face masks, endotracheal tube (ETT), Miller and Macintosh blade, stylet, and laryngeal mask airway were prepared for intubation. Moreover, peripheral oxygen saturation, electrocardiography, non-invasive blood pressure, and core temperature monitoring were installed. Anesthesia induction was also performed with 8% sevoflurane. The mask ventilation with airway was done by two anesthetists. Further, the patient received fentanyl 1 mcg/kg and rocuronium 0.6 mg/kg intravenously. He had a Cormack-Lehane score of 1 and was easily intubated with a 4.0-cuffed ETT on Macintosh 1 blade. Volume-controlled ventilation began with a positive end-expiratory pressure of 4 cm H<sub>2</sub>O and median peak pressure of 19 cm H<sub>2</sub>O, enabling tidal volume of 6-8 mL/kg. Also, invasive arterial pressure monitoring was performed, and central venous catheter was then inserted. Additionally, anesthesia was preserved with oxygen/air and remifentanil and propofol infusions. The patient was then given a prone position. When the peak pressure was elevated (above 30 cm H<sub>2</sub>O) and ETCO<sub>2</sub> was low, pressure-controlled ventilation was



Figure 1. Frontal view and facial anomalies of the patient

initiated to prevent lung damage caused by the ventilator. He was also administered with methylprednisolone 12 mg intravenously and inhaler bronchodilators to prevent airway edema. Tidal volume was reduced to less than 6 mL/kg; thus, peak pressure returned to normal (16 cm  $H_2O$ ). Somatosensory and motor evoked potentials were also monitored. The estimated blood loss (130 mL) was supplemented by 750 mL of crystalloid solution, and the urine output was 33 cc. The surgery lasted for 200 minutes. Moreover, postoperative analgesia was achieved with 15 mg/kg paracetamol and 1 mg/kg tramadol. The supine position was then restored, and after extubation, he was transported to the ICU. Erythrocyte suspensions of 25 mL/kg (~300 mL) and fresh frozen plasmas of 15 mL/kg were also administered. After 5 days, he was discharged.

# DISCUSSION

1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome is clinically characterized by variable phenotypes. Craniofacial dysmorphism is one of the causes of difficult airways (4). If suspected, difficult intubation equipment and ancillary health personnel should be present in the operating room.

Cardiac evaluation of the patient is important in terms of mitral valve and congenital heart diseases and atrial fibrillation (1,5). Our patient's patent foramen ovale closed with medical treatment and mild mitral insufficiency persisted.

Increased secretion caused by crying and his prone position contributed to an increase in peak pressure. Barotrauma was avoided through aspiration, switching to pressure-controlled ventilation and targeting the lowest peak pressure.

Special attention should be paid to thrombocytopenia when dealing with 1q21.1 microdeletion (3).

Neurology consultation should be needed. The potential interaction of the patient's own medications and the drugs used in anesthesia is significant in reducing perioperative morbidity and mortality. His physical examination revealed loss of strength in his right arm and an imbalance due to cerebral palsy.

# CONCLUSION

1q21.1 microdeletion is a rare syndrome concerning many systems and should be further studied. This syndrome requires a thorough preoperative anesthesia examination and preparation for possible complications in the operating room. Since this condition is associated with craniofacial dysmorphisms, difficult airways should be considered. Although respiratory distress was not an established characteristic of 1q21.1 microdeletion, it was experienced in our case. Furthermore, we treated bronchospasm with inhaler bronchodilators, intravenous steroids, and ventilatorinduced lung injury prevention strategies such as low tidal volume and peak pressure.

Informed Consent: Parental's informed consent was obtained. Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.
Author Contributions: Surgical and Medical Practices - G.C.; Concept - G.C.; Design - G.C.; Data Collection or Processing - G.C.; Analysis and/ or Interpretation - N.C.; Literature Search - C.U., N.C.; Writing Manuscript - C.U., N.C.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

 Bernier R, Steinman KJ, Reilly B, Wallace AS, Sherr EH, Pojman N, et al. Clinical phenotype of the recurrent 1q21.1 copy-number variant. Genet Med 2016; 18: 341-9.

- Mefford HC, Sharp AJ, Baker C, Itsara A, Jiang Z, Buysse K, et al. Recurrent rearrangements of chromosome 1q21.1 and variable pediatric phenotypes. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 1685-99.
- Brunetti-Pierri N, Berg JS, Scaglia F, Belmont J, Bacino CA, Sahoo T, et al. Recurrent reciprocal 1q21.1 deletions and duplications associated with microcephaly or macrocephaly and developmental and behavioral abnormalities. Nat Genet 2008; 40: 1466-71.
- Peterson GN, Domino KB, Caplan RA, Posner KL, Lee LA, Cheney FW. Management of the difficult airway: A Closed Claims Analysis. Anesthesiology 2005; 103: 33-9.
- Christiansen J, Dyck JD, Elyas BG, Lilley M, Bamforth JS, Hicks M, et al. Chromosome 1q21.1 contiguous gene deletion is associated with congenital heart disease. CircRes 2004; 94: 1429-35.

#### 2020 REFEREE INDEX

A. Basar Tekin Abdülhamit Mısır Abdullah Çırakoğlu Adnan Taş Ahmet Serkan İlgün Ali Ayyıldız Ali Çift Ali Yavuz Karahan Altay Sencer Aslı Şahin Yılmaz Aydın Aydoseli Aylin Özdilek Ayşe Çiğdem Tütüncü Aysel Gürkan Baha Oral Baran Kömür Bedia Çakmakoğlu Betül Yavuz Keleş Bülent Gündüz Canan Kelten Talu Ceki Paltura Cemil İşler Çiçek Hocaoğlu Çiğdem Akyol Beyoğlu Dağhan Dağdelen Doğan Gönüllü Ebru Aytekin Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya Ela Erdem Eralp Elif Dilasa Köse Elif Yorulmaz Ender Köktekir Engin Çetin Erdal Benli Erdinc Cetinkaya Ersan Atahan

Ersin Kadiroğulları Esra Paşaoğlu Evrim Kıray Baş Faik Tatlı Fatih Irmak fatma Ümit Malya Feray Karaali Savrun Ferzan Gıynaş Fevziye Kabukcuoğlu Gül Özçelik Gülay Kır Gürsel Soybir Güzelali Özdemir Güzin Zeren Öztürk Hakan Birkent Halil Can Harika Boztepe Hüseyin Kazım Bektaşoğlu İbrahim Adak İpek Midi Kemal Dolay Kürşat Yelken Levent Özgönenel Leyla Telhan M. B. Can Balcı M. Haluk Celik Mehmet Akif Güler Mehmet Findik Mehmet Osman Akçakaya Mehmet Özgür Yücel Memet Taşkın Eğici Münihe Yücel Murat Akaydın Murat İçen Mustafa Ahmet Afacan Mustafa Genco Erdem

Nadir Adnan Hacim Necati Kaplan Neriman İpek Kırmızı Nilda Turgut Nilgün Kansak Ömer Bayır Onur Tutar Özalp Ekinci Ozan Volkan Yurdakul Öznur Sen Sabanur Çavdar Selçuk Daşdemir Serap Karaman Sercan Sari Serdar Altınay Serdar Arslan Serdar Kabataş Şerefnur Öztürk Sevin Güney Şule Poturoğlu Süleyman Salman Suna Tokgoz Yılmaz Suphi Vehid Tanyel Zübarioğlu Turgay Akgül Ufuk Tutun Ümit Seza Tetikkurt Ünal Öztekin Volkan Kara Volkan Selmi Volkan Öter Yaprak Ataker Yetkin Zeki Yılmaz Zafer Çiftci Zahra Polat Zeliha Matur

## 2020 AUTHOR INDEX

Adil Umut Zübarioğlu64
Ahmet Ataş155
Ahmet Burak Erdem
Ahmet Burçin Sarısoy 100
Ahmet Serkan İlgün 129
Ahmet Utku Gürün75
Akif Arat166
Ali Ayyıldız
Ali Bülbül70
Ali Emre Atik
Ali Erkan Duman
Ali Eroğlu160
Ali Öner
Altay Çelebi269
Anıl Baysoy 111
Atilla Kırcelli106
Ayşe Ender Yumru 36
Aysel Koyuncu
Ayşenur Bahadır232
Aytuğ Altundağ277
Bahar Erbaş 227
Bahar Genç 195
Banu İşbilen Başok 111
Barış Nuhoğlu 160
Belgin Erhan288
Berrin Erok
Betül Başar
Bilal Birkan Demir75
Bilal Ergül41
Birhan Demirhan16
Birim Günay Kılıç258
Burçin Ağrıdağ Üçpınar94
Burcu Çaykara 252
Can Duman 111
Canan Kabaca283
Canan Yılmaz41
Cansu Uzuntürk 306
Cem Başaran 166
Cenap Zeybek64
Cengiz Mordeniz 122
Cengiz Sivrikaya100

Ceylan Çolak	88
Deniz Baklacı	138
Deniz Öğütmen Koç2	214, 269
Deniz Türkyılmaz Mut	94
Derya İpekçioğlu	57
Derya Kalyoncu	204
Derya Öztürk	264
Dilşad Herkiloğlu	283
Durkadın Elif Yıldız	23
Ebru Arslan	252
Ejder Akgün Yıldırım	57
Elif Uçar	23
Elife Kımıloğlu	237
Emel Çakır	200
Engin Çetin	32
Engin Ersin Şimşek	149
Ercan İnci	88
Erdem Özden	75
Erol Erduran	232
Ertuğrul Altınbilek	264
Esra Keleş Peker	246
Esra Özgül	294
Evrim Özmen	94
Eylem Karatay	41
<sup>-</sup> aruk Çelik	166
- atma Çelik Yabul	88
<sup>=</sup> atma Demet Arslan	111
<sup>=</sup> erdi Aksaray	10
- erdi Dırvar	133
- ikri Okan Falay	143
-iliz Gül	27
-urkan Diren	106
Gökhan Sargın	97
Göksel Güven	48
Gökşen Yüksel Yalçın	57
Gül Cansever	306
Gülay Kır	82
Güler Öztürk	252
Gülhan Sağıroğlu	283
Güven Bektemur	246
Güven Yıldırım	100

Hacer Hicran Mutlu	. 252
Hakan Şilek	. 227
Halil Can	. 106
Halil Can Gemalmaz	1
Haluk Saruhan	. 232
Hatice Solmaz	. 111
Hatice Sonay Yalçın Cömert	. 220
Hidayet Şal	. 220
Hülya Seymen	. 143
Hüseyin Çetin	. 149
İdris Sertbaş	. 241
İhsan Kuzucu	. 138
İlkay Anaklı	. 192
İnanç Karakoyun	. 111
İrem Yanık	. 237
İsmail Balaban	64
İsmail Güler	. 138
İsmail Saygın	. 200
Kadir Çağdaş Kazıkdaş	. 129
Kahraman Öztürk	75
Kamil Pembeci	82
Kemalettin Koltka	82
Kenan Kıbıcı	. 298
Kürşad Nuri Baydili	. 246
Kürşat Murat Özcan	. 100
Kürşat Yelken	. 185
Lida Bülbül	70
Makbule Cavidan Arar	. 122
Maral Yeşilyurt	. 185
Mehlika Bilgi Kırmacı	. 294
Mehmet Ali Kırşan	. 303
Mehmet Ali Talmaç	. 133
Mehmet Arhan	41
Mehmet Armağan Osmanağaoğlu	. 220
Mehmet Buget	82
Mehmet Bülent Onal	. 106
Mehmet Cem İlnem	57
Mehmet Çolak	. 258
Mehmet Hanifi Okur	. 303
Mehmet Tolga Kafadar	. 303
Melek Aktaş	. 246

## 2020 AUTHOR INDEX

Meltem Tekelioğlu	36	Özge Arici Düz	277	Sevil Cağıran Kılçıksız	10
Merve Zevtinli Aksit	111	Özgeçan Gündoğar	237	Sovki Erdom	
Mirac Özalp	220	Özgür Ekinci			204
Miray Tümer	264	Özgür Yıldırım		Sezgin Timaz	
Muammer Avdın	160	Özkan Onuk	160	Shirasian Bakhshaliyev	
Müge Özcan	138	Özlem Cetinkava		Sibel Bektaş	
Muhammed Murat Kurnaz	117	Özlem Gül Utku	41	Sibel Tunç Karaman	23
Münevver Hacıoğlu Yıldırım	57	Özlem Saatci		Sinan Uslu	70
Munise Dave	103	Özlem Sireli Bingöl	258	Suat Çal	303
Murat Demiroğlu	75	Pınar Göksedef	283	Suat Karataş	
Murat Keğin	214	Pinar Mutlu	175	Şükrü Mehmet Ertürk	94
Murat Taskin	48	Rauf Oğuzhan Kum	138	Süleyman Salman	23, 237
Mustafa Cağlar Kir	82	Rengin Bilgen	227	Tamer Akay	
Mustafa Calık		Revhan Gümüstekin	. 195, 204	Tanju Berber	10, 16
Mustafa Günkava	122	Revhan Köse		Tanyeli Güneyligil Kazaz	
Muzaffer Temür		Sadettin Hülagü		Taskın Sentürk	97
N. Arzu Miric	175	Sadullah Girgin		Tavfur Cift	
Nafiye Urgancı	5, 204	Sakine Betül Uzun		Timur Yıldırım	133
Necati Kaplan	, 48	Sebahat Nacar Doğan		Turban Aran	220
Nesibe Yılmaz	166	Seda Geylani Güleç			117 102
Nesrin Karamustafalıoğlu	57	Seda Ocak	70		117, 172
Nilgün Eroğlu	232	Şefik Gökçe			
Nur Canbolat	306	Selami Aykut Temiz	103	Umit Zeybek	
Nur Seyma Zengin	27	Selin Kapan		Umran Yaman	
Nusret Can Cilesiz	160	Senar Günenc		Umut Zübarioğlu	70
Ömer Cenqiz	133	serdar Demiröz	6	Veli Mihmanlı	
Ömer Demir	220	Serdar Kabatas		Yener Akyuva	
Ömer Hızlı	100	serhat Soylu	192	Yeşim Saliha Gürbüz	
Onat Akın	298	Serkan Aykut	75	Z. Yıldız Yıldırmak	195
Önder Sakin	149	Sevda Uzun Dırvar	133	Zahra Polat	
Onur Baran	122	Sevdegül Mungan		Zeynep Akçığ	23
Osman Fazlıoğulları	166	Sevgi Kesici	117	Zeynep Esenkaya Usta	

Özge Arıcı Düz	277
Özgecan Gündoğar	
Özgür Ekinci	41
Özgür Yıldırım	64
Özkan Onuk	160
Özlem Çetinkaya	57
Özlem Gül Utku	41
Özlem Saatçi	277
Özlem Şireli Bingöl	258
Pınar Göksedef	283
Pınar Mutlu	175
Rauf Oğuzhan Kum	138
Rengin Bilgen	227
Reyhan Gümüştekin	195, 204
Reyhan Köse	97
Sadettin Hülagü	
Sadullah Girgin	303
Sakine Betül Uzun	149
Sebahat Nacar Doğan	180
Seda Geylani Güleç	
Seda Ocak	70
Şefik Gökçe	
Selami Aykut Temiz	103
Selin Kapan	
Senar Günenç	10
Serdar Demiröz	6
Serdar Kabataş	
Serhat Soylu	192
Serkan Aykut	75
Sevda Uzun Dırvar	133
Sevdegül Mungan	200
Sovei Kosisi	117

Sevil Çağıran Kılçıksız	10
Şevki Erdem	6
Sezgin Yılmaz	
Shıraslan Bakhshalıyev	64
Sibel Bektaş	
Sibel Tunç Karaman	23
Sinan Uslu	70
Suat Çal	303
Suat Karataş	
Şükrü Mehmet Ertürk	94
Süleyman Salman	23, 237
Tamer Akay	
Tanju Berber	10, 16
Tanyeli Güneyligil Kazaz	
Taşkın Şentürk	97
Tayfur Çift	
Timur Yıldırım	
Turhan Aran	
Ülkü Aygen Türkmen	117, 192
Ümit Yılmaz	
Ümit Zeybek	
Ümran Yaman	192
Umut Zübarioğlu	70
Veli Mihmanlı	
Yener Akyuva	48
Yeşim Saliha Gürbüz	
Z. Yıldız Yıldırmak	
Zahra Polat	155
Zeynep Akçığ	23
Zevnen Esenkava Usta	258

Abdomino-peritoneal tuberculosis	
Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis	6
Pain	
Activity	
Acute renal failure	
Acute coronary syndrome	
6-minutes walking test	175
Anesthesia technique	82
Angiolipoma	200
Angioliposarcoma	200
Anxiety	122, 149
Abnormal uterine bleeding	
Anterior cervical discectomy	
Arteries	
Arthrolysis	75
Arthroplasty	
Fever	
Atypical lipomatous tumor	200
Bacteremia	
Call center	185
Barbed suture	1
Surgical technique	129
Timing of surgery	82
Surgery	232, 303
Serious bacterial infections	
Child	27, 204
Childhood	195
COVID-19	
CyberKnife®	
Dapsone	103
ADHD	258
Dehydration	
Depression	
Deep brain stimulation	
Digoxin	111
Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder	
Elbow	75

Post-dissection current	129
Knee joint	133
Dosimetric comparison	16
Srainage	294
Revision	133
IBH	41
Parental attitudes	258
Exercise performance	175
Handwashing	246
Endometrial polyp	283
Endoscopic retrograde	294
Infarction	180
İnstrumentation	32
Male elderly	208
Early-stage glottic larynx cancer	16
Factor	232
Facial canal	138
FDG-PET	143
Physical functions	288
Flexner-Wintersteiner rosette	298
Follicular	23
Phosphorus	252
Frozen section	237
Fusion	48
Non-gastrointestinal system	195
Late imaging	143
Gene polymorphism	166
General anesthesia	306
Relaxation	75
Globus pallidus	241
Visual evoked potentials	227
Speech intelligibility in noise	155
Hashimoto's thyroiditis	227
Hospital economics	133
HidronefroHydronephrosis	220
Hypogonadism	208
Hysteroscopy	283

HPV149
Inflammatory bowel disease
İntestinal metaplasia
Intra-spinal pathology6
Invasive lobular cancer
Isotretinoin/ 103
Juvenile giant fibroadenoma
Female sexual dysfunction 160
Cage
Hip fracture
Calcium
Blood gas
Cardiopulmonary arrest
Karyotype
Kessler 1
Red blood cell distribution width
Short wave diathermy
Continents
COPD 175
Questionnaire of olfactory disorders
Olfaction disorders
Olfactory test
Smell
Olfaction-related quality of life
Cholangiopancreatography
Cholesteatoma
Complications
Speech audiometry 155
Speech reception threshold 155
Critical congenital heart disease
Chronic renal failure
Cutaneous leukocytoclastic vasculitis
Leptin
Leptomeningeal metastasis
Lipoleiomyoma
Liposarcoma 200
Lomber microdiscectomy 106

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)	. 298
Malign transformation	. 200
Malignancy	. 195
Cost analysis	. 133
Malnutrition	27
Magnetic resonance imaging	. 180
Wild tobacco	. 192
MDA	41
Breast	. 303
Metabolic parameter	. 143
Gastric cancer	. 269
Mini-sling	36
Mortality	, 264
MPO	41
MRI	. 241
Mucopolysaccharidosis	. 204
N135	. 227
N75	. 227
Rare factor deficiencies	. 232
Nicotiana Rustica Linn	. 192
Nicotine	23
Nodulocytic acne	. 103
Non-palpable breast lesion	88
Neurofibroma	. 100
Obesity	27
Case fatality rate	. 246
Specimen collection tube	. 111
Ovarian tuberculosis	94
Ovarian reserve/	23
Ovary	. 237
P100	. 227
Paraffin section	. 237
PCR-RFLP	. 166
Pedicle screw	32
Plasma	. 111
Polycystic kidney	. 220
Posterior spinal instrumentation	. 306

Posterior instrumentation	5
Postoperative pain/	С
ΡΡΑR-γ	6
Premenopausal	C
Prenatal diagnosis	C
Preoperative period	2
Primary orbital retinoblastoma	3
Pro-BNP	5
Probiotics	1
Psychiatric emergency service	7
Psychiatric disease	7
Radiosurgery	C
Radiotherapy	С
Recurrent laryngeal nerve	9
Remission	4
Resistin	6
Risk factors	6
ROLL	8
Sanfilippo	4
Sympathetic nerve	C
Stiff	5
Serum	1
Cervical disc herniation	8
Cervical	7
Voice disorder	5
Voice therapy	5
Smoking	3
Smoking	6
Sinus tympani	3
Signal-to-noise ratio	5
Syringomyelia	6
Sitagliptin/metformin	7
SOD	1
Spondiylodiscitis 106	6
Standardized uptake value94	1
Stapes suprastructure	3
Staphylococcus aureus106	5

Stereotactic targeting	
Stereotaxy	10
Stress urinary incontinence	36
Subthalamic nucleus	241
Surveillance endoscopy	
T-tube	
Thalamus	180
Diagnosis accuracy	237
Management	70
Technology	122
Recurrent admission	57
WGL	88
Tendon repair	1
TENS	
Therapeutic drug monitoring	111
Type 2 diabetes mellitus	97
Thoracolumbar fracture	32
Tot	36
Transferrin	175
Post-traumatic	75
Trauma	32
Trisomy	220
Turkish matrix sentence test	155
Ultrasound	
Urethral stenosis	208
Urethroplasty	
Urinary incontinence	160
Urogynecology	160
Vestibular schwannoma/	10
Video recording	122
Vitamin D	117, 252
Volumetric arc radiotherapy	16
Wound healing	208
Age	57
Quality of life	
Elderly patient	117
Length of stay	82

Newborn	Difficult intubation
Adult ADHD	1q21.1 microdeletion syndrome
Intensive care unit 117	Nesfatin-1
Intensity-modulated radiotherapy	